
 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
of the 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
of the 

SANTA BARBARA METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
A Public Agency 

Tuesday, November 1, 2022 
8:30 AM 

John G. Britton Auditorium 
550 Olive Street, Santa Barbara, CA 93101 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL OF THE BOARD MEMBERS 

Dave Davis (Chair), David Tabor (Vice Chair), Jen Lemberger (Secretary), Chuck 
McQuary (Director), Paula Perotte (Director), Arjun Sarkar (Director). 

3. REPORT REGARDING THE POSTING OF THE AGENDA 
 
4. STATUS REPORT ON THE COVID-19 STATE OF EMERGENCY (ACTION MAY BE 

TAKEN - ATTACHMENTS) 
Staff will request that the Board reconsider the circumstances of the COVID-19 State of 
Emergency. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

5. APPROVAL OF PRIOR MINUTES - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
The Board of Directors will be asked to approve the draft minutes for the meeting of 
October 18, 2022.  

6. CASH REPORTS - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
The Board of Directors will be asked to review and approve the Cash Reports from 
October 8, 2022 through October 21, 2022. 

THIS CONCLUDES THE CONSENT CALENDAR 

7. PUBLIC COMMENT 
Members of the public may address the Board of Directors on items within the jurisdiction 
of the Board that are not scheduled for public hearing.  The time allotted per speaker will 
be at the discretion of the Board Chair.  If you wish to address the Board under this item 
number, please complete and deliver to the MTD Board Clerk a “Request to Speak” form 
that includes both a description of the subject you wish to address and, if applicable, the 
agenda item number for which you would like to comment.  Additional public comment will 
be allowed during each agenda item, including closed session items.  Forms are available 
at www.sbmtd.gov and at MTD Administrative offices. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA 

 
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT:  If you need special assistance to participate in this 
meeting, please contact the MTD Administrative Office at 805.963.3364 at least 48 hours in 
advance of the meeting to allow time for MTD to attempt a reasonable accommodation. 

8. FINAL SHORT RANGE TRANSIT PLAN – (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN–ATTACHMENT) 
Staff requests that the Board of Directors adopt the final Short Range Transit Plan. 
 

9. CONTRACT AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS TO IMPLEMENT CONTACTLESS 
PAYMENT SOLUTIONS– (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN–ATTACHMENT) 
Staff requests that the Board of Directors authorize the General Manager to leverage 
State of California Department of General Services Contracts to implement Contactless 
Payment Solutions. 
 

10. CAPITAL PROJECTS UPDATE– (INFORMATIONAL) 
Staff will provide a presentation to update the Board on MTD capital projects.   
 

11. ANNUAL ELECTION OF BOARD OFFICERS – (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
The Board will hold elections for Board assignments. 
 

12. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT – (INFORMATIONAL) 
The General Manager will report on any updates to district activities. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT RELATED TO CLOSED SESSION ITEM WILL BE ALLOWED BEFORE 
THE RECESS 
 
13. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION: PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE 

EVALUATION - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN)    
The Board will meet in closed session, pursuant to Government Codes § 54957 and  
§ 54954.5(e), to evaluate the performance of the District’s General Manager. 
 

14. OTHER BUSINESS AND REPORTS – (INFORMATIONAL) 
The Board will report on other related public transit issues and committee meetings. 
 

15. ADJOURNMENT 



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 1, 2022 AGENDA ITEM: #4 

DEPARTMENT: ADMINISTRATION 

TYPE: ACTION ITEM 

PREPARED BY: JERRY ESTRADA   
 
REVIEWED BY: GENERAL MANAGER   
                           
SUBJECT: STATUS REPORT ON THE COVID-19 STATE OF EMERGENCY 

 
RECOMENDATION: 
Staff requests that the Board reconsider the circumstances of the COVID-19 State of Emergency: 

1. Consider whether state or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures 
to promote social distancing; 

2. Find that the MTD Board has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency, and that State or  local  officials  continue  to  impose  or  recommend  
measures  to  promote social distancing; and 

3. Direct staff to continue to notice and hold hearings as remote hearings consistent with 
Government Code § 54953(e)(3). 

 
DISCUSSION: 
On January 5, 2022, Governor Gavin Newsom issued Executive Order N-1-22, which among 
other things set a date of April 1, 2022 for public agencies to transition back to public meetings 
held in full compliance with the Brown Act, including how remote participation is conducted. In 
September 2021, the California State Legislature passed, and the Governor signed, Assembly 
Bill 361 (Rivas, 2021) (AB 361), which amends the Government Code to allow Brown Act bodies 
to continue to meet remotely if certain elements are met. AB 361 took effect immediately, but 
does not supersede Executive Order N-1-22. It applies to all Brown Act boards, committees, and 
commissions. 
 
On January 31, 2020, the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) declared a public health 
emergency under section 319 of the Public Health Service Act (42 USC § 247d) in response to 
COVID-19. On March 13, 2020, the US President declared a national emergency concerning the 
COVID-19 pandemic, which has been extended until February 24, 2022. On March 4, 2020, 
Governor Newsom declared a state of emergency for conditions caused by COVID-19, which has 
been extended until March 31, 2022. On March 12, 2020, the Santa Barbara County Director of 
Emergency Services proclaimed a Local Emergency as a result of the COVID-19 and the Santa 
Barbara County Health Officer declared a Local Health Emergency, due to the imminent and 
proximate threat to public health from the introduction of COVID-19. Thereafter, on March 17, 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

2 

2020, the Santa Barbara County Board of Supervisors ratified the Proclamation of a Local 
Emergency and the Declaration of a Local Health Emergency, which remain in effect. 
 
As of February 15, 2022, Santa Barbara County Public Health Officials continue to recommend 
utilizing teleconferencing options for public meetings as an effective social distancing measure to 
facilitate participation in public affairs and encourage participants to protect themselves and 
others from the COVID-19 disease (attached). As of October 25, 2022, the COVID-19 community 
transmission level is categorized as “low” in Santa Barbara County by the Centers for Disease 
Control & Prevention (CDC). As of October 6, 2022, the Santa Barbara County Public Health 
Department reports a case rate of 6.2 per 100,000 and a 3.8% test positivity rate. The County 
Health Officer and the California Department of Public Health continue to recommend all 
individuals wear a face covering in public indoor settings. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Health Officials AB 361 Social Distance Recommendation 

• State of California Executive Order N-1-22 



ATTACHMENT A



EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

EXECUTIVE ORDER N-1-22 

WHEREAS on March 4, 2020, I proclaimed a State of Emergency to 
exist in California as a result of the threat of COYID-19; and 

WHEREAS on March 12, 2021, I issued Executive Order N-25-20, 
paragraph 11, and on March 17, 2020, I issued Executive Order N-29-20, 
paragraph 3, waiving certain requirements that public meetings of state 
bodies occur in-person; and 

WHEREAS on June 11, 2021, I issued Executive Order N-08-21 to roll 
back certain provisions of my COVID-19-related Executive Orders and to 
clarify that other provisions remained necessary to help California respond 
to, recover from, and mitigate the impacts of the COYID-19 pandemic; 
and 

WHEREAS paragraph 42 of Executive Order N-08-21 specified that 
the waiver of requirements that public meetings of state bodies occur in
person would be valid through September 30, 2021; and 

WHEREAS on September 16, 2021, I signed into law Assembly Bill 361 
(AB 361), which amended the Government Code and Education Code to 
provide additional flexibility for state bodies to conduct public meetings 
via teleconference through January 31, 2022; and 

WHEREAS since Thanksgiving, the statewide seven-day average 
case rate has increased by 805% and the number of COVID-19 
hospitalized patients has increased by 154%; and 

WHEREAS this surge is being driven by the recent emergence of the 
Omicron variant, which has recently been estimated to account for 
approximately 70% of cases sequenced nationally; and 

WHEREAS early data suggest that the Omicron variant is more 
transmissible than the Delta variant; and 

WHEREAS requiring large numbers of individuals to gather, and 
potentially travel long distances, for in-person public meetings could 
potentially, and unnecessarily, expose numerous people to COYID-19, 
further contribute to the ongoing surge in cases caused by the Omicron 
variant, compound disruptions to our economy, and undermine public 
health measures during the current State of Emergency; and 

WHEREAS when the Legislature considered AB 361 this past fall, the 
Omicron variant had not emerged, and the virus had not demonstrated 
the ability to evade immunity; and 

WHEREAS in light of the present surge in cases due to the Omicron 
variant, and to protect the public health and safety, it is necessary to 
temporarily extend the flexibilities for state bodies to conduct 
teleconferences under AB 361 beyond January 31, 2022, to provide state 
bodies the option of conducting public meetings remotely to reduce the 
risk of in-person exposure to members of the staff body, staff, and 
members of the public; and 



WHEREAS under the provisions of Government Code section 8571, I 
find that strict compliance with the statutes specified in this Order would 
prevent, hinder, or delay appropriate actions to prevent and mitigate the 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor of the State of 
California, in accordance with the authority vested in me by the State 
Constitution and statutes, and in particular, Government Code sections 
8567, 8571, and 8627 do hereby issue the following Order to become 
effective immediately: 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

1. The sunset dates in Education Code section 89305.6, subdivision 
(g), and Government Code section 11133, subdivision (g), are 
suspended until March 31, 2022. 

2. This Order shall expire at 11 :59 p.m. on April 1, 2022. 

I FURTHER DIRECT that as soon as hereafter possible, this Order be 
filed in the Office of the Secretary of State and that widespread publicity 
and notice be given of this Order. 

This Order is not intended to, and does not, create any rights or 
benefits, substantive or procedural, enforceable at law or in equity, 
against the State of California, its agencies, departments, entities, officers, 
employees, or any other person. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused 
the Great Seal of the State of 
California to be affixed this 5th day 
of January 2022. 

GAVIN NEWSOM 
Governor of California 

ATTEST: 

SHIRLEY WEBER, PH.D. 
Secretary of State 



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS DRAFT MINUTES 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
of the 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
of the 

SANTA BARBARA METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
A Public Agency 

Tuesday, October 18, 2022 
8:30 AM 

John G. Britton Auditorium 
550 Olive Street, Santa Barbara, CA 93101 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chair Dave Davis called the meeting to order at 8:30 AM. 
 

2. ROLL CALL OF THE BOARD MEMBERS 
Chair Davis reported that all members were present except Director Perotte and Secretary 
Lemberger. 
 

3. REPORT REGARDING THE POSTING OF THE AGENDA 
Lilly Gomez, Interim Clerk of the Board and Marketing and Community Relations 
Coordinator reported that the agenda was posted on Thursday October 13, 2022, at 
MTD’s Administrative office, mailed and emailed to those on the agenda list, and posted 
on MTD’s website. 
 

4. STATUS REPORT ON THE COVID-19 STATE OF EMERGENCY (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN - 
ATTACHMENTS) 
The Board reconsidered the circumstances of the COVID-19 State of Emergency. 
 
Director Sarkar moved to approve staff’s recommendation to continue to allow noticing 
and holding remote hearings, consistent with Government Code § 54953(e)(3).   
Vice Chair Tabor seconded the motion.  Chair Davis held a roll call vote and the motion 
passed unanimously with two absent. 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

5. APPROVAL OF PRIOR MINUTES - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
The Board of Directors will be asked to approve the draft minutes for the meeting of 
October 4, 2022.  

6. CASH REPORTS - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
The Board of Directors will be asked to review and approve the Cash Reports from 
September 24, 2022 through October 7, 2022. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS DRAFT MINUTES 

 
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT:  If you need special assistance to participate in this 
meeting, please contact the MTD Administrative Office at 805.963.3364 at least 48 hours in 
advance of the meeting to allow time for MTD to attempt a reasonable accommodation. 

Vice Chair Tabor moved to approve the consent calendar. Director Sarkar seconded the 
motion. Chair Davis held a roll call vote and the consent calendar was approved 
unanimously with two absent. 
 

THIS CONCLUDES THE CONSENT CALENDAR 

7. PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comments were made. 

PUBLIC COMMENT RELATED TO CLOSED SESSION ITEM WILL BE ALLOWED BEFORE 
THE RECESS  

 

8. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION: CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL 
REGARDING EXISTING LITIGATION - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN)  
The Board will meet in closed session with legal counsel, pursuant to Government Code 
§ 54956.9 (a).  
 

9. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION: PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE 
EVALUATION - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN)    
The Board will meet in closed session, pursuant to Government Codes § 54957 and  

§ 54954.5(e), to evaluate the performance of the District’s General Manager. 
 
Chair Davis recessed the Board to Closed Session at 8:33 AM. 

 
The Board reconvened from Closed Session at 8:57 AM. Chair Davis reported that no 
action was taken. 
 

10. DRAFT FINAL SHORT RANGE TRANSIT PLAN – (INFORMATIONAL–
ATTACHMENT) 
Planning and Marketing Manager, Hilary Blackerby provided a presentation to the Board 
of Directors regarding the draft final Short Range Transit Plan. 
 
Under Public Comment, correspondence from Mr. Howard Green was read into the record 
by the Clerk of the Board. 
 
 

11. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT – (INFORMATIONAL) 
General Manager Estrada provided an update on district activities. 
 

12. OTHER BUSINESS AND REPORTS – (INFORMATIONAL) 
Vice Chair Tabor reported the Compensation and Classification Ad Hoc met twice.  
General Manager Estrada recommended discussing the possibility of the State of 
Emergency changes in the first meeting in January of 2023.  

 
13. ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 10:17 AM. 
 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District

Board Meeting of November 1, 2022
Cash Report

For the Period October 8, 2022 through October 21, 2022

$5,867,508.11

MONEY MARKET

Beginning Balance October 8, 2022

Prepaids & Advertising 152,092.00
Accounts Receivable 151,421.50
Passenger Fares 108,631.61
SBCC Fares 74,416.00
Interest Income 1,919.76
Miscellaneous Income 463.88

488,944.75Total Deposits

(2,914.08)Bank & Credit Card Fees
(10,834.77)Miscellaneous Transfers
(30,484.21)401(k)/Pension Transfer
(79,241.58)Workers' Compensation

(160,018.17)Payroll Taxes
(361,792.80)Payroll

(1,021,403.95)Accounts Payable

(1,666,689.56)Total Disbursements

$4,689,763.30Total Cash and Investments as of October 21, 2022:

CASH INVESTMENTS 

WC / Liability Reserves ($4,491,095.66)

Ending Balance

4,689,763.30

Working Capital                                                      

LAIF Account $5,902,708.48

Total Cash Balance $10,592,471.78

Money Market Account

$6,101,376.12

SELF INSURED LIABILITY ACCOUNTS

21-Oct-22Cash Report Cover Sheet 15:58



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District 
Accounts Payable

Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  130602 10/13/2022 ABC BUS COMPANIES INC              BUS PARTS                                                   2,674.19  

  130603 10/13/2022 HENRY ANDREWS                      RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    285.00  

  130604 10/13/2022 BIG BRAND TIRES, BRANDCO BILL SERVICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE       1,892.83  

  130605 10/13/2022 JAMES BRACKETT                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    178.00  

  130606 10/13/2022 KARL BRETZ                         RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    285.00  

  130607 10/13/2022 BROWN & BROWN INSURANCE SE OCP LIABILITY INSURANCE 3,254.44  

  130608 10/13/2022 ARTHUR BURNS                       RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    478.00  

  130609 10/13/2022 ROBERT BURNHAM                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    285.00  

  130610 10/13/2022 GILBERT CALLES                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    178.00  

  130611 10/13/2022 MIKE CARDONA                       RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    285.00  

  130612 10/13/2022 CENTRAL COAST CIRCULATION, L BUS BOOK DISTRIBUTION                       627.00  

  130613 10/13/2022 COX COMMUNICATIONS, CORP.     INTERNET & CABLE TV                            516.21  

  130614 10/13/2022 NANCY CURTIS                       RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    222.86  

  130615 10/13/2022 CROSSLINE SUPPLY LLC               BUS PARTS                                                   806.93  

  130616 10/13/2022 DENMUN OFFICE SOLUTIONS   DB IT CONTRACT SERVICES                          8,265.00  

  130617 10/13/2022 DIVERSIFIED TRANSPORTATION S FREIGHT CHARGES                                    450.74  

  130618 10/13/2022 EVERSHADE LLC       DBA            STEAM CLEANING TC/EXPRESS ZONE 3,150.00  

  130619 10/13/2022 FLEET SERVICES, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   155.12  

  130620 10/13/2022 GENFARE LLC                        FAREBOX REPAIRS & PARTS                   12,800.00  

  130621 10/13/2022 GILLIG LLC                         BUS PARTS                                                   4,327.61  

  130622 10/13/2022 GARY GLEASON                       RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    247.95  

  130623 10/13/2022 GOGETTERS, LLC      DBA            COURIER SERVICES                                   330.00  

  130624 10/13/2022 GOLETA WATER DISTRICT              UTILITIES                                                     215.80  

  130625 10/13/2022 JILL GRISHAM                       RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    285.00  

  130626 10/13/2022 JIM HAGGERTY                       RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    353.51  

  130627 10/13/2022 ALI HABIBI                         RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    285.00  

  130628 10/13/2022 ROBERT HARTMAN, JR.                RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    276.98  

  130629 10/13/2022 HAYWARD LUMBER                     SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                 30.10  

  130630 10/13/2022 HOME IMPROVEMENT CTR.             SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                 39.63  

  130631 10/13/2022 IMPULSE ADVANCED COMMUNIC INTERNET                                                     400.00  

  130632 10/13/2022 JAY DANIEL ROBERTSON               RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    285.00  

  130633 10/13/2022 JAVIER JIMENEZ                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    89.00  

  130634 10/13/2022 LOUIS JONES                        RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    89.00  

  130635 10/13/2022 LANSPEED                   DBA     IT SERVICES                                                 2,899.35  

  130636 10/13/2022 MC CORMIX CORP. (GAS)              FUEL-SERVICE VEHICLES                        1,966.82  

  130637 10/13/2022 MISSION LINEN SUPPLY, INC          UNIFORM & LINEN SERVICE                   1,820.30  

  130638 10/13/2022 MOUNTAIN SPRING WATER             SHOP & OFFICE SUPPLIES                        1,152.00  

  130639 10/13/2022 WILLIAM MORRIS                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    230.80  

15:5821-Oct-22Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  130640 10/13/2022 MUNOZ JANITORIAL                   JANITORIAL/DISINFECTANT SERVICE 28,680.00  

  130641 10/13/2022 NATIONAL TESTING NETWORK, I DRIVER TRAINING                                     45.00  

  130642 10/13/2022 NEOPART TRANSIT LLC                BUS PARTS                                                   257.48  

  130643 10/13/2022 NETWRIX CORPORATION                ONLINE SOFTWARE SERVICE                 1,419.00  

  130644 10/13/2022 NEWEGG BUSINESS, INC               IT EQUIPMENT & SUPPLIES                     1,024.36  

  130645 10/13/2022 NFI PARTS      DBA                 BUS PARTS                                                   165.92  

  130646 10/13/2022 CARLOS ORNELAS                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    243.00  

  130647 10/13/2022 CAREY POINDEXTER                   RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    285.00  

  130648 10/13/2022 AL ROMERO SR.                      RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    89.00  

  130649 10/13/2022 SAFETY-KLEEN CORPORATION      SHOP SUPPLIES                                           521.10  

  130650 10/13/2022 SANSUM CLINIC                      MEDICAL EXAMS                                       885.00  

  130651 10/13/2022 SILVAS OIL CO., INC.               LUBRICANTS                                               1,474.24  

  130652 10/13/2022 SM TIRE, CORP.                     BUS TIRE MOUNTING                                260.00  

  130653 10/13/2022 ROBIN SORIA                        RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    570.00  

  130654 10/13/2022 STANTEC ARCHITECTURE INC.       FACILITIES A&E SERVICES                      1,028.00  

  130655 10/13/2022 STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES CONSULTING SERVICES                           14,067.18 V

  130656 10/13/2022 STERTIL-KONI USA, INC              MOBILE LIFTS                                             53,548.59  

  130657 10/13/2022 SB CITY OF-REFUSE/WATER            UTILITIES                                                     2,075.45  

  130658 10/13/2022 SUPER BEE RESCUE AND REMOVA BEE REMOVAL SERVICE                          300.00  

  130659 10/13/2022 TEAMSTERS MISC SECURITY TRU UNION MEDICAL INSURANCE                180,926.00  

  130660 10/13/2022 TAC ENERGY LLC                     RENEWABLE DIESEL                                 36,352.82  

  130661 10/13/2022 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.     BUS PARTS                                                   103.06  

  130662 10/13/2022 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE PROGRA BUS PARTS                                                   724.28  

  130663 10/13/2022 VELOCITY TRUCK CENTERS    DB BUS PARTS                                                   85.90  

  130664 10/13/2022 WHITE ASSOCIATES     DBA           BUS PARTS AND REPAIRS                        4,800.00  

  130665 10/13/2022 ALEXANDER YOUNG                    RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    475.70  

  130666 10/13/2022 STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES CONSULTING SERVICES                           10,963.68  

  130667 10/21/2022 ABC BUS COMPANIES INC              BUS PARTS                                                   1,046.72  

  130668 10/21/2022 AMERICAN MOVING PARTS, LLC   BUS PARTS                                                   2,453.07  

  130669 10/21/2022 BRINK'S INCORPORATED               ARMORED TRANSPORTATION SERVIC 1,817.20  

  130670 10/21/2022 MARIO R. BEAS                      HR CONSULTANT                                       7,200.00  

  130671 10/21/2022 BIG BRAND TIRES, BRANDCO BILL SERVICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE       696.65  

  130672 10/21/2022 CASH                               CASH FOR TVM BUS PASSES 4,125.00  

  130673 10/21/2022 CELTIS VENTURES, INC.              MARKETING SERVICES                            7,077.50  

  130674 10/21/2022 CERTIFIED ENVIRONMENTAL         PROFESSIONAL SERVICES                       2,034.68  

  130675 10/21/2022 CENTRAL COAST TANK TESTING   TANK TESTS                                                130.00  

  130676 10/21/2022 COMPLETE COACH WORKS             FLEET RENEWAL CAMPAIGN                  243,966.40  

  130677 10/21/2022 CINTAS CORPORATION                 FIRST AID SUPPLIES                                  249.20  

  130678 10/21/2022 CUMMINS SALES & SERVICE    dba BUS PARTS & REPAIRS                              112.28  

  130679 10/21/2022 CROSSLINE SUPPLY LLC               BUS PARTS                                                   216.41  

  130680 10/21/2022 CA. DEPT. of TAX & FEE ADMINIST UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK FEE  2,375.00  

15:5821-Oct-22Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  130681 10/21/2022 DIESEL FORWARD, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   204.78  

  130682 10/21/2022 DOCUPRODUCTS CORPORATION   COPIER MAINTENANCE/SUPPLIES         212.55  

  130683 10/21/2022 EASY LIFT TRANSPORTATION, IN MONTHLY ADA SUBSIDY                         88,399.00  

  130684 10/21/2022 ECO-T TIRE & RETREADING, LLC   SERVICE VEHICLE TIRES 1,146.43  

  130685 10/21/2022 EDWARDS CONSTRUCTION GROU CHARGE READY BRIDGE                         93,652.88  

  130686 10/21/2022 EMERGENCY DRAIN SERVICES DB DRAIN SERVICES                                        399.75  

  130687 10/21/2022 EVERSHADE LLC       DBA            STEAM CLEANING TC/EXPRESS ZONE 510.00  

  130688 10/21/2022 FAUVER, LARGE, ARCHBALD&SPR LEGAL COUNSEL                                        35,219.99  

  130689 10/21/2022 STATE OF CALIFORNIA                PAYROLL RELATED                                   60.00  

  130690 10/21/2022 GIBBS INTERNATIONAL INC            BUS PARTS                                                   558.37  

  130691 10/21/2022 GILLIG LLC                         BUS PARTS                                                   2,115.02  

  130692 10/21/2022 GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER CO     BUS TIRE LEASE                                         23,415.52  

  130693 10/21/2022 LAWRENCE GOMOLL                    CERTIFICATION REIMBURSEMENT 84.00  

  130694 10/21/2022 GRAINGER, INC.                     SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                 2,113.16  

  130695 10/21/2022 GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY, I REPAIRS & SUPPLIES T1 BLDG/GRDS    1,021.22  

  130696 10/21/2022 H&H WHOLESALE PARTS                BUS PARTS & SHOP SUPPLIES                 16.16  

  130697 10/21/2022 HOME IMPROVEMENT CTR.             SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                 58.21  

  130698 10/21/2022 LARRY'S 8 DAY AUTO PARTS          SHOP SUPPLIES 104.82  

  130699 10/21/2022 LAWSON PRODUCTS INC                SHOP SUPPLIES                                           4,553.17  

  130700 10/21/2022 MC CORMIX CORP. (OIL)              LUBRICANTS                                               1,460.95  

  130701 10/21/2022 MULLEN & HENZELL                   CALLE REAL PROJECT SERVICES          5,695.49  

  130702 10/21/2022 MUNOZ JANITORIAL                   JANITORIAL/DISINFECTANT SERVICE 3,000.00  

  130703 10/21/2022 NATIONAL DRIVE                     PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              22.00  

  130704 10/21/2022 NATIONAL TESTING NETWORK, I DRIVER TRAINING                                     90.00  

  130705 10/21/2022 NEOPART TRANSIT LLC                BUS PARTS                                                   482.39  

  130706 10/21/2022 NEW PIG CORP.                      BUS CLEANING SUPPLIES                        1,861.32  

  130707 10/21/2022 O'REILLY AUTO PARTS    DBA         BUS/SERVICE VEHICLE PARTS               121.32  

  130708 10/21/2022 PETTY CASH - MANNY CASTANON MISC. PURCHASES                                     109.30  

  130709 10/21/2022 POWERSTRIDE BATTERY CO.          BATTERIES                                                   1,201.77  

  130710 10/21/2022 ROBERT HALF                        TEMPORARY LABOR                                 1,460.00  

  130711 10/21/2022 SB COUNTY FEDERAL CREDIT UNI PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              260.00  

  130712 10/21/2022 SANTA BARBARA NEWSPRESS    D PUBLIC NOTICE ADS                                 112.50  

  130713 10/21/2022 SEIFERT GRAPHICS, INC.             BUS PARTS                                                   67.10  

  130714 10/21/2022 SOAP MAN DISTRIBUTIN   DBA       BUS CLEANING SUPPLIES                        64.16  

  130715 10/21/2022 SOCALGAS                           UTILITIES                                                     165.37  

  130716 10/21/2022 SPECIALTY TOOL & BOLT, LTD      SHOP SUPPLIES                                           392.72  

  130717 10/21/2022 STANTEC ARCHITECTURE INC.       FACILITIES A&E SERVICES                      1,946.25  

  130718 10/21/2022 STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES CONSULTING SERVICES                           11,642.40  

  130719 10/21/2022 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMMERC OFFICE SUPPLIES                                       443.81  

  130720 10/21/2022 TEAMSTERS UNION LOCAL NO. 18 UNION DUES                                                338.00  

  130721 10/21/2022 TAC ENERGY LLC                     RENEWABLE DIESEL                                 72,691.91  

15:5821-Oct-22Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  130722 10/21/2022 UNITED WAY OF SB                   PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              30.00  

  130723 10/21/2022 J.C.M. AND ASSOCIATES INC.         UNIFORMS                                                    1,422.01  

  130724 10/21/2022 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.     LUBRICANTS                                               4,242.71  

  130725 10/21/2022 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE PROGRA BUS PARTS                                                   82.38  

  130726 10/21/2022 VERIZON WIRELESS                   WIRELESS PHONES & AIM CELLULAR  1,362.73  

  130727 10/21/2022 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY      DBA JANITORIAL SUPPLIES                              2,376.38  

  130728 10/21/2022 WHITE ROCK SECURITY GROUP, L ESET SECURITY SOFTWARE LICENSE  642.00  

  130729 10/21/2022 WURTH USA WEST INC.                SHOP SUPPLIES                                           821.09  

  130730 10/21/2022 YACO SCHOLARSHIP FUND              PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              35.00  

1,035,471.13

14,067.18

$1,021,403.95

Prior Cash Report Voided Checks: 0.00

Current Cash Report Voided Checks:

Grand Total:

15:5821-Oct-22Accounts Payable Check Register



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District
Cash Receipts of Accounts Receivable

Date Company Description Amount

9/27/2022 City of SB Creeks Division         Advertising on Buses                                             300.00

10/10/2022 SB School District                 Passes/Token Sales                                               4,537.50

10/12/2022 Got Paella                         Bus Advertising                                                  326.00

10/12/2022 SB South Coast Chamber of Commerc Bus Advertising                                                  1,956.00

10/13/2022 Idea Engineering, Inc.             Advertising on Buses                                             2,574.00

10/13/2022 SBCC - Contract Fares              Contract Fares - September 2022 74,416.00

10/13/2022 SBCC - Contract Fares              Contract Fares - August 2022 35,070.00

10/13/2022 SBCC - Contract Fares              Contract Fares - July 2022 32,242.00

$151,421.50Total Accounts Receivable Paid During Period

0/21/2022 3:58:59 PMCash Report Accounts Receivable Printed



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 1, 2022 AGENDA ITEM: #8 

DEPARTMENT: PLANNING 

TYPE: ACTION ITEM 

PREPARED BY: HILLARY BLACKERBY ____________________ 
                     Signature            
 
REVIEWED BY: GENERAL MANAGER ____________________  
                          Signature            
 
SUBJECT: FINAL SHORT RANGE TRANSIT PLAN 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff requests that the Board of Directors receive a presentation regarding the draft final Short 
Range Transit Plan, and vote to adopt the plan. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
MTD Moves Ahead (MTD Avanza in Spanish) is Santa Barbara MTD’s community process to 
create a Short Range Transit Plan that will guide bus service development, infrastructure 
investment, and capital needs for MTD’s bus system over the next five years. The Board of 
Directors has received several updates on this effort, which began in earnest in October 2021, 
and consisted of several rounds of community engagement, data analysis, stakeholder 
feedback, and research. 
 
At the Board meeting of October 18, 2022, the Board of Directors received a presentation and 
gave comments on a draft final version of the Short Range Transit Plan. Staff and consultants 
incorporated that feedback into the plan, and enhanced the executive summary with plan details 
so that it can serve as a simple pullout that encapsulates the broader plan.  
 
Staff is requesting that the Board vote to adopt the final version of the plan. 
 
Attachment: Final Short Range Transit Plan 



 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Santa Barbara MTD 

MTD Moves Ahead 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Short-Range Transit Plan: 
Final Plan 

DRAFT 
October 2022 
 





DRAFT 

SANTA BARBARA MTD SHORT-RANGE TRANSIT PLAN i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................................... i 

1 Introduction & Background ................................................................................................................ 1 

2 Summary of Existing Conditions ....................................................................................................... 3 
2.1 More Recent Service Changes .................................................................................... 6 

3 Summary of Public and Stakeholder Engagement .......................................................................... 8 
3.1 Phase 1 – Data Gathering and Listening ..................................................................... 8 
3.2 Phase 2 – Draft Plan Presentation and Feedback ..................................................... 10 

4 MTD Moves Ahead Goals ................................................................................................................. 12 

5 Recommended Service Priorities .................................................................................................... 15 
5.1 Immediate to Short-Term (1-2 years) Service Priorities ............................................. 18 
5.2 Mid-Term Service Priorities ........................................................................................ 23 
5.3 Long-Term Service Priorities ...................................................................................... 27 
5.4 Service Transitions ..................................................................................................... 32 
5.5 Service Priorities Summary ........................................................................................ 33 

6 Access Impacts ................................................................................................................................. 35 
6.1 Transit Center ............................................................................................................. 36 
6.2 State and La Cumbre ................................................................................................. 39 
6.3 UCSB .......................................................................................................................... 42 
6.4 SBCC .......................................................................................................................... 45 
6.5 Storke and Hollister .................................................................................................... 48 
6.6 Carpinteria and Holly .................................................................................................. 51 

7 Financial Forecast ............................................................................................................................. 55 
7.1 Constrained Financial and Service Plan .................................................................... 58 

8 Service Equity Impact Considerations ............................................................................................ 60 

9 Fleet Impacts ..................................................................................................................................... 63 

10 Recommendations for Future Investments in Service .................................................................. 66 
10.1 Building a Frequent Transit Network .......................................................................... 66 
10.2 Capturing Different Markets........................................................................................ 70 

11 Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses ........................................................................... 71 
11.1 Why Transit Priority Measures? ................................................................................. 71 
11.2 Transit Priority Potentials ............................................................................................ 73 
11.3 Pilot ............................................................................................................................. 82 
11.4 Community and Stakeholder Engagement ................................................................. 85 



  

ii 
 

 

11.5 Safety Considerations ................................................................................................ 86 

12 Supporting Recommendations ........................................................................................................ 90 
12.1 Future-Focused .......................................................................................................... 90 
12.2 High-Quality Transit .................................................................................................... 94 
12.3 For All South Coast Residents and Visitors ............................................................... 98 

13 Considerations for Regional Services and Connections ............................................................ 100 

14 Considerations for On-Demand / Easy Lift ................................................................................... 102 

15 Potential Funding Sources ............................................................................................................. 105 
15.1 Additional Funding Avenues ..................................................................................... 114 

16 Closing ............................................................................................................................................. 116 

Appendix A – MTD Moves Ahead Engagement Summary .................................................................. 117 

Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021.......................................................... 126 

Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts ........................ 154 

Appendix D – Title VI Service Equity Analysis..................................................................................... 185 

 

  



DRAFT 

SANTA BARBARA MTD SHORT-RANGE TRANSIT PLAN iii 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 
Figure 1: MTD monthly ridership and productivity (January 2019-October 2021) ........................................ 4 
Figure 2: Change in population density between 2014 and 2019 ................................................................ 5 
Figure 3: April 2022 ridership as a percentage of April 2019 ridership ......................................................... 6 
Figure 4: Pillars of MTD Moves Ahead ....................................................................................................... 12 
Figure 5: MTD Moves Ahead network overview ......................................................................................... 15 
Figure 6: MTD Moves Ahead network overview, Goleta and Isla Vista ...................................................... 16 
Figure 7: MTD Moves Ahead network overview, Carpinteria and Montecito .............................................. 16 
Figure 8: MTD Moves Ahead network overview, Santa Barbara ................................................................ 17 
Figure 9: MTD Moves Ahead network overview by line frequency ............................................................. 18 
Figure 10: Line 19x (SBCC/Carpinteria Express) ....................................................................................... 20 
Figure 11: The Wave Goleta/Isla Vista ....................................................................................................... 21 
Figure 12: Lines 23 and 25 routing changes............................................................................................... 22 
Figure 13: Summary of Lines 1 and 2 changes .......................................................................................... 24 
Figure 14: Lines 1 and 2 ............................................................................................................................. 24 
Figure 15: Summary of Lines 4 and 17 changes ........................................................................................ 25 
Figure 16: Lines 4 and 17 ........................................................................................................................... 26 
Figure 17: The Wave Carpinteria ................................................................................................................ 27 
Figure 18: Summary of Lines 6 and 11 changes ........................................................................................ 29 
Figure 19: Lines 6 and 11 ........................................................................................................................... 29 
Figure 20: Summary of Line 20 changes .................................................................................................... 30 
Figure 21: Line 20 ....................................................................................................................................... 31 
Figure 22: Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle .................................................................................................... 32 
Figure 23: Job access from the Transit Center on weekdays at 7am ........................................................ 36 
Figure 24: Jobs access from the Transit Center: comparison .................................................................... 37 
Figure 25: Person access to the Transit Center on weekdays at 7am ....................................................... 38 
Figure 26: Person access to the Transit Center: comparison ..................................................................... 38 
Figure 27: Job access from State and La Cumbre on weekdays at 7am ................................................... 39 
Figure 28: Job access from State and La Cumbre: comparison ................................................................. 40 
Figure 29: Person access to State and La Cumbre on weekdays at 7am .................................................. 41 
Figure 30: Person access to State and La Cumbre: comparison ............................................................... 41 
Figure 31: Job access from UCSB on weekdays at 7am ........................................................................... 42 
Figure 32: Job access from UCSB: comparison ......................................................................................... 43 
Figure 33: Person access to UCSB on weekdays at 7am .......................................................................... 44 
Figure 34: Person access to UCSB: comparison........................................................................................ 44 
Figure 35: Job access from SBCC on weekdays at 7am ........................................................................... 45 
Figure 36: Job access from SBCC: comparison ......................................................................................... 46 
Figure 37: Person access to SBCC on weekdays at 7am .......................................................................... 47 
Figure 38: Person access to SBCC: comparison........................................................................................ 47 
Figure 39: Job access from Storke and Hollister on weekdays at 7am ...................................................... 48 
Figure 40: Job access from Storke and Hollister: comparison ................................................................... 49 
Figure 41: Person access to Storke and Hollister on weekdays at 7am .................................................... 50 
Figure 42: Person access to Storke and Hollister: comparison .................................................................. 50 
Figure 43: Job access from Carpinteria and Holly on weekdays at 7am .................................................... 51 
Figure 44: Job access from Carpinteria and Holly: comparison ................................................................. 52 
Figure 45: Person access to Carpinteria and Holly on weekdays at 7am .................................................. 53 
Figure 46: Person access to Carpinteria and Holly: comparison ................................................................ 53 
Figure 47: Proximity to service comparison, weekday midday ................................................................... 60 
Figure 48: Fall 2022 school booster total labor hours segmented into in-service, deadhead, pre-
trip, and staging time. .................................................................................................................................. 64 
Figure 49: Trip purposes by income category (Source: TransitCenter). ..................................................... 67 
Figure 50: Stakeholder preference for peaked vs. all-day service.............................................................. 67 



  

iv 
 

 

Figure 51: Examples of frequent network branding (left) and backgrounder from TransLink (right). ......... 68 
Figure 52: Examples of network maps using distinct symbols for frequent routes. .................................... 69 
Figure 53: Transit priority measure survey comments ................................................................................ 71 
Figure 54: South Coast support for transit priority measures ..................................................................... 72 
Figure 55: Median trip speed by hour of day (Cal-ITP) ............................................................................... 73 
Figure 56: TSP architecture examples in Washington, D.C. (left) and Los Angeles County (right) ........... 76 
Figure 57: Bus queue jump with TSP ......................................................................................................... 77 
Figure 58: Different configurations of bus only lanes .................................................................................. 78 
Figure 59: In-street boarding island (WMATA, Washington, D.C.) ............................................................. 80 
Figure 60: Morning peak bus speeds along El Colegio (Cal-ITP)............................................................... 81 
Figure 61: Concept bus-only lane street configuration on El Colegio Rd. .................................................. 82 
Figure 62: Tactical transit application in Arlington, MA ............................................................................... 83 
Figure 63: Move Culver City monthly KPI report......................................................................................... 84 
Figure 64: Key next steps for bus only lanes .............................................................................................. 85 
Figure 65: Separate bus and bike lanes (left) and combined bus and bike lane (right) in Culver 
City, California ............................................................................................................................................. 87 
Figure 66: Signage and wayfinding examples from Culver City, California ................................................ 88 
Figure 67: Bus platform through bike lane in Culver City, California .......................................................... 89 
Figure 69: Cal-ITP approved payment reader ............................................................................................ 90 
Figure 69: Cross-promotion of transit use and retailers .............................................................................. 91 
Figure 70: On-street sawtooth bus bays to facilitate on-street passenger transfers (San Luis 
Obispo, top, Fredericton, Canada, bottom)................................................................................................. 93 
Figure 71: Transit agency examples of 3-bike racks .................................................................................. 94 
Figure 72: Example of boarding by stop in Goleta and Isla Vista. .............................................................. 97 
Figure 73: Example of Run-Times dashboard on Swiftly. ........................................................................... 98 
Figure 75: Estimated Arrival Time text system ........................................................................................... 99 
Figure 76: MTD’s Twitter feed announces up-to-date service changes ..................................................... 99 
Figure 76: Screenshot of Via’s dispatcher tool where dispatchers can toggle zones by service 
type. ........................................................................................................................................................... 103 
Figure 77: Flyer for Gold Coast Transit District’s Late Night Safe Rides service. .................................... 104 
Figure 78: Age ........................................................................................................................................... 126 
Figure 79: Gender ..................................................................................................................................... 127 
Figure 80: Ethnicity ................................................................................................................................... 127 
Figure 81: Employment status .................................................................................................................. 128 
Figure 82: Household income ................................................................................................................... 128 
Figure 83: Rider home locations (by ZIP code) ........................................................................................ 129 
Figure 84: Non-rider home locations (by ZIP code) .................................................................................. 129 
Figure 85: Reasons for riding the bus ....................................................................................................... 130 
Figure 86: Reasons for not riding the bus ................................................................................................. 131 
Figure 87: Frequency vs. coverage tradeoff question .............................................................................. 132 
Figure 88: Frequency vs. coverage .......................................................................................................... 133 
Figure 89: Stops vs. express tradeoff question......................................................................................... 134 
Figure 90: Stops vs. express..................................................................................................................... 134 
Figure 91: Direct vs. transfers tradeoff question ....................................................................................... 135 
Figure 92: Direct vs. transfers ................................................................................................................... 136 
Figure 93: Peaked vs. all day service tradeoff question ........................................................................... 136 
Figure 94: Peaked vs. all day service ....................................................................................................... 137 
Figure 95: Bus stop consolidation ............................................................................................................. 138 
Figure 96: Transit signal priority ................................................................................................................ 138 
Figure 97: All door boarding ...................................................................................................................... 139 
Figure 98: Queue jump lanes .................................................................................................................... 139 
Figure 99: Bus only lanes .......................................................................................................................... 140 
Figure 100: Rider support for transit priority treatments ........................................................................... 140 

https://stantec.sharepoint.com/teams/2073016160/Shared%20Documents/Draft%20and%20Final%20Plans%20and%20Presentations/rpt_srtp_draft_mtd_v7_20221024.docx#_Toc117499873
https://stantec.sharepoint.com/teams/2073016160/Shared%20Documents/Draft%20and%20Final%20Plans%20and%20Presentations/rpt_srtp_draft_mtd_v7_20221024.docx#_Toc117499879
https://stantec.sharepoint.com/teams/2073016160/Shared%20Documents/Draft%20and%20Final%20Plans%20and%20Presentations/rpt_srtp_draft_mtd_v7_20221024.docx#_Toc117499880


DRAFT 

SANTA BARBARA MTD SHORT-RANGE TRANSIT PLAN v 
 

Figure 101: Non-rider support for transit priority treatments ..................................................................... 141 
Figure 102: Most important factors for customers .................................................................................... 144 
Figure 103: Challenges for service delivery .............................................................................................. 145 
Figure 104: Frequency vs. coverage (bus operators) ............................................................................... 146 
Figure 105: Stops vs. express (bus operators) ......................................................................................... 146 
Figure 106: Direct vs. transfers (bus operators) ....................................................................................... 147 
Figure 107: Peak vs. all day service (bus operators) ................................................................................ 147 
Figure 108: Bus stop consolidation (bus operators) ................................................................................. 148 
Figure 109: Transit signal priority (bus operators) .................................................................................... 148 
Figure 110: All door boarding (bus operators) .......................................................................................... 149 
Figure 111: Queue jump lanes (bus operators) ........................................................................................ 149 
Figure 112: Bus-only lanes (bus operators) .............................................................................................. 150 
Figure 113: Rider or non-rider ................................................................................................................... 154 
Figure 114: Age ......................................................................................................................................... 154 
Figure 115: Gender identity....................................................................................................................... 155 
Figure 116: Race/ethnicity ........................................................................................................................ 155 
Figure 117: Income distribution ................................................................................................................. 156 
Figure 118: Responses for Line 1 and Line 2 ........................................................................................... 157 
Figure 119: Responses for Line 4 and Line 17 ......................................................................................... 157 
Figure 120: Responses for Line 6 and Line 11 ......................................................................................... 158 
Figure 121: Responses for Line 20 ........................................................................................................... 158 
Figure 122: Responses for Line 23 and Line 25 ....................................................................................... 159 
Figure 123: Responses for Line 19X ........................................................................................................ 159 
Figure 124: Responses for The Wave in Goleta and Isla Vista ................................................................ 160 
Figure 125: Responses for The Wave in Carpinteria ................................................................................ 161 
Figure 126: Responses for the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator ............................................................. 161 
Figure 127: Responses to route name changes ....................................................................................... 162 
Figure 128: Responses to service transitions ........................................................................................... 162 
Figure 129: Responses to signal priority measures .................................................................................. 163 
Figure 130: Responses to bus priority measures ..................................................................................... 163 
Figure 131: Responses to statements about the MTD Moves Ahead Survey .......................................... 164 
 

LIST OF TABLES 
Table 1: Immediate to short-term service priorities ....................................................................................... iii 
Table 2: Mid-term service priorities ............................................................................................................... iii 
Table 3: Long-term service priorities ............................................................................................................ iv 
Table 4: Forecasted operating revenues and expenses. ............................................................................. vi 
Table 5: MTD Moves Ahead supporting recommendations ......................................................................... vi 
Table 6: Transit priority measures overview ................................................................................................ vii 
Table 7: MTD Moves Ahead gaps and needs............................................................................................. 13 
Table 8: Immediate to short-term service priorities ..................................................................................... 19 
Table 9: Mid-term service priorities ............................................................................................................. 23 
Table 10: Long-term service priorities ......................................................................................................... 28 
Table 11: Service transitions ....................................................................................................................... 33 
Table 12: MTD Moves Ahead service priorities summary .......................................................................... 34 
Table 13: Unconstrained forecasted operating revenues and expenses. .................................................. 57 
Table 14: Unconstrained forecasted operating revenues and expenses. .................................................. 58 
Table 15: MTD Moves Ahead major service changes ................................................................................ 61 
Table 16: Low-income and minority populations within ¼-mile of proposed route removals ..................... 62 
Table 17: Low-income and minority populations within ¼-mile of newly proposed Line 19x ..................... 62 
Table 18: MTD Moves Ahead future investment proposals ........................................................................ 68 



  

vi 
 

 

Table 19: Transit priority measures overview ............................................................................................. 74 
Table 18: Potential funding sources .......................................................................................................... 107 
Table 21: Top 10 Locations for Microtransit .............................................................................................. 141 
Table 22: Top 10 Locations for New or More Service .............................................................................. 142 
Table 23: Stakeholder Feedback Summary. ............................................................................................. 151 
Table 24:Most frequent ZIP codes ............................................................................................................ 155 
Table 25: Responses for Line 1 and Line 2 from affected ZIP codes ....................................................... 157 
Table 26: Responses for Line 4 and Line 17 from affected ZIP codes ..................................................... 157 
Table 27: Responses for Line 6 and Line 11 from affected ZIP codes ..................................................... 158 
Table 28: Responses for Line 20 from affected ZIP codes ....................................................................... 158 
Table 29: Responses for Line 23 and Line 25 from affected ZIP codes ................................................... 159 
Table 30: Responses for Line 19X from affected ZIP codes .................................................................... 160 
Table 31: Responses for The Wave in Goleta and Isla Vista from affected ZIP codes ............................ 160 
Table 32: Responses for The Wave in Carpinteria from affected ZIP codes ........................................... 161 
Table 33: Responses for the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator from affected ZIP codes ......................... 161 
Table 34: Comments received .................................................................................................................. 165 
Table 35: MTD Moves Ahead major service changes .............................................................................. 186 
Table 36: Change borne by low-income and minority populations for major service changes ................ 186 
Table 37: Low-income and minority populations in microtransit zones .................................................... 187 
 
 

https://stantec.sharepoint.com/teams/2073016160/Shared%20Documents/Draft%20and%20Final%20Plans%20and%20Presentations/rpt_srtp_draft_mtd_v7_20221021.docx#_Toc117499654


 
DRAFT 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 1 
 

ABBREVIATIONS 

ABLE Automated bus lane enforcement 

ACS American Community Survey 

AIM Accelerating Innovative Mobility 

ALPR Automated license plate reader 

APC Automated passenger counter 

BEB Battery electric bus 

BUILD Better Utilizing Investments to Leverage Development 

Cal-ITP California Integrated Travel Project 

CARB California Air Resources Board 

CMAQ Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program 

CSP Countywide Signal Priority 

FTA Federal Transit Administration  

GTFS General Transit Feed Specification 

GTFS-RT GTFS real-time 

HVIP Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Inventive Project 

ICAM Innovative Coordinated Access and Mobility Pilot Program 

ICT Innovative Clean Transit 

IVCSD Isla Vista Community Services District 



DRAFT 

2 
 

 

LCTOP Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 

LTF Local Transportation Fund 

MTD Metropolitan Transit District 

OTP On-time performance 

RTP/SCS Regional Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy 

SBCAG Santa Barbara County Association of Governments 

SBCC Santa Barbara City College 

SRTP Short-range transit plan 

STA State Transit Assistance  

STEP Sustainable Transportation Equity Project 

STIC Small transit-intensive community 

TDA Transportation Development Act 

TIRCP Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program 

TSP Transit signal priority 

UCSB University of California, Santa Barbara 

UZA Urbanized Area 

VCTC Ventura County Transportation Commission 

 



Executive Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan i 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District (MTD) provides public transit to the residents and visitors 
of the South Coast of Santa Barbara County, a service area of approximately 52 square miles and service 
area population of 199,668. According to the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), Santa Barbara is a small 
transit-intensive community (STIC), meaning that MTD provides an unusually high level of service, and 
residents use the service at a very high level, for a community of this size. 

MTD’s service area encompasses the southern portion of Santa Barbara County, including the cities of 
Santa Barbara, Carpinteria, and Goleta, and the unincorporated areas of Montecito, Summerland, and Isla 
Vista. The South Coast, distinguished as the area of Santa Barbara County south of the Santa Ynez 
Mountains, is characterized by hosting a myriad of cultural and recreational amenities while still maintaining 
the feel of a small, tight-knit community.  

MTD provides fixed-route transit service that aims to serve not only residents of the various communities 
for a variety of purposes, like to get to work, to receive healthcare, and to shop, but also routes designed 
specifically for the large seasonal, student population of post-secondary schools in the area, the University 
of California, Santa Barbara (UCSB) and Santa Barbara City College (SBCC). MTD also operates school 
booster services to high schools and middle schools throughout the service area as well as lines geared 
toward tourists, like waterfront and downtown shuttles. 

Understanding the need to plan for the future as the region continues to recover from COVID-19 and in the 
face of other issues and constraints such as an operator shortage, MTD has designed a short-range transit 
plan (SRTP) to guide service investments and improvements over the next five-year planning period, called 
MTD Moves Ahead. Importantly, this plan also considers initiatives that can help MTD reach a new level 
of service reliability by considering the feasibility of different transit priority measures.  

The MTD Moves Ahead planning process consisted of the following tasks: 

• A background review and analysis of MTD existing conditions. 

• Development of project goals and objectives. 

• Public and stakeholder outreach at multiple points throughout the planning process. 

• A phased recommended plan of service priorities to guide future service changes and investments 
over the next five years, dependent upon the availability of financial and human resources to 
sustainably implement the service 

• A financial forecast with yearly operating budget estimates and a discussion of potential funding 
sources. 

• Other strategies including supporting recommendations, consideration for transit priority measures, 
considerations for future service investments, regional service coordination, and providing on-
demand service/Easy Lift (the paratransit provider for MTD). 

Based on the analysis of existing conditions, stakeholder and public outreach, and consultation with MTD, 
the recommended service priorities was developed with the goals of providing service that is: 

• Future-focused, 

• High quality, and 



DRAFT 

ii 
 

 

• For all South Coast residents and visitors.  

As this project took place during the COVID-19 pandemic, MTD underwent several phases of service 
changes over the course of the pandemic. Like many agencies, MTD first reduced service dramatically as 
ridership evaporated in response to stay-at-home orders in 2020 and as schools transitioned to remote 
learning. In 2021, MTD restored much of its service and in 2022, continued to augment service levels. 
However, due to labor force issues plaguing organizations worldwide including the transit industry, MTD 
has had to prune service levels to reflect its ability to deliver scheduled services; bus operators are in short 
supply. 

With this new reality as a backdrop, the planning process took a fresh look at MTD’s services and used the 
new reality of workforce shortages and financial constraints when planning ahead. The guiding principles 
that shaped the service design include: 

• Strengthening core routes by increasing frequency and service span to provide better service 
throughout the day. 

• Optimizing alignments for passengers and operations. Most of MTD’s network is performing well 
and routing is efficient given street layouts and the geography of the region. 

• Proposing ways to speed up buses and passengers on their trips. 

• Collaborating with regional partners on piloting bus priority treatments.  

The service proposals were developed in a collaborative manner with MTD staff and by presenting them to 
the public and incorporating feedback. Importantly, the service proposals are grouped into an immediate 
and short-term service plan that account for recommendations that can be achieved with current 
resources (both labor and financial), and into mid-term and long-term service priorities that will require 
a larger workforce and additional revenue to achieve these priorities. This is the new reality coming out of 
COVID-19—labor markets are tight and inflation rates mean that operating the same level of transit service 
costs more and outpaces revenues. 

In the immediate to short-term, the service priority focuses: 

• Restoring more service to lines that are still operating with reduced service (Lines 15x, 27, and 
28). 

• Introducing a new line, Line 19x, which provides peak-hour express service between Carpinteria 
and SBCC.  

• Introducing the Wave microtransit service, a shared ride curb-to-curb on-demand service in the 
Goleta/Isla Vista areas. This service is currently slated as a pilot. 

• Adjusting routing for Lines 23 and 25 by interlining the two routes to improve operations and 
neighborhood access. 

• Renaming Line 12x to Line 6x and Line 24x to Line 11x to improve network legibility and 
wayfinding; this effort would take place during a larger effort to rebrand MTD’s bus stops. 

Table 1 summarizes the immediate to short-term service priorities. 



Executive Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan iii 
 

Table 1: Immediate to short-term service priorities 

Service change 

Proposed 
change in 

annual revenue 
hours 

(compared to 
Aug 2022 

service levels) 

August 2022 
service levels 
(annualized) 

Notes 

New service: Line 
19x +742 N/A 

Funding for this service has been identified: US 
Highway 101 Project Caltrans Traffic Management 
Plan funds. 

The Wave Goleta/ 
Isla Vista +4,960 N/A 

One year of funding for piloting this service has 
been identified: Caltrans LCTOP grant. 
Includes most populous service area previously 
served with Line 10. 

Restore service to 
(Lines 27, 28, and 
15x) 

+9,207 21,019 Funding assistance from schools. 

Lines 23 and 25 
operational and 
routing changes 

No change in service levels, but interlining will improve connections in these 
neighborhoods. 

Total change in 
hours compared to 
August 2022 
annualized 

+14,909 

In the mid-term, service priorities include: 

• Improving service span and frequencies on Lines 1, 2, 4, and 17. These lines are heavily used and 
serve disadvantaged communities who rely on public transit. These priorities would improve 
frequency during the day for Lines 4 and 17, while late night service would be provided on Lines 1 
and 2, enabling later journeys. 

• Introducing the Wave microtransit service, a shared ride curb-to-curb on-demand service in the 
Carpinteria area. 

Service proposals for mid-term service priority are summarized in Table 2. 

Table 2: Mid-term service priorities 

Service change 

Proposed 
change in 

annual revenue 
hours 

(compared to 
Aug 2022 

service levels) 

August 2022 
service levels 
(annualized) 

Notes 

Lines 1 and 2 
frequency and 
service span 
improvements 

1: +1,588 
2: +654 
Total: +2,241 

1: 10,197 
2: 16,003 
Total: 26,200 

Slight reduction in peak service and increase in 
service during off-peak hours results in a total 
number of hours similar to pre-COVID. 

Lines 4 and 17 
frequency and 
service span 
improvements 

4: +1,240 
17: +961 
Total: +2,200 

4: 4,531 
17: 3,387 
Total: 7,918 

Increase in frequency results in more revenue 
hours. 



DRAFT 

iv 
 

 

Service change 

Proposed 
change in 

annual revenue 
hours 

(compared to 
Aug 2022 

service levels) 

August 2022 
service levels 
(annualized) 

Notes 

The Wave 
Carpinteria +4,960 N/A Includes service area previously served by Line 36 

– Seaside Shuttle. 
Total change in 
hours compared to 
August 2022 
annualized 

+9,401 

In the long-term, service priorities include: 

• Improving service span and frequencies on Lines 6 and 11. These lines are the most productive 
and heavily used routes in MTD’s network. They provide key connections throughout the 
communities served by MTD. Later service would enable more journeys. However, given the length 
of these routes, the proposed service changes require a significant investment in service hours. 

• Improving service span and frequencies on Line 20, a key route that saw significant ridership 
during the pandemic, emphasizing its critical role to MTD’s network. 

• Introducing a newly redesigned Downtown-Waterfront Circulator, similar to the Downtown and 
Waterfront shuttle routes but operating on different streets to reflect the pedestrianization of State 
St. This service will require funding arrangements with City partners. 

Long-term service priorities are summarized in Table 3. 

Table 3: Long-term service priorities 

Service change 

Proposed 
change in 

annual revenue 
hours 

(compared to 
Aug 2022 

service levels) 

August 2022 
service levels 
(annualized) 

Notes 

Lines 6 and 11 
frequency and 
service span 
improvements 

6: +5,307 
11: +8,452 
Total: +13,759 

6: 17,975 
11: 27,467 
Total: 45,442 

Significant increase in revenue hours due to longer 
span and more frequent service and length of 
these lines. 

Line 20 frequency 
and service span 
improvements 

+6,936 16,067 Significant investment in revenue hours. 

Downtown-
Waterfront 
Circulator 

+6,040 N/A 

No funding currently identified; requires funding 
agreement with City partners. 
New service will be faster due to transit signal 
priority and using streets with fewer stops. 
Service levels are proposed to be lower than pre-
COVID. 



Executive Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan v 
 

Service change 

Proposed 
change in 

annual revenue 
hours 

(compared to 
Aug 2022 

service levels) 

August 2022 
service levels 
(annualized) 

Notes 

Total change in 
hours compared to 
August 2022 
annualized 

+26,735 

The impacts of the recommended service priorities on mobility and accessibility were analyzed. Compared 
to the baseline network, the MTD Moves Ahead proposed network improves the service area’s access to 
transit services, with 98% of all residents within ½ mile of either fixed route or the Wave on-demand service, 
compared to 94% of the population with the pre-Covid network. This comparison also clearly illustrates that 
MTD already achieves high levels of coverage and the recommendations improve coverage even further.  

Proximity to high-quality service (15 minutes or better) is also slightly improved across all categories, and 
we see significant improvements in the number of residents and jobs that are within ½ mile of 16–30-minute 
service. Not only does the MTD Moves Ahead network improve overall proximity to service, but it improves 
proximity to high-quality service, increasing the number of residents and jobs that are close to frequent 
services and potentially resulting in increased ridership. 

Ultimately, MTD envisions providing service tailored to new ridership demand and travel patterns that have 
resulted from COVID-19. This project was conducted during the recovery portion of the pandemic, and 
throughout the planning process, MTD was slowly restoring service in order to respond to passenger 
demand as well as the realities of operator shortages that grip the nation at large. As a result, the new 
reality is the service MTD operates as of Fall 2022—a lean network focused on its core routes and markets 
that MTD can reliably serve. To truly move ahead, MTD will first need to shore up its services based on 
realistic service levels reflective of funding and revenues and available operators, and eventually expand 
service in a fiscally responsible manner. 

Below is a table that summarizes forecasted operating revenues and expenses based on a service baseline 
comprised of the August of 2022 revenue hours and the proposed service priorities classified as “short” 
term. 

  



DRAFT 

vi 
 

 

Table 4: Forecasted operating revenues and expenses. 
  FY22-23 FY23-24 FY24-25 

  Baseline year Plan year 1 Plan year 2 

Operating Revenues 
Passenger fares $4,438,000 $4,499,000 $4,561,000 

Non-Transportation income $347,000 $354,000 $361,000 
Local Operating Assistance $835,000 $852,000 $2,289,000 

Measure A $2,753,000 $2,814,000 $2,900,000 
TDA - Local Transportation Fund $10,045,000 $10,246,000 $10,451,000 

Property Tax Revenue $1,544,000 $1,621,000 $1,702,000 
FTA 5307 Operating Assistance $5,277,000 $5,277,000 $5,277,000 

COVID-19 Federal Stimulus Funding $4,747,000 $5,446,000 $6,310,000 
Total Operating Revenue $29,986,000 $31,109,000 $33,851,000 

Operating Expenses 
Route operations $16,986,000 $17,697,000 $19,516,000 

Vehicle maintenance $4,656,000 $4,857,000 $5,277,000 
Fuel costs $2,542,000 $2,643,000 $2,958,000 

Passenger accommodations $1,212,000 $1,269,000 $1,329,000 
General overhead $4,590,000 $4,642,000 $4,772,000 

Total Operating Expenses $29,986,000 $31,109,000 $33,851,000 
*values rounded to nearest $1,000 

The financial forecast illustrates the challenge faced by MTD to establish a new financial baseline, from 
which, it can begin to reliably introduce new transit services. The financial forecast utilizes the operating 
budget for fiscal year FY2022-23 as a baseline, which included a projected deficit of approximately $4.7 
million. The FY2022-23 fiscal budget assumed peak renewable fuel costs, conservative sales tax and fare 
revenue growth, and full employment. It is reasonable to assume that the operating deficit for FY2022-23 
may come in lower than what was projected.    

Nevertheless, to address the actual deficit spending that will result in FY2022-23 due to the slower pace of 
revenue growth compared to growth in expenses, MTD must consider taking the following steps prior to the 
exhaustion of COVID-19 emergency funds: 

MTD’s passenger fares, an important source of revenue, will likely need to increase at some point within 
the 5-year period to help recapture some of the investment in operations. Once employment levels are 
reached to ensure service reliability and operational activity is sustainable, MTD will limit the growth in 
operating expenses so that it can be offset by the annual increase in sales tax revenue. These steps are 
necessary to establish a new service level benchmark that is sustainable and inclusive of the “short term” 
transit priorities. Moving ahead, implementation of the recommended transit priorities outlined in the “mid” 
and “long” term will require additional operating assistance. 

To support the service plan proposals and to support MTD as a dynamic and innovative transit agency, 
Table 5 summarizes supporting recommendations that will help MTD achieve the goals of MTD Moves 
Ahead. 

Table 5: MTD Moves Ahead supporting recommendations 
Goal Supporting Recommendations 
Transit that is future-focused • Deploy open payment/contactless payment across the entire 

MTD system 
• Continue to build partnerships to strengthen MTD service 



Executive Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan vii 
 

• Enhance operations and network connectivity by completing 
facility improvements at Terminal 1 and Terminal 2 and improve 
stops where lines converge and transfers are common 

• Continue to transition to a zero-emission bus (ZEB) fleet 
Transit that is high-quality • Deploy 3-bike racks across the system 

• Launch a bus stop improvement program and update bus stop 
design guidelines 

• Leverage high quality data and software to make more data-
driven decisions to improve service 

Transit that is for all South Coast 
residents and visitors 

• Explore offering “request-a-stop” service on key lines during 
evening hours 

• Strengthen and improve customer communications 

During the MTD Moves Ahead planning process, several different transit priority measures were explored 
to understand where and how these can be implemented throughout the South Coast to improve service 
and reliability. Survey respondents were asked about their support for different priority measures, and 
whether these would make them ride more often. Within the South Coast, support for transit priority 
measures is strong among current MTD riders and the community at large, with 81% of riders and 78% of 
all survey respondents stating that they would be much more likely or somewhat more likely to ride if bus 
queue jumps and bus only lanes were implemented, and 83% of riders and 80% of all survey respondents 
would be much more likely or somewhat more likely to ride is transit signal priority were implemented. Table 
6 summarizes the transit priority measures that were looked at as a part of this planning process. 

Table 6: Transit priority measures overview 
Project Concept Example1 

Transit 
signal 
priority 

Extend the green signal so an approaching 
bus can make it through the intersection. 
Provide a signal for buses only at key 
intersections to provide buses the right of 
way before general traffic.  

 

                                                      
 
1 NACTO Transit Street Design Guide 



DRAFT 

viii 
 

 

Project Concept Example1 

Bus 
queue 
jumps 

Combine short dedicated transit facilities with 
either a leading bus interval or active signal 
priority to allow buses to easily enter traffic 
flow in a priority position. Comparable to a 
bike box treatment, but for buses. 
Can considerably reduce delay and result in 
run-time savings and improved reliability.  

 

Bus 
only 
lanes 

Only buses (or bikes, if low bus frequency) 
are permitted. 
Speeds up buses and improves journey time 
consistency. 

 

Regarding transit priority measures, MTD has received funding to implement transit signal priority (TSP) at 
all intersections within the City of Santa Barbara and is moving towards TSP implementation. An opportunity 
has also been identified for the implementation of bus-only lanes on El Colegio Rd. in Isla Vista. More detail 
about the next steps for transit priority measures in the South Coast is presented in the body of the report.  

MTD Moves Ahead has proposed a vision and plan for the next five years of providing high-quality transit 
to South Coast residents and visitors. The plan was developed under the guiding principles of continuing 
to recover and rebound from COVID-19 as well as adapt to the new realities of travel. 

MTD will need to continue working together with riders, partner agencies and stakeholders across the 
community to make MTD Moves Ahead a reality. 

 

 

 



Introduction & Background 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 1 
 

1 INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District (MTD) provides public transit to the residents and visitors 
of the South Coast of Santa Barbara County, a service area of approximately 52 square miles and service 
area population of 199,668. According to the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), Santa Barbara is a small 
transit-intensive community (STIC), meaning that MTD provides an unusually high level of service, and 
residents use the service at a very high level for a community of this size. 

MTD’s service area encompasses the southern portion of Santa Barbara County, including the cities of 
Santa Barbara, Carpinteria, and Goleta, and the unincorporated areas of Montecito, Summerland, and Isla 
Vista. The South Coast, distinguished as the area of Santa Barbara County south of the Santa Ynez 
Mountains, is characterized by hosting a myriad of cultural and recreational amenities while still maintaining 
the feel of a small, tight-knit community.  

MTD provides fixed-route transit service that aims to serve not only residents of the various communities 
for a variety of purposes, like to get to work, to receive healthcare, and to shop, but also routes designed 
specifically for the large seasonal, student population of post-secondary schools in the area, the University 
of California, Santa Barbara (UCSB) and Santa Barbara City College (SBCC). MTD also operates school 
booster services to high schools and middle schools throughout the service area as well as lines geared 
toward tourists, like waterfront and downtown shuttles. 

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the MTD was one 
of the most productive and heavily-used transit 
systems in the state for a system of its size. On purely 
ridership terms, MTD ranks 17 out of over 150 bus 
agencies in California, and on a ridership per capita 
basis, MTD ranks 6 out of over 150 bus agencies in 
the state. 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, MTD 
ridership dropped significantly but has been steadily 
returning as the community has returned to in-person 
activities and MTD has restored more service. The 
short range transit plan (SRTP) provides an 
opportunity to rethink MTD’s service design, 
operations, delivery, and to propose bold projects like 
bus priority measures, to help MTD move ahead. The 
SRTP—MTD Moves Ahead—is a five-year plan that 
prepares MTD for the near future based on 
community priorities and will help prioritize and guide 
MTD through service planning changes for the next 
five years. 

The key steps that have informed this SRTP include: 

• A review of existing conditions, providing a 
comprehensive review of MTD’s services, 
the market in which MTD operates, fleet, 
operations, finance, and the impacts of 
COVID-19 (summarized in Section 2). 

Identification 
of existing 
conditions

Community 
and 

stakeholder 
input

Identification 
of gaps and 

needs

MTD Moves 
Ahead 

Service Plan



DRAFT 

2 
 

 

• Multiple public engagement activities that have guided the development of service concepts and 
recommendations, including rider surveys, a virtual public meeting, bus operator surveys, 
stakeholder meetings, and pop-ups throughout the South Coast (summarized in Section 3). 

• Identification of needs and opportunities for mobility in the South Coast, organized by major theme 
to provide a framework for the development of service concepts and supporting recommendations 
(summarized in Section 4).  

• This report details the recommended service plan for MTD for the next five years, providing 
prioritized and targeted service investments and service changes along with supporting 
recommendations and recommended transit priority measures to help MTD provide better service 
to the South Coast. This report also provides a financial analysis of the recommended service plan 
and potential funding sources to help fund service improvements and a Title VI analysis. 

  



Summary of Existing Conditions1F 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 3 
 

2 SUMMARY OF EXISTING CONDITIONS2 

Before determining where MTD needs to go, it is important to first develop a comprehensive understanding 
of where they are now, and specifically how COVID-19 has impacted, and continues to impact, service. 
The Existing Conditions report was comprised of numerous sections, including: 

• Background Document Review: reviewing key literature and documents to provide current and 
future insights into MTD and the South Coast region and the larger regional planning framework in 
which MTD operates. Documents included the 2015-2019 SRTP, MTD 2016-2021 Strategic Plan, 
the Santa Barbara County Association of Governments (SBCAG) Connected 2050 (RTP/SCS), 
SBCAG Regional Growth Forecast, and others. 

• Market Assessment: analyzing different spatiodemographics in the MTD service area to 
understand potential transit propensity based on the demographic makeup of the service area. 

• Transit Service Analysis: analysis of the current services offered by MTD, assessing service both 
on a systemwide level, a line-by-line analysis, and stop-level passenger activity analysis. 

• Impacts of COVID-19 on MTD: this section took a detailed look at changes in service and ridership 
patterns beginning in March 2020, identifying the lines that lost the least amount of ridership and 
providing some industry trends and responses to COVID-19. 

• Access Analysis: using the Jane tool in the planning software Remix, travel time isochrones were 
created to measure access to jobs using MTD at strategic locations throughout MTD’s system. 

• Proximity to Service: a measurement of how many people and jobs are within a close proximity to 
MTD (1/4 mile or 1/2 mile) during different times of the day and week, specifically considering 
populations who may be transit dependent or use transit at a higher rate than the general public 
including minorities and residents in poverty.  

• Operational Analysis: an overview of MTD’s operating practices, fleet, fares, and finances.  

• Paratransit Service in MTD Service Area: a review of Easy Lift, the paratransit operator in MTD’s 
service area. MTD contracts out all ADA/paratransit service to Easy Lift Transportation, a local 
nonprofit agency. 

Major findings from the existing conditions analysis include: 

• MTD, prior to the pandemic, carried over 6.4 million passenger boardings in FY 2019. On a per 
capita basis, this makes MTD one of the most traveled bus agencies in California. 

• During the height of the pandemic, ridership was down between 70-80% compared to pre-
pandemic (Figure 1). 

                                                      
 
2 Please note that throughout this document some years reference a fiscal year and some years are in reference to calendar years 
and a reference to a fiscal year is not always stated, so some years can be in reference to fiscal years or calendar years.  



DRAFT 

4 
 

 

Figure 1: MTD monthly ridership and productivity (January 2019-October 2021)  

 

• About one-third of MTD’s ridership is from students, made up of secondary school students, 
community college, and university students. However, that means that nearly two-thirds of riders 
are riding for non-school purposes. 

• While student-focused lines are the most productive in terms of boardings per hour, during the 
pandemic, non-student-focused lines carried over 50% of passenger boardings. 

• The student-focused nature of weekday service results in a large peak vehicle demand with most 
vehicles spending the remainder of the day parked at MTD’s facility. 

• MTD’s most frequent routes operated at 10 to 15-minute headways on weekdays; MTD could look 
to improve frequency at key non-peak times, particularly on weekends when frequency drop off 
substantially. 

• The service area is rather compact and well connected, with relatively dense and mixed land uses. 
Key corridors for transit demand include State, Hollister, Storke, Milpas, and El Colegio. 

Between 2014 and 2019, the South Coast saw population changes throughout the region (Figure 2). Areas 
in blue saw the largest increases in population; these include many areas of Goleta and the portion of Isla 
Vista that is adjacent to UCSB. The unincorporated communities of the Eastern Goleta Valley and Hope 
Ranch also experienced population increases in some areas, with population decreases in other areas. 
The majority of downtown Santa Barbara saw less pronounced increases in population with pockets of 
population decreases. Montecito and Toro Canyon also experienced increases in population, while 
Summerland and many areas of Carpinteria lost population.  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000

800,000

Pr
od

uc
tiv

ity
 (B

oa
rd

in
gs

 p
er

 R
ev

en
ue

 H
ou

r)

R
id

er
sh

ip

Monthly Ridership and Productivity

Ridership Productivity

Pandemic



Summary of Existing Conditions1F 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 5 
 

Figure 2: Change in population density between 2014 and 2019 

 

The pandemic revealed that many of MTD’s riders depend on MTD for transportation and are also frontline 
workers, demonstrating MTD essential service to the community. 

Encouragingly, ridership has continued to rebound as we continue to recover and reopen from COVID-19. 
In April 2022, systemwide ridership increased by 75% compared to April 2021, and systemwide ridership 
is up 264% in April 2022 compared with April 20203. Overall, ridership in April 2022 is 34% less than 
ridership in April 2019, but MTD is showing a steady trend of ridership continuing to increase and return to 
pre-COVID levels.  

On average, of the lines currently operating, MTD is seeing ridership at 65% of its pre-COVID ridership. 
The lines that have recovered ridership the most include Lines 11, 25, 6, 20, 23, 2, and 14, which are all 
seeing 75% or more of their pre-COVID ridership levels (Figure 3). It can be expected that ridership will 
continue to move closer to 2019 levels over time, especially as MTD continues to reinvest service into key 
lines, such as Lines 27 and 28.  

                                                      
 
3 April was chosen to show a month when all schools are in session. 



DRAFT 

6 
 

 

Figure 3: April 2022 ridership as a percentage of April 2019 ridership 

 

The existing conditions analysis revealed the following opportunities and choices: 

• Improving frequency on key corridors at off-peak times 

• Speeding up buses by implementing priority measures, like reserved lanes, transit signal priority 
(TSP), and other policies like all-door boarding and bus stop balancing 

• Whether to gear service towards population—serving everyone with at least some level of service—
or to gear service to need—serving populations who rely on transit and places that are transit 
supportive 

• Examining different ways of providing coverage-based service, like through microtransit and/or by 
policy changes to Easy Lift to carry non-paratransit riders in certain locations 

2.1 More Recent Service Changes 

MTD began reducing service in response to the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, suspending some 
lines and reducing service levels on others, and a second wave of service reductions and line suspensions 
took place in April 20204. Many of these service suspensions were in response to the closures of UCSB 
and SBCC to in-person learning as schools transitioned to virtual learning during this time.  

In August 2021, MTD brought back some service to respond to schools returning to in-person learning. 
However, these service changes were not able to be sustained long-term due to operator shortages, and 
MTD implemented service reductions in April 2022, which was a 13% reduction in service hours compared 
to the service initially brought back in August 2021. These service levels are a reflection of what MTD can 
realistically provide given current workforce constraints. In August 2022, MTD brought back a few more 
trips on certain lines (Lines 12x and 24x), but August 2022 service levels and schedules are mostly identical 
to the service changes implemented in April 2022. 

                                                      
 
4 A full overview of COVID-19 service reductions is detailed in the Existing Conditions report. 

83% 81% 81% 79% 76% 76% 75% 73% 72% 70%
64% 64%

58% 57% 55% 55%
50%

30% 26%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

11 25 6 20 23 2 14 24x 1 28 12x 7 27 3 17 5 4 15x 16

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f A
pr

il 
20

19
 ri

de
rs

hi
p

Line

April 2022 ridership as a percentage of April 2019 ridership



Summary of Existing Conditions1F 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 7 
 

Since March 2020, MTD has had to nimbly adjust service to respond to the evolving status of the COVID-
19 pandemic and challenges that have stemmed from the pandemic, such as current workforce constraints. 
Due to the multiple schedule changes that have happened in the past few years, throughout this report, we 
refer to both the pre-COVID (2019) schedule and August 2022 schedule (annualized) as baselines when 
discussing a ‘baseline’ comparison for the proposed MTD Moves Ahead changes. 

  



DRAFT 

8 
 

 

3 SUMMARY OF PUBLIC AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

Engagement efforts for MTD Moves Ahead began in October 2021, and targeted community and 
stakeholder engagement events took place throughout SRTP planning process. Engagement was broadly 
split into two rounds: first, information gathering to inform the development of draft service concepts, 
followed by a second round where draft service concepts were presented to the public to obtain feedback 
and comments. The initial information gathering period included a virtual listing session, a community 
survey, bus operator survey, and meetings with key stakeholders. The second round of engagement 
comprised of several pop-up events around the South Coast and a survey, both to solicit feedback on draft 
service concepts. A full summary of all engagement activities is presented in Appendix A.  

3.1 Phase 1 – Data Gathering and Listening  

3.1.1 Virtual Listening Session 

Community engagement for the MTD Move Ahead project kicked off 
with a virtual listening session held via Zoom on October 25, 2021. The 
session was attended by 37 community members and held in English 
and Spanish using a Spanish interpreter with a bilingual PowerPoint 
presentation. Participants primarily were from Santa Barbara (44%) 
but Isla Vista and Goleta residents each represented 19%, 6% of 
participants were from Carpinteria, and the remaining 12% were from 
elsewhere. Most participants were transit riders, with 88% indicating 
they had ridden MTD within the last three years.  

Breakout sessions included six small groups tasked with discussing 
information presented in the first part of the listening session. These 
topics included transit trade-offs and bus priority measures. The overall 
themes that emerged from the small group discussions were that, 
despite the presentation’s emphasis on trade-offs necessary for transit 
services, there was no consistent direction on how those trade-offs 
might be handled. In general, the groups wanted more of everything 
without being willing to give up anything. 

Nonetheless, the virtual session also included living polling. When presented with the various trade-offs, 
the respondents: 

• Broad support for service designed focused on frequency, increased bus speeds, and more service 
during off-peak hours 

• Strong support for priority measures, like transit signal priority and bus only lanes 

Other discussions and themes included the lack of midday frequency that would facilitate more 
spontaneous travel, as well as shorter bus trips through shorter wait times. And while a stronger focus on 
off-peak service was noted as important, respondents were concerned about peak-hour crowding. Finally, 
respondents were excited by the discussion around microtransit services. 

3.1.2 Initial Community Survey 

The survey provided valuable insight into rider and non-riders transportation choices, service preferences, 
support for potential transit priority treatments, and opinions about areas that would benefit from microtransit 
and/or new service. A description of the results of the October 2021 survey can be found in Appendix B. 



Summary of Public and Stakeholder Engagement 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 9 
 

The primary reasons riders choose to ride the bus included environmental responsibility concerns and 
convenience. This contrasted with non-riders who felt the bus was inconvenient and preferred driving. 
Riders and non-riders alike supported more efficient, frequent service with fewer stops, transfers, and all 
transit priority treatments (transit signal priority, queue jump lanes, bus only lanes, and all-door boarding). 
Respondents said microtransit would be beneficial in Downtown Santa Barbara, UCSB, and Goleta. New 
or additional service was recommended for those same locations as well as the Islamic Center of Santa 
Barbara, which happens to be located in MTD’s planned Goleta microtransit zone.  

The bus operator survey provided valuable insight into bus operator concerns and challenges, thoughts 
about customer preferences, and preferences for transit priority treatments and service adjustments. Bus 
operators thought reliability and safety were the most important factors for customers. The biggest 
challenges for service delivery are bus operator availability, safety and security, and layover facilities. Bus 
operators thought service to Old Mission, Botanic Garden, and outer Goleta would be most useful for 
generating ridership. Bus operators’ responses aligned with riders’ preferences for frequent service and 
faster trips. Operators supported all the transit priority treatments except for all-door boarding. Transit signal 
priority and bus only lanes were the most strongly supported.  

3.1.3 Engagement with Regional Partners and Stakeholders 

MTD and Stantec staff held one-hour sessions with key stakeholders across the region to discuss the SRTP 
process, present some grounding concepts and trade-offs inherent to transit service design and operations, 
and to discuss how each stakeholder could contribute to the SRTP process and provide updates on 
projects, policies, or other items that may impact the SRTP process (more information can be found in 
Appendix B). 

Stakeholders who provided feedback included the region’s metropolitan planning organization SBCAG, 
UCSB, County of Santa Barbara, City of Goleta, City of Santa Barbara, City of Carpinteria, and Easy Lift, 
the ADA/Paratransit provider for MTD. Key themes and takeaways are discussed below.  

Growth and housing pressures - cited by most organizations, the housing needs in Santa Barbara and 
the surrounding area are a current pressing issue. The county is updating its housing element of the general 
plan but acknowledges the disconnect between housing needs, goals for increased non-auto mode share, 
and continuing to stipulate parking requirements for developments. New developments have been signaled 
as transit-friendly with developers intending to offset VMT through transit use. While most UCSB students 
live in Goleta and Isla Vista, the importance of transit connectivity across the region was emphasized by 
Carpinteria which has also felt housing pressures. 

Multimodal transportation - SBCAG and the City of Goleta emphasized multimodal considerations for 
biking and trains. This included the City of Goleta’s implementation of their bike plan and evaluation of the 
potential for a bike share program as well as the train station under development.  

Key corridors - traffic along US-101 was noted as a current concern despite lane widening and the HOV 
lane scheduled for 2027. Goleta indicated their evaluation of direct development along corridors, namely 
Calle Real and Hollister. The County of Santa Barbara’s environmental assessment for State/Hollister 
design study is wrapping up providing an opportunity for coordinated bus stop placement and other 
amenities or facility upgrades along this corridor. Coordination extends to the complete streets project in 
Old Town Goleta along Hollister between Kellogg and Fairview.  

Transit Signal Priority - Signal replacement was brought up by the City of Santa Barbara regarding the 
need to replace signal control systems providing an opportunity for the integration of TSP. Some 
opportunities for queue jumps are present but bus-only lanes present a significant challenge. Carpinteria 
indicated it is unlikely to have interconnected traffic signals but is open to TSP and noted Caltrans also 
controls some ROW signals in Carpinteria.  



DRAFT 

10 
 

 

3.2 Phase 2 – Draft Plan Presentation and Feedback 

Following the Phase 1 engagement efforts, draft network and service concepts were developed based on 
technical analysis and feedback received from the public and stakeholders. Phase 2 engagement 
commenced in May 2022 to solicit feedback from the community on draft network concepts and to help 
refine the recommended service plan for MTD Moves Ahead.  

3.2.1 Community Pop-Ups 

Pop-up engagement events were held throughout May and 
June at a variety of popular bus stops and other major areas 
throughout the South Coast. Pop-up locations were chosen to 
solicit feedback from specific demographics, such as Spanish-
speakers and students. Three pop-ups were hosted by AIM 
Consulting on May 5, 2022 at the following locations. Bilingual 
staff members were present at all pop-ups. The locations of the 
pop-ups were: Old Town Goleta (Hollister and Nectarine bus 
stop), UCSB North Hall Bus Loop and the Downtown Transit 
Center. 

During the three pop-ups on May 5th, the project team 
educated riders on the MTD Moves Ahead process, the draft 
network concepts, and encouraged riders to take the 
community survey to provide their thoughts on the draft 
service concepts and recommendations. Many community 
members voiced support and excitement for the Wave, the 
proposed on-demand curb-to-curb service in Goleta/Isla 
Vista. Many college students voiced concerns about 
insufficient bike rack capacity on buses and a desire for 
charging stations in buses. Bus cleanliness during COVID-
19 is also still a top community concern. Other key themes 
from community members included a desire for on-demand 
service, better bus frequency, and more reliable service.  

MTD staff held additional pop-ups throughout May and June at the following locations: 

• Santa Barbara Farmer’s Market 

• Milpas and Montecito bus stop 

• Carpinteria Farmer’s Market  

• San Andres and Micheltorena bus stop 

• Downtown Santa Barbara Promenade Market 

• Downtown Transit Center (x2) 

3.2.2 Community Survey on Draft Network 
Concepts 

The second survey was open from May 5-June 11, 2022, and received 401 individual responses providing 
feedback on the draft proposed network. Of those respondents, 84% were riders, and responses from every 



Summary of Public and Stakeholder Engagement 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 11 
 

age demographic were received. This feedback helped refine and shape final service proposals and plans 
for MTD Moves Ahead. An analysis of the responses and demographics of the Summer 2022 survey can 
be found in Appendix C. 

• Overall, survey respondents were in support of all service changes and improvements presented 
in the survey. 

• The community most strongly supported proposed frequency changes to Lines 6 and 11 and later 
service on Line 11, with 80% of all respondents noting they would be more likely to ride if these 
service improvements were introduced. 

• The proposed on-demand, curb-to-curb Wave microtransit service in Goleta/Isla Vista was also 
well-received, with 68% of all respondents saying they would be more likely to ride if this service 
were introduced. Notably, 78% of respondents in impacted ZIP Codes said they would be much 
more likely to ride once this service is implemented.  

• There was strong support for reintroducing the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle. In addition to 49% of 
riders indicating the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator would make them "much more likely to take 
MTD," 13 individual comments expressed support for bringing back the service.  

• Other comments included desires to improve bike rack capacity, make buses faster and more 
reliable, and improve information availability especially in regard to real-time arrival information and 
service alerts. Several people expressed their concern that masks were no longer required on the 
bus.  

• Overall, 78% of respondents indicated that bus queue jumps and bus-only lanes would encourage 
them to ride MTD more often and 80% of respondents indicated they would ride more often if TSP 
were implemented. Comments from bicyclists did point out concerns about disrupting bike lanes 
and increasing the complexity of intersections. These responses show robust support for tactics 
aimed at speeding up buses while making journeys more reliable. 

The feedback gathered during Phase 2 was integrated into the final service plan presented in Section 5. 

  



DRAFT 

12 
 

 

4 MTD MOVES AHEAD GOALS 

By assessing feedback from our community and stakeholder (both internal and external) outreach, together 
with the existing conditions analysis and an assessment of prior and concurrent local and regional planning 
documents, we identified gaps in MTD’s service, identified areas of strength, as well as areas in need of 
improvement. Gap identification helps to identify objectives and service concepts for the SRTP. 

These pillars, gaps, and needs are intended to be broad and encapsulate general themes on how to 
improve transit in the region and will be used as the basis to provide more detailed service concepts and 
recommendations in the SRTP.  

MTD will provide transit service that is… 

 Future-focused, 

 High quality, and 

 For all South Coast residents and visitors. 

Figure 4: Pillars of MTD Moves Ahead 

 

Table 7 summarizes the gaps and needs as they relate to each pillar. 

 



MTD Moves Ahead Goals 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 13 
 

Table 7: MTD Moves Ahead gaps and needs 

To provide 
transit service 

that is: 
MTD needs to: Considerations Priority 

Fu
tu

re
-fo

cu
se

d 

Continue to recover from 
COVID-19  

Continue to restore service as ridership continues to 
rebound (and as resources are available) 
Adjust service to account for changes in travel patterns 
and behaviors 
Recruit more operators to deliver service  

High 

Accommodate growth in 
service and fleet to remain 
operationally viable 

Expand operations to Terminal 2 in Goleta to 
accommodate future fleet growth, improve operational 
efficiencies by reduced deadheading, and support the 
continued transition to a zero-emission fleet 
Implement zero-emission bus plan to replace and 
expand fleet with zero-emission alternatives 

Medium 

Identify opportunities to 
collaborate with local 
stakeholders, developers, 
and other groups to 
integrate transit into new 
developments 

Working with these groups can help ensure that transit 
is in mind when new developments are constructed, 
especially multifamily developments, multiuse 
structures, student housing, and infill/redevelopment 
projects 
MTD can explore how to integrate transit priority 
infrastructure and other amenities that integrate transit 
into the development (such as complete streets, 
provision of a bus shelter, etc.) 

Medium 

H
ig

h 
qu

al
ity

 

Address reliability and 
travel speeds 

Continue to work on improving OTP through various 
mechanisms (schedule adjustments, route and stop 
adjustments, priority measures, etc.) 
Implement or pilot transit priority measures that can 
help improve travel speeds and reliability 

High 

Ensure customers don’t 
miss bus connections 

Make sure transfers are timed correctly (and 
convenient) so that riders who need to take multiple 
lines to reach their final destination 

High 

Enhance the customer 
experience 

Continue to monitor “too full to board” trips and add 
more capacity where needed and when possible 
Ensure the system is accessible to those with different 
levels of mobility, including the vehicles themselves, 
bus stops and ability to board and egress vehicles 
Make sure that bus stops are places where riders feel 
safe and comfortable. Expand contactless payment to 
the entire fleet. 
Install 3 position bike racks 
Install more bus stop amenities and shelters  

Medium 

Fo
r a

ll 
So

ut
h 

C
oa

st
 

re
si

de
nt

s 
an

d 
vi

si
to

rs
 

Match service levels with 
community diversity and 
characteristics 

Right-size service to each community based on their 
unique characteristics and travel needs 
It is important to not only address service type and 
coverage based on different communities, but also 
service spans; certain lines may benefit from longer or 
different service hours based on the needs of those 
who use that line (for example, more all-day service 
and less peaked service along lines not predominately 
used for traditional commuting purposes) 

High 



DRAFT 

14 
 

 

To provide 
transit service 

that is: 
MTD needs to: Considerations Priority 

Address areas of service duplication (especially as 
survey results indicate riders may value frequency over 
coverage) 
Track microtransit pilot in Goleta to understand how 
microtransit fits into MTD’s network and where else it 
would be successful 

Address shuttles and 
services geared towards 
visitors and how they fit into 
MTD’s network 

Find alternative solution to Downtown and Waterfront 
Shuttles, not only for those who miss the service and 
visitors who heavily use the shuttle, but also for those 
with limited mobility who rely on the shuttle to access 
the State Street area 
Explore opportunities to facilitate MTD use from 
tourists, such as promoting MTD in visitor materials, 
working with Visit Santa Barbara, and enabling open 
payments to make transit use simpler 

High 

Collaborate with partners to 
ensure that programs and 
policies align with MTD’s 
transit-first interests 

Continue to work with regional partners to achieve 
common mobility goals and further transit use in the 
South Coast 
Leverage partnerships to help implement or pilot 
transit priority measures 
Work with active transportation groups to strengthen 
first/last mile connections to transit to create seamless 
multimodal trips 

Medium 

 

  



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 15 
 

5 RECOMMENDED SERVICE PRIORITIES 

The recommended service priorities were developed with several guiding principles in mind: 

• Strengthening core routes by increasing frequency and service span to provide better service 
throughout the day. 

• Optimizing alignments for passengers and operations. Most of MTD’s network is performing well 
and routing is efficient given street layouts and the geography of the region. 

• Proposing ways to speed up buses and passengers on their trips. 

• Collaborating with regional partners on piloting bus priority treatments.  

The recommended service priorities include frequency and span of service improvements, new proposed 
services, transition of service, operating and routing changes, and transit priority projects.  

The recommended service priorities are broken into three phases: immediate to short-term (to be 
implemented in the first two years of the planning period), mid-term, and long-term. While the priorities were 
developed to remain as cost-neutral as possible—recognizing both constraints in revenues and operator 
shortages—the priorities focused on reallocation of existing resources and strategically introducing new 
services that have already identified funding. Some proposed service improvements cannot be 
implemented within the current workforce constraints that MTD and many other transit agencies are 
currently facing throughout the nation. Some service improvements will need additional funding to be 
implemented. The service priority phasing was structured in a way that acknowledges these new realities.  

If all proposed changes detailed below (in Sections 5.1-5.3) are implemented, it would result in a 5% 
increase in annual service hours compared to MTD’s fall 2019 service, and a 35% increase over current 
conditions (as of August 2022 service changes). An overview of the MTD Moves Ahead network is shown 
in Figure 5, zooming in to the different areas of the South Coast in Figure 6, Figure 7, and Figure 8.  

Figure 5: MTD Moves Ahead network overview 

 



DRAFT 

16 
 

 

Figure 6: MTD Moves Ahead network overview, Goleta and Isla Vista 

 

Figure 7: MTD Moves Ahead network overview, Carpinteria and Montecito 

 



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 17 
 

Figure 8: MTD Moves Ahead network overview, Santa Barbara  

 

Figure 9 shows the network by line frequency at 12pm on a weekday5. 

                                                      
 
5 This does not consider the composite headways on Lines 6 and 11. When combined, the headways on this corridor where Lines 6 
and 11 overlap are a 15-minute combined frequency. 



DRAFT 

18 
 

 

Figure 9: MTD Moves Ahead network overview by line frequency 

 

 

5.1 Immediate to Short-Term (1-2 years) Service Priorities 

In the immediate to short-term, the service priority focuses on strategies to restore more service to lines 
that are still operating with reduced service (Lines 15x, 27, and 28). This plan would see Line 27 frequencies 
improve to service about every 15 or 20 minutes for the majority of the day, and Line 28 frequencies 
improved to service every 10-12 minutes for most of the day with 30-minute service during the evening and 
late-night periods. Line 15x, currently operating only on school days every 30 minutes between 7am-6pm, 
would be restored to every 15-30 minutes from about 7am-10pm only on school days.  

Other recommendations outside of this focus on improvements that may be prioritized as current constraints 
related to the operator shortage lift; these include operational changes to Lines 23 and 25 (no change in 
service levels), improving connections within the Ellwood/El Encanto Heights neighborhoods, and 
strategically implementing two new services for which funding has already been identified: Line 19x, 
providing express service between Carpinteria and SBCC, and the Wave, a flexible, shared ride on-demand 
microtransit service operating in Goleta and Isla Vista. Each of these service changes are discussed in 
greater detail below. 

Table 8 summarizes the immediate to short-term service priority. 



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 19 
 

Table 8: Immediate to short-term service priorities 

Service change 

Proposed 
change in 

annual revenue 
hours 

(compared to 
Aug 2022 

service levels) 

August 2022 
service levels 
(annualized) 

Notes 

New service: Line 
19x +742 N/A 

Funding for this service has been identified: US 
Highway 101 Project Caltrans Traffic Management 
Plan funds. 

The Wave Goleta/ 
Isla Vista +4,960 N/A 

One year of funding for piloting this service has 
been identified: Caltrans LCTOP grant. 

Includes most populous service area previously 
served with Line 10. 

Restore service to 
(Lines 27, 28, and 
15x) 

+9,207 21,019 Funding assistance from schools 

Lines 23 and 25 
operational and 
routing changes 

No change in service levels, but interlining will improve connections in these 
neighborhoods. 

Total change in 
hours compared to 
August 2022 
annualized 

+14,909 

 

5.1.1 Line 19x 

Line 19x will be a new line providing a direct, express connection between Carpinteria and SBCC. 
Specifically, the service will provide peak hour and midday express service between Carpinteria, East Santa 
Barbara, and SBCC. The service will operate on weekdays only, and will not operate during SBCC spring 
and winter breaks. The service will feature two AM northbound trips (toward Santa Barbara), one midday 
round trip, and two PM southbound trips (toward Carpinteria). The Line 19x alignment is shown in Figure 
10. The line is funded through US Highway 101 Project Caltrans Traffic Management Plan funds; eventual 
termination of construction on the 101 and the introduction of HOV lanes will provide a faster lane for the 
route and likely reduce overall running times. 



DRAFT 

20 
 

 

Figure 10: Line 19x (SBCC/Carpinteria Express) 

 

When asked if this service would encourage them to ride MTD more, 88% of respondents from impacted 
ZIP Codes indicated that they would either be very likely or somewhat likely to use MTD more if this service 
was implemented.  

5.1.2 The Wave Goleta/Isla Vista 

The Wave is a flexible, on-demand curb-to-curb microtransit service between any two points within a 
specified zone and points in Goleta and Isla Vista. Outside of the specific zone areas, other pickup points 
include the Goleta Amtrak station, Santa Barbara Airport, UCSB, Isla Vista Community Center, and El 
Colegio Road. The zones include Calle Real commercial areas, residential neighborhoods and parks, and 
houses of worship south of Cathedral Oaks area between Los Carneros and Patterson, and the business 
park area and housing south of the 101 freeway near Goleta City Hall. The service would operate Tuesday 
through Sunday from 10am-9pm.  

The operation of this pilot project is funded for one year through a Caltrans LCTOP grant and will utilize 
ADA-accessible battery-electric vehicles. The fare per one-way trip would be $3 regular fare and $1.50 
reduced fare for seniors (62+) and those with disabilities, with free transfers to MTD fixed routes. Rides can 
be ordered via a smartphone app or by calling the Transit Center. The service area is shown in Figure 11. 



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 21 
 

Figure 11: The Wave Goleta/Isla Vista 

 

There is a high level of community support and excitement for this new service. According to the survey, 
78% of respondents in impacted ZIP Codes would either be much more likely or somewhat more likely to 
use MTD once this service is introduced. One survey respondent noted: “It is nice to see an 'uber' service 
that takes into account accessibility needs and in electric vehicles. I would rather give my money 
to the city [sic] than to Uber.” 

Discussed in further detail in Section 5.4, it is proposed to permanently discontinue Line 10, which has been 
suspended since March 2020. The introduction of this service will provide on-demand service to the most 
populated portion of the Cathedral Oaks corridor where Line 10 previously operated, and will provide 
service that is more frequent and convenient than Line 10. People living in the area previously served by 
Line 10 will largely be able to use the Wave to reach the destinations they previously used Line 10 for, and 
can benefit from free transfers from the Wave to MTD’s other fixed routes.  

5.1.3 Lines 23 and 25 Operational and Routing Changes 

During the MTD Moves Ahead planning process, an opportunity was identified to link or interline Lines 23 
and 25 at Calle Real and Winchester Canyon Road so that one line becomes the other line. This will give 
riders in Western Goleta a one-seat ride through the area and further into Goleta, Isla Vista, or Santa 
Barbara without having to rely on confusing transfers, and MTD can make this operational change that will 
improve service and the customer experience without additional operating resources. Fifty-four percent of 
respondents in impacted ZIP Codes noted that they would be much more or somewhat more likely to use 
MTD once this service change is made.  

A summary of the changes is shown in Figure 12. 



DRAFT 

22 
 

 

Figure 12: Lines 23 and 25 routing changes 

 

5.1.4 Rename Bus Lines 

MTD operates express bus lines that it denotes with an ‘x’ after the line number. Since Line 12x is an 
express version of Line 6, it will be renamed as Line 6x to better align naming and improving trip planning 
and wayfinding. Similarly, since Line 24x is an express version of Line 11, it will be renamed as Line 11x. 
Moving forward, when MTD introduces new express, it should consider whether the route has a ‘parent’ 
route so that the line naming aligns with the broader network and helps with trip planning and wayfinding. 

When asked about attitudes towards these proposed line name 
changes in the Summer 2022 survey, only 22% didn’t support the 
changes, while most were supportive or didn’t have a feeling either 
way. Of course, riders become accustomed to traditional naming, 
but bringing a new name will help new riders navigate the system. 

Importantly, the cost for this change will be minimal as MTD 
embarks on bus stop rebranding efforts, so these naming changes 
will work in concert with stop rebranding. Some advertising and 
messaging will be required but can occur in tandem with MTD’s 
other outreach work leading to the implementation of MTD Moves 
Ahead and its ongoing outreach. 



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 23 
 

5.2 Mid-Term Service Priorities 

In the mid-term, MTD Moves Ahead will introduce service changes that require some increase in service 
hours and operating resources; specifically, an additional 9,401 annual revenue hours will be required to 
implement all the changes in this package.  

These service improvements have been identified to be implemented in this time period because a large 
positive impact can be made for a relatively small increase in service hours. As with all recommended 
service changes in this plan, it is important to note that there is a possibility that workforce constraints will 
continue and limit the implementation of some of the recommendations.  

Service proposals for mid-term service priority are summarized in Table 9. 

Table 9: Mid-term service priorities 

Service change 

Proposed 
change in 

annual revenue 
hours 

(compared to 
Aug 2022 

service levels) 

August 2022 
service levels 
(annualized) 

Notes 

Lines 1 and 2 
frequency and 
service span 
improvements 

1: +1,588 

2: +654 

Total: +2,241 

1: 10,197 

2: 16,003 

Total: 26,200 

Slight reduction in peak service and increase in 
service during off-peak hours results in a total 
number of hours similar to pre-COVID 

Lines 4 and 17 
frequency and 
service span 
improvements 

4: +1,240 

17: +961 

Total: +2,200 

4: 4,531 

17: 3,387 

Total: 7,918 

Increase in frequency results in more revenue 
hours 

The Wave 
Carpinteria +4,960 N/A Includes service area previously served by Line 36 

– Seaside Shuttle 

Total change in 
hours compared to 
August 2022 
annualized 

+9,401 

 

5.2.1 Lines 1 and 2 Improvements 

Lines 1 and 2 are the main lines providing local service in Santa Barbara and connect West and East Santa 
Barbara to the Downtown Transit Center to facilitate regional travel. These lines are some of the most 



DRAFT 

24 
 

 

productive in the system, and retained significant ridership during the pandemic6, helping to transport 
essential workers.  

Currently, Lines 1 and 2 operate on weekdays from approximately 6am to 10pm. The lines operate with 15-
minute frequencies for most of the day until approximately 6pm, where frequencies fluctuate between every 
30 and 45 minutes until end of service. On Saturdays, these lines also operate from approximately 6am to 
10pm with frequencies that fluctuate between around every 20 and 30 minutes, and the lines operate from 
approximately 8am to 9pm with similar frequencies that fluctuate between 20 and 30 minutes. MTD Moves 
Ahead proposes both frequency and service span improvements, creating more consistent weekday 
frequencies of every 30 minutes between 6pm and 10pm, and extending the weekday service span until 
midnight, with 60-minute service from 10pm-12am (Figure 13).  

Figure 13: Summary of Lines 1 and 2 changes 

 

Figure 14: Lines 1 and 2 

 

                                                      
 
6 Lines 1 and 2 lost about 30% of ridership compared to 63% drop systemwide, comparing FY18-19 and FY20-21. 



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 25 
 

According to survey results, 59% of respondents in impacted ZIP Codes would be either much more or 
somewhat more likely to use MTD once these services are implemented. One respondent noted: “I love 
the service changes for Lines 1, 2, 4, and 17. Particularly the availability during the late hours. As 
someone who has had to walk late at night from work. This would give me a safe way home without 
worrying about late shifts.” 

5.2.2 Lines 4 and 17 Improvements 

More and better service in the Mesa was a request heard from the community during both stages of 
community outreach. In response, MTD Moves Ahead proposes to improve frequencies and service spans 
on Lines 4 and 17.  

Currently, Lines 4 and 17 operate on weekdays from approximately 6:30am to 9pm with service every 35 
minutes until 7pm, where service is reduced to every hour until end of service. Under the service changes 
in MTD Moves Ahead, Lines 4 and 17 would both operate with 30-minute frequencies between 9am and 
6pm, and the service span would be extended until 10pm, with 35-minute service from 6pm-10pm (Figure 
15). 

Figure 15: Summary of Lines 4 and 17 changes 

 



DRAFT 

26 
 

 

Figure 16: Lines 4 and 17 

 

According to survey results, 65% of respondents in impacted ZIP Codes would be much more likely or 
somewhat more likely to use MTD once these service improvements are implemented.  

5.2.3 The Wave Carpinteria 

In the mid-term period, it is recommended to implement the Wave in the Carpinteria area as well. This 
model is the same as the Wave Goleta/Isla Vista, providing a flexible, on-demand shared ride curb-to-curb 
microtransit service covering the entire City of Carpinteria and some unincorporated County areas, 
including the Santa Claus Lane area. The exact days of the week and service span have not yet been 
specified, but it will be equivalent to ten hours a day, six days a week.  

Survey respondents were very enthusiastic about the Wave in Carpinteria, with 94% of respondents in the 
affected ZIP code noting that they would be much more likely or somewhat more likely to use MTD if this 
service is implemented. 

Figure 17 shows the proposed service area and points of interest.  



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 27 
 

Figure 17: The Wave Carpinteria 

 

Introduction of the Wave in Carpinteria would result in the elimination and replacement of Line 36, the 
Seaside Shuttle, and resources that previously went to the Seaside Shuttle can be reallocated to this 
service and other service improvements. Further, the proposed Wave service area is considerably larger 
than the area covered by the Seaside Shuttle. The transition of resources from the Seaside Shuttle to the 
Wave in Carpinteria ultimately helps to provide better service and increased service coverage in 
Carpinteria.  

5.3 Long-Term Service Priorities 

Long-term service changes will be the most challenging to implement, either because they require a 
significant investment in new service hours or because funding has not been identified to implement the 
proposed service change. In the long-term, service span and frequency improvements would be seen on 
three key Lines: 6, 11, and 20. Long-term service changes also include the introduction of a new and 
reconfigured Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle.  

Long-term service priorities are summarized in Table 10. 

 

 



DRAFT 

28 
 

 

Table 10: Long-term service priorities 

Service change 

Proposed 
change in 

annual revenue 
hours 

(compared to 
Aug 2022 

service levels) 

August 2022 
service levels 
(annualized) 

Notes 

Lines 6 and 11 
frequency and 
service span 
improvements 

6: +5,307 

11: +8,452 

Total: +13,759 

6: 17,975 

11: 27,467 

Total: 45,442 

Significant increase in revenue hours due to longer 
span and more frequent service and length of 
these lines 

Line 20 frequency 
and service span 
improvements 

+6,936 16,067 Significant investment in revenue hours 

Downtown-
Waterfront 
Circulator 

+6,040 N/A 

No funding currently identified; requires funding 
agreement with City partners 

New service will be faster due to transit signal 
priority and using streets with fewer stops 

Service levels are proposed to be lower than pre-
COVID 

Total change in 
hours compared to 
August 2022 
annualized 

+26,735 

 

5.3.1 Lines 6 and 11 Improvements 

Lines 6 and 11 provide service between the Downtown Transit Center in Santa Barbara, Goleta, and UCSB. 
These lines operate along the same State/Hollister corridor for much of their alignment and thus can operate 
as one “line” with more frequent composite headways for most of the day. These lines are among the most 
productive and heavily used in the system7; they have also been identified in regional plans as key transit 
routes.  

Currently, Lines 6 and 11 operate with 30-minute service (to create a 15-minute combined frequency) for 
most of the day, from start of service (around 6am) to 6pm. During the evening and late-night periods, 
frequencies on Line 11 drop to between every 30 minutes and every 60 minutes, with service ending much 

                                                      
 
7 Lines 6 and 11 carried about 30% of all ridership in April 2022.  



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 29 
 

earlier on Line 6. The MTD Moves Ahead proposals would improve frequencies during the AM and PM 
peak periods, as well as provide more frequent late-night service on Line 11 (Figure 18). Specifically:  

• 6am-8am, 20-minute service (10-min combined frequency) 

• 8am-3pm, 30-minute service (15-min combined frequency)  

• 3pm-6pm, 20-minute service (10-min combined) 

• 6pm until end of service, 30-minute service 

Figure 18: Summary of Lines 6 and 11 changes 

 

Figure 19: Lines 6 and 11  

 

Though this service change requires a significant increase in hours, it is very popular with the public, which 
reiterates how important these lines are to the community and how important it is to have frequent, all-day 
service between the Transit Center and Goleta/Isla Vista/UCSB. According to survey results, 88% of 
respondents in impacted ZIP Codes, and 80% of overall respondents, regardless of home location, would 
be much more likely or somewhat more likely to use MTD if these service changes are implemented. This 
high level of widespread community supports reinforces the importance of these lines to the overall MTD 
network. These lines also serve areas that are destined for housing development, and that contain identified 
low-income and disadvantaged communities. 



DRAFT 

30 
 

 

5.3.2 Line 20 Improvements 

Line 20 provides the only current connection between Carpinteria and Santa Barbara in the MTD system. 
During the pandemic, Line 20 experienced the least ridership loss8. Because this route clearly provides an 
important community service, MTD Moves Ahead—as a process focused on equity—proposes to improve 
weekday frequencies throughout most of the day and extend peak hour service (in the peak direction).  

Currently, Line 20 operates with 30-minute frequencies during AM and PM peak. Prior to April 2022 service 
reductions, Line 20 also operated a “super peak” with 15-minute service for one hour in the peak direction 
during the AM and PM, and 40-minute headways midday. Currently during the midday and night, service 
operates every hour. Under MTD Moves Ahead, Super peak service would be extended by one hour during 
each time period, operating with 15-minute service from 6am-8am in the inbound (to Santa Barbara) 
direction and from 4-6pm in the outbound (to Carpinteria) direction. Specifically: 

• AM 15-min super peak 6am-8am (northbound direction) 

• 30-min during the midday (8am-4pm) 

• PM super peak 15-min 4pm-6pm (southbound direction) 

• 30-min evening service (6pm-8pm) 

• 60-min late night service (8pm-11pm) 

These changes are summarized in Figure 20. 

Figure 20: Summary of Line 20 changes 

 

                                                      
 
8 Line 20 retained nearly 70% of its ridership in FY20-21, compared to the systemwide average of 37% compared to FY18-19. 



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 31 
 

Figure 21: Line 20 

 

A high level of community support was also shown for this service change, with 84% of respondents in 
impacted ZIP Codes noting that they would be much more likely or somewhat more likely to use MTD if this 
service was implemented. 

5.3.3 Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, State Street, the main street running through downtown Santa 
Barbara, closed to all vehicle traffic. The State Street Promenade appears as though it may remain a 
pedestrian walkway (also open to bikes) along State Street between Sola and Gutierrez Streets. Because 
of this and other pandemic-related service cuts, the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle has been suspended 
since April 2020. The shuttle is a staple of the local community, so it is important to provide a reimagined 
Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle or some kind of downtown circulator running on different streets that are open 
to vehicle traffic. The new and modified Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle is proposed to run along Chapala 
and Anacapa instead of State Street, and operates as one shuttle system traveling through the waterfront 
(including the zoo) and downtown (Figure 22).  

The service is proposed to operate Monday-Thursday every 30 minutes from 11am-6pm, and every 20 
minutes from 11am to 9pm Friday-Sunday. This schedule is less frequent than the previous Downtown-
Waterfront Shuttle schedule. During the peak summer season, the Downtown portion of the shuttle 
operated every 10 minutes from 10am-6pm and every 15 minutes from 6pm-9pm on Friday and Saturday 
evenings. The Waterfront portion of the shuttle operated every 15 minutes from 10am-6pm, and the portion 
between the Zoo and the Wharf operated every 15 minutes on Friday and Saturday evening from 6pm-
9pm. During non-summer months, the Downtown Shuttle operated every 15 minutes from 10am-6pm and 
the Waterfront Shuttle operated every 30 minutes during this time.  



DRAFT 

32 
 

 

Figure 22: Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle 

 

Previously, operation for the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle was partially funded by the City of Santa Barbara 
via a fare buydown of approximately $1.2 million a year, but the funding agreement has expired and at this 
point no funding for reinstating this service has been identified. There is also a high level of support to bring 
the shuttle back from various sectors including local businesses, Chamber of Commerce, tourism, and the 
local community. According to survey results, 82% of respondents in impacted ZIP Codes would be much 
more likely or somewhat more likely to ride if the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle was reinstated. Seventy-
five percent of all respondents from the entire MTD service area also noted that they would be either much 
more or somewhat more likely to ride if the Shuttle was reinstated.  

One respondent noted: “I would love to see the waterfront shuttle return! It was a great way to avoid 
traffic/parking as a downtown resident, and made beach trips manageable with and for out of town 
guests.” Other respondents commented that they would be in support of a different, increased fare 
structure for the shuttle to see it return. 

Due to these funding limitations, the reinstatement of the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle is a long-term goal, 
and one that cannot be realized with current funding constraints. MTD can explore different partnerships 
for funding or different strategies to phase in the service over time, such as beginning with service only 
during peak days (Friday-Sunday) or only during peak times of the year. The new alignment of the 
Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle will also benefit from the TSP in Santa Barbara and the use of Chapala and 
Anacapa, which have fewer stoplights compared to the previous alignment down State Street. Both of these 
are opportunities to “speed up” the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle and provide service with fewer hours. 

5.4 Service Transitions 

A part of the MTD Moves Ahead planning process was to strategically reallocate resources to services or 
areas where they can have a greater impact by carrying more riders or improving access during different 
times of the day. The result of this is a transition of some services to other services, or a different service 



Recommended Service Priorities 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 33 
 

model that more people can access (such as the transition from fixed route to an on-demand microtransit 
service). When asked about these service transitions in the draft plan feedback survey, 46% of riders agree, 
38% do not care, and only 10% disagree with proposed service transitions.  

Because these three lines have been suspended since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, it is 
recommended to permanently remove these lines during plan year 1. Removing all three lines at once also 
enables MTD to complete necessary outreach and changes to schedules and other materials once.  

Table 11 summarizes the service transitions resulting from MTD Moves Ahead. Section 8 explores the 
impacts on equity resulting from the service changes in MTD Moves Ahead.  

Table 11: Service transitions 

Line Rationale Annual pre-COVID 
revenue hours 

10 
(Cathedral 

Oaks) 

• Extremely low ridership (<100 day) 

• Lowest passengers per revenue hour in FY2018-19 

• Acted as additional school booster; MTD staff added an additional 
bus on the booster that serves the same corridor when K-12 
schools reponed in 2021 to capture any riders who might have 
normally taken Line 10 to get to and from school 

• Introduction of The Wave microtransit in Goleta, most populated 
portion of Cathedral Oaks corridor would have on demand service 
with free transfers to several fixed routes  

-1,728 

36 
(Seaside 
Shuttle) 

• In FY2018-19, had second-lowest passengers per revenue hour 

• To provide local service in Carpinteria, microtransit would be a 
better fit than resurrecting the Seaside Shuttle 

• Line 36 service comprised a total of 4,222 revenue hours per year, 
and microtransit will provide better service covering the entire 
community using approximately 4,960 revenue hours a year 

-4,222 

37 
(Crosstown 

Shuttle) 

• In FY2018-19, Line 37 saw 15.9 passengers per revenue hour, in 
the 4th quartile in terms of productivity 

• Could be reintroduced at a later date depending on resources, and 
future improvements in Lines 1 and 2 could also help with access to 
destinations 

-6,158 

 

5.5 Service Priorities Summary 

Table 12 shows the MTD Moves Ahead service priorities summarized by timeframe. While the phasing of 
the priorities was developed to be as realistic and implementable as possible, due to the operational realities 
and workforce constraints discussed earlier, it is important to remember that this plan is dynamic, and the 



DRAFT 

34 
 

 

phasing is not set in stone. It is a possibility that phasing can be adjusted depending on MTD-specific 
circumstances, and how circumstances may change over the course of the five-year SRTP planning period. 

Table 12: MTD Moves Ahead service priorities summary 

 Immediate to short-
term9 Mid-term Long-term 

Timeframe (goal) 1-2 years 2-4 years 4-5 years 

Service changes 

Line 19x 
The Wave Goleta/Isla 

Vista 
Line 23 and 25 

operational changes 
Restore service to 
(Lines 15x, 27, 28) 

Lines 1 and 2 frequency 
and service span 

improvements 
Lines 4 and 17 

frequency and service 
span improvements 

The Wave Carpinteria 

Lines 6 and 11 
frequency and service 
span improvements 

Line 20 frequency and 
service span 

improvements 
Downtown-Waterfront 

Circulator 
Change in annual revenue 

hours (compared to August 
2022 service levels 

annualized) 

+14,909 +9,401 +26,735 

Total estimated annual 
revenue hours 186,005 195,406 222,141 

Subsequent sections of this report discuss other considerations to improve service and the customer 
experience, including recommendations for future investments in service past the SRTP planning horizon, 
supporting recommendations, and considerations for transit priority measures.  

  

                                                      
 
9 Service transitions (Lines 10, 36, and 37) accounted for in plan year 1. 



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 35 
 

6 ACCESS IMPACTS 

In the existing conditions report, we analyzed the ability of MTD riders to access opportunities throughout 
the service area. Access to opportunities varies by mode, time of day, day of week, where the trip starts 
and ends, and travel time threshold. Measuring the access that a transit network provides to opportunities 
within a reasonable amount of time helps quantify the usefulness of a transit network. Measuring access is 
also useful for comparing network concepts, and here, comparing the outcomes of the MTD Moves Ahead 
network to the existing network10.  

As in the existing conditions analysis, we measured access and impacts to access using the Jane tool in 
the planning software Remix. This tool creates travel isochrones, which are different-colored shapes that 
measure how far one can travel from a given location at a given time under different time thresholds. With 
the Jane tool, we can specify a location of interest and then use the bus network and schedule, along with 
demographic and job data, to calculate how many jobs or people are reachable to or from Jane at that 
location at different times of the day by transit. In addition to setting a baseline for existing accessibility, this 
tool was used during the development of network concepts to understand how different service concepts 
affected network accessibility differently, from different part of the service area, and at different times of day 
and days of the week, ultimately steering decision making. 

The Jane tool has some limitations. It currently does not integrate proposed microtransit zones into the 
access analysis, and cannot quantify the benefits of different transit priority measures that can speed up 
bus travel time, such as bus only lanes and transit signal priority. Understanding this, the numbers provided 
in the proposed network are likely undercounts, especially in areas close to where microtransit zones will 
be implemented.  

We compared differences in access between MTD’s 2019 network and the MTD Moves Ahead network at 
the same six locations and time points as presented in the existing conditions analysis (weekdays at 7am, 
weekdays at noon, and Saturday at noon) to demonstrate how access fluctuates based on time of day. We 
also measured how many people can reach the six different locations with transit for a given time 
threshold11. 

Overall, the differences in the analysis below are minor between the 2019 network and the proposed 
network for a few reasons. First, MTD’s service area has a set geography, and its route alignments are 
already optimized. Second, frequency during peak hours wasn’t altered to a significant extent and much of 
the investment of MTD Moves Ahead is during off-peak hours but was limited by operator shortages. Third, 
improving operating speeds will help people travel further and access more destinations; as 
described in later sections, MTD will continue to push to implement measures to speed up buses 
and this will help improve access to opportunities, particularly for shorter travel times. Finally, 
another key lever to improve access is through improving land use decisions—creating more 
mixed-use communities means that people can access more things in shorter amounts of time, 
rather than needing to travel to segregated land uses (e.g., housing at one end of a community, 
shopping at another end). 

                                                      
 
10 For purposes of comparison, differences in access were analyzed for the MTD Moves Ahead network and the 2019 network. 
Neither network includes school boosters, but the 2019 network does include the Amtrak first/last mile shuttles which are currently 
still suspended.  
11 During the time between the existing conditions analysis and development of the final MTD Moves Ahead plan, Remix has 
updated how it calculates and classifies jobs and population. Thus, access numbers from the 2019 baseline network may differ from 
those presented in the existing conditions analysis. 



DRAFT 

36 
 

 

6.1 Transit Center 

The Transit Center in downtown Santa Barbara is where several routes converge, enabling substantial 
reach to jobs across more of the service area within 60 minutes of travel time. Figure 23 shows how many 
jobs Jane can access from the Transit Center at 7am on a weekday, and Figure 24 compares access at 
different times and days between the MTD Moves Ahead network and baseline (2019) network.  

Figure 23: Job access from the Transit Center on weekdays at 7am 

 



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 37 
 

Figure 24: Jobs access from the Transit Center: comparison 

 

Figure 23 shows that over 71,000 jobs are accessible from the Transit Center on a weekday at 7am. 
Changes in access from the Transit Center at different times of the day and in different time intervals are 
virtually identical. This illustrates the impacts of the trade-offs that occurred as a part of this planning 
process, and the reallocation of existing resources as opposed to the dramatic or significant introduction of 
new services as necessitated by the current operational and workforce constraints. Here, accessibility 
impacts from the removal or reduction of services such as the Crosstown Shuttle and Downtown-Waterfront 
Shuttle are mitigated through other service improvements, such as improvements to Lines 6, 11, 4, and 17. 

Figure 25 shows the number of people who can access the Transit Center under the MTD Moves Ahead 
network on a weekday at 7am and Figure 26 compares person-access between the two networks. 

12,629 

12,710 

12,520 

12,650 

12,520 

12,527 

23,957 

23,970 

19,689 

19,489 

14,759 

14,641 

12,285 

12,914 

15,676 

16,299 

18,452 

18,362 

22,298 

21,740 

16,728 

14,561 

21,457 

21,899 

0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Numer of jobs accessible

Jobs access from the Transit Center

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



DRAFT 

38 
 

 

Figure 25: Person access to the Transit Center on weekdays at 7am 

 

Figure 26: Person access to the Transit Center: comparison 

 

Figure 25 shows that over 53,000 people can access the Transit Center within 30 minutes at 7am on a 
weekday, and this number increases to 142,000 in 60 minutes. Figure 26 tells a similar story to Figure 24, 
and access is better in the baseline scenario especially on weekdays in the 30 minute and 45 minute 
ranges. As more resources become available, MTD can work to improve and increase access further.  

11,689 

13,644 

11,524 

13,644 

11,399 

11,414 

41,890 

44,960 

40,590 

42,588 

33,758 

32,519 

32,322 

28,960 

30,549 

27,229 

33,704 

34,697 

56,132 

50,662 

53,766 

47,215 

57,087 

52,208 

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 120,000 140,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of people accessible

Person access to Transit Center

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 39 
 

One main service investment in the MTD Moves Ahead network is to extend the service span on Lines 1 
and 2 on weekdays until midnight. When looking at late-night access to the Transit Center, access is 
improved. Specifically, on weekdays at 11pm, 3,000 more people can access the Transit Center when 
compared to the baseline network. 

6.2 State and La Cumbre 

State and La Cumbre is a major intersection along the State Street corridor and the stop pair located here 
serves as a transfer point. The area is job-dense and includes key local and regional destinations including 
a Target, Macy’s, pharmacies, pet stores, La Cumbre Plaza, and others. The La Cumbre Plaza area is 
slated for future development, including significant housing units. A specific plan is expected to be 
developed in the next few years. Figure 27 shows how many jobs can be accessed in different time intervals 
from State and La Cumbre on a weekday at 7am, and Figure 28 compares access between the proposed 
and existing networks.  

Figure 27: Job access from State and La Cumbre on weekdays at 7am 

 



DRAFT 

40 
 

 

Figure 28: Job access from State and La Cumbre: comparison 

 

Figure 27 shows that Jane can access nearly 24,000 jobs within 30 minutes of travel time from State and 
La Cumbre at 7am on a weekday. Figure 28 shows that the differences in access are nearly identical 
between the two networks and across different days and different times of the day. Decreases in access 
could be expected from the removal of Line 10, but this is mitigated from improvements in other areas. 
Further, this exercise does not take into account the Goleta microtransit zone, which covers much of the 
Line 10 service area. Within the two Goleta microtransit zones, there are an estimated 4,400 jobs. Access 
to some of these jobs were not taken into account under the MTD Moves Ahead network and the numbers 
presented here would likely increase if these were considered in the analysis. 

Figure 29 shows the number of people who can access State and La Cumbre under the MTD Moves Ahead 
network on a weekday at 7am and Figure 30 compares person-access between the two networks. 

7,878 

7,877 

7,835 

7,834 

7,835 

7,834 

15,509 

15,561 

8,722 

9,296 

5,273 

5,309 

25,927 

26,471 

28,456 

28,357 

29,961 

30,058 

19,133 

18,873 

21,995 

20,223 

21,299 

21,395 

0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of jobs accessible

Job access from State and La Cumbre

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 41 
 

Figure 29: Person access to State and La Cumbre on weekdays at 7am 

 

Figure 30: Person access to State and La Cumbre: comparison 

 

Figure 29 shows that over 30,000 people can access State and La Cumbre within 30 minutes at 7am on a 
weekday. As with access to jobs, Figure 30 shows that the number of people who can access State and La 
Cumbre is less in the proposed network compared to the baseline network. This does not account for the 
population of the Goleta microtransit zones, which hold an estimated 10,700 people. Line 7 will also connect 

4,100 

4,098 

4,100 

4,098 

4,100 

4,098 

26,738 

26,750 

17,305 

18,556 

17,358 

17,464 

46,528 

49,289 

51,907 

52,266 

44,186 

44,271 

48,358 

50,066 

41,861 

42,513 

44,425 

44,408 

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 120,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of people accessible

Person access to State and La Cumbre

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



DRAFT 

42 
 

 

the La Cumbre area to the Goleta microtransit zone. Overall, access is best during peak weekday hours 
and is lowest on weekends.  

6.3 UCSB 

The UCSB campus is not only a key destination for the 26,000 UCSB students, but is also the largest 
employer in the County, serving as a job-dense trip generator. Access was measured from the UCSB bus 
loop to minimize the impacts of walking distance from different campus buildings to the bus stop.  

Figure 31 shows how many jobs can be accessed in different time intervals from UCSB on a weekday at 
7am, and Figure 32 compares access between the proposed and existing networks. 

Figure 31: Job access from UCSB on weekdays at 7am 

 



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 43 
 

Figure 32: Job access from UCSB: comparison 

 

For weekdays at 7am, access is improved across every time interval when compared to the baseline 
network, likely largely as a result of the improved frequencies on Lines 6 and 11 during the AM peak period. 
Over 6,000 jobs can be accessed within 30 minutes, compared to 4,330 jobs that can be accessed within 
30 minutes in the baseline network. 

During the weekday noon period, overall access is improved but access during the 45-minute time interval 
is less than the baseline network. This is potentially also due to the removal of Line 10. Finally, access 
would be improved even more with the inclusion of the microtransit zones in the analysis, especially for the 
midday timeframes. 

Figure 33 shows the number of people who can access UCSB under the MTD Moves Ahead network on a 
weekday at 7am and Figure 34 compares person-access between the two networks. 

928 

893 

928 

893 

893 

893 

5,607 

3,437 

4,666 

4,728 

3,494 

3,273 

10,531 

10,196 

9,179 

10,718 

10,124 

10,064 

28,448 

19,480 

28,955 

24,977 

24,710 

21,816 

0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of jobs accessible

Jobs access from UCSB

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



DRAFT 

44 
 

 

 Figure 33: Person access to UCSB on weekdays at 7am 

 

Figure 34: Person access to UCSB: comparison 

 

In Figure 43, we can see that over 28,000 people can access UCSB in 30 minutes compared to over 26,000 
people during this timeframe in the baseline network and over 2,000 more people can access the campus 
within 15 minutes. Again, the number of people that can access UCSB is increased across days and 
different times. This increase in access is not only important for the students who go to UCSB, but also the 
many faculty and staff members living throughout the South Coast.  

13,373 

11,254 

13,373 

11,254 

11,255 

11,254 

15,319 

15,025 

14,536 

15,480 

15,110 

14,993 

22,501 

15,076 

19,433 

22,844 

15,548 

14,741 

53,417 

38,434 

52,685 

47,260 

46,061 

40,909 

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of people accessible

Person access to UCSB

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 45 
 

6.4 SBCC 

Like UCSB, SBCC serves as a trip generator for the nearly 14,000 students enrolled at the school12, but is 
also an important job generator. While located more centrally in Santa Barbara, the street network in and 
around the campus is curvilinear and on top of a steep hill, reducing the pedestrian walkability of the 
adjacent area and the distance someone can cover for a given amount of walking time.  

Figure 45 shows how many jobs can be accessed in different time intervals from SBCC on a weekday at 
7am, and Figure 71 compares access between the proposed and existing networks. 

Figure 35: Job access from SBCC on weekdays at 7am 

 

                                                      
 
12 As of Fall 2021; however, only 4,939 students are enrolled on the main campus with the remainder of students 
participating in dual enrollment from local high schools (1,983) or exclusively online (6,859 students). 



DRAFT 

46 
 

 

Figure 36: Job access from SBCC: comparison 

 

Figure 45 shows that at 7am on a weekday, over 47,000 jobs can be accessed from SBCC. Figure 36 
shows that access has been reduced overall under the MTD Moves Ahead network, though the number of 
jobs that can be accessed within 15 minutes has improved, likely as a result of the improvements to Lines 
4 and 17. Decreases in access can be attributed to elimination of the Crosstown Shuttle and reduced 
service levels on the new Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle. Over time, MTD can work to improve frequencies 
on other lines around the SBCC/Mesa area to improve access further.  

Figure 37 shows the number of people who can access SBCC under the MTD Moves Ahead network on a 
weekday at 7am and Figure 38 compares person-access between the two networks. 

3,204 

3,027 

3,204 

3,027 

3,204 

3,027 

9,814 

13,760 

10,115 

13,760 

9,667 

9,155 

15,106 

16,350 

14,320 

13,662 

14,519 

14,777 

19,422 

12,090 

18,383 

19,016 

11,974 

10,987 

0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of jobs accessible
Job access from SBCC

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 47 
 

Figure 37: Person access to SBCC on weekdays at 7am 

 

 

Figure 38: Person access to SBCC: comparison 

 

Figure 37 shows that over 23,000 people can access SBCC within 30 minutes on 7am on a weekday. 
Figure 38 shows that during 7am on a weekday, access is expanded overall, attributed to improvements 

8,097 

8,080 

8,097 

8,080 

8,097 

8,080 

15,424 

16,544 

16,029 

16,544 

15,307 

15,366 

27,087 

28,857 

28,035 

40,612 

26,794 

24,126 

56,252 

26,441 

52,588 

47,705 

22,890 

24,965 

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 120,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of people accessible
Person access to SBCC

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



DRAFT 

48 
 

 

on Lines 4 and 17. Similarly to the jobs access figures, decreases in access are likely due to the eliminated 
Crosstown Shuttle and less frequent service on the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle. 

6.5 Storke and Hollister 

Storke Rd. and Hollister Ave. is a major intersection in Isla Vista that has many job-rich and useful retail 
and commercial destinations, including a Target, Costco, restaurants, hotel, and the Camino Real 
Marketplace. Several lines also converge at the stops located at the intersection, allowing passengers to 
transfer between lines. 

Figure 39 shows how many jobs Jane can access from Storke and Hollister at 7am on a weekday, and 
Figure 40 compares access at different times and days between the MTD Moves Ahead network and 
baseline (2019) network. 

Figure 39: Job access from Storke and Hollister on weekdays at 7am 

 



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 49 
 

Figure 40: Job access from Storke and Hollister: comparison 

 

Figure 39 shows that over 10,000 jobs can be reached from Storke and Hollister in 30 minutes at 7am on 
a weekday. As Line 10 previously served the Camino Real Marketplace, it can be expected that access 
would decrease under the new system. However, impacts to access are minimal and access is improved 
in many places. Slight increases in access are seen across all time intervals during the 7am weekday 
period, highlighting the effect that improved frequencies on Lines 6 and 11 have on the accessibility of the 
overall system. Additionally, this does not take into account the jobs that could be accessed from the Goleta 
microtransit zones. 

Figure 41 shows the number of people who can access Storke and Hollister under the MTD Moves Ahead 
network on a weekday at 7am and Figure 42 compares person-access between the two networks. 

4,757 

4,696 

4,757 

4,696 

4,699 

4,696 

5,690 

5,165 

3,729 

3,093 

3,982 

3,898 

10,647 

10,334 

11,024 

12,624 

10,415 

10,570 

23,359 

25,129 

20,628 

17,461 

16,570 

16,587 

0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of jobs accessible

Job access from Storke and Hollister

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



DRAFT 

50 
 

 

Figure 41: Person access to Storke and Hollister on weekdays at 7am 

 

Figure 42: Person access to Storke and Hollister: comparison 

 

Figure 41 shows that at 7am on a weekday, over 38,000 people can access Storke and Hollister within 30 
minutes, and nearly 98,000 people can access it in 60 minutes. Figure 42 shows that while accessibility at 
7am on a weekday is improved in the 15-minute, 30-minute, and 45-minute time intervals, it is less than the 
baseline network in the 60-minute timeframe, possibly a result of the removal of Line 10. If the Goleta 
microtransit zone was integrated into this analysis, overall access would likely see increases.  

3,236 

3,216 

3,231 

3,211 

3,231 

3,211 

34,880 

26,977 

32,366 

29,804 

27,028 

26,407 

20,094 

29,139 

17,743 

17,886 

24,347 

25,298 

39,640 

49,374 

25,956 

22,449 

37,901 

39,191 

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 120,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of people accessible

Person access to Storke and Hollister

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 51 
 

6.6 Carpinteria and Holly 

The stop at Carpinteria Ave. and Holly Ave. is one of the more highly used stops along Line 20 in 
Carpinteria, providing access to destinations along Carpinteria Ave., as well as to residents south of 
Carpinteria Ave.  

Figure 43 shows how many jobs Jane can access from Carpinteria and Holly at 7am on a weekday, and 
Figure 44 compares access at different times and days between the MTD Moves Ahead network and 
baseline (2019) network. 

Figure 43: Job access from Carpinteria and Holly on weekdays at 7am 

 

 



DRAFT 

52 
 

 

Figure 44: Job access from Carpinteria and Holly: comparison 

 

Figure 43 shows that in 30 minutes, Jane can access over 5,000 jobs, and the number of jobs accessible 
in 60 minutes increases to over 10,000. Figure 44 highlights the improvements in access that the Line 20 
changes have on access to jobs, particularly within 45 and 60 minutes. Further, this analysis does not 
account for the Carpinteria microtransit zone, which serves a larger service area compared to the Seaside 
Shuttle. The Carpinteria microtransit zone holds an estimated 6,300 jobs.  

Figure 45 shows the number of people who can access Carpinteria and Holly under the MTD Moves Ahead 
network on a weekday at 7am and Figure 46 compares person-access between the two networks. 

2,546 

2,539 

2,546 

2,539 

2,546 

2,539 

2,594 

1,572 

2,594 

2,072 

1,570 

1,572 

1,057 

828 

1,057 

1,470 

1,306 

1,113 

4,226 

949 

4,226 

2,549 

972 

1,022 

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of jobs accessible

Job access from Carpinteria and Holly

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



Access Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 53 
 

Figure 45: Person access to Carpinteria and Holly on weekdays at 7am 

 

Figure 46: Person access to Carpinteria and Holly: comparison 

 

Figure 45 shows that nearly 18,000 people can access Carpinteria and Holly at 7am on a weekday, and 
Figure 46 shows that access is also improved during the midday period. The most significant differences in 
access are seen in the 60-minute timeframe, reflecting the long distance between Carpinteria and Santa 

4,540 

4,515 

4,540 

4,516 

4,540 

4,673 

5,270 

4,603 

5,270 

4,962 

4,623 

4,445 

1,343 

909 

1,343 

1,368 

971 

955 

6,801 

467 

6,802 

2,672 

1,421 

1,148 

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000 14,000 16,000 18,000

Weekday 7 am - proposed

Weekday 7 am - baseline

Weekday noon - proposed

Weekday noon - baseline

Saturday noon - proposed

Saturday noon - baseline

Number of people accessible

Person access from Carpinteria and Holly

15 min 30 min 45 min 60 min



DRAFT 

54 
 

 

Barbara. The Carpinteria microtransit zone also contains a population of 13,500 which was not figured into 
this analysis. 

  



Financial Forecast 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 55 
 

7 FINANCIAL FORECAST 

This section describes the financial forecast that monetizes the service priorities for MTD Moves Ahead 
and presents year-by-year operating budget estimates required to enact the recommended service 
priorities over the five-year planning period. MTD Moves Ahead Operating Revenues and Expenses 
Forecasts 

To project operating costs, past budgets were analyzed for each line item to understand cost trending. Cost 
drivers were also identified with MTD staff to understand if each line item is driven by revenue hours, 
revenue miles, or is a fixed cost. Working with MTD staff, each line item from the most recent adopted 
budget (FY22-23) was reviewed and forecasted based on observed trends and best estimates of future 
conditions. Further, with input from MTD, line items were categorized and compiled into the same 
categories that were presented in MTD’s previous SRTP to facilitate comparisons with the prior SRTP and 
use a format familiar to MTD.  

The baseline for the financial forecast is the FY22-23 budgeted revenue hours of 188,657; this baseline 
reflects the ‘new normal’. Note that this budgeted level of service is about 10% greater that the estimated 
annualized August 2022 revenue hours (171,096) shown elsewhere in this report. To align with MTD’s 
budgeting, the financial forecast uses the 188,657 revenue hours budgeted for FY22-23 as a starting point. 

As described in the priorities, the proposed service changes are divided into three broad phases—
immediate and short-term, mid-term, and long-term. However, for financial analysis purposes, the service 
proposals were assigned to specific years of the plan to enable computing operating costs as follows: 

• Plan year 1 – service transitions: Lines 10, 36, and 37 will remain suspended, and as such have 
no impact on revenue hours. 

• Plan year 2 – short-term recommendations implemented: restoring Lines 15x, 27, and 28 to pre-
COVID levels, introducing the Wave in Isla Vista and Goleta, and introducing Line 19x. 

• Plan year 3 – no changes from plan year 2 

• Plan year 4 – mid-term recommendations implemented: improvements to frequency and service 
span for Lines 1, 2, 4, and 17, and the introduction of the Wave in Carpinteria. 

• Plan year 5 – long term recommendations implemented: improvements to frequency and service 
span for Lines 6, 11, and 20, and the introduction of the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator.  

The main assumptions related to operating expenses include: 

• Fixed costs increase 5% annually 

• Wages for represented staff increase as per new MTD’s new collective bargaining agreement and 
annually thereafter consistent with historical trends in plan years 3-5. These wage impacts are 
captured in line items driven by revenue hours and mileage. 

The main assumptions related to operating revenue include: 

• Passenger fares grow at 1% annually in plan years 1 and 2 and 2% annually starting at plan year 
3 to align with service improvements and account for a conservative growth in ridership 

• Local operating assistance is assumed to grow at 2% generally as well as include the following 
revenue sources: 



DRAFT 

56 
 

 

o Funding support for the Wave services (LCTOP) and Lines 19x (US101-Caltrans) and 28 
(UCSB) 

o Funding support for additional service on Lines 1, 2, 4, and 17 

o With the introduction of the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator, we assumed MTD and the 
City of Santa Barbara would work together to fund the service costs of this service, 
estimated at $1,069,240 in plan year 5. This is an assumption that will need to be 
revisited if the City and MTD are unable to develop an agreement as funding for this 
service has not yet been identified. 

• Non-transportation income grows at 2% annually in line with historic trending 

• Measure A revenue was forecasted based on estimates from SBCAG provided to MTD 

• TDA funds grow at 2% annually based on historic trending 

• Property tax revenue grows at 5% annually based on historic trending 

• FTA 5307 funds are held steady at $5.2 million to account for STIC funds moving from operating 
to capital funding 

• COVID-19 federal funds, nearly $26 million, would be drawn down gradually over the course of the 
next four years. 

Table 13 provides a summary of the operating revenues and expenses over the 5-year forecast horizon for 
the proposed service improvements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Financial Forecast 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 57 
 

Table 13: Unconstrained forecasted operating revenues and expenses. 
  FY22-23 FY23-24 FY24-25 FY25-26 FY26-27 FY27-28 

  Baseline year Plan year 1 Plan year 2 Plan year 3 Plan year 4 Plan year 5 

Operating Revenue 
Passenger fares $4,438,000 $4,499,000 $4,561,000 $4,652,000 $4,745,000 $4,841,000 

Non-Transportation 
income 

$347,000 $354,000 $361,000 $368,000 $376,000 $383,000 

Local Operating 
Assistance 

$835,000 $852,000 $2,289,000 $2,354,000 $3,170,000 $4,205,000 

Measure A $2,753,000 $2,814,000 $2,900,000 $2,779,000 $2,885,000 $2,826,000 
TDA - Local 

Transportation Fund 
$10,045,000 $10,246,000 $10,451,000 $10,660,000 $10,873,000 $11,091,000 

Property Tax 
Revenue 

$1,544,000 $1,621,000 $1,702,000 $1,787,000 $1,876,000 $1,970,000 

FTA 5307 Operating 
Assistance 

$5,277,000 $5,277,000 $5,277,000 $5,277,000 $5,277,000 $5,277,000 

COVID-19 Federal 
Stimulus Funding 

$4,747,000 $5,446,000 $6,310,000 $7,108,000 $2,336,000 $0 

Total Operating 
Revenue $29,986,000 $31,109,000 $33,851,000 $34,986,000 $31,538,000 $30,593,000 

Operating Expenses 
Route operations $16,986,000 $17,697,000 $19,516,000 $20,111,000 $21,439,000 $24,172,000 

Vehicle maintenance $4,656,000 $4,857,000 $5,277,000 $5,460,000 $5,794,000 $6,414,000 
Fuel costs $2,542,000 $2,643,000 $2,958,000 $3,032,000 $3,251,000 $3,751,000 
Passenger 

accommodations 
$1,212,000 $1,269,000 $1,329,000 $1,392,000 $1,458,000 $1,527,000 

General overhead $4,590,000 $4,642,000 $4,772,000 $4,991,000 $5,234,000 $5,514,000 
Total Operating 

Expenses $29,986,000 $31,109,000 $33,851,000 $34,986,000 $37,177,000 $41,378,000 

*values rounded to nearest $1,000 

The financial forecast demonstrates a few key elements. First, MTD’s reliance on fares, while an important 
source of revenue, must be bolstered by local operating assistance for services such as university and 
college routes, microtransit, and the Downtown-Waterfront circulator. MTD will also need to explore fare 
increases to help offset the growth in operating expenses which continue to outpace the growth in revenue. 
Second, sales tax revenue will need to continue to grow to provide MTD with stable operating funding. 
Finally, the COVID-19 era funding provided by the FTA will be an important source to achieve a balanced 
budget through plan year 4. 

However, after drawing down the remaining COVID-19 emergency funds, MTD will be facing a deficit of 
over $10 million in plan year 5 required to implement all the service proposed in the short range transit plan. 
The reality is that the levels of service in plan year 5 are only ~9% more than 2019 service levels, but 27% 
more than fall 2022 levels. Despite the modest increase in service compared to pre-COVID levels, the 
operating expenses, based primarily on service levels, continue to outpace revenues mainly due to the 
growing costs of doing business, i.e., inflation as well as wage increases. Importantly, this plan also 
assumes, as repeated throughout, that MTD is able to recruit a sufficient number of operators to implement 
this plan. 

Overall, the growth in operating expenses, even for modest restoration of service, requires that MTD also 
plan for constrained service growth if revenues are unable to keep pace with expenses. The following 
section presents a constrained plan. 



DRAFT 

58 
 

 

7.1 Constrained Financial and Service Plan 

To provide a constrained service plan, in the operating expenses and revenues, we only accounted for 
funded initiatives as described below: 

• In plan year 2 (FY24-25), Line 19x is introduced, the Wave Goleta is introduced, and Line 28 service 
is restored to pre-COVID levels. This level of service is operated for plan years 3 (FY25-26) and 4 
(FY26-27) 

• In plan year 5 (FY27-28), the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator is introduced 

The assumptions for operating revenues and expenses are the same as described in the prior section, 
except that local operating assistance only captures the funded services (Line 19x, Wave Goleta, Line 28 
and the assumed funding for the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator). Table 14 summarizes the operating 
revenues and expenses of a constrained service plan. 

Table 14: Unconstrained forecasted operating revenues and expenses. 
  FY22-23 FY23-24 FY24-25 FY25-26 FY26-27 FY27-28 

  Baseline year Plan year 1 Plan year 2 Plan year 3 Plan year 4 Plan year 5 
Operating Revenue 

Passenger fares $4,438,000  $4,499,000  $4,561,000  $4,652,000  $4,745,000  $4,841,000  
Non-Transportation 

income 
$347,000  $354,000  $361,000  $368,000  $376,000  $383,000  

Local Operating 
Assistance  $835,000   $852,000   $2,289,000   $2,354,000   $2,394,000   $3,439,000  

Measure A $2,753,000  $2,814,000  $2,900,000  $2,779,000  $2,885,000  $2,826,000  
TDA - Local 

Transportation Fund 
$10,045,000  $10,246,000  $10,451,000  $10,660,000  $10,873,000  $11,091,000  

Property Tax 
Revenue 

$1,544,000  $1,621,000  $1,702,000  $1,787,000  $1,876,000  $1,970,000  

FTA 5307 Operating 
Assistance 

$5,277,000  $5,277,000  $5,277,000  $5,277,000  $5,277,000  $5,277,000  

COVID-19 Federal 
Stimulus Funding 

 $4,747,000   $5,446,000   $5,656,000   $6,438,000   $3,660,000   $-  

Total Operating 
Revenue  $29,986,000   $31,109,000   $33,197,000   $34,316,000   $32,087,000   $29,826,000  

Operating Expenses 
Route operations $16,986,000  $17,697,000  $19,055,000  $19,639,000  $20,242,000  $21,336,000  

Vehicle maintenance $4,656,000  $4,857,000  $5,184,000  $5,366,000  $5,554,000  $5,844,000  
Fuel costs $2,542,000  $2,643,000  $2,866,000  $2,937,000  $3,011,000  $3,180,000  
Passenger 

accommodations 
$1,212,000  $1,269,000  $1,329,000  $1,392,000  $1,458,000  $1,527,000  

General overhead $4,590,000  $4,642,000  $4,763,000  $4,982,000  $5,212,000  $5,461,000  
Total Operating 

Expenses $29,986,000  $31,109,000  $33,197,000  $34,316,000  $35,476,000  $37,347,000  

*values rounded to nearest $1,000 

Despite the more modest growth in forecasted revenue hours of about 8% from the current service levels 
(in plan year 5), operating expenses still outpace operating revenues in plan year 4 and 5 due the drawn of 
COVID-19 federal stimulus funding that will help MTD achieve a balance budget in plan years 1 through 3. 
The total revenue hours in plan year 5 are still less than pre-COVID levels and represents nearly 93% of 
pre-COVID revenue hours. 



Financial Forecast 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 59 
 

If MTD is unable to secure funding through local operating assistance, then MTD will have difficult choices 
to make—Reduce service levels even further? Raise fares to help offset expenses? These are difficult 
conversations that MTD must have with the community to demonstrate the need for more dedicated 
funding, if the community wants MTD to continue to not only maintain the status quo, but also increase 
service levels to continuously improve mobility for the community. 

  



DRAFT 

60 
 

 

8 SERVICE EQUITY IMPACT CONSIDERATIONS 

An important driving force for MTD Moves Ahead was the equitable design and distribution of transit 
services to ensure that the service priorities are focused on vulnerable communities who depend on public 
transit. This is important for several reasons, not the least of which helps ensure that people who don’t have 
cars or unable to drive, or are in low-income households are provided with mobility options that enable them 
to work, study, and take part in the broader Santa Barbara community. 

To understand the impacts of the service priorities in MTD Moves Ahead on transit priority communities 
who are low-income or minorities and are typically more likely to depend on MTD to get around, we analyzed 
the proximity of these groups to different levels of transit service during pre-COVID service and the service 
proposed in MTD Moves Ahead. By capturing not only the number of people within a given distance to 
transit (coverage) and looking at how this varies by service levels, we can also see how well the MTD 
Moves Ahead network compares to the baseline network in terms of proximity to service of different levels 
and types. 

Figure 47 presents the proximity to routes and services of different frequencies, comparing the baseline 
network to the proposed MTD Moves Ahead network. The figure shows the percentage of total residents, 
low income and minority residents, and the number of jobs within ½ mile of transit at different service levels 
compared to the baseline network, at noon on a weekday. 

Figure 47: Proximity to service comparison, weekday midday13 

 

Figure 47 shows that proximity to service improves across the board under the MTD Moves Ahead network, 
with 98% of all residents within ½ mile of either fixed route or the Wave service14. Proximity to high-quality 

                                                      
 
13 “The Wave” category contains populations and jobs that are only accessible via the Wave and not other fixed route services to 
avoid double-counting. 
14 Pre-COVID network provided ½-mile coverage to 94% of the population within the service area. 

65%

64%

70%

68%

67%

65%

55%

54%

17%

12%

18%

7%

16%

12%

22%

12%

4%

15%

4%

17%

8%

16%

8%

20%

2%

4%

2%

8%

8%

7%

5%

12%

6%

6%

1%

4%

5%

4%

2%

6%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Jobs-Proposed

Jobs-Baseline

Residents in Poverty-Proposed

Residents in Poverty-Baseline

Minority Residents-Proposed

Minority Residents-Baseline

Residents-Proposed

Residents-Baseline

Residents and Jobs within 1/2-mile of transit

15 min or better 16-30 min 31-60 min Any fixed route service The Wave Not within 1/2 mile



Service Equity Impact Considerations 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 61 
 

service (15 minutes or better) is also slightly improved across all categories, and we see significant 
improvements in the number of residents and jobs that are within ½ mile of 16–30-minute service. Not only 
does the MTD Moves Ahead network improve overall proximity to service, but it improves proximity to high-
quality service, increasing the number of residents and jobs that are close to frequent services and 
potentially resulting in increased ridership. 

In addition to the coverage analysis, we also conducted what the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) calls 
a “Title VI service equity analysis”. This analysis is required for a transit agency that operates 50 or more 
fixed-route vehicles in peak service and is located in an Urbanized Area (UZA) of 200,000 or more in 
population conducts a service equity analysis to understand whether proposed major service changes may 
result in negative impacts to low-income and/or minority communities. 

As MTD currently provides service to a UZA with a population slightly below 200,000, it is not mandated by 
the FTA to complete a Title VI service equity analyses. However, with a focus on equity, it is still important 
that MTD assesses and identifies the impact that the proposed changes in MTD Moves Ahead will have on 
low-income and minority populations. Also, MTD is on the cusp of a 200,000 UZA and will likely need to 
conduct service equity analysis in the coming years. Based on MTD’s Title VI Policy, MTD defines a major 
service change as a change of 10% or more in the revenue hours of any line. 

First, we analyzed which proposed changes to MTD’s existing bus lines would surpass a 10% change 
threshold and trigger a Title VI analysis. Table 15 below shows which bus lines would see a greater than 
or lesser than 10% change in service. Note, however, that bus line eliminations or additions are described 
later in this section. 

Table 15: MTD Moves Ahead major service changes 

Line Baseline service 
hours 

Proposed service 
hours 

Difference in 
service hours 

4 4,531 5,771 27% 
6 20,285 23,282 15% 

11 30,652 35,919 17% 
17 3,387 4,348 28% 
20 18,362 23,003 25% 

Downtown-Waterfront 
Shuttle 12,484 6,040 -52% 

For each of the lines in Table 15, we then analyzed the impact of the service changes on the ridership of 
each line to determine whether low-income riders and/or minority riders would be impacted 
disproportionately. The analysis revealed that these proposed changes will have very minor, non-significant 
impacts on minorities and low-income communities. Mitigation is not required. A more thorough technical 
analysis is described in Appendix D – Title VI Service Equity Analysis. 

Second, we analyzed proposed service removals. The lines proposed for removal include: 

• Line 10 – Cathedral Oaks 

• Line 36 – Seaside Shuttle (Carpinteria) 

• Line 37 – Crosstown Shuttle (Downtown Santa Barbara) 

To understand potential Title VI impacts from removing these routes, we analyzed the minority and low-
income populations within ¼-mile of these route alignments and then compared them to the minority and 
low-income demographics of the whole service area (Table 16). MTD does not have a set threshold that 



DRAFT 

62 
 

 

would indicate a disproportionate or disparate impact currently, however, many agencies set the threshold 
at 20%. According to Table 16, the only change that may trigger an impact if the threshold were 20% would 
be the slated removal of Line 37 because of the potential negative impact to minority populations.  

Table 16: Low-income and minority populations within ¼-mile of proposed route removals 

Line Population within area Low income % Minority % % Diff Low 
income 

% Diff 
Minority 

10 15,200 6% 41% -8% -2% 
36 8,200 7% 56% -7% 13% 
37 20,700 14% 64% 0% 21% 

Service area average 14% 43% NA NA 

Furthermore, the populations that previously used Line 10 and Line 36 will, in the future, have access to 
the Wave microtransit service, helping mitigate any travel impacts due to the deletion of these routes. With 
regard to Line 37, most of the destinations of these alignments are within a ½-mile of other routes in the 
downtown area, so while access may not be as convenient as with the Crosstown Shuttle, these 
destinations are still accessible via transit. Also, as when bus operators are not such a limiting factor, MTD 
should explore frequency improvements to the proposed Downtown-Waterfront Circulator and Lines 1 and 
2 to mitigate some impacts due to Line 37. 

Lastly, we examined the impact of the introduction of Line 19x, which is an entirely new route. A similar 
analysis was conducted as with the service removals where we examined the proportion of low-income and 
minority riders within ¼-mile of the route alignment compared to the systemwide demographics (Table 17). 

Table 17: Low-income and minority populations within ¼-mile of newly proposed Line 19x 

Line Population within area Low income % Minority % % Diff Low 
income 

% Diff 
Minority 

19x 10,000 16% 66% 2% 23% 
Service area average 14% 43% NA NA 

As shown in Table 17, the introduction of Line 19x would provide service to larger proportion of minority 
residents compared to the service area average. As such, introducing Line 19x has positive impacts on 
Title VI populations. 

Taken together, the Title VI analysis here shows that overall, the impacts of the proposed MTD Moves 
Ahead service changes do not have disproportionately negative impacts on minority or low-income 
populations. Moreover, some of the changes, such as increased service levels on several lines and the 
introduction of Line 19x and Wave microtransit positively benefit Title VI communities. In the future, MTD 
will need to define an impact threshold to identify disproportionate or disparate impacts. 

  



Fleet Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 63 
 

9 FLEET IMPACTS 

MTD’s current fleet is composed of 112 fixed-route buses of different lengths, from 60-ft articulated buses 
for the UCSB services, to 29-ft buses for serving neighborhoods with narrow streets and constrained turns. 
MTD’s peak fleet requirements prior to the pandemic was 92 buses (about 80% of the fleet) in-service 
during school day afternoons; on weekdays without school, this peak requirement was 65 buses (about 
57%). On weekends, MTD deployed at most about 40 buses, or about 35% of its total revenue fleet. Prior 
to the pandemic, not counting boosters, MTD needed 77 buses at peak, while the service plan proposed 
for all the recommendations in Section 5.1 through 5.3 is estimated to require 69 buses at peak. 

MTD’s peak fleet requirement—and thus the requirements for its total fleet size—is strongly driven by 
school booster services. Notably, the school district does not contribute any operating or capital funding to 
these school booster services. 

These booster routes are designed to mitigate overcrowding on MTD’s 
regular lines. However, because these trips are designed for school bell 
times that happen twice a day during weekdays, MTD requires a large 
fleet of buses that end up sitting mainly idle for most other periods of 
time; large quantities of buses are devoted to serving very short trips for 
very small parts of the day. 

Prior to the pandemic, MTD was able to ‘double up’ boosters for junior 
high and high school trips; that is, one vehicle was able to accomplish 
two trips for 14 out of 18 morning trippers. This was possible due to the 
differences in bell times for junior high and high schools. This helped 
minimize the number of unique buses and operators required to provide 
the booster services. 

Due to a recent state law (SB328) pushing back bell times, and a 
wide variation in bell start and end times, late start and minimum 
days effectuated by the SB Unified School District, starting in Fall 
2022, MTD is unable to ‘double up’ booster as much as it has in the 

past, making the trippers even more inefficient than before. Instead of devoting 10-11 buses for morning 
trippers prior to the new state law, now 18 buses and operators are required. To further complicate matters, 
schools sometimes operate half days, requiring special scheduling and blocking for those days.  

 

 

MTD publishes school booster schedules 
regularly based on new bell times 



DRAFT 

64 
 

 

Further to the equipment and 
resource needs, the actual number of 
in-service hours is actually a minority 
of total labor hours associated with 
boosters (see a booster-by-booster 
analysis in Figure 48). Actual in-
service hours amount to about 16.5 
total hours per day. Nonetheless, 
additional hours are required for 
operators to complete pre-trip 
procedures, deadhead to the starting 
point of the booster trip, and get into 
position and wait for the students to 
be let out—this whole process adds 
about 40 hours of labor per day, 
nearly 2.5 times the amount of actual 
in-service time. Overall, booster 
services require MTD to devote an 
inordinate number of resources—
planning, scheduling, vehicles, 
operators—to operate. 

Figure 48: Fall 2022 school booster total labor hours segmented into in-service, deadhead, pre-trip, and 
staging time. 

 

While MTD’s fleet size will continue to be driven by school boosters, if operator shortages are no longer a 
challenge, there are some opportunities and considerations to make more efficient use of MTD’s fleet: 

• Work closely with the school district to appropriately stagger school start and end times and late 
start days, and have a longer lead time to plan and schedule boosters. 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

SM
H

S 
6 

- o
ut

 P
M

G
VJ

H
 2

61
0 

AM
D

PH
S 

27
10

 P
M

D
PH

S 
27

40
 P

M
D

PH
S 

27
20

 A
M

G
VJ

H
 2

63
0 

PM
LC

JH
 2

43
0 

PM
G

VJ
H

 2
65

0 
PM

G
VJ

H
 2

62
0 

AM
D

PH
S 

27
10

 A
M

LC
JH

 2
41

0 
PM

SM
H

S 
25

20
 A

M
G

VJ
H

 2
62

0 
PM

D
PH

S 
27

20
 P

M
D

PH
S 

27
20

 P
M

D
PH

S 
27

40
 A

M
LC

JH
 2

42
0 

AM
SM

H
S 

25
20

 P
M

G
VJ

H
 2

61
0 

PM
LC

JH
 2

42
0 

PM
G

VJ
H

 2
65

0 
AM

G
VJ

H
 2

63
0 

AM
G

VJ
H

 2
66

0 
PM

D
PH

S 
27

30
 P

M
D

PH
S 

27
30

 A
M

SB
JH

 2
11

0 
PM

SM
H

S 
25

30
 P

M
LC

JH
 2

41
0 

AM
LC

JH
 2

43
0 

AM
SM

H
S 

25
10

 A
M

SM
H

S 
25

10
 A

M
SM

H
S 

6 
- i

n 
PM

SM
H

S 
6 

- i
n 

PM
AL

PH
A 

20
10

 A
M

SM
H

S 
25

30
 A

M
D

PH
S 

27
20

 A
M

SM
H

S 
25

10
 P

M
SM

H
S 

25
10

 P
M

SM
H

S 
25

10
 P

M
SM

H
S 

25
40

 A
M

La
bo

r h
ou

rs

Booster trip

In-service Deadheading Staging Pre-trip

Example of an AM and PM booster for San Marcos High School 



Fleet Impacts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 65 
 

• Continue to interline regular lines with boosters when and where possible. By tying together a 
booster piece with a regular line, MTD can make more efficient use of operators and vehicles. 

• To increase service levels without having to increase total fleet size and use buses it already owns 
to attract more ridership, MTD could increase service levels during off-peak times. This has already 
been described elsewhere in this plan. However, at the moment, MTD’s shortage of bus 
operators makes this strategy unlikely in the short term, but a strategy to consider when 
operator shortages hopefully subside. 

  



DRAFT 

66 
 

 

10 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE INVESTMENTS IN SERVICE 

The short-range (5 year) service plan developed for MTD Moves Ahead is intended to gradually build back 
from the COVID-19-era service reductions and ridership losses, recognizing that while student ridership is 
a significant market for MTD, ridership on MTD’s core lines forms an important market that needs service 
not only at peak hours, but later in the day or during the midday. 

To continue to move further ahead a build a resilient transit network that more people can rely on every day 
for a variety of trips, MTD needs to continue to invest in service during off-peak times. Moreover, apart from 
regular, everyday routes, stakeholder engagement also revealed needs for other types of service, like 
potential areas for microtransit, and services to seasonal destinations. 

Nonetheless, at this time, MTD faces operator shortages and a constrained operating budget. The 
proposals below are meant to guide future investments in service, either during the timeframe of MTD 
Moves Ahead or later, all dependent on operator availability and fiscal realities. 

10.1 Building a Frequent Transit Network 

To improve mobility and grow ridership, many transit agencies nationwide are focusing beyond the 
traditional peak-hour market and recognizing the importance of transit not only for commuting to work or 
school or for transit-dependent riders. SEPTA in Philadelphia for example is planning on a ‘lifestyle transit 
network’ geared to providing ‘show up and go’ seamless rider experiences.15 

To build a lifestyle network, MTD needs to invest in service beyond the peak times of travel on weekdays; 
this is not to say that peak hour travel isn’t important, but rather that providing reliable and frequent bus 
service at other times of the day not only supports transit-dependent riders who travel outside of the 
traditional peak, but could also attract new riders for trips other than commuting to work. 

Indeed, community engagement during the pandemic (summer 2020) revealed that: 

• 63% of responding riders ride MTD because they don’t own a car 

• 42% of responding riders were essential workers 

• 50% of responding riders use transit for grocery shopping, and 40% for medical appointments 

These findings underlie the need to provide fast, frequent and reliable service for trips beyond the 9-to-5 
commute as essential workers are more likely to work non-traditional hours, and trip purposes like grocery 
shopping and medical appointments can happen throughout the day. Indeed, 56% of MTD bus riders 
responded that they use the bus for work trips, 51% also indicated that they use it for grocery shopping and 
banking, while 40% also use it for medical appointments/pharmacy16. Nationally, in 2021, about 50% of 
trips were for work purposes, and 37% were for shopping and recreational trips17. Interestingly, transit trip 
purposes vary by income group, with higher income groups using transit predominately for commuting, 
while lower income groups are more likely to use transit for all kinds of trip purposes18 (Figure 49). 

 

                                                      
 
15 https://planning.septa.org/vision-goals/goal-3/ 
16 Summer 2020 MTD survey. 
17 https://www.apta.com/wp-content/uploads/APTA-2021-Fact-Book.pdf  
18 TransitCenter, “Who’s On Board 2019”, https://transitcenter.org/publication/whos-on-board-2019/ 

https://www.apta.com/wp-content/uploads/APTA-2021-Fact-Book.pdf


Recommendations for Future Investments in Service 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 67 
 

Figure 49: Trip purposes by income category (Source: TransitCenter). 

 

Without frequent service, access to opportunities beyond work with transit can be a time-consuming ordeal 
that is inconvenient. As shown in Figure 50, a slight majority of bus riders (53%, red bar) prefer investing in 
off-peak service even if that means less peak service. 

Figure 50: Stakeholder preference for peaked vs. all-day service 

 

 

A lifestyle network is based on the premise a ‘frequent transit network’—that is, a set of lines that are the 
backbone of the network that are frequent throughout most of the day, both on weekdays and on weekends, 
that riders don’t need to consult a schedule. MTD’s Lines 1, 2, 6, and 11 are already the key routes with 



DRAFT 

68 
 

 

some of the most frequent service offered, particularly on weekdays; more frequent service on these lines 
on weekends would help establish a frequent transit network.  

The following set of proposed service improvements are geared toward building a frequent transit network 
after the short-range service plan is implemented: 

Table 18: MTD Moves Ahead future investment proposals 
Line Proposal 
1 and 2 15-minute service on weekdays for most of the day 
 20-minute service on weekends for most of the day 
 Longer service spans on weekends 
4 and 17 30-minute service on weekends for most of the day 
 Longer service span on Sundays 
6 and 11 10-minute combined service on weekdays for most of the day 
 15-minute combined service on weekends for most of the day 
 Longer service span on weekends 
20 30-minute service on weekends for most of the day 

MTD could also explore the branding and marketing of a frequent transit network. Several agencies have 
unique branding for frequent routes as shown in the images in below. The purpose here is to have a visually 
appealing and recognizable brand for the frequent network to potentially attract new riders and demonstrate 
the distinct value of these services.  

Figure 51: Examples of frequent network branding (left) and backgrounder from TransLink (right). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The images on the left show some examples of the branding of frequent routes from Cap Metro in Austin 
(left, top), TriMet in Portland, OR (left, middle), and the STM in Montreal, Quebec (left, bottom). In addition, 



Recommendations for Future Investments in Service 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 69 
 

TransLink in Vancouver, British Columbia publishes a fact sheet detailing the scope of the frequent transit 
network and its broader benefits (right in Figure 51). 

In addition to the branding and marketing of a frequent transit network to support a ‘lifestyle’ transit network, 
MTD could also consider redesigning its network maps to show the hierarchy of different service types by 
coloring and weighting route lines based on frequency. Instead of each route being a different color, each 
route type would be a different color or weight. Some examples are shown below (Santa Clara VTA, left, 
Seattle, right, Portland, bottom).  

Figure 52: Examples of network maps using distinct symbols for frequent routes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The main advantage of using line weights and colors to distinguish frequent routes from non-frequent routes 
is that riders can rapidly understand which routes are the most frequent, improving network legibility and 
trip planning. It can also reveal to broader audiences where transit is most frequent and thus most useful, 
informing land use planning and development. 



DRAFT 

70 
 

 

10.2 Capturing Different Markets 

MTD’s core riders are students and largely transit-dependent riders, as well as some riders who have 
vehicle access but choose to ride MTD for certain trips or certain reasons, like reducing their carbon footprint 
and preferring a car-light lifestyle. 

To attract other market segments, MTD is already preparing to launch the new microtransit service that 
could entice some non-riders to try the Wave and fixed-route service. Moreover, the top reason from the 
survey in fall 2021 that non-riders don’t use transit is that bus trips are too long—MTD Moves Ahead 
provides recommendations and strategies for transit priority measures that can speed up buses, hopefully 
attracting more ridership. 

Based on stakeholder feedback and customer engagement, some potential strategies for additional 
services include: 

• Implementing microtransit along the waterfront area of Santa Barbara. MTD has already 
explored this concept and conducted analysis for ridership potential and service planning. While a 
walkable area that has been served by the Waterfront Shuttle, there are opportunities to capture 
some trips that may be too long to walk, potentially at times of the day when the circulator is 
operating at a lower frequency. Connecting to the Amtrak station is also another potential draw for 
riders. 

• Increasing the frequency on the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator. Related to the point above, 
downtown and the waterfront area are highly walkable and have many destinations and trip 
generators. Nevertheless, some trips may be too long to walk for various reasons for different 
people and a frequent service would be useful for these trips. Frequency is key here because some 
walking trips may be shorter than the wait time for the bus. MTD is currently exploring partnerships 
to restore the Downtown and Waterfront shuttles as the newly proposed Circulator concept in MTD 
Moves Ahead. As funding becomes available, MTD will explore ways to boost service levels on this 
important route for both tourists and locals. 

• Pilot seasonal services. The South Coast is the American Riviera and experiences substantial 
tourism and seasonal activities during the summer months. With so much to do and so many people 
in a constrained area, traffic and parking challenges are significant. MTD could explore seasonal 
services such as transit to trailheads (either a seasonal line or a Wave location) for hiking, a line 
geared to connecting museums, the Mission, the Botanical Gardens and other cultural destinations. 

Overall, the proposals described above are meant to guide MTD for future planning efforts, particularly 
during the upcoming strategic planning cycle.  

  



Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 71 
 

11 TRANSIT PRIORITY MEASURES – SPEEDING UP BUSES 

11.1 Why Transit Priority Measures? 

Transit priority measures are a collection of tools, policies, and treatments that can be applied to help speed 
up buses and reduce transit delay, and ultimately, make the bus a more attractive and competitive option 
compared to private vehicle use. Transit priority measures aim to improve the attractiveness of transit, 
decrease travel times for bus riders, and improve reliability without infringing on pedestrian, cyclists, and 
other street users.  

Different transit priority measures vary in the level of effort required to deploy them and to what degree they 
can alter the current street layout. Transit priority measures are a powerful way to move more people more 
efficiently, as buses have the capacity to carry many more people through a corridor compared to 
automobiles. As buses typically share the street with other forms of transportation and operate in mixed 
traffic, employing transit priority measures can improve both bus reliability and travel time.  

Transit priority measures are becoming more common throughout the United States, and public support for 
transit priority measures is growing, with municipalities becoming more willing to partner with transit 
agencies to deploy different transit priority measures, as they see the benefits of prioritizing transit to create 
more sustainable and resilient communities19.  

Within the South Coast, support for transit priority measures is strong among current MTD riders and the 
community at large, with 81% of riders and 78% of all survey respondents stating that they would be 
much more likely or somewhat more likely to ride if bus queue jumps and bus only lanes were 
implemented, and 83% of riders and 80% of all survey respondents would be much more likely or 
somewhat more likely to ride is transit signal priority were implemented (Figure 54). Some example 
comments from the survey in support of transit priority measures are shown in Figure 53. 

Figure 53: Transit priority measure survey comments 

 

                                                      
 
19 https://transitcenter.org/event/bus-lanes-are-essential-speeding-transit-during-covid/, https://transitcenter.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/05/Collaboration.pdf  

https://transitcenter.org/event/bus-lanes-are-essential-speeding-transit-during-covid/
https://transitcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Collaboration.pdf
https://transitcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Collaboration.pdf


DRAFT 

72 
 

 

Figure 54: South Coast support for transit priority measures 

 

 

MTD has been working hard to improve the reliability and on-time performance (OTP) of its system since it 
acquired CAD/AVL technology in 2016. CAD/AVL has allowed MTD to track line-level OTP and make 
targeted adjustments to schedules to improve OTP, and currently, systemwide OTP consistently meets and 
exceeds the Title VI policy of 80% on time. MTD has also employed other strategies to speed up buses, 
such as bus stop balancing along certain lines.  

While MTD has been working to improve OTP, reliability, schedule adherence, and bus speeds over time, 
MTD is limited in what it can do with vehicles operating in mixed traffic. Traffic and congestion are at times 
unpredictable and negatively impact MTD operations—eroding not only punctuality of service, but service 
consistency too. Figure 55 shows the median trip speeds by hour of day across all routes from a sample 
day of June 1, 2022 from the California Integrated Travel Project (Cal-ITP) created and managed by 
Caltrans using agency GTFS-real-time (GTFS-RT) data20.  

                                                      
 
20 https://analysis.calitp.org/rt/district_05-san-luis-obispo/0__speedmaps__district_05-san-luis-
obispo__itp_id_293.html  

52%

56%

26%

25%

18%

16%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

All Responses

Bus Riders

Percentage

Survey Response: bus queue jumps & bus only lanes

Much more likely Somewhat more likely Wouldn't change Somewhat less likely Much less likely

56%

59%

24%

24%

17%

15%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

All Responses

Bus Riders

Percentage

Survey Response: Transit Signal Priority

Much more likely Somewhat more likely Wouldn't change Somewhat less likely Much less likely

https://analysis.calitp.org/rt/district_05-san-luis-obispo/0__speedmaps__district_05-san-luis-obispo__itp_id_293.html
https://analysis.calitp.org/rt/district_05-san-luis-obispo/0__speedmaps__district_05-san-luis-obispo__itp_id_293.html


Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 73 
 

Figure 55: Median trip speed by hour of day (Cal-ITP) 

 

Figure 55 shows that the median MTD trip speed varied between 9 mph and 13 mph. Somewhat low speeds 
are to be expected when buses are stopping regularly to pick up and drop off passengers, but low speeds 
(especially compared to speeds which private vehicles are traveling at) can be a deterrent to using the 
system. MTD has employed various strategies and made a proactive effort to improve OTP, reliability, and 
bus speeds on their own, but to speed up buses and enhance reliability and OTP further, MTD needs to 
look outside its own organization to create partnerships to enable transit priority measures that can make 
MTD more competitive and a more attractive option, and foster regional goals of creating more sustainable 
and equitable communities.  

11.2 Transit Priority Potentials 

Three different transit priority potentials are explored for application in MTD’s system as a part of MTD 
Moves Ahead: transit signal priority (TSP), bus queue jumps, and bus only lanes. Each are summarized in 
Table 19. The effectiveness of the different transit priority measures are often amplified when implemented 
together with other strategies. For example, run times can be reduced even further is TSP is implemented 
in conjunction with dedicated bus lanes and bus queue jumps, and so forth. Increasing the average speed 
of bus trips means that customers are able to travel and connect to more places and in less time, and that 
MTD could potentially reduce the number of buses dedicated to a route while maintaining service levels.  



DRAFT 

74 
 

 

Table 19: Transit priority measures overview 

Project Concept Example21 

Transit 
signal 
priority 

Extend the green signal so an approaching 
bus can make it through the intersection. 

Provide a signal for buses only at key 
intersections to provide buses the right of 
way before general traffic.  

 

Bus 
queue 
jumps 

Combine short dedicated transit facilities with 
either a leading bus interval or active signal 
priority to allow buses to easily enter traffic 
flow in a priority position. Comparable to a 
bike box treatment, but for buses. 

Can considerably reduce delay and result in 
run-time savings and improved reliability.  

 

                                                      
 
21 NACTO Transit Street Design Guide 



Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 75 
 

Project Concept Example21 

Bus 
only 
lanes 

Only buses (or bikes, if low bus frequency) 
are permitted. 

Speeds up buses and improves journey time 
consistency. 

 

Lessons learned from pilots and deployments of different transit priority measures have taught us that 
transit priority projects need to be implemented correctly, carefully, and strategically to be successful. Later 
in this section, some of the most important concerns regarding transit priority measures are explored, such 
as community and stakeholder buy-in and support and safety. Because cycling is an intrinsic aspect of 
South Coast culture, ensuring safety between modes when transit priority projects are implemented is 
critical.  

11.2.1 Transit Signal Priority 

TSP uses signal technology to provide an advantage to buses at signalized intersections. It can be used to 
provide buses with a head start at queue jump locations, as well as adjust traffic signal phasing to provide 
additional green light time for approaching buses so they can make it through the intersection. With TSP, 
traffic signal timing is altered dynamically in response to a request from a bus to reduce bus delay at 
intersections.  

With TSP, travel time savings of between five and 15 seconds per intersection are possible, though 
effectiveness varies dependent on the characteristics of the specific intersection. According to the 
Government of the District of Columbia, a TSP pilot along 16th St. has seen corridor-specific run-time 
savings of up to 5% along the entire corridor and benefits of up to 10% to 15% along shorter segments of 
the corridor. The report further states a peer review reported time savings of between 2% and 18%22. The 
City of San Jose saw a 22% reduction in trip time using cloud-based TSP software23 

NACTO reports TSP applications in Minneapolis have resulted in reduced peak hour bus trip times of 
between 4% and 15%, and applications in Los Angeles, Portland, and Seattle have seen travel time 
reductions between 8% and 10%24. Los Angeles County initiated a Countywide Signal Priority (CSP) 
program in 2017 as a partnership between LA Metro, Los Angeles County, Caltrans, and six municipal bus 
operators to enable TSP at intersections in nearly one third of the County’s 89 jurisdictions25.  

                                                      
 
22 https://ddot.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/ddot/page_content/attachments/DDOT%20Bus%20Priority%20Toolbox.pdf  
23 https://www.sacog.org/sites/main/files/file-
attachments/lyt.speed_scalable_intelligent_transit_signal_priority.pdf?1591998525  
24 https://nacto.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/1-4_Park-Hu-Transit-Signal-Priority-with-Connected-Vehicle-Technology_2014.pdf  
25 https://laconnect-it.com/countywide-bus-signal-priority-csp-bus-rapid-transit-brt-program/  

https://ddot.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/ddot/page_content/attachments/DDOT%20Bus%20Priority%20Toolbox.pdf
https://www.sacog.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/lyt.speed_scalable_intelligent_transit_signal_priority.pdf?1591998525
https://www.sacog.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/lyt.speed_scalable_intelligent_transit_signal_priority.pdf?1591998525
https://nacto.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/1-4_Park-Hu-Transit-Signal-Priority-with-Connected-Vehicle-Technology_2014.pdf
https://laconnect-it.com/countywide-bus-signal-priority-csp-bus-rapid-transit-brt-program/


DRAFT 

76 
 

 

Figure 56: TSP architecture examples in Washington, D.C. (left) and Los Angeles County (right) 

  

TSP is most effective along corridors with relatively long signal cycles or relatively long distances between 
signals. TSP is also very beneficial at intersections that routinely see long queues or applied to commonly 
delayed lines. Far-side stops can further maximize TSP efficiency since arrival time can be more accurately 
predicted than dwell time. Where routes turn, TSP can extend the turn phase time to allow for additional 
time for the bus to turn through the intersection. TSP may increase waiting times on cross streets, which is 
especially important to consider when lines intersect.  

One of the main benefits of TSP is that it can be implemented with virtually no changes to the street design. 
Whereas bus only lanes and queue jumps require physical changes to the street, TSP can be implemented 
without these disruptions which can help it be implemented quickly and efficiently. TSP technology has 
improved over time. Now, TSP is available as a cloud-based software platform that uses connected vehicle 
and machine learning technologies to prioritize the flow of vehicles in a city through an intersection or across 
a corridor to help improve reliability and decrease overall travel time26.  

MTD recently received TIRCP grant funding for TSP software, to be piloted throughout the City of Santa 
Barbara. This required close collaboration with city departments such as Public Works to ensure that signals 
within the city will be capable of hosting the TSP technology. MTD should continue to work with the other 
jurisdictions it serves to expand TSP beyond Santa Barbara, to ultimately rollout TSP across the entire 
service area.  

For example, MTD is working with the City of Goleta to understand challenges and opportunities related to 
TSP integration at traffic signals across the city, as Goleta sees a large number of high-frequency Lines 
such as Lines 6 and 11 that could see further benefits to travel times and reliability if TSP was also in place 
in Goleta. Goleta has a very outdated traffic signal system, that today is not interconnected and able to talk 
to a cloud-based TSP system. The differences in signal architecture and hardware across the multiple 
jurisdictions served by will be a challenge that requires consistent engagement with partners and leadership 
from MTD. 

11.2.2 Bus Queue Jumps 

Queue jumps, or queue jump lanes, allow buses to bypass queued traffic enabling them to move to the 
front of the Line and gain an advantage at signalized intersections. This application has obvious benefits 
when applied in conjunction with TSP. When approaching an intersection, the bus exits the queue of 

                                                      
 
26 Home - LYT  

https://lyt.ai/


Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 77 
 

vehicles and enters the queue jump lane. The bus can then use TSP to get a head start through the 
intersection and merge into the lane of general traffic (Figure 57). 

Figure 57: Bus queue jump with TSP27 

 

Queue jumps provide an opportunity for buses to moved ahead of queued vehicles at a traffic signal, 
resulting in bus travel time savings by reducing delay due to traffic congestion. The Government of the 
District of Columbia reports delay reductions between 2% and 7%, and the implementation of queue jumps 
in conjunction with TSP in West Valley City, UT found bus travel time reductions between 13% and 22%. 

As previously stated, travel time savings from queue 
jumps can be significantly enhanced when they are 
implemented in conjunction with TSP. Queue jumps 
are most suited to signalized corridors with high transit 
volume and low right turn volumes at the 
intersections. Intersections with high volumes of right 
turns may require right turn restrictions during peak 
hours or right turns can be accommodated separately 
from the queue jump in a turn pocket. Another option 
is to develop it as a shared right-turn/queue jump, 
where a protected right-turn signal can be used with a 
sign indicating a right turn signal with an exception for 
buses.  

Queue jumps can be applied at near-side, far-side, or non-stop configurations. At near-side pull-outs, the 
bus will complete passenger loading before proceeding into the queue jump.  

Queue jumps will also require a high degree of collaboration with the relevant municipalities to ensure the 
design of the queue jump is correct for that specific intersection, and to understand if TSP can work in 
conjunction with the queue jump.  

                                                      
 
27 Ontario Ministry of Transportation, Transit Supportive Guidelines 



DRAFT 

78 
 

 

11.2.3 Bus Only Lanes 

Bus only lanes are lanes operating in mixed traffic that are for the use of transit only, allowing buses to 
bypass queues over longer distances. Bus only lanes use signage and pavement markings to restrict other 
vehicles from using the space and typically also allow paratransit and emergency response vehicles to use 
the space. Similar to queue jumps, bus only lanes can be used in conjunction with TSP to improve flow 
through the signalized intersections along a corridor.  

Bus only lanes can take on a number of different configurations, including curbside bus lanes, center-
running bus lanes, offset bus lanes, or peak-only bus lanes. Offset bus lanes, which are typically located in 
the lane to the left of the curb lane, which allows for dedicated spaces for buses while providing access to 
the curb for loading or parking. These also reduce the delay from right-turning vehicles at signalized 
intersections compared to curbside bus lanes, where right turns from other vehicles are typically allowed 
(Figure 58).  

Figure 58: Different configurations of bus only lanes28 

  

 
 

Dedicated bus lanes provide the most significant benefits to bus travel times and reliability. The Government 
of the District of Columbia reports that travel time savings of between 10% and 15% in areas of high traffic 
congestion and savings of up to 5% in areas of low congestion for curbside bus lanes, and travel time 
savings of between 15% and 25% in areas of high congestion and savings of up to 5% in areas of low 

                                                      
 
28 NACTO Transit Street Design Guide 

Curbside 

Offset Peak-only 

Center-running 



Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 79 
 

congestion for offset bus lanes. Their peer review also reports variable travel time savings of between 15% 
and 50% from applications in New York and Los Angeles29.  

A case study from the pilot of peak-only bus lanes along Flower St. through Downtown Los Angeles showed 
an average travel time savings of 30%, or two minutes, compared to the baseline conditions. Hourly bus 
throughput through the corridor increased from 53 buses per hour to 80 buses per hour during the pilot 
phase, which increased the person-throughput by 37%. A daily average of 10,000 riders used the lane 
during each peak period. Further, a survey of riders utilizing the lane reported that 75% of riders believe 
the lane resulted in improved travel time and reliability, and bus operator support for the bus only lane was 
also high30.  

Bus only lanes are most suitable for corridors with frequent transit service and heavy traffic congestion that 
causes slow bus speeds and reliability issues. For all configurations, enough lanes must exist to maintain 
at least one lane for other vehicle traffic.  

Curbside configurations are most suited for corridors with no curbside parking or where the removal of 
curbside parking is acceptable, on streets with in-lane sidewalk stops, on streets with intersections with low 
right-turn activity, and on streets with wide sidewalks that allow for ample space for both bus shelters and 
pedestrian activity. Special attention should be given to right turns from streets with curbside bus only lanes. 
Curbside lanes also require enforcement as illegal parking by delivery trucks, taxis, TNCs, and others can 
be common. 

Offset bus lanes are most suited to corridors where maintaining curbside parking is important, and there is 
sufficient space for the installation of bus boarding bulbs. Offset bus lanes can also more easily 
accommodate dedicated bike lanes between the bus lane and the sidewalk or curbside parking area. Offset 
lanes work well along corridors with retail, where maintaining on-street parking for retail is important. Lane 
enforcement is also critical to ensure that the lane is not used for double-parking purposes.  

Center-running bus lanes are typically used on major routes with frequent headways, where traffic 
congestion may significantly affect reliability and travel times. A major benefit of center-running lanes is that 
they can reduce conflicts with parked vehicles and curbside bike lanes. Center-running bus lanes are most 
typically seen with BRT-style services or higher-order transit such as streetcars or light rail. These represent 
the largest investment and most significant change to the current street layout, as they require the most 
space for stops since boarding islands must be placed in the street (example in Figure 59). This also 
presents the largest capital cost to install new boarding islands along the corridor.  

                                                      
 
29 https://ddot.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/ddot/page_content/attachments/DDOT%20Bus%20Priority%20Toolbox.pdf  
30 https://www.enotrans.org/eno-resources/a-budding-model-los-angeless-flower-street-bus-lane/  

https://ddot.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/ddot/page_content/attachments/DDOT%20Bus%20Priority%20Toolbox.pdf
https://www.enotrans.org/eno-resources/a-budding-model-los-angeless-flower-street-bus-lane/


DRAFT 

80 
 

 

Figure 59: In-street boarding island (WMATA, Washington, D.C.) 

 

Peak-only bus lanes allow transit to take precedence over parking and curbside access at peak hours when 
it can most benefit transit operations and when conditions are most congested, and permitting mixed traffic 
or curbside parking at other times. Peak-only bus lanes work well on streets with predictable bus delay due 
to peak-hour vehicle traffic, and corridors with high peak-period bus frequencies and generally high traffic. 
These work well along corridors where bus travel times generally only significantly suffer during predictable, 
peak periods, or where slower off-peak travel times are acceptable. They also provide an opportunity to 
pilot the lane as bus-only during peak hours and later transition to a fully-dedicated bus lane at all times.  

With all bus lane configurations, red-colored pavement is not only helpful in providing clear communication 
to other vehicles on the road, but also helps to improve compliance to help deter vehicles from illegally 
driving and parking in bus lanes. For example, after red paint was implemented in bus only lanes in San 
Francisco, the SFMTA reported that violations per hour decreased by approximately half when compared 
to bus lanes without red paint. As a marketing tool, red paint and dedicated bus lanes can also help raise 
the visibility of high-quality transit services within a community, much like green bike lanes denote high-
quality bike infrastructure.  

Within the South Coast, bus only lanes will have the biggest impact along corridors that have multiple high-
frequency and high-ridership lines and that currently see low bus speeds. The section of El Colegio Rd. in 
Isla Vista between Storke Rd. and UCSB is a good candidate because: 

• The corridor is transit-rich: Lines 11, 15x, 24x, 27, and 28 operate along this corridor. These lines 
are important both for the mobility of students and the community at large. 

• The corridor suffers from slow bus speeds that can affect on-time performance and reliability. 
According to the Cal-ITP created and managed by Caltrans using agency GTFS-real-time (GTFS-
RT) data, this corridor experiences bus speeds that are slow in comparison to the service area 
consistently during the morning peak, midday, and afternoon peak (Figure 60), operating in the 



Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 81 
 

range of 8-12 mph. The project cites Line 28 as one of the slowest lines in the system according to 
median trip speed, where it experiences a median trip speed of 7.4 mph during the midday period31. 

• The corridor does not have on-street parking. 

Figure 60: Morning peak bus speeds along El Colegio (Cal-ITP) 

 

• The corridor has sufficient lanes to provide space for all modes of travel. Some roads in the South 
Coast are constrained and do not have enough lanes to accommodate lanes for both bus and 
private vehicle travel. Constrained space also raises potential issues with providing enough space 
for active transportation, specifically cyclists.  

 

                                                      
 
31 https://analysis.calitp.org/rt/district_05-san-luis-obispo/0__speedmaps__district_05-san-luis-obispo__itp_id_293.html  

https://analysis.calitp.org/rt/district_05-san-luis-obispo/0__speedmaps__district_05-san-luis-obispo__itp_id_293.html


DRAFT 

82 
 

 

A concept of what bus only lanes along El Colegio could look like is shown in Figure 61. This configuration 
utilizes curbside bus lanes that are physically separated from bike lanes and one lane for general traffic. 

Figure 61: Concept bus-only lane street configuration on El Colegio Rd. 

 

Portions of the State St./Hollister corridor between Santa Barbara and Goleta also experience very slow 
bus speeds and would be a good candidate for bus only lanes. This corridor could also greatly benefit from 
a combination of transit priority measures working together. 

11.3 Pilot 

MTD should develop more detailed plans regarding which transit priority measures and in what areas of 
the South Coast that should be moved ahead. Once this has been determined, MTD should identify the 
relevant stakeholders and develop a community and stakeholder engagement plan (best practices and 
strategies regarding community and stakeholder engagement are detailed in Section 11.4). For example, 
relevant business improvement districts, municipal departments, neighborhood councils, elected officials 
and Board members, and other local community organizations that can either help support the project or 
may be affected by the project should be identified for stakeholder outreach. Opposition to losing parking 
spaces and lanes for general traffic are common themes that emerge; it’s important for MTD and bus riders 
to communicate that transit riders are not only customers, but employees too. Developing a clear timeline 
for outreach so that every step from planning to pilot is outlined is also important so that the actual pilot 
does not take anyone by surprise is also important. Understanding and accounting for potential risks 
throughout the project process is also important. 

MTD can identify grants or other potential funding sources for the project, depending on the scale and 
scope of the project. If the intent is to start small with a “tactical transit” project with minimal permanent 



Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 83 
 

changes to the street infrastructure (for example, laying out traffic cones and providing traffic enforcement 
and signage, as seen in Figure 62), costs will be minimal and the timeline for implementation will be quick. 
If the intent is to begin with a tactical transit-style project during the pilot phase as a proof of concept, and 
then transition to a more permanent solution with red paint, permanent street changes and signage, etc., 
this allows time to apply for grants for aspects of the project that will be more expensive and will be 
implemented in the longer term32.  

Figure 62: Tactical transit application in Arlington, MA 

 

Prior to the pilot, it is also important to specify performance measures to measure success. Collecting data 
can also be helpful in presenting the positive outcomes of the pilot to the community to generate more 
support for more projects of this kind, as well as informing adjustments that may be needed. 

Performance measures should be compared to baseline or pre-implementation conditions and can include 
factors such as on-time performance, transit ridership, bus throughput, person throughput, bus travel times, 
and more33. An example monthly report of KPIs from Move Culver City is presented in Figure 63. Culver 
City publishes monthly public online KPI reports. MTD could replicate this and publish monthly KPIs to 
report at monthly Board meetings and also publish online as part of their Monthly Ridership Reports.  

                                                      
 
32 https://transitcenter.org/why-tactical-transit-is-the-next-big-thing/  
33 The TTC in Toronto created transit-only lanes on King St. in downtown Toronto. Working with the City of Toronto, the TTC tracked 
several non-transit measures including car travel times, and customer spending at nearby businesses to help address concerns that 
removing parking and general traffic would decimate business. More information here: https://www.toronto.ca/wp-
content/uploads/2019/04/8fb5-TS_King-Street-Annual-Dashboard_Final.pdf 

https://transitcenter.org/why-tactical-transit-is-the-next-big-thing/


DRAFT 

84 
 

 

Figure 63: Move Culver City monthly KPI report34 

 

During the pilot phase of the project, MTD should track performance and collect data, and continue to 
conduct community outreach. After the pilot has been in operation, MTD can also survey the public and 
riders to collect additional feedback. Interestingly, perceived time savings are often higher than actual time 
savings, as was the case for the LA Metro Flower St. bus lane pilot, where the majority of riders reported 
perceived time savings that were higher than actual time savings.  

A summary of the stages and key steps for MTD’s implementation of bus only lanes is presented in Figure 
64. 

                                                      
 
34 https://www.dropbox.com/s/dwhy1hoe77iv6d9/June%202022%20KPI%20Public%20Report_7.25.2022.pdf?dl=0  

https://www.dropbox.com/s/dwhy1hoe77iv6d9/June%202022%20KPI%20Public%20Report_7.25.2022.pdf?dl=0


Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 85 
 

Figure 64: Key next steps for bus only lanes 

 

11.4 Community and Stakeholder Engagement 

Community and stakeholder engagement, support, and buy-in are critical components of successful transit 
priority measure implementation projects, especially for higher-profile measures like bus only lanes. For 
these projects to be successful, close coordination with relevant municipal departments (such as city and 
county DOTs, public works, and planning departments) is required. In order to work effectively with these 
departments, MTD must identify with specificity: 

• Where buses need help to get through traffic 

• How municipalities can help 

• What service improvements could be made with that help 

It is also important that a common goal and vision among leadership is established. Agreement should be 
formed among leaders at the transit agency and municipal departments that buses need priority on the 
street and collaboration is required to make that happen. Another key to success is gaining support from 
community leaders (such as elected officials or Board members) who can defend potentially controversial 
changes or proposals (such as projects that include the removal of on-street parking). Finally, transit 
agencies can be opportunistic and identify ways that transit priority projects can be inserted into other 
projects that the city might be undergoing35. 

Community support and buy-in is immensely important for the success of transit priority projects. According 
to the successful pilot project of LA Metro’s Flower St. bus only lanes, this can be achieved through constant 
and clear communication and building support at every level. Support should be built in layers beginning 
                                                      
 
35 https://transitcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Collaboration.pdf  

Pilot

• Plan for tactical pilot on El Colegio as part of Isla Vista STEP mobility plan process
• Engage with stakeholders
• Measure performance; demonstrate benefit

Engage

• Launch a transit priority projects study
• Define goals and success
• Engage riders, non-riders, jurisdictions, business
• Consider safety for all road users, esp. cyclists and peds

Deploy

• Implement
• Enforcement
• Education
• Measure
• Success
• Adjust with feedback

https://transitcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Collaboration.pdf


DRAFT 

86 
 

 

internally within the transit agency, and then support from important community stakeholders including 
Board members, relevant elected officials, neighborhood councils, business improvement districts, and 
others. Educating these stakeholders on the quantitative and qualitative benefits of different transit priority 
projects and what the specific benefits to the community will be can help to build support from stakeholders. 
Door-to-door outreach to local businesses and residents throughout the corridor to listen to concerns and 
other feedback is instrumental in this approach. 

It is also important that outreach is robust and is completed in many different forms, including online, via 
social media, word of mouth, and through local partners and stakeholders. If the project will remove on-
street parking, it is also recommended to distribute paper flyers on the cars parked in the corridor. It is also 
recommended to anticipate where any community resistance will come from so that the agency can 
proactively address them. For the case of LA Metro, they anticipated that perceived parking impacts would 
be the largest community concern and source of resistance, so they were able to proactively address these 
concerns and were prepared when talking to the community.  

Outreach should be conducted throughout every step of the project process, and it is also important to 
consider the whole project timeline when completing outreach. Ensuring that the community has ample 
notice and time to prepare before the pilot begins or before the project is implemented is important both for 
community support and for compliance with the project from the local community, as is clear signage 
alerting drivers to any changes in the corridor they should be aware of (for example, local residents will 
know when the project has been implemented so that they do not park illegally, etc.)36.  

11.5 Safety Considerations 

Providing safe and reliable mobility options for all users of the street is one of the main goals of transit 
priority measures. The design and configuration of measures that change the street layout should pay 
careful attention to ensuring the safety of each mode. Transit priority projects such as bus only lanes also 
present an opportunity to reconfigure the street to be safer for all users, such as by installing protected bike 
lanes at the same time as transitioning a lane to a bus only lane.  

Corridors with bus only lanes and bike lanes can be designed differently: physical barriers can separate the 
bus and bike lanes, they can run adjacent to one another, or, in instances of constrained space, there can 
be a combined bus and bike lane. Figure 65 shows examples of some of these in Culver City, California. 
Within shared bus-bike lanes, buses are discouraged from passing and cyclists must pass only at stops. 

                                                      
 
36 https://www.enotrans.org/eno-resources/a-budding-model-los-angeless-flower-street-bus-lane/  

https://www.enotrans.org/eno-resources/a-budding-model-los-angeless-flower-street-bus-lane/


Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 87 
 

Figure 65: Separate bus and bike lanes (left) and combined bus and bike lane (right) in Culver City, California 

  

When there is a combined bus and bike lane, clear signage is vital. Further, when separated bus and bike 
lanes converge into a combined bus and bike lane, signage is necessary to communicate this change to 
the road users (Figure 66).  



DRAFT 

88 
 

 

Figure 66: Signage and wayfinding examples from Culver City, California 

  

When a bike lane is adjacent to the curb, bus platforms must be places carefully to minimize potential 
conflicts between cyclists and those boarding or alighting at the stop. Figure 67 shows a bike lane running 
through a bus platform in Culver City, where the bike lane is adjacent to the curb and separated from the 
bus only lane.  



Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 89 
 

Figure 67: Bus platform through bike lane in Culver City, California 

 

Enforcement within the corridor and making sure that all road users are using the road correctly is also vital 
to safety and the effectives of the priority treatment; illegal parking in bus or bike lanes, double parking in 
bus or bike lanes, or other issues create safety concerns and minimize the benefits to bus riders. LA Metro’s 
Flower St bus lane project worked closely with law enforcement to utilize a “proactive enforcement 
approach” with the overall goal of making sure buses flow efficiently and clearing obstructions from the bus 
lane as quickly as possible. During the pilot phase, law enforcement was always present. Further, law 
enforcement did not issue any citations for the first few weeks of the pilot, which were dedicated to educating 
roadway users on the new restrictions. Even after this phase, verbal warnings were still the most common 
law enforcement strategy37. 

While this approach can be expensive, it is 
very effective. Other, less costly enforcement 
strategies include automated bus lane 
enforcement (ABLE), where front facing 
cameras are put on buses that use automated 
license plate reader (ALPR) technology to 
identify vehicles parked or sitting in bus lanes 
and take clear photos of the license plate, 
which allows law enforcement agencies to 
send a civil citation to the owner of the 
vehicle. AB 917 state legislation to allow this 
enforcement was passed in late 2021 and 

went into effect January 1, 202238. 

Overall, the most important safety considerations when implementing transit priority measures include 
careful design, clear signage and wayfinding, continuing education, and enforcement.  

                                                      
 
37 https://www.enotrans.org/eno-resources/a-budding-model-los-angeless-flower-street-bus-lane/ 
38 https://insights.conduent.com/insights-for-government-agencies/legislation-paves-the-way-for-bus-lane-enforcement-in-california  

https://www.enotrans.org/eno-resources/a-budding-model-los-angeless-flower-street-bus-lane/
https://insights.conduent.com/insights-for-government-agencies/legislation-paves-the-way-for-bus-lane-enforcement-in-california


DRAFT 

90 
 

 

12 SUPPORTING RECOMMENDATIONS 

The service proposals and transit priority strategies described previously are one part of the MTD Moves 
Ahead plan. The supporting recommendations described in the following sections will continue to push 
MTD forward to meetings its mission of safe, reliable, and comfortable mobility. Supporting 
recommendations have been grouped based on the goals established in Section 4. 

12.1 Future-Focused 

MTD has consistently been a forward-looking transit agency and remains focused on technology and 
service improvements that benefit their customers. These supporting recommendations focus on 
systemwide improvements that continue to position MTD at the forefront of transit agencies.  

12.1.1 Open Payment System 

Recently, MTD launched a pilot of open loop 
contactless payment (Figure 69) on 18 buses, mostly 
operating on Lines 12x, 15x, 16 and 24x. This 
demonstration is in partnership with the Cal-ITP and 
MTD is only the third transit agency in the state to 
launch this payment type. When boarding a bus on 
these lines, riders can tap a contactless-enabled 
credit, debit, or prepaid card or mobile smart device on 
the payment reader to pay the standard adult fare. 
During this phase, riders will still need to ask the bus 
operator for a paper transfer ticket if they wish to 
transfer. 

As a recent recipient of the CalSTA-TDA TIRCP grant 
for their Next Wave project, MTD is well positioned to 
deploy contactless payments across its system. 
Through smart ticketing and fare-capping, contactless 
fare collection will enable MTD to attract a broader 
ridership audience, including locals and tourists alike 
to easily access transit services without the anxiety of 
navigating an unknown fare system. Furthermore, by 
promoting non-cash payments, dwell times can be 
reduced while speeding up bus journeys.  

12.1.2 Community Partnerships 

The Santa Barbara Area is a major tourist destination with a vibrant community that values transit and the 
environment. MTD should continue building partnerships that integrate the values of transit with the 
economic potential of effective transportation throughout the community.  

Strong partnerships are often a two-way street and transit is no exception. Downtown and waterfront 
businesses benefit from MTD services, depending on the facilitated movement of tourists from ports into 
and around the downtown and waterfront areas. The Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle was overwhelmingly 
supported by survey respondents with 88% indicating it would positively influence their use of transit.  

Figure 68: Cal-ITP approved payment reader 



Supporting Recommendations 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 91 
 

“I cannot say enough how enthusiastic I would be about the Downtown waterfront route, it 
would be a highly utilized route on the weekends.” – MTD Moves Ahead Survey 
Respondent 

As MTD continues to look for funding to operate the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle, partnerships with the 
Chamber of Commerce or Visit Santa Barbara may present opportunities to fund this community supported 
service. These partnerships also offer the potential of cobranding and associated advertising opportunities. 
Business can benefit from access via transit while reminding customers that MTD is a cheap and easy way 
to travel to and from their business, reducing both traffic and parking challenges. 

In addition to associated marketing, MTD could expand its Pacific Surfliner’s Transit Transfers Program39 
to more organizations or experiences within the South Coast—bundling transit tickets with entrance fees 
could be a winning combination to mitigate traffic and parking issues, while increasing ridership. Using a 
similar approach to the Surfliner transfer program, MTD could explore working with cultural destinations 
(Santa Barbara Zoo, Santa Barbara Museum of Art, etc.) as an alternative that focuses on local residents 
who might opt to take transit for a trip usually taken by car.  

Cultural destinations like the Santa Barbara Bowl present opportunities to boost off-peak and weekend 
ridership through partnerships with events to provide free transit. Relationships can be built at the venue 
level, Santa Barbara Bowl Foundations, so patrons know they can depend on MTD to get them to and from 
the venue or at the business level, Goldenvoice, to ensure advertising materials and event details include 
considerations for MTD. 

The associated marketing strategy could outline different business groups who could partner with MTD for 
promotions and discounts, as well as potential bulk purchases of commuter bus passes. Here is an example 
of a creative cooperative marketing relationship between Famima, a bakery, and LADOT transit service in 
Los Angeles (Figure 69).  

Figure 69: Cross-promotion of transit use and retailers 

  

In this example in Figure 69, customers are given a discount at the bakery for showing their monthly transit 
pass, can purchase transit fare media at the store, and are shown on a map how to get to the business 
using the transit routes that serve the location. A similar approach could be used throughout the South 

                                                      
 
39 Riders with a valid Amtrack ticket can ride MTD buses free for the day, facilitating train to bus transfers and encouraging transit 
use. 



DRAFT 

92 
 

 

Coast to partner with local businesses served by transit, which would be mutually beneficial both to transit 
and the business.  

Access to trailheads via MTD was brought up by community members throughout the engagement process. 
These are often destinations that are hard to serve with transit because of their isolated nature. MTD could 
consider partnering with the Parks and Recreation Department or SB County Community Services 
Department to provide seasonal bus service to popular trailheads. Another possible way to serve these 
locations could be through microtransit.  

“I would like to see a route added that would provide service to the various trailheads 
(Tunnel Trail, Cold Springs, etc) from somewhere common in downtown.” – MTD Moves 
Ahead Survey Respondent 

Community partnership takes many forms, but a current example can be seen in MTD’s involvement with 
the Isla Vista Community Services District (IVCSD), the local government of Isla Vista. IVCSD received 
funding through the California Air Resources Board (CARB), in the form of a Sustainable Transportation 
Equity Project (STEP) Planning and Capacity Building Grant for their Isla Vista Community Mobility Plan.  

Through partnering with IVCSD, MTD is helping to facilitate community engagement with active 
transportation at a grassroots level. Building support for a plan that addresses community mobility raises 
MTD’s profile within the community while taking strides towards ensuring equitable access to transit, and 
improving transit. Importantly, this partnership and a common vision for enhanced mobility between MTD 
and IVCSD can help reduce barriers to moving forward with transformative transit priority measures in Isla 
Vista.  

12.1.3 Enhance Operations and Network Connectivity 

The recently funded Next Wave project provides funds for facility improvements at two terminals. The 
reactivation of Terminal 2 in Goleta presents an opportunity for MTD to better manage and store their fleet. 
The improvements to the Terminal 2 site include perimeter improvements, washing and fueling upgrades, 
as well as minor improvements for the use of facilities by staff. MTD can expect to store 20 to 25 buses at 
the facility with parking for 20-30 staff. As part of the Facilities Master Plan, bringing Terminal 2 online is an 
important step in initiating facility improvements at Terminal 1. An operational Terminal 2 will help alleviate 
pressure at Terminal 1, while potentially mitigating deadheading to and from routes in the western portions 
of the MTD service area. 

In addition to bus stop and terminal improvements, MTD can—in the long-term—consider a mobility hub or 
center in Goleta and Isla Vista areas. As a growing part of the service area, along with the reactivation of 
Terminal 2 and the frequent routes operated in Goleta and Isla Vista, passenger transfers are conducted 
on-street particularly at the intersection of Storke and Hollister. The passenger volumes and number of 
connecting bus routes would benefit from improvements like sawtooth parking (see examples in Figure 70 
below) to facilitate on-street transfers, while minimizing the costs of an off-street transit center than incurs 
operating time penalties and secludes passengers rather than integrating them with active land uses. 



Supporting Recommendations 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 93 
 

Figure 70: On-street sawtooth bus bays to facilitate on-street passenger transfers (San Luis Obispo, top, 
Fredericton, Canada, bottom) 

 

 

In the longer term, MTD can explore a mobility hub concept to enable bus transfer, connections with other 
mobility modes (ride/carsharing, scooters, bicycles, etc.) and strong surrounding land uses to make it a 
functional area that serves as both an origin and destination. 



DRAFT 

94 
 

 

12.1.4 Continue the Transition to 100% ZE Fleet 

MTD is known for its commitment to sustainability and early adoption of zero-emission buses (ZEBs), with 
its first deployment of a battery-electric bus (BEB) in 1991 and 14 BEBs currently operating in their fleet. 
As mandated by the CARB under the Innovative Clean Transit (ICT) regulation, MTD is required to fully 
transition to a ZEB fleet by 2040, and MTD’s Board has adopted an even more ambitious goal of 
transitioning by 2030.  

To continue to support the goal of reducing emissions on the South Coast, MTD needs to submit their ZEB 
Rollout Plan to CARB by July 2023. This plan will detail the ZEB procurement and phasing schedule as 
well as required facility modifications and upgrades to support the BEB fleet. MTD can also take this 
opportunity for positive marketing to emphasize MTD’s commitment to sustainability and the environment 
as well as highlighting improvements in vehicle conditions, such as a quieter ride and less noise on 
neighborhood streets.  

12.2 High-Quality Transit 

Providing transit that integrates customer requests, leverages the best available technology, and is 
consistently improving is a hallmark of high-quality transit. MTD remains committed to improving the quality 
of their services and amenities by keeping the customer at the center of decision-making. 

12.2.1 Bus Bike Racks 

The South Coast has a long history of being a bike-friendly community, and many MTD riders use cycling 
for the first and last miles of their trips. Currently, all MTD buses except the electric shuttles are equipped 
with front bike racks that have capacity for two bicycles. To expand this capacity and enable more MTD 
riders to use cycling as a portion of their bus trip, MTD should upgrade the front racks that have capacity 
for three bikes. As seen in Portland (TriMet), San Francisco (SFMTA), and Los Angeles (LA Metro), 
upgrading from two to three bike positions is becoming a more common occurrence among transit agencies 
to make multimodal trips easier and encourage active transportation, especially for the first and last mile of 
bus trips. 

Figure 71: Transit agency examples of 3-bike racks 

 
TriMet 

 
SFMTA  

LA Metro 

MTD tracks how many bicycles are carried on each route and can use this data to make decisions on how 
to prioritize deployment of 3-bike racks. For example, in FY19-20, MTD’s system carried over 80,000 bikes. 
The lines that saw the highest number of bikes included Lines 11, 6, 20, and 24x. MTD can prioritize 
deployment on these lines and continue to collect and analyze data on bike usage to refine the deployment 
strategy. Importantly, MTD was recently awarded a grant that includes funding for 3-bike racks so that they 
can begin to implement this improvement, and the improvement should be seen systemwide within a year.  



Supporting Recommendations 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 95 
 

12.2.2 Bus Stop Improvement Program 

The bus stop is the ‘first impression’ of a transit agency. Providing a safe and comfortable environment is 
crucial for the customer experience. 

MTD’s Next Wave project, recently funded as part of the TIRCP grant presents the opportunity to implement 
a bus stop improvement program. Focusing on passenger amenities, such as benches, shade, shelters, 
lighting, and trash bins will help MTD continue to improve customer satisfaction and use its bus stops as 
marketing tools themselves 

Importantly, MTD plans to update and refresh its bus stops to its current branding and design standard from 
the prior “black and yellow” branding scheme. This will help present a unified look and feel to the MTD 
system and make it even more recognizable within the community. 

Furthermore, MTD should continue to ensure that information related to schedules and trip planning be 
provided at most if not all bus stops, particularly those with high passenger volumes. With the prevalence 
of phones, MTD can avoid republishing schedules at each bus stop and direct riders to check the MTD 
website, MTD social media, live arrival apps, or use the texting feature to get next arrival information. 

A bus stop improvement program should also focus on improving the universal accessibility and safety 
features of bus stops. While not an immediate recommendation, all-door boarding is one strategy that MTD 
can eventually pilot to speed up buses, especially using the open payment system at the rear door. 
Nonetheless, bus stops will need to be able to safely accommodate passengers boarding and alighting 
through the rear door. While not all bus stops and bus lines are suited for all-door boarding, lines and stops 
with the heaviest loads should be targeted to help minimize dwell times. 

Finally, MTD should also 
update its bus stop design 
guidelines to codify its 
standards for bus stop design, 
location, and amenity 
distribution. The bus stop 
guidelines would work hand-in-
hand with the bus stop 
improvement program, 
essentially implementing the 
guidelines. Gold Coast Transit 
District is an example of an 
agency with a good set of 
guidelines 40 and improvement 
program41 that leverages the 
guidance from the design 

guidelines. Gold Coast distributes bus stops into three tiers based on ridership levels, and these tiers have 
different levels of amenities. MTD could use the Gold Coast example as a guiding document to update its 
design guidelines. Key components of bus stop guidelines can include: 

• Policies governing stop requests, including the integration with developments and master planning 
processes 

                                                      
 
40 https://www.gctd.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/GCTDBusStopGuidelines2019.pdf  
41 https://www.gctd.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/DRAFT-Bus-Stop-Improvement-Plan-June-2022.pdf  

https://www.gctd.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/GCTDBusStopGuidelines2019.pdf
https://www.gctd.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/DRAFT-Bus-Stop-Improvement-Plan-June-2022.pdf


DRAFT 

96 
 

 

• Guidance around special events and construction impacts on stops and operations, as well as 
maintenance guidelines 

• Standards for spacing and placement 

• Design guidelines for stop configuration 

• Passenger amenities and their distribution 

12.2.3 Data-Driven Decisions 

MTD continues to invest in technology to inform decision making in a data-driven and transparent manner. 
One important source of information is the onboard automated passenger counters (APC) technology that 
provides information related to passenger boardings and alightings by stop and time of day. This information 
was used in the service planning process of MTD Moves Ahead. Nonetheless, MTD does not routinely 
examine this information at the stop-level or by hour of the day. The analysis in MTD Moves Ahead identified 
bus stops with low usage that could be considered for elimination that would help speed up buses and 
regularly reviewing this data can help MTD develop defensible policies for route changes, bus stop 
changes, as well as when to invest in service (see an example in Figure 72). 

However, as revealed from the APC analysis, significant issues exist with the data fidelity and quality. Key 
issues include duplicate bus stops, alighting and boarding records without identified (geolocated) stops, 
and bus stops with boarding and alighting records that are not in MTD’s GTFS feed and thus cannot be 
linked to a specific stop ID. Further issues occur within the software that is used to compile and aggregate 
the data, and steps should be taken to ensure quality control during this step of the process. MTD should 
work with the APC vendor to address these issues so that MTD can routinely review accurate passenger 
boarding, alighting, and load data to make informed adjustments to route alignments, bus stop placement, 
and service levels. 



Supporting Recommendations 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 97 
 

Figure 72: Example of boarding by stop in Goleta and Isla Vista. 

 

To further assess trip run times and possible slack in the schedule, MTD recently acquired Swiftly software. 
Swiftly is a data platform that tracks and compiles real-time data on vehicle location and operations to show 
both real-time on-time performance and historical data on run times and percent of trips that are early, late, 
and on time. Swiftly also collects vehicle speed data, which is helpful in determining where congested areas 
and pinch points are that are affecting on-time performance and route efficiency. 

MTD has already taken steps to improve on-time performance in the last several years, including bus stop 
balancing, rewriting schedules, and route monitoring. With Swiftly, MTD has an opportunity to more actively 
monitor on-time performance, examine reliability issues, and develop more accurate schedules based on 
actual running times. Furthermore, speed mapping will be helpful to identify areas that could benefit from 
transit priority measures. Switfly can also be leveraged to monitor and actively adjust bus dispatching to 
provide on-the-fly operational improvements. The screen capture below (Figure 73) shows actual travel 
time for different trips on Line 6 as well as the scheduled run time and can offer suggestions for schedule 
adjustments that could be used to improve reliability. 



DRAFT 

98 
 

 

Figure 73: Example of Run-Times dashboard on Swiftly. 

 

Two case studies are presented below showing examples of how other agencies have used data collection 
and analytical software to improve their schedules and service reliability.  

 

 

12.3 For All South Coast Residents and Visitors 

Serving a unique blend of students, residents, and visitors, MTD balances the transit needs of a diverse 
demographic. These recommendations ensure that transit is for all South Coast, focusing on service 
policies and communication.  

Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) found that the number of early 
arrivals during COVID-19 more than doubled from pre-pandemic levels. Using GTFS-RT feeds, 
WMATA was able to aggregate both current and historical data on run times to identify routes with 
the most early arrivals and with run-time distributions that indicated opportunities for OTP gains. 
WMATA identified travel times and adjusted scheduling, resulting in adjustments to 34 routes, with 
each route experiencing a 7.2% increase in OTP. This increase was so strong that in increased the 
systemwide OTP by 6.2%. 

The Oulu Public Transit Authority (OPTA) in Oulu, Finland used run time and OTP data software 
to be able to see their data on a more granular level, enabling them to be able to build new timetables 
and schedules more quickly when they identified a way to improve run times and OTP. OPTA adjusted 
20 routes, resulting in 10-20% OTP improvements along those routes. Run times have been reduced 
by up to 15 minutes on the modified routes, and these savings eliminated the need for two buses, 
freeing up these resources to be used elsewhere. OPTA also noted that being able to provide more 
accurate and efficient schedules has improved relationships with bus operators.  



Supporting Recommendations 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 99 
 

12.3.1 Customer Communications 

Utilizing a variety of real-time bus information systems, 
riders have options when seeking up-to-date bus arrival 
times and trip planning.  

MTD’s offerings include a text system (Figure 75), mobile 
app, web-based trip planning operated by MTD as well as 
third-party services like Google Maps and the Transit 
App.  

The text system and mobile app are currently powered by 
Clever Devices but were called out in numerous survey 
comments as functioning poorly, not user-friendly, and 
lacking accuracy. MTD could consider transitioning to a 
more reliable provider to power the bus arrival system, as 
well as promoting alternatives that are more user-friendly. 

This tactic also encourages tourists to use MTD without the deterrent of feeling like they must download 
another app.  

“Something MTD really needs to fix is the reliability of the online ‘Estimated Arrival Times.’ 
Sometimes buses just don't show up which can be extremely inconvenient if service is 
every 40 or 50 minutes.” – MTD Moves Ahead Survey Respondent  

The survey comment above not only 
address the bus arrival system but also the 
timeliness of updates regarding service 
changes and missed trips. Due to staffing 
challenges and operator shortages, missed 
and canceled trips have become a more 
common occurrence within the MTD 
system. Mitigating riders’ frustrations 
depend on identifying ways to better keep 
riders “in the loop” regarding missed trips. 
Developing a robust real-time system 
needs to include mechanisms to inform 
riders about service changes. MTD will also 
continue to announce service changes, 
delays, and cancelations through multiple 
social media channels, particularly Twitter. 

 

  

 

 

Figure 74: Estimated Arrival Time text system 

Figure 75: MTD’s Twitter feed announces up-to-date 
service changes 



DRAFT 

100 
 

 

13 CONSIDERATIONS FOR REGIONAL SERVICES AND CONNECTIONS 

MTD’s services are local in nature—they connect communities throughout the South Coast—but MTD’s 
services interface with regional transit partners. These transit partners include the Ventura County 
Transportation Commission’s (VCTC) Coastal Express service connecting Santa Barbara and Ventura 
counties, and SBCAG’s Clean Air Express that connects the South Coast of Santa Barbara County with 
parts of northern Santa Barbara County like Lompoc and Santa Maria. 

To better leverage these connections and partnerships, MTD and its partners should continue to collaborate 
to identify ways to improve the customer experience for seamless journeys. While not a focus of the 
planning process for MTD Moves Ahead, there are several implications and considerations for MTD’s local 
service with respect to connectivity with regional transit. 

First, by avoiding duplication with regional services, MTD can allocate more resources to local services. 
For example, MTD previously operated Line 21x which provided express service along US-101 between 
Carpinteria and downtown Santa Barbara; this route largely duplicated the Coastal Express service 
between Carpinteria and downtown Santa Barbara. By removing Line 21x and reinvesting buses into Line 
20 for instance, MTD can improve service levels locally, while the Coastal Express would absorb the 
passengers who would ride Line 21x. 

Second, by enabling and connecting efficiently with partner agencies, MTD can grow ridership on its 
services while reducing driving trips into congested areas of Goleta, Isla Vista, and Santa Barbara. If 
commuters and other passengers choose to use regional services and if these services don’t provide a 
one-seat ride to their destination, ensuring that MTD service is easily accessible and that transfers are well-
timed will enable a complete trip via transit. 

However, to encourage and facilitate trip making on transit between MTD and regional partners, MTD, 
VCTC, and SBCAG need to create frictionless customer journeys. Some strategies to explore include: 

• Simplifying trip planning. This strategy can include promoting/advertising trip planning apps that 
customers can use to plan trips on multiple systems, and providing links to transit partners’ websites 
and schedules. Designing a regional transit map showing all operators could be helpful for 
customers to visualize where different routes and agencies connect, while displaying partner 
agency connection points on MTD maps and other material could assist in wayfinding and trip 
planning. 

• Improving the waiting experience. The Clean Air Express and Costal Express connect at MTD 
bus stops in several locations, including the Downtown Transit Center, Cottage Hospital, Downtown 
Carpinteria, UCSB, State and La Cumbre, and in Goleta. MTD and its partners should work 
together to align schedules as best as possible to minimize potential wait times between transit 
services. Furthermore, for the busier stops, as described elsewhere, MTD and partners should 
continue to invest in passenger amenities. 

• Improving the transferring experience. Passengers who ride the Coastal Express pay $1 to 
transfer to MTD buses, while there is no fare transfer policy with the Clean Air Express. MTD and 
its partners should explore ways to streamline fare payment to enable easy and affordable 
transfers, particularly as MTD continues to implement contactless and electronic fare payments. 

Taken together, focusing on providing seamless connections for customers who may be riding both a 
regional service and an MTD route will be an important strategy for strengthening regional partnerships. 

Apart from the customer experience, MTD can explore other opportunities through closer collaboration with 
SBCAG. For example, currently, many of SBCAG’s operators are employed in other unrelated industries 



Considerations for Regional Services and Connections 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 101 
 

and so they drive the buses to Santa Barbara in the morning, work during the midday, and return with the 
buses in the evenings.42 While economical from an operations perspective, the current shortage of 
operators for both agencies presents an opportunity if operators who drive the Clean Air Express in the 
morning and evening could operate MTD buses during the day. SBCAG has expressed an interest in MTD 
taking over operations of the Clean Air Express. MTD and SBCAG can investigate whether these 
opportunities to transition to a partnership would benefit both agencies. 

Another important connection for regional services prior to the pandemic were the Amtrak first mile/last mile 
connecting routes.43 While the pandemic saw the suspension of the peak timed Amtrak trips, and MTD 
suspended services on these routes, it will be important for SBCAG and MTD to consider future 
opportunities for serving Amtrak stations. The sustainability of dedicated routes, particularly with operator 
shortages, may be untenable in the short-term. Alternative concepts would include ensuring service is 
provided on existing MTD lines, like Line 6 for the Goleta station, a Downtown-Waterfront Circulator for 
Santa Barbara station, and Line 20 for the Carpinteria station. The microtransit Wave service in Goleta and 
Carpinteria will also provide coverage of their respective Amtrak stations. 

  

                                                      
 
42 http://www.sbcag.org/uploads/2/4/5/4/24540302/cae_srtp.pdf  
43 Transfers to MTD with a valid Amtrak fare are free. 

http://www.sbcag.org/uploads/2/4/5/4/24540302/cae_srtp.pdf


DRAFT 

102 
 

 

14 CONSIDERATIONS FOR ON-DEMAND / EASY LIFT 

Easy Lift has been under contract with MTD since the 1990s to provide required complementary ADA-
paratransit service. During the MTD Moves Ahead planning process, Easy Lift staff were engaged to 
discuss opportunities and challenges around paratransit and demand response services. Easy Lift staff 
were supportive of the proposed improvements to service and expanding the universal accessibility of 
MTD’s fixed-route services to provide more freedom and flexibility compared to a reservation-based system 
for riders with disabilities. MTD and Easy Lift will continue to work together on activities like mobility training 
to support riders to use MTD more often. Furthermore, Easy Lift staff were excited at the opportunities of 
the on-demand shared ride service delivery model of the Wave, particularly in Carpinteria, which is more 
challenging for Easy Lift to serve given its base of operations further west in Santa Barbara. 

One of the chief items related to paratransit service with any adjustments to fixed-route service is the service 
area boundary of the complementary paratransit service area—as per ADA regulations, ADA paratransit 
must, at least, operate within ¾-mile of fixed-route alignments and operate for the same service span. The 
implications of the proposed MTD Moves Ahead network changes on Easy Lift are minimal—route 
alignments are largely the same as today, except for the permanent deletion of Line 10 along Cathedral 
Oaks Rd. Service span is also largely the same. Because MTD plans to operate the Wave in the Cathedral 
Oaks Rd. area of Goleta (as well as further south into Isla Vista), Easy Lift could potentially stop serving 
that area when the Wave is in service; while Easy Lift’s mandate is to provide service within ¾-mile of a 
fixed-route bus stop, it could elect to continue to offer dial-a-ride service in that area to complement the 
Wave. 

However, the overlap of MTD’s Wave service areas and Easy Lift dial-a-ride service brings up opportunities 
for efficiencies. For example, the curb-to-curb shared ride model of both services effectively leverages 
dynamic routing and demand-response vehicles and operators. MTD and Easy Lift could work to develop 
an understanding of where and when it may be more cost effective for MTD to operate with the Wave, and 
Easy Lift to operate with dial-a-ride. However, to do so, there is likely a requirement for more collaboration 
and coordination for scheduling and dispatching. Furthermore, from a customer perspective, an Easy Lift 
trip in Carpinteria would cost $3.50, while the MTD Wave service will have a fare of $1.5044—clearly for a 
similar level of service, a customer will likely choose the Wave. MTD and Easy Lift should explore 
opportunities to not only streamline operations and service delivery, but the customer experience, too. 

More and more agencies across the country are experimenting with a single brand/delivery model for 
demand response service, regardless of the passenger type, i.e., paratransit or general public dial-a-ride. 
The premise for this is that all these services are basically demand response shared ride services that 
operate from door-to-door, so commingling riders onto one service can help improve vehicle occupancy 
and this deliver more trips with fewer vehicles. Golden Empire Transit (GET) in Bakersfield is an excellent 
example of this trend. GET operated an in-house paratransit service, as well as piloted a microtransit 
service in a small zone of Bakersfield. Recently, working with the on-demand software provider Via, GET 
has commingled all resources into one ‘brand’ of on-demand to carry riders regardless of customer type.45 

For GET, the fleet and operators are shared between paratransit, microtransit, and non-emergency medical 
transportation services. Operators can serve different customer types during the same shift, effectively 
reducing the number of vehicles required if dedicated fleets were assigned to each customer type. GET’s 
ultimate goal is to commingle riders on the same vehicles at the same time. Because GET has procured 
one type of on-demand software for all on-demand services, training has been simplified as well. From a 
customer perspective, one app or one phone number is used for all customer types. 

                                                      
 
44 For seniors and persons with disabilities. 
45 https://ridewithvia.com/resources/articles/partner-qa-talking-integrated-mobility-with-golden-empire-transit/  

https://ridewithvia.com/resources/articles/partner-qa-talking-integrated-mobility-with-golden-empire-transit/


Considerations for On-Demand / Easy Lift 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 103 
 

Figure 76: Screenshot of Via’s dispatcher tool where dispatchers can toggle zones by service type. 

 

Another example is Gold Coast Transit District’s “Late Night Safe Rides” program that uses paratransit 
operators and fleet to provide service curb-to-curb from 7 pm to midnight. While not commingling riders, 
the operating model uses the same resources (operators, vehicles, scheduling and dispatching) to provide 
demand response service at night. Customers can book trips up from one day in advance to one hour prior 
to a trip using a dedicated phone line.  



DRAFT 

104 
 

 

Figure 77: Flyer for Gold Coast Transit District’s Late Night Safe Rides service. 

 

A commingled approach should be explored by Easy Lift and MTD in order to provide greater efficiencies 
for operations, as well as provide more trips for customers. Consider the Wave—two vehicles are intended 
to operate in each zone. If demand is high, customers may be unable to book a trip or may need to wait a 
long time before booking a trip; if the resources for the Wave included Easy Lift vehicles and operators, 
additional capacity may be able to serve those trips during periods of high demand. MTD and Easy Lift will 
need to analyze hourly demand and capacity to understand whether opportunities such as these occur. 
Furthermore, it will be imperative to ensure that eligible ADA customers continue to receive levels of service 
as directed by the FTA. In other words, commingling must be done in a responsible fashion that does not 
sacrifice trip times, availability, and wait times for ADA customers; working with software providers to build 
in ‘business rules’ is one strategy to address these concerns.  

Ultimately, the key goal of Easy Lift and MTD is to provide mobility to people. MTD and Easy Lift can more 
effectively work towards that goal together particularly as MTD moves into the microtransit space. Breaking 
down the barriers between the two services—sharing resources like operators and vehicles, using modern 
scheduling software, presenting a unified brand and trip booking and customer experience—will help move 
more people more effectively. 



Potential Funding Sources 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 105 
 

15 POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCES 

This section provides an overview of potential funding sources for MTD Moves Ahead. MTD has historically 
used, like agencies across California, state and federal funding, along with local funding, for operations. 
With the onset of the coronavirus and the steep decline in passenger fare revenue, operating funding 
became a significant challenge which the federal government provided help with through coronavirus-
related relief funds. However, these funds were allocated on a one-time basis. Operating funding continues 
to be a challenge for MTD and agencies nationwide. 

MTD continuously applies for competitive funding for capital projects, and has been rather successful. For 
instance, in July 2022, MTD was awarded a state grant of $14.48 million to procure electric buses, deploy 
signal priority, contactless payments, and other improvements.46 MTD has also applied for federal funding 
to continue to transition to a zero-emission fleet. 

This section summarizes operating and capital funding sources (Table 18) and concludes with a discussion 
around other potential sources for funding.

                                                      
 
46 https://calsta.ca.gov/-/media/calsta-media/documents/2022-tircp-detailed-project-award-summary-a11y.pdf  

https://calsta.ca.gov/-/media/calsta-media/documents/2022-tircp-detailed-project-award-summary-a11y.pdf


DRAFT 

106 
 

 



Potential Funding Sources 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 107 
 

Funding Name Funding 
Source 

Competitive 
or Formula 

Capital or 
Operating Description Potential Applications Potential Funding 

Flexible Funding 
Programs – Surface 
Transportation Block 
Grant Program47 

Federal 
(FTA) Formula Capital 

Provides funding that may be used by states and 
localities for a wide range of projects to preserve 
and improve the conditions and performance of 
surface transportation, including highway, transit, 
intercity bus, bicycle and pedestrian projects. 

Can be used across a wide variety of transit capital 
projects including transit centers. 

As part of the Bipartisan 
Infrastructure Law, has designated 
over $14 billion annually each year 
between 2023 and 2026. 

Urbanized Area Formula 
Grants (Section 5307)48 
 
(CARES Act money 
comes through this 
section) 

Federal 
(FTA) Formula 

Capital for region 
with population 
greater than 200k; 
can use for 
operating with 
approval from FTA. 
 

5307 grant funding makes federal resources 
available to urbanized areas for transit capital 
and operating assistance.  
 
Local match required. 

As long as MTD remains in a UZA population of 
less than 200,000, eligible for operating assistance. 
 
Once MTD passes the 200,000 UZA population 
threshold, these funds can only be used for capital 
uses.  
 
Eligible capital uses include capital investments in 
bus and bus-related activities such as replacement, 
overhaul, and rebuilding of buses. Agencies can 
allocate these funds for the purchase of ZEBs. 

80% of eligible net capital project 
cost, 90% of vehicle-related 
equipment required for ADA or 
CAA compliance, 50% of net 
operating project cost 
 
 

State of Good Repair 
Grants (Section 5337)49 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Formula Capital 

Provides capital assistance for maintenance, 
replacement, and rehabilitation projects of high-
intensity fixed guideway and bus systems to help 
transit agencies maintain assets in a state of 
good repair. 
 
Local match required. 

Signals and communications, power equipment and 
substations, passenger stations and terminals, 
security equipment and systems, maintenance 
facilities and equipment, operational support 
equipment, including computer hardware and 
software; transit asset management plans. 
 

80% of eligible net capital project 
costs. 

Enhanced Mobility of 
Seniors & Individuals with 
Disabilities (Section 
5310)50 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Formula Both 

Assisting private non-profit groups in meeting the 
transportation needs of older adults and people 
with disabilities when the transportation service 
provided is unavailable, insufficient, or 
inappropriate to meeting these needs. 
 
Funding based on each state’s share of 
population. 

Purchase of new buses, vans, wheelchair lifts, 
ramps, mobility management programs. 
 

80% of eligible capital costs, 50% 
for operating expenses, 100% of 
the eligible 10% program 
administration costs 
 

Grants for Buses and Bus 
Facilities Formula 
Program (Section 
5339a)51 

Federal 
(FTA) Formula Capital 

Capital projects to replace, rehabilitate and 
purchase buses, vans, and related equipment, 
and to construct bus-related facilities, including 
technological changes or innovations to modify 
low or no emission vehicles or facilities. 
 

Purchase of new buses and related infrastructure 
and facility equipment.  

80% of the net capital project cost. 
 
85% of total transit bus cost.  
 
90% of net project cost for leasing 
or acquiring low-no bus-related 
equipment and facilities. 

Table 20: Potential funding sources 



DRAFT 

108 
 

 

                                                      
 
47 Flexible Funding Programs - Surface Transportation Block Grant Program - 23 USC 133 | FTA (dot.gov) 
STBG - Federal-aid Programs - Federal-aid Programs and Special Funding - Federal Highway Administration (dot.gov) 
48 Urbanized Area Formula Grants - 5307 | FTA (dot.gov) 
FTA Urbanized Area Formula Program Section 5307 grant fact sheet (dot.gov) 
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act | FTA (dot.gov) 
Section 5307, 5310, and 5311: Using Non-DOT Federal Funds for Local Match | NADTC 
49 State of Good Repair Grants - 5337 | FTA (dot.gov) 
50 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors & Individuals with Disabilities - Section 5310 | FTA (dot.gov) 
Section 5310 | NADTC 
51 Grants for Buses and Bus Facilities Formula Program - 5339(a) | FTA (dot.gov) 
Fact Sheet: Grants for Bus and Bus Facilities Section 5339 (dot.gov) 
52 Grants for Buses and Bus Facilities Program | FTA (dot.gov) 
53 Low or No Emission Vehicle Program - 5339(c) | FTA (dot.gov) 
Fact Sheet: Grants for Bus and Bus Facilities Section 5339 (dot.gov) 
54 FIXED GUIDEWAY CAPITAL INVESTMENT GRANTS Chapter 53 Section 5309 (dot.gov) 

Grants for Buses and Bus 
Facilities (Discretionary 
Program) 
(Section 5339b)52 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Competitive Capital Funds vehicle purchases and upgrades to or new 
bus-related facilities. 

Purchase of new buses and related infrastructure 
and facility equipment, and upgrades to or new bus-
related facilities (such as Terminal 2).  

In FY2022, the FTA announced 
availability of $372 million in 
grants. 

Low- or No-Emission Bus 
Grants (Section 5339c)53 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Competitive Capital 

Purchase or lease of zero-emission and low-
emission transit buses as well as acquisition, 
construction, and leasing of required supporting 
facilities. 
 
 

Purchase of ZEBs and related infrastructure and 
related activities to support the ZEB transition, 
including construction costs.  

85% of total transit bus cost.  
 
90% of net project cost for leasing 
or acquiring low-no bus-related 
equipment and facilities. 
 
0.5% of a request for workforce 
development training 
 
0.5% for training at the National 
Training Institute. 

Capital Investment Grants 
(Section 5309) (New 
Starts+Core Capacity and 
Small Smarts 
Improvements)54 

Federal 
(FTA) Competitive  Capital 

Transit capital investments, including heavy rail, 
commuter rail, light rail, streetcars and bus rapid 
transit. 

In the future could be useful for potential 
applications in higher-capacity transit such as BRT. 

80% of Program of Interrelated 
Projects funding 
 
 

https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/flexible-funding-programs-surface-transportation-block-grant-program-23-usc-133
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/specialfunding/stp/#:%7E:text=The%20Surface%20Transportation%20Block%20Grant%20program%20%28STBG%29%20provides,and%20transit%20capital%20projects%2C%20including%20intercity%20bus%20terminals.
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/urbanized-area-formula-grants-5307
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/funding/grants/37961/fast-act-section-5307-fact-sheet_0.pdf#:%7E:text=49%20U.S.C.%20Chapter%2053%2C%20Sections%205307%20%26%205340,Governors%20for%20transit%20capital%20and%20operating%20assistance%20and
https://www.transit.dot.gov/cares-act
https://www.nadtc.org/news/blog/section-5307-5310-and-5311-using-non-dot-funds-for-local-match/
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/state-good-repair-grants-5337
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/enhanced-mobility-seniors-individuals-disabilities-section-5310
https://www.nadtc.org/grants-funding/section-5310/#:%7E:text=%20FTA%20Section%205310%20Enhanced%20Mobility%20of%20Seniors,and%20Designated%20Recipients.%20Eligible%20recipients%20include...%20More%20
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/busprogram#:%7E:text=Grants%20for%20Buses%20and%20Bus%20Facilities%20Formula%20Program,and%20related%20equipment%20and%20to%20construct%20bus-related%20facilities.
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/5339%20Bus%20and%20Bus%20Facilities%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf
https://www.transit.dot.gov/bus-program
https://www.transit.dot.gov/lowno
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/5339%20Bus%20and%20Bus%20Facilities%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/5309_Capital_Investment_Grant_Fact_Sheet.pdf


Potential Funding Sources 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 109 
 

                                                      
 
55 Innovative Coordinated Access and Mobility Grants | FTA (dot.gov) 
Fact Sheet: Innovative Coordinated Access & Mobility Pilot Program | FTA (dot.gov) 
56Expedited Project Delivery Pilot Program - Section 3005(b) | FTA (dot.gov) 
57 Public Transportation Innovation - 5312 | FTA (dot.gov) 
Transit Cooperative Research Program - 5312(i) | FTA (dot.gov) 
Public Transportation Innovation Section 5312 Fact Sheet (dot.gov) 
58 Accelerating Innovative Mobility | FTA (dot.gov) 
59 BUILD Discretionary Grants | US Department of Transportation 

Innovative Coordinated 
Access and Mobility Pilot 
Program (ICAM)55 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Competitive Capital 

This program provides competitive funding to 
support innovative projects for the transportation 
disadvantaged that will improve the coordination 
of transportation services and non-emergency 
medical transportation services. 
 
Local match required. 

Eligible activities include deploying mobility 
management strategies, vehicle purchase, and 
purchase of IT equipment. 

No minimum or maximum grant 
award 
 
80% federal funding of project 
costs 
 

Expedited Project Delivery 
Pilot Program (Section 
3005b)56 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Competitive Capital 

Expediting delivery of new fixed guideway capital 
projects, small starts projects, or core capacity 
improvement projects. These projects must utilize 
public-private partnerships, be operated and 
maintained by employees of an existing public 
transportation provider. 

Funds can be used to help expedite a number of 
capital projects given they meet the requirements 
laid out in the description. In the past, funding has 
been awarded to rapid transit projects such as 
BRT.  

Program will cover 25% of the 
project cost. 
 
The FTA has proposed $450 
million in funding for FY2023. 

Public Transportation 
Innovation (Section 
5312)57 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Competitive Both 
Provides funding to develop innovative products 
and services assisting transit agencies in better 
meeting the needs of their customers. 

Research, development, demonstration and 
deployment projects, and evaluation of technology 
of significance to public transit. 

Funds are allocated on a 
discretionary basis. The FTA 
website will update when this grant 
opportunity becomes available.  

Accelerating Innovative 
Mobility (AIM) Program58 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Competitive Both 

AIM will drive innovation by promoting forward-
thinking approaches to improve transit financing, 
planning, system design and service. The AIM 
Initiative also supports innovative approaches to 
advance strategies that promote accessibility, 
including equitable and equivalent accessibility 
for all travelers. 
 
Local match required. 

Eligible activities include all activities leading to the 
development and testing of innovative mobility, 
such as planning and developing business models, 
obtaining equipment and service, acquiring or 
developing software and hardware to implement the 
project, operating or implementing the new service 
model, and evaluating project results. 

In FY2020, a total of $14 million 
was administered.  

Better Utilizing 
Investments to Leverage 
Development 
(BUILD) Grants59 

Federal 
(DOT) 

Competitive Capital 
Formerly TIGER, BUILD is a discretionary grant 
program aimed to support investment in 
infrastructure. 

Can be used for capital expenditures to improve 
transit such as vehicle purchases and dedicated 
bus lanes.  

FY2022 provided $1.5 billion for 
BUILD grants. 

https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/grant-programs/access-and-mobility-partnership-grants
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/fact-sheet-innovative-coordinated-access-mobility-pilot-program
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/grant-programs/expedited-project-delivery-pilot-program-section-3005b
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/public-transportation-innovation-5312
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/transit-cooperative-research-program-5312i
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/5312_Public_Transportation_Innovation_%28Research%29_Fact_Sheet.pdf
https://www.transit.dot.gov/AIM
https://www7.transportation.gov/BUILDgrants


DRAFT 

110 
 

 

                                                      
 
60 Workforce Development Initiative | FTA (dot.gov) 
61 2022 State of Good Repair Program Guidelines (ca.gov) 
State of Good Repair | Caltrans 
62 California Air Resources Board and CALSTART reopen incentives for clean trucks and buses | California Air Resources Board 
Home - Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project | California HVIP 
HVIP-FY20-21-Implementation-Manual-FINAL-210429.pdf (californiahvip.org) 

BUILD funding supports planning and capital 
investments in roads, bridges. Transit, rail, ports, 
and intermodal transportation. 
Local match required. 

Workforce Development 
Initiative60 

Federal 
(FTA) 

Competitive 
Cooperative 
Agreement 

Operating 

Provides resources and support for public transit 
agencies to recruit, retain and train transit 
workers to ensure the transit industry has the 
workforce needed for today and in the future. 
 
20% local match requirement for recipients. 
Recipients may derive that match through in-kind 
activities not funded by the Federal government 
and match from other Federal agencies as noted 
in the Coordinated Council on Access and 
Mobility resources on match.  
 
Technical Assistance and Workforce 
Development Program projects = No local match. 

Cooperative agreements with transit agencies to 
develop innovative workforce projects. 
 
Reports and information on the results of those 
projects. 
 
Meetings and conferences to gather information 
about public transit agency.  
 
A new transit workforce technical assistance 
program. 

Funds from this program can be 
used to help recruit new bus 
operators and train existing 
operators and maintenance staff 
on zero-emission technologies to 
help retain and develop MTD’s 
existing workforce. 

SB1 (State of Good 
Repair) Program61 

State 
(Caltrans) 

Formula Capital 
Provide additional revenues for transit 
infrastructure repair and service improvements. 

These formula fuds are eligible for transit 
maintenance, rehabs, and capital projects. 
Agencies can choose to dedicate these funds to the 
purchase of ZEBs to continue the ZEB transition. 

Funding is based on service area 
population and farebox revenues. 

Hybrid and Zero-Emission 
Truck and Bus Voucher 
Incentive Project (HVIP)62 

State Voucher Capital 

Voucher program created in 2009 aimed at 
reducing the purchase cost of zero-emission 
vehicles. 
A transit agency would decide on a vehicle, 
contact the vendor directly, and then the vendor 
would apply for the voucher.  

Continued purchase of zero-emission vehicles to 
continue MTD’s transition to a zero-emission fleet. 

Portion of $65.6 million of funding 
for public transit buses 

https://www.transit.dot.gov/research-innovation/workforce-development-initiative#:%7E:text=The%20FTA%20Workforce%20Development%20Initiative%20provides%20resources%20and,in%20the%20future.%20Elements%20of%20the%20initiative%20include%3A
https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/rail-mass-transportation/documents/sgr/202207-sgr_2022_guidelines-ver1-a11y.pdf
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/rail-and-mass-transportation/state-transit-assistance-state-of-good-repair
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/news/california-air-resources-board-and-calstart-reopen-incentives-clean-trucks-and-buses
https://californiahvip.org/
https://californiahvip.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/HVIP-FY20-21-Implementation-Manual-FINAL-210429.pdf


Potential Funding Sources 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 111 
 

                                                      
 
63 https://www.ourair.org/grants-for-on-road-vehicles/  
64 Carl Moyer Program | California Air Resources Board 
THE CARL MOYER PROGRAM GUIDELINES 2017 Revision Volume I 
65 Transportation Development Act | Caltrans 
No Slide Title (ca.gov) 
66Transportation Development Act | Caltrans 
No Slide Title (ca.gov) 
67 Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program | CalSTA 
Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program (TIRCP) | CTC 
Draft 2022 TIRCP Guidelines for Discussion (ca.gov) 

Carl Moyer Memorial Air 
Quality Standards 
Attainment Program (Carl 
Moyer Program)6364 

State/APCD Formula Capital 

Funding to help procure low- and zero-emission 
vehicles and equipment. 
 
In 2022, the application window was open from 
July 25-August 31. 
 
Local match required. 

Continued purchase of zero-emission vehicles to 
continue MTD’s transition to a zero-emission fleet. 

Transit buses are eligible for up to 
$80,000 in funding. 

Transportation 
Development Act (TDA) – 
Local Transportation Fund 
(LTF)65 

State Formula Both 

LTF is derived from ¼ percent of the statewide 
general sales tax on diesel fuel and returned to 
the county in which it was collected.  
 

Available to fund costs associated with operating 
public transit, including operations, capital projects, 
administration and planning, and transit-related 
research and development projects. 

Formula funding based on diesel 
fuel sales tax. 

Transportation 
Development Act – State 
Transit Assistance 
(STA)66  

State Formula Both 

STA funds are derived from the statewide sales 
tax on diesel fuel and returned to each county 
based on a formula of population and fare 
revenues. 

Available to fund costs associated with operating 
public transit, including operations, capital projects, 
administration and planning, and transit-related 
research and development projects. 

Formula funding based on county 
population and fare revenues.  

Low Carbon Transit 
Operations Program 
(LCTOP) and Transit and 
Intercity Rail Capital 
Program (TIRCP)67 

State/CARB/ 
Caltrans 

Competitive Capital 

TIRCP provides grants from the Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction Fund (GGRF) to fund transformative 
capital improvements that will modernize 
California’s intercity, commuter, and urban rail 
systems, and bus and ferry transit systems, to 
significantly reduce emissions of greenhouse 
gases, vehicle miles traveled, and congestion. 
 
LCTOP is formula funding transit agencies 
commonly use for operations. Funding for both 
programs come from 5% and 10% of the annual 
Cap and Trade auction. 
 

These programs fund a wide variety of projects that 
support new or expanded bus and rail services, 
improve multimodal facilities and can include 
equipment, fueling, maintenance, and other costs 
as long as the project helps to reduce GHGs. 

In FY2020, the average award per 
agency for LCTOP funding was 
$912,000 and TIRCP average 
award amount was $6 million. 

https://www.ourair.org/grants-for-on-road-vehicles/
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/fact-sheets/carl-moyer-program
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2020-06/2017_cmpgl.pdf
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/rail-and-mass-transportation/transportation-development-act
https://www.srta.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/56/TDA--PowerPoint-Presentation-PDF?bidId=
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/rail-and-mass-transportation/transportation-development-act
https://www.srta.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/56/TDA--PowerPoint-Presentation-PDF?bidId=
https://calsta.ca.gov/subject-areas/transit-intercity-rail-capital-prog
https://catc.ca.gov/programs/transit-intercity-rail-capital-program#:%7E:text=The%20Transit%20and%20Intercity%20Rail%20Capital%20Program%20%28TIRCP%29,of%20greenhouse%20gases%2C%20vehicle%20miles%20traveled%2C%20and%20congestion.
https://calsta.ca.gov/-/media/calsta-media/documents/tircp-cycle-5-discussion-draft-guidelines---20210809.pdf


DRAFT 

112 
 

 

 

                                                      
 
68 About - Measure A 
69 Volkswagen Environmental Mitigation Trust (californiavwtrust.org) 
Volkswagen Environmental Mitigation Trust for California | California Air Resources Board 
70 Sustainable Transportation Equity Project (STEP) | California Air Resources Board 
LCTI: Sustainable Transportation Equity Project (STEP) | California Air Resources Board 
Planning Grant Solicitation (ca.gov) 

No local match required, but preferable 

Measure A68 
Regional 
(SBCAG) 

Formula Both 
0.25% sales tax supplement for transportation 
projects 

Funds can be used for new local and commuter bus 
service, programs to reduce congestion, and 
expanded transit service for senior and disabled 
communities.  

Measure A will provide $455 
million to the South Coast 
agencies and jurisdictions over 30 
years. 

Volkswagen 
Environmental Mitigation 
Trust69 

State Both Both 

Mitigate the excess nitrogen oxide (NOx) 
emissions caused by VW's use of illegal 
emissions testing defeat devices in certain VW 
diesel vehicles. 
 
Light-duty zero-emission vehicle infrastructure or 
ICE/V replacement 

Continued purchase of zero-emission vehicles to 
continue MTD’s transition to a zero-emission fleet. 

Portion of $65 million. 

Sustainable 
Transportation Equity 
Project (STEP) 
 
Implementation  
Planning & Capacity 
Building70 

State 
(CARB) 

Competitive Both 

Address community residents’ transportation 
needs, increase access to key destinations, and 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by funding 
planning, clean transportation, and supporting 
projects. 
 
Implementation: Local match of 20% required 
 
Planning & Capacity Building: No local 
contribution required 
 

Purchase of vehicles and related equipment and 
infrastructure to reduce GHGs. 

In the past, CARB has awarded a 
total of $44.5 million through the 
STEP program. CARB is currently 
working with stakeholders to 
determine the future of STEP 
going forward.  

http://www.measurea.net/about.html
https://www.californiavwtrust.org/
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/volkswagen-environmental-mitigation-trust-california
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/lcti-step
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/lcti-sustainable-transportation-equity-project-step
https://ww3.arb.ca.gov/msprog/step/step_planning_grant_solicitation.pdf


Potential Funding Sources 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 113 
 



DRAFT 

114 
 

 

15.1 Additional Funding Avenues 

The vast majority of funding programs, particularly competitive funding programs at both the federal and 
state levels, are geared toward capital programs—new buses, new technology, and so on. The real 
challenge, however, for most agencies and MTD is the need for operating revenue to actually deliver 
service; funding opportunities for operating expenses are limited. During the pandemic, the FTA allowed 
agencies to divert spending to keep buses and trains running, and importantly, provided agencies with 
operating funding through various rounds of coronavirus-related spending packages. As such, MTD has 
carryover money from these coronavirus-related funds, but this is likely to run out in the next three to four 
years. In fact, the more immediate challenge is not so much operating funding, but recruiting a sufficient 
number operators to put service on the street, resulting in MTD’s recent service reductions in spring 2022. 

The challenge for MTD is compounded by the risk of losing its ability to use FTA 5307 funds for operating 
funds as the service area begins to cross the population threshold of 200,000, above which the FTA restricts 
the use of 5307 to capital spending. This shift to a larger UZA also means that MTD would no longer be 
eligible for the Small Transit Intensive Cities (STIC) funding that has provided a reliable funding source 
every year since 2003. MTD has access to Measure A funds from the County, and while this a great source 
of revenue along with property tax revenue and other sources, the loss of 5307/STIC operating funding 
could result in $2 million loss annually,71 meaning that MTD has a significant hole to dig out of just to ensure 
that service levels can match historical levels. To increase service levels as proposed by MTD Moves 
Ahead, MTD needs additional revenue sources. 

One revenue source has previously come directly from the City of Santa Barbara for the Downtown and 
Waterfront Shuttles; however, with the coronavirus, service has been suspended since spring 2020, State 
Street has closed to vehicle traffic, and the agreement between the City and MTD has lapsed. Nonetheless, 
MTD, the City, and other partners should look for ways to revive the funding and the service as proposed 
here as a combined Downtown-Waterfront circulator, but it may be some time before the service is re-
introduced. Relatedly, with a broader deployment of fare validators that accept credit and debit cards, it 
may be easier for non-riders to use the circulator without purchasing an MTD-branded fare product or pay 
cash and enable MTD to charge the regular fare on this service, helping recoup some more of the operating 
expenses for this service.  

Another alternative that MTD and its partners need to explore is a dedicated transit funding measure. The 
Measure A funding, while significant for MTD, provides funding to transportation projects throughout Santa 
Barbara County, and does not provide enough dedicated funding to MTD to sustain service levels. As a 
special district, MTD should explore the legal requirements and local support for a dedicated sales tax for 
transit operations funding. On a per capita basis, MTD ranks sixth for boardings per capita for bus agencies 
across the state,72 slightly higher than LA Metro, demonstrating the intensity and importance of transit use 
in a relatively small region. A fuller analysis of revenue potential, political buy-in, and the required legal 
steps to implement and collect a dedicated sales tax is needed but will likely be essential if MTD wishes to 
sustain and expand service levels in the longer-term. 

MTD should actively work with its local congressional representation, the California Transit Association, 
and APTA to advocate for federal funding for transit operations. The FTA provides vital capital funding, but 
more is needed by way of operations. The transit advocacy group, TransitCenter, published a study in 2021 
outlining a federal program for $20 billion for transit operations for agencies across the country.73 Like other 

                                                      
 
71 https://sbmtd.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Approved-SBMTD-FY2019-20-Operating-Capital-Budget-20190604.pdf; the 
FY2019-20 budget estimates the net impact of this loss at $600,000 less in operating revenue, with the gap backfilled with state 
operating funding. 
72 Based on bus only ridership for 2019, NTD. 
73 https://transitcenter.org/envisioning-a-federal-program-to-increase-transit-service/  

https://sbmtd.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Approved-SBMTD-FY2019-20-Operating-Capital-Budget-20190604.pdf
https://transitcenter.org/envisioning-a-federal-program-to-increase-transit-service/


Potential Funding Sources 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 115 
 

federal programs, this proposed program would likely require a local match. Based on analysis from the 
TransitCenter, it was estimated that MTD could receive a bump in operating funding (under this hypothetical 
program) of $15-21 million (based on 2018 operating expenses), translating to about 52-72% more 
operating hours (133,000-185,000 hours).74 This would be a significant increase in service hours. MTD 
should collaborate with other agencies and groups to advocate for federal operating grants, as well as 
larger state contributions to continue to provide vital service across South Coast. 

  

                                                      
 
74 https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1rOLXuSZC8bG4lyNMjfJvVA-tnw89TTKvHeAW-DJs09s/edit#gid=191793277  

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1rOLXuSZC8bG4lyNMjfJvVA-tnw89TTKvHeAW-DJs09s/edit#gid=191793277


DRAFT 

116 
 

 

16 CLOSING 

MTD Moves Ahead has proposed a vision and plan for the next five years of providing high-quality transit 
to South Coast residents and visitors. The plan was developed under the guiding principles of continuing 
to recover and rebound from COVID-19 as well as adapt to the new realities of travel. 

Over the next five years, MTD will build upon its strong ridership base and commitment to quality service 
and technology innovations to further augment the customer experience. MTD Moves Ahead acknowledges 
current operator shortages that are limiting the ability of transit agencies across the country to increase 
service levels to meet demand. Importantly, MTD Moves Ahead provides guidance to begin developing and 
implementing transit priority measures that will help MTD speed us buses to provide more attractive service, 
while also reaping operational efficiencies. 

MTD will need to continue working together with riders, partner agencies and stakeholders across the 
community to make MTD Moves Ahead a reality. 

 

 

 

  



Appendix A – MTD Moves Ahead Engagement Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 117 
 

APPENDIX A – MTD MOVES AHEAD ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY 

In October 2021, Santa Barbara MTD announced the launch of MTD Moves Ahead, a community process 
to create a Short-Range Transit Plan that would guide bus service development, infrastructure investment, 
and capital needs for MTD’s bus system over the next five years.  

To prioritize the community’s needs and desires for bus services, MTD sought to bring community input 
from everyone: people who ride the bus and those who don’t, employees, employers, students, people with 
disabilities, seniors, and civic leaders. If you live or work on the South Coast, MTD wanted to hear from 
you. What resulted was a nine-month-long (October 2021-June 2022) community engagement process 
where MTD heard from the public as they shared their experiences with the local bus system, their priorities 
for their service, and what they would like to see in the future. Below is the final outreach report showing 
the engagement strategies and results of the engagement. 

 
  

Virtual Listening Session and Project Survey  



DRAFT 

118 
 

 

To initiate the community conversation for MTD Moves Ahead, MTD hosted the first of two online surveys 
as well virtual community listening session on Oct. 
25, 2021. 

The first of the project's two community surveys was 
launched from October 5th – October 31st, 2021 with 
the intention to hear from the participants about 
what their priorities were for transit in their 
communities. The project team received 313 total 
survey responses. This survey along with the 
listening session would directly guide the service 
recommendations and priorities for developing the 
draft plan.  

The listening session was attended by 37 
community members on October 20, 2021 on the 
teleconferencing software Zoom from 5:30 p.m. to 
7:00 p.m. The listening session was held in English and Spanish using a Spanish interpreter and bilingual 
PowerPoint presentation.  

For three weeks prior to the meeting, the 
project team consultants worked closely 
with Hillary Blackerby, Planning and 
Marketing Manager of MTD, to provide 
outreach to the local community. Flyers 
were placed at most bus stops and 
interior ads were installed on all buses, 
in an effort to get people to engage with 
the survey. MTD and the team made 
personal calls and emails to various 
community groups (listed below) asking 
them to share the flyer via e-newsletters, 
social media, website postings, etc. 
MTD and the project team also produced a just under three-minute animated video explaining what ‘MTD 
Moves Ahead’ is and how the community can get involved throughout the process. The video was shared 
widely throughout the promotion of the listening session. Finally, a meeting summary and video of this first 
listening session were posted to the project website within two weeks.  



Appendix A – MTD Moves Ahead Engagement Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 119 
 

Below are some groups that were contacted: 

- Active Transportation Groups 
o SB Bicycle Coalition 
o Coalition for Sustainable Transportation 

- Businesses 
o Santa Barbara South Coast Chamber of 

Commerce 
- Public Agencies 

o City of Santa Barbara  
o City of Goleta 
o City of Carpinteria 
o County of Santa Barbara 
o Santa Barbara County Association of 

Governments 
- Environmental Groups 

o Sierra Club 
o Community Environmental Council 

- Schools 
o UC Santa Barbara 
o Santa Barbara City College 

The meeting was facilitated to give a short background about MTD and its services, what a Short-Range 
Transit Plan is, and current MTD performance highlights before moving to a discussion on transit trade-offs 
and bus priority measures. A series of live polls were given throughout the presentation to understand the 
demographics in the room. 

The questions and answers are as follows: 

Question 1: Where Do You Live?  

• City of Santa Barbara – 44% 
• City of Isla Vista – 19% 
• City of Goleta – 19% 
• City of Carpinteria – 6% 
• Other – 12% 

Question 2: Have You Ridden an MTD Bus in the Last 3 
Years? 

• Yes – 88% 
• No – 12% 

Question 3: Do You Have Access to a Car? 

• Yes – 81% 
• No – 19% 

Question 4: How Would You Describe Yourself? 

• Local Resident – 37% 
• Government Agency Representative – 20% 



DRAFT 

120 
 

 

• Community Advocate – 23% 
• College Student – 14% 
• Business Owner – 3% 
• Other – 3% 

The listening session ended by breaking into six small groups 
for further, more detailed discussions before the wrap-up and 
the next steps from the project team. The overall themes that 
emerged from the small group discussions were that, despite 
the presentation’s emphasis on tradeoffs necessary for transit services, there was no consistent direction 
from participants on how those tradeoffs might be handled. In general, the groups wanted more of 
everything without being willing to give up anything. 

Each of the six breakout rooms had vigorous interactive discussions regarding the questions from the 
second live polling exercise, which meant several of the groups did not get through all the topics. The 
groups that discussed the frequency of bus stops and walking distance were evenly split, with two 
favoring more stops and shorter walking distances and two others favoring fewer stops and longer walks 
because of shorter travel times. Several groups cited concerns about disabled access. Peak-hour travel 
was also discussed by several groups; while there was consistent support for peak-hour service, others 
emphasized the need for off-peak service for transit-dependent populations.  

Through the survey, listening sessions, and technical analysis, the project team came up with the 
following draft plan recommendations: 

1. Service Improvements: 
a. More frequent service on key routes: 4, 6, 11, 17, 20 
b. Later service on key routes: 1, 2, 4, 11, 17  

2. Service Transitions: New and Modified Services 
a. New direct service (Line 19x) operating on 

weekdays between SBCC, East SB, and 
Carpinteria 

b. The Wave, an on-demand curb-to-curb 
microtransit service serving Goleta/Isla 
Vista and Carpinteria 

c. A newly redesigned Downtown-Waterfront 
Circulator for consideration 

d. Lines 10 and 36 would be terminated. Riders could use The Wave to travel and connect 
to MTD Lines 

e. Line 37 would be terminated. Riders can use Lines 1 and 2, and the new Downtown-
Waterfront Circulator 

f. Lines 23 and 25 would become interlined at Calle Real and Winchester Canyon Rd to 
provide a one-seat ride through the area 

3. Bus Priority Projects 
a. Creating bus priority signals in key corridors and intersections to move more people more 

efficiently  
b. Priority road treatments to give buses an easier time traveling through corridors and 

intersections 

MTD Engagement Pop-Ups and Draft Plan Survey 



Appendix A – MTD Moves Ahead Engagement Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 121 
 

After the draft plan was created in Winter 2022, MTD began a campaign to educate community members 
on proposed changes and ask for their feedback through a digital survey from May 5 - June 11, 2022. The 
survey and draft plan were marketed through on-bus and at-stop postings, organic and paid social media 
(analytics below), press releases, and in-person interaction at pop-ups and by Transit Center staff. The 
survey was available online through a QR code that people could scan and complete with their own devices. 
Over 400 responses were acquired through both digital awareness and in-person pop-up engagement in 
early May 2022. The following is a breakdown of results by language: 

• English: 382 Responses (95%) 
• Spanish: 19 Responses (5%) 
• Total: 401 Responses 

Pop-up locations included: 

• Santa Barbara Farmer's Market 
• Milpas & Montecito Bus Stop 
• Carpinteria Farmer's Market 
• San Andres & Micheltorena Bus Stop 
• UCSB Bus Loop 
• Old Town Goleta Bus Stop 
• Downtown Santa Barbara Promenade Market 
• Transit Center (x2) 

Outreach pop-up details from May 5:  

The aim was to meet bus riders out where they already 
are—at popular bus stops. Equipped with bilingual 
display boards, fact sheets, and tablets for survey taking, 
outreach staff engaged with bus riders at 4 locations in 
one day. The first location was at the Hollister and 
Nectarine bus stop in Old Town Goleta. This location 
serves a large Spanish-speaking population. Two 
bilingual engagement staff were able to provide 
messaging in English and Spanish for community 
members looking to do the survey and learn more about 
the Short-Range Transit Plan. 

The 
second location was at the University of California, Santa 
Barbara North Hall Bus Loop. With a larger number of 
students waiting for the bus, the engagement team was split 
between two different spots to maximize the amount of 
outreach done. Students were approached as they were 
waiting for the bus, and many were able to complete the 
survey as they waited. 

The third location was at the MTD Transit Center, which is 
the main hub for many of the bus Lines. The transit center 
sees a large volume of people waiting for and getting off the 

bus every day. Many people were given flyers and survey information while waiting for their bus. MTD had 
very recently made temporary service reductions on April 25th in response to a bus operator shortage, and 



DRAFT 

122 
 

 

outreach staff were able to answer questions and receive feedback from passengers on how those 
reductions were received. 

The final pop-up that day was held on the State Street 
Promenade in Downtown Santa Barbara to coincide with the 
monthly “First Thursday” event that brings locals and visitors 
downtown to enjoy live music, art, and shopping. MTD staff 
were able to chat with riders and non-riders, both of whom 
were encouraged to give their feedback on the survey. 

Many of the conversations had by the project team during the 
May 5th pop-ups talked about the proposed on-demand curb-
to-curb Wave micro-transit service in Goleta/Isla Vista as 
many indicated they were excited about that service and that 
they would be more likely to ride if given the opportunity. 
There was a high population of college students who indicated more accessibility to bike racks, USB 
charging stations on board, and bus cleanliness during COVID a top priority for their service needs. Finally, 
community members indicated how they were excited to take the survey to be sure the bus is fitting their 
needs for more on-demand service, timeliness and frequency were the key themes. Overall, the AIM team 
got a sense that the community understands that more changes need to be made for the service to 
accommodate the ever-changing times and while they were encouraged by the engagement they are a bit 
wary about how those changes will play out during their day-to-day rides.  

The rest of the five other pop-up locations were handled internally by MTD staff in May and June and 
included the rest of the above-listed locations. These were targeted in MTD’s other service areas, including 
Santa Barbara’s East and West side neighborhoods, and Carpinteria. 

Survey Findings 

• 401 people responded to the MTD Moves Ahead survey on proposed service changes for the 
short-range transit plan. Of those respondents, 84% were riders, and responses from every age 
demographic were received.  

• The greatest support was related to proposed frequency changes to Lines 6 and 11 and later 
service on Line 11, with 80% of all respondents more likely to ride. The proposed on-demand 
Wave microtransit service in Goleta/Isla Vista also received support from 68% of all respondents 
and notably, 78% of impacted ZIP Codes would be "much more likely" to ride.  

• Other comments included desires to have more bike rack capacity, bring electric scooters on the 
bus, make buses faster and more reliable, as well as improve information availability. Several 
people expressed their concern that masks were no longer required on the bus.  

• There was strong support for reintroducing the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle, with support for the 
Crosstown Shuttle. In addition to 49% of riders indicating the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator 
would make them "much more likely to take MTD," 13 individual comments expressed support for 
the shuttles.  

• Overall, 78% of respondents indicated that bus queue jumps and bus-only lanes would 
encourage them to ride MTD more often and 80% of respondents indicated they would ride more 
often if signal priorities were implemented. Comments from bicyclists did point out concerns about 
disrupting bike lanes and increasing the complexity of intersections. These responses show 
robust support for tactics aimed at speeding up buses while making journeys more reliable.  

Outreach Analytics 

October 2021: Organic Social Media  



Appendix A – MTD Moves Ahead Engagement Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 123 
 

• Facebook: 
o Posts: 11 

• Twitter  
o 1 post 
o Impressions: 1165 
o Engagement: 36  

• Instagram 
o 8 posts  
o Post reach: 1399 
o Likes: 103  

• YouTube Videos  
o MTD Moves Ahead promotion video 

 Average view duration: 45 seconds 
 Views: 282  

o MTD Avanza promotion video  
 Average view duration: 28 seconds 
 Views: 17  

o MTD Moves Ahead Listening Session (recorded and posted) 
 Average view duration: 7:52 
 Views: 30  

Sendgrid: 
• MTD Moves Ahead email was sent out to all our newsletter contacts. 
• The newsletter had a blurb about MTD Moves Ahead virtual listening session with links.  
• Delivered: 151 
• Unique opens: 82  

Website Analytics:  
• MTD Moves Ahead (October 1-31)  

o https://sbmtd.gov/mtdmovesahead/  
o Page views: 1,042 
o Average time on page: 2:28 

• MTD Avanza (October 1-31) 
o https://sbmtd.gov/mtdavanza/  
o Page views: 95 
o Average time on page: 2:05 

• Added splash to website homepage that encouraged participation in MTD Moves Ahead virtual 
listening session.  

• MTD Moves Ahead/Avanza videos 
o Video views, English version: 359 

 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oafO2ktly54&t=3s  
o Video views, Spanish version: 21 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=u3qy9c3LvvY 

Press release: 
• https://sbmtd.gov/mtd_news/santa-barbara-mtd-launches-mtd-moves-ahead/  

Press coverage:  

• https://www.edhat.com/news/santa-barbara-mtd-launches-mtd-moves-ahead  

https://sbmtd.gov/mtdmovesahead/
https://sbmtd.gov/mtdavanza/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oafO2ktly54&t=3s
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=u3qy9c3LvvY
https://sbmtd.gov/mtd_news/santa-barbara-mtd-launches-mtd-moves-ahead/
https://www.edhat.com/news/santa-barbara-mtd-launches-mtd-moves-ahead


DRAFT 

124 
 

 

• https://www.noozhawk.com/article/santa_barbara_mtd_wants_ideas_on_short_range_transit_pla
n 

• https://www.independent.com/2021/10/26/only-six-more-days-to-share-south-coast-priorities-on-
mtd-moves-ahead-survey/ 

• https://www.noozhawk.com/article/help_steer_santa_barbara_mtd_into_the_future  

June 2022: Organic Social Media 

• Facebook: 
o 15 posts 
o 2,432 post reach 
o 237 post engagements  

• Twitter (15 posts) 
o Impressions: 19,341 
o Engagements: 215 

• Instagram 
o 15 posts 
o 2,201 post reach  
o 288 likes  
o Instagram story (17 posts) 

Instagram Live Analytics: 
• 77 views 
• 13 likes 
• 1 comment 
• 2 sends 
• 1 bookmark 
• 141 accounts reached 

o 123 followers  
o 18 non-followers  

• 17 interactions 
• 3 profile visits  

 
Facebook Ads:  
• Link clicks: 254 
• Per link click: 0.98  
• Amount spent: 249.44 
• Demographics: 61% women, 39% men  
• Dates: June 3-June 7 
• Location: 93111 (Goleta), 93108 (Montecito), 93109 (Santa Barbara), 93117 (Solvang) 
• Age: 18-65+  
• Interests: small businesses, public transport bus service, transit, environmental health, climate, 

electric vehicle, public transport, cycling, hybrid electric vehicle 
• Behaviors: Expats (Had lived in UK or lived in Sweden)  

 
Sendgrid: 

• MTD Moves Ahead email was sent out to all our newsletter contacts. 
• Delivered: 501  
• Unique opens: 224 

https://www.noozhawk.com/article/santa_barbara_mtd_wants_ideas_on_short_range_transit_plan
https://www.noozhawk.com/article/santa_barbara_mtd_wants_ideas_on_short_range_transit_plan
https://www.independent.com/2021/10/26/only-six-more-days-to-share-south-coast-priorities-on-mtd-moves-ahead-survey/
https://www.independent.com/2021/10/26/only-six-more-days-to-share-south-coast-priorities-on-mtd-moves-ahead-survey/
https://www.noozhawk.com/article/help_steer_santa_barbara_mtd_into_the_future


Appendix A – MTD Moves Ahead Engagement Summary 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 125 
 

• Unique clicks: 35 

Website Analytics:  
• MTD Moves Ahead 

o https://sbmtd.gov/mtdmovesahead/  
o Page views: 1,381 
o Average time on page: 4:33 

• MTD Avanza 
o https://sbmtd.gov/mtdavanza/  
o Page views: 302 
o Average time on page: 2:17 

• Added splash to website homepage that linked to survey: 
o Help us plan for a better future. Learn more and take the survey here. 

Ayúdanos a planificar un futuro mejor. Obtenga más información y responda la encuesta 
aquí. 

Press release: 
https://sbmtd.gov/mtd_news/mtd-engages-with-the-community-on-proposed-future-improvements-to-bus-
service-requests-survey-participation/ 
 
Press coverage:  

• https://www.edhat.com/news/santa-barbara-mtd-engages-with-community-on-proposed-future-
improvements-to-bus-service 

• https://keyt.com/news/santa-barbara-s-county/2022/05/23/santa-barbara-mtd-seeks-community-
input-to-help-create-short-range-transit-plan/ 

• https://keyt.com/news/2022/05/19/santa-barbara-mtd-seeking-public-input-on-improvements-to-
bus-service/ 

• https://www.independent.com/2022/05/24/santa-barbara-mtd-forges-ahead-with-new-moves/ 
• https://carpinteriaca.gov/santa-barbara-mtd-seeks-community-input/  

 
  

https://sbmtd.gov/mtdmovesahead/
https://sbmtd.gov/mtdavanza/
https://sbmtd.gov/mtd_news/mtd-engages-with-the-community-on-proposed-future-improvements-to-bus-service-requests-survey-participation/
https://sbmtd.gov/mtd_news/mtd-engages-with-the-community-on-proposed-future-improvements-to-bus-service-requests-survey-participation/
https://www.edhat.com/news/santa-barbara-mtd-engages-with-community-on-proposed-future-improvements-to-bus-service
https://www.edhat.com/news/santa-barbara-mtd-engages-with-community-on-proposed-future-improvements-to-bus-service
https://keyt.com/news/santa-barbara-s-county/2022/05/23/santa-barbara-mtd-seeks-community-input-to-help-create-short-range-transit-plan/
https://keyt.com/news/santa-barbara-s-county/2022/05/23/santa-barbara-mtd-seeks-community-input-to-help-create-short-range-transit-plan/
https://keyt.com/news/2022/05/19/santa-barbara-mtd-seeking-public-input-on-improvements-to-bus-service/
https://keyt.com/news/2022/05/19/santa-barbara-mtd-seeking-public-input-on-improvements-to-bus-service/
https://www.independent.com/2022/05/24/santa-barbara-mtd-forges-ahead-with-new-moves/
https://carpinteriaca.gov/santa-barbara-mtd-seeks-community-input/


DRAFT 

126 
 

 

APPENDIX B – MTD MOVES AHEAD INITIAL SURVEY, OCTOBER 2021 

To obtain public input on MTD and the trade-offs inherent to transit and designing services, a survey was 
posted to Santa Barbara MTD’s website to better understand who is riding the bus and why, who is not 
riding the bus and why, and each groups’ respective preferences for the service and potential transit priority 
treatments. The survey was offered in both English and Spanish and was posted for about four weeks in 
October 2021. To coincide with the survey, MTD also held a listening session on October 20, 2021, attended 
by 37 participants asked several of the same questions regarding trade-offs and priorities; the results mirror 
the results of the online survey. 

The survey was composed of about 20 questions and included multiple choice, select all that apply, and 
open-ended questions. A total of 307 rider and non-rider surveys were completed. 247 respondents were 
riders, with 244 surveys completed in English and three in Spanish. Sixty respondents were non-riders, all 
of whom completed surveys in English.  

Demographics 

As shown in Figure 78, most rider respondents (about 43%) were 18-24 or 25-34 years old, whereas non-
riders were mostly between the ages of 35-44 or 65 plus (about 55%).  

Figure 78: Age  

 

The majority of both rider and non-rider respondents identified as female, with about 37% of riders and non-
riders identifying as male (Figure 79).  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Under 18 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65 Plus Blank

%
 R

es
po

nd
en

ts

Rider

Non-rider



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 127 
 

Figure 79: Gender 

 

Figure 80 shows that about 57% of both riders and non-riders identified as White Caucasian, with Latinx 
Hispanic (12%), and Asian Pacific Islander (8%) being the next-most selected options.  

Figure 80: Ethnicity 

 

Most respondents (about 42%) said they were employed full-time. Retired, student, and employed part-
time were the next most common choices for both riders and non-riders. Compared to rider respondents, 
about 8% more non-rider respondents were employed part-time (Figure 81).  

55%

36%

2%
7%

58%

37%

0%
5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Female Male Non-binary Prefer not to say

%
 R

es
po

nd
en

ts

Rider

Non-rider

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Blank
Other

American Indian or Alaskan Native…
Asian Pacific Islander, Other

Black or African-American, White Caucasian
Latinx Hispanic, Black or African-American

White Caucasian, American Indian or Alaskan Native
White Caucasian, Latinx Hispanic

Other, White Caucasian
Asian Pacific Islander, WhiteCaucasian

Black or African-American
White Caucasian, Asian Pacific Islander

Latinx Hispanic, White Caucasian
Prefer not to say

Asian Pacific Islander
Latinx Hispanic

White Caucasian

Non-rider

Rider



DRAFT 

128 
 

 

Figure 81: Employment status  

 

In general, rider respondents had lower household incomes than non-rider respondents. About 37% of non-
rider respondents reported a household income of over $80,000, compared to 26% of riders. Similarly, 
about 15% of riders reported an income of less than $20,000, compared to 5% of non-riders (Figure 82).  

Figure 82: Household income  

 

Figure 83 and Figure 84 show home location (by ZIP code) for riders and non-riders, respectively. Of the 
224 rider respondents who provided a ZIP code, the most common locations were ZIP codes 93101 and 
93117, representing central Santa Barbara and Isla Vista/west South Coast, respectively. Non-riders 
provided fewer responses overall (53), but the most common ZIP code was 93117 representing Isla Vista 
and Goleta.  

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

Blank

Employed Full-Time, Employed Part-Time

Employed Full-Time, Student, Employed Part-Time

Employed Part-Time, Retired, Student

Employed Full-Time, Student

Student, Unemployed

Student, Employed Full-Time

Employed Part-Time, Student

Unemployed

Student, Employed Part-Time

Employed Part-Time

Student

Retired

Employed Full-Time

Non-rider

Rider

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40%

Don't know/Prefer not to say

Less than $20,000

$20,000 - 40,000

$40,000 - 60,000

$60,000 - 80,000

More than $80,000

Non-rider

Rider



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 129 
 

Figure 83: Rider home locations (by ZIP code) 

 

Figure 84: Non-rider home locations (by ZIP code) 

 

Travel Choice 

When asked why they choose to ride the bus, respondents said environmental benefits were the most 
important reason for using the bus. The close proximity of the bus line to their homes and places of 



DRAFT 

130 
 

 

work/school, as well as preferring a car-free lifestyle were the next most commonly selected answers 
(Figure 85). Please note this was a “select all that apply” question.  

Figure 85: Reasons for riding the bus 

 

Other reasons respondents ride the bus were:  

• Single car family that utilizes the bus instead of a second car  
• Riding the bus allows them to walk more and develop healthy habits  
• The bus is a good alternative for when their car is broken, in the shop, or unavailable  
• Allows time to get work done or read  
• Kids like riding the bus  
• To socialize  
• Sightseeing  
• To not have to drive after drinking  
• Can’t drive due to age or disability  

 

Respondents who don’t ride the bus were asked why they decide to not take the bus. As shown in Figure 
86, trip length was the most common reason for not riding the bus. Non-riders also commonly expressed 
they preferred to drive their cars, and the buses are too far away from where they live and work. Please 
note this was a “select all that apply” question.  

38

38

51

57

74

94

100

108

113

139

145

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160

Other

Saves time

My bus passes are subsidized by my employer

I cannot drive/ do not have a driver license

I do not have access to a car or other transportation

Saves money and time I would spend on parking

It saves money on gas and other car expenses

I can avoid the stress of driving and traffic congestion

I prefer a car-free or car-light lifestyle

I live, work, or attend school close to the bus lines

It reduces my carbon footprint and is better for the environment

Responses



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 131 
 

Figure 86: Reasons for not riding the bus 

 

Other reasons non-rider respondents listed were:  

• COVID-19 concerns 
• Being new to the city  
• Bus services don’t operate on the days and times needed  
• Bus passes are too expensive/ no free passes for UCSB staff 
• Buses don’t serve the area needed  
• Riding the bus would take too long, specifically when running errands  

 
Trade-off Questions 

In order better understand community transportation preferences and identify transit priorities, respondents 
were asked to state their preferences in a series of trade-off questions.  

First, respondents were asked to choose between less frequent service and more coverage, or more 
frequent service and less coverage, shown in Figure 87 .  

 

 

 

 

 

8

2

4

5

7

7

8

13

17

21

22

25

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Other

I prefer to carpool or get a ride from a friend or family member

The bus is too full of people

I have to use my own vehicle for work purposes

I prefer to bike to my destination

I prefer to walk to my destination

I don't feel safe taking the bus

The hours that the bus runs don't fit with my schedule

The bus is too infrequent

The bus doesn't come close enough to where I live, work, or attend…

I prefer to drive my car

The bus takes too long to get me to my destination

Responses



DRAFT 

132 
 

 

Figure 87: Frequency vs. coverage tradeoff question 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 133 
 

Both riders and non-riders preferred more frequent service. Riders especially showed a preference for 
this option, with 70% of rider respondents choosing more frequent service over more coverage (Figure 
88). 

 

Figure 88: Frequency vs. coverage  

 

Next, respondents were asked to choose between longer walks with faster trips, or shorter walks with slower 
trips (Figure 89).  

70%

57%

30%

43%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Riders

Non-riders

More frequent service, less
coverage

Less frequent service, more
coverage



DRAFT 

134 
 

 

Figure 89: Stops vs. express tradeoff question 

 

Both rider and non-rider respondents said they preferred longer walks with faster trips over shorter walks 
with slower trips (Figure 89). 

Figure 90: Stops vs. express  

 

64%

70%

36%

30%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Riders

Non-riders

Longer walks, faster trips

Shorter walks, slower trips



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 135 
 

Respondents were then asked to choose between a faster trip with connections, or slower trips with no 
connections (Figure 91).  

Figure 91: Direct vs. transfers tradeoff question  

 

As shown in Figure 92, about 60% of both riders and non-riders said they would prefer shorter trips with 
connections over longer trips with no connections.  



DRAFT 

136 
 

 

Figure 92: Direct vs. transfers  

 

Lastly, riders were asked if they would prefer more service during peak periods or more service all day 
(Figure 93). 

Figure 93: Peaked vs. all day service tradeoff question  

 

41%

43%

59%

57%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Riders

Non-riders

Longer trip, no connection

Shorter trip, connection



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 137 
 

Here, we see a difference between rider and non-rider respondents. The majority of riders said they would 
prefer more off-peak service, whereas non-riders showed a preference for more peak service (Figure 94).  

Figure 94: Peaked vs. all day service  

 

Overall, both riders and non-riders favored frequent service with fewer stops, with routes that rely on 
connectivity or transfers for shorter overall travel times, with a rough 50-50 split in terms of favoring more 
service during non-traditional peak hours. These insights will directly help define service concepts and 
proposal for the SRTP’s bus network. 

Transit Priority Treatments  

Respondents were asked to choose their level of support or opposition to several transit priority treatments 
to identify potential treatment options.  

In general, both riders and non-riders supported the idea of bus stop consolidation. Around 54% of riders 
and 66% of non-riders said they somewhat or strongly support this treatment (Figure 95). This echoes the 
responses regarding the trade-off of walking further to a more frequent bus. 

53%

47%

47%

53%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Riders

Non-riders

More off peak

More peak



DRAFT 

138 
 

 

Figure 95: Bus stop consolidation 

 

When asked about transit signal priority (TSP), most riders and non-riders said they somewhat or strongly 
support this potential treatment. Riders especially showed strong support for TSP, with 79% of respondents 
saying they either somewhat or strongly support this treatment (Figure 96).  

Figure 96: Transit signal priority  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6%

3%

17%

18%

11%

25%

37%

32%

29%

22%

Rider

Non-rider

Strongly oppose Somewhat oppose Don't know Somewhat support Strongly support

3%

7%

5%

5%

16%

25%

19%

17%

57%

47%

Rider

Non-rider

Strongly oppose Somewhat oppose Don't know Somewhat support Strongly support



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 139 
 

As seen in Figure 97, respondents also supported all door boarding as a potential transit priority treatment.  

Figure 97: All door boarding  

 

Again, both riders and non-riders showed support for queue jump lanes, with 75% of riders and 63% of 
riders who said they would support this treatment (Figure 98).  

Figure 98: Queue jump lanes  

 

68% of riders said they somewhat or strongly support bus only lanes, while 57% of non-riders said they 
support this treatment (Figure 99).  

4%

5%

7%

13%

12%

12%

22%

17%

55%

53%

Rider

Non-rider

Strongly oppose Somewhat oppose Don't know Somewhat support Strongly support

2%

3%

4%

8%

18%

25%

24%

28%

51%

35%

Rider

Non-rider

Strongly oppose Somewhat oppose Don't know Somewhat support Strongly support



DRAFT 

140 
 

 

Figure 99: Bus only lanes  

 

Figure 100 shows a more detailed breakdown of rider support for each transit priority treatment. There is 
strong support across the board, but respondents expressed the most support for all door boarding with 
77% who answered they either somewhat or strongly support the treatment.  

Figure 100: Rider support for transit priority treatments  

 

As shown in Figure 101, non-riders also showed the strongest support for all door boarding, with 70% of 
non-riders reporting they somewhat or strongly support this option.  

9%

17%

10%

15%

13%

12%

21%

25%

47%

32%

Rider

Non-rider

Strongly oppose Somewhat oppose Don't know Somewhat support Strongly support

6%

3%

4%

2%

9%

17%

5%

7%

4%

10%

11%

16%

12%

18%

13%

37%

19%

22%

24%

21%

29%

57%

55%

51%

47%

Bus Stop Diet

TSP

All Door Boarding

Queue Jump Lanes

Bus Only Lanes

Strongly oppose Somewhat oppose Don't know Somewhat support Strongly support



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 141 
 

Figure 101: Non-rider support for transit priority treatments  

 

Service Augmentations 

Microtransit  

Respondents were asked where they think microtransit could be implemented to improve overall transit 
services in the community. Respondents considered Downtown Santa Barbara the top location that could 
benefit from microtransit services, with around 37 responses. Respondents said Downtown could benefit 
from more night service, service from the County Health Campus to Downtown, UCSB to Downtown, and 
other detailed information. 

UCSB and Goleta were also commonly mentioned, with around 28 and 19 comments respectively. The top 
10 most-mentioned locations are summarized in Table 21 below.  

Table 21: Top 10 Locations for Microtransit  
 Location Count 
1 Downtown Santa Barbara 37 
2 UCSB 28 
3 Goleta 19 
4 Santa Barbara (not Downtown) 15 
5 The Mesa 15 
6 Westside 14 
7 Carpinteria 13 
8 Amtrak Stations 12 
9 Montecito 11 
10 Airport 10 

Other commonly cited areas included Isla Vista, Eastside, The Mission, residential areas, Cathedral Oaks, 
Islamic Center of Santa Barbara, Upper State St, senior facilities, Cottage Hospital, medical clinics, Calle 
Real, SBCC, Cross Town, grocery stores, Riviera, and trailheads.  
 

3%

7%

5%

3%

17%

18%

5%

13%

8%

15%

25%

25%

12%

25%

12%

32%

17%

17%

28%

25%

22%

47%

53%

35%

32%

Bus Stop Diet

TSP

All Door Boarding

Queue Jump Lanes

Bus Only Lanes

Strongly oppose Somewhat oppose Don't know Somewhat support Strongly support



DRAFT 

142 
 

 

New & More Service  

Similarly, respondents were asked to provide their thoughts about where new service could be 
implemented, or where current service could be expanded to improve transit services. UCSB was cited the 
most, with around 29 responses. More specifically, respondents expressed a need for service from The 
Mesa to UCSB, La Cumbre Plaza to UCSB, and from UCSB to Calle Real. 

The Islamic Center of Santa Barbara (14), Downtown Santa Barbara (13), and Goleta (13) were the next 
most-common answers. The top 10 locations are summarized in Table 22 below. Notably, State Street was 
a popular response, suggesting the need for a service to replace the State Street Shuttle on a nearby 
corridor.  

Table 22: Top 10 Locations for New or More Service 
 Location Count 
1 UCSB 29 
2 Islamic Center of Santa Barbara 14 
3 Downtown 13 
4 Goleta 13 
5 Shuttles 12 
6 Cathedral Oaks 10 
7 Amtrak Stations 10 
8 State Street 9 
9 The Mission 9 
10 Carpinteria 9 

Other commonly mentioned areas included Calle Real, The Mesa, Santa Barbara, the Harbor, the Natural 
History Museum, Riviera, Westside, Montecito, trailheads, the waterfront, Ventura, the Botanic Garden, and 
Eastside.  

Comments About Safety  

Respondents expressed a variety of comments and concerns surrounding safety, and general themes are 
summarized below. 

• Bus driving quality  
o Perception that bus operators are not exhibiting safe driving behaviors  
o Bus operators should make sure passengers are all seated before starting to drive  

• Buses & Passenger Loads 
o Buses that go on the highway should have seatbelts  
o Buses are too large (don’t fit within the lanes)  
o On some routes, buses are too full, and people/kids are standing all the way to the front 

of the bus  
• Providing more weekend and evening service 

o This would reduce drunk driving/provide an option to those who are partying 
o Provide an option to students who are studying late  

• Transit centers 
o Unruly riders at the Transit Center, especially at night 
o More security needed at Transit Center  
o Lighted sheltered seating is needed 
o Safe bike parking is needed 

• Bus stops  
o Lack of comfort: seating, cover, lighting, and trash cans are essential 



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 143 
 

o Concerns about homeless people camping out at bus stops  
• COVID-19 

o Concerns about ventilation and mask wearing on the bus  
• Making travel corridors more pedestrian, bike, and bus friendly 

 

Other Comments 

All survey respondents were given space to provide other open-ended comments. Summaries of rider and 
non-rider comments are listed below.  

• Service complaints & requests  
o Disappointment about discontinuation of shuttle service  
o Request for passes for university faculty and staff  
o Request for electronic farecard and an app to pay  
o No shade at bus stops, bus stops aren’t clean  
o Lack of service at Cathedral Oaks Road  
o Request for later service, earlier service, and more service on weekdays and weekends  
o Requests for low-no carbon solutions/ electric buses  
o Request for bike parking at bus stations  
o Request for more bike racks on buses  
o Request for more frequent service  
o Free bus service  
o Preference for smaller buses  
o Service from Amtrak to transit center  
o Service from Amtrak to the zoo  
o More service in Old Town Goleta  

• Compliments  
o Professional drivers  
o Excellent service 
o Clean buses  
o Integration with Google Maps is helpful  
o Great bus system 
o Intuitive website  
o Thank you!  

 

Key Takeaways 

The survey provided valuable insight into rider and non-riders’ transportation choices, service preferences, 
support for potential transit priority treatments, and opinions about areas that would benefit from microtransit 
and/or new service. Key takeaways from the survey are summarized below:  

• Riders’ primary reasons for riding the bus were environmental responsibility (reduction of carbon 
footprint) and convenience (bus lines located near riders’ homes, schools, and places of work). 

• Non-riders’ primary reasons for not riding the bus were a lack of convenience (trip times too long), 
and an overall preference for driving. 

• Overall, both riders and non-riders said they would prefer more frequent service with fewer stops, 
with routes that utilize transfers for shorter travel times. 



DRAFT 

144 
 

 

• The majority of both riders and non-riders support all of the transit priority treatments. Both riders 
and non-riders showed strongest support for all door boarding. 

• Respondents said microtransit would be most beneficial, generally, in Downtown Santa Barbara, 
UCSB, and Goleta.  

• Respondents said they would generally like to see new or more service at UCSB, the Islamic Center 
of Santa Barbara, Downtown Santa Barbara, and Goleta.  

Bus Operator Surveys 

In addition to surveying the public, we also surveyed bus operators to understand their view on MTD’s 
service and service design trade-offs. A total of 16 bus operators participated. 

Customer Priorities & Service Delivery Challenges  

Bus operators were asked to choose the top three factors they think are most important to customers. 
Reliability was thought to be the most important, with safety, customer service, and service frequency being 
the next most chosen answers (Figure 102).  

Figure 102: Most important factors for customers  

 

When asked to choose the top three challenges for service delivery, bus operator availability was seen as 
the biggest challenge. Layover facilities and safety/security were also commonly chosen (Figure 103).  

 

1

1

3

3

4

4

7

7

8

13

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

Fares (affordability)

Levels of off-peak service

Directness of service

Minimal transfers

Travel time

Cleanliness of the buses

Service frequency

Customer service from Operators

Safety at bus stops

Reliability (on-time performance)

Responses



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 145 
 

Figure 103: Challenges for service delivery  

 

MTD Service Area  

Bus operators were asked to list areas within MTD’s service area that they think could generate more 
ridership. Suggestions included:  

• Service to old Mission 
• Service to Botanic Garden  
• Service to outer Goleta  
• Shuttle routes up Chapala and Anacapa  
• Crosstown and seaside shuttles  
• Express service to/from Carpinteria and Goleta at rush hour  
• Have lines 6 & 11 turn into the Line 20 at the Center or 21 return (at the right time of day)  
• Have lines 12 & 24 turn into the Line 21 (at the right time of day - maybe mornings), exit on Carrillo 

St. not Laguna St. 
 

Trade-off Questions  

Bus operators were also asked which tradeoffs they thought customers would prefer. Half of bus operators 
thought customers would prefer more frequent service with less coverage, and the other half thought 
customers would prefer less frequent service with more coverage (Figure 104).  

 

 

 

 

1

1

1

3

6

7

8

8

12

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Vehicles available/ready for pull out

Other: long days

Other: splitting of runs

Meeting on-time performance

Scheduled running times

Mechanical conditions of the vehicles

Layover facilities

Safety and security

Bus operator availability

Responses



DRAFT 

146 
 

 

Figure 104: Frequency vs. coverage (bus operators) 

 

As shown in Figure 105, 60% of bus operators thought customers would prefer longer walks with faster 
trips over shorter walks with slower trips. This generally aligns with rider responses (64% of riders said they 
would prefer this option).  

Figure 105: Stops vs. express (bus operators)  

 

The majority of bus operators thought customers would prefer shorter trips with connections (Figure 106) 
which aligns with the 59% of riders who said they prefer this tradeoff.  

 

50%50%

More frequent
service, less
coverage
Less frequent
service, more
coverage

60%

40% Longer walks, faster
trips
Shorter walks, slower
trips



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 147 
 

Figure 106: Direct vs. transfers (bus operators) 

 

Lastly, as shown in Figure 107, 73% of bus operators thought customers would prefer more service during 
peak hours. Interestingly, 53% of riders said they would prefer the other option, more off-peak service. 

Figure 107: Peak vs. all day service (bus operators) 

 

 

 

 

40%

60%

Longer trip, no
connection
Shorter trip,
connection

27%

73%

More off peak
More peak



DRAFT 

148 
 

 

Transit Priority Treatments  

Bus operators were asked to choose their level of support for the following transit priority treatments. The 
responses reflect support for all the transit priority treatments except for all door boarding.  

Bus operators mostly supported bus stop consolidation, with about 67% saying they were either somewhat 
or strongly supportive of this treatment (Figure 108).  

Figure 108: Bus stop consolidation (bus operators)  

 

Similar levels of support can be seen for transit signal priority (TSP). About 86% of respondents said they 
somewhat or strongly support this transit priority treatment (Figure 109).  

Figure 109: Transit signal priority (bus operators) 

 

7%
7%

20%

27%

40%
Strongly oppose

Somewhat oppose

Don't know

Somewhat support

Strongly support

13%

13%

73%

Strongly oppose

Somewhat oppose

Don't know

Somewhat support

Strongly support



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 149 
 

When asked about all door boarding, 67% of bus operators said they strongly oppose this idea, with about 
13% who said they support the treatment (Figure 110).  

Figure 110: All door boarding (bus operators)  

 

As shown in Figure 111, bus operators showed strong support for queue jump lanes. 94% of respondents 
said they either somewhat or strongly support this treatment.  

Figure 111: Queue jump lanes (bus operators) 

 

Lastly, 73% of bus operator respondents said they strongly supported bus-only lanes, and 7% were 
somewhat supportive of this treatment (Figure 112).  

67%

13%

13%

7%

Strongly oppose

Somewhat oppose

Don't know

Somewhat support

Strongly support

7%

27%

67%

Strongly oppose
Somewhat oppose
Don't know
Somewhat support
Strongly support



DRAFT 

150 
 

 

Figure 112: Bus-only lanes (bus operators) 

 

Other Comments  

Only a few comments were received: 
• Improvement of driver shifts; reduce split shifts  
• Introducing tap cards to help speed up service  
• Express service on State and Hollister Street, as well as feeder routes covering more areas 
• Take over responsibility of Easy Lift  

 

Key Takeaways 

The bus operator survey provided valuable insight into bus operator concerns and challenges, thoughts 
about customer preferences, and preferences for transit priority treatments and service adjustments. Key 
takeaways from the bus operator survey are summarized below:  

• Bus operators thought reliability and safety are the most important factors for customers. 

• Bus operators said the biggest challenges for service delivery are bus operator availability, safety 
and security, and layover facilities. 

• Bus operators thought service to Old Mission, Botanic Garden, and outer Goleta would be most 
useful for generating ridership. 

• Bus operators accurately intuited riders’ inclinations, with most answers aligning with riders’ 
preference for frequent service and faster trips. 

• Bus operators showed support for all the bus priority treatments except for all door boarding. They 
showed the strongest support for transit signal priority and bus-only lanes. 

 

 

20%

7%

73%

Strongly oppose

Somewhat oppose

Don't know

Somewhat support

Strongly support



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 151 
 

Stakeholder Feedback 

MTD and Stantec staff held one-hour sessions with key stakeholders across the region to discuss the SRTP 
process, to present some grounding concepts and trade-offs inherent to transit service design and 
operations, and then to discuss how each stakeholder could contribute to the SRTP process and provide 
updates into projects, policies, or other items that may impact the SRTP process. 

Below are key discussion points for each of the stakeholders (Table 23). 
 
Table 23: Stakeholder Feedback Summary. 

Stakeholder/Meeting Regional Role Key Takeaways 
SBCAG 
Nov. 8, 2021 

Metropolitan Planning Organization 
- Develops regional transportation 

and land use plan 
- Develops lists of priorities and 

projects for the County 
- Distributes funding for 

transportation 
- Operates some transit (Clean Air 

Express) 

- Initial insights into 2020 Census data 
revealed more growth in North County 
than South Coast 

- Housing pressures continue to increase, 
especially for UCSB 

- Improvements in transit service levels 
should occur in TPAs 

- Improvements or new transit facilities on 
ROWs should also consider cycling 
impacts 

- Traffic Solutions can help with outreach 
and education 

- US-101 lane widening and HOV will come 
online in 2027 

- CAE ridership down by about 50%. 
Coastal Express about 70-80% of pre-
COVID ridership 

- Peak ADT numbers are higher than pre-
pandemic in the PM peak 

- SBCAG interested in MTD taking over 
CAE operations 

UC Santa Barbara 
Nov. 10, 2021 

University with substantial population 
(over 30,000 students and staff) 
Major transit ridership base 

- UCSB is facing a serious housing 
shortage, while trying to accommodate 
increased demand for attendance. 
Nonetheless, attendance is capped at 
25,000 through 2025. 

- 10,500 students living in University-
housing, not including hotels 

- No planned changes to TAP or parking 
passes (first year students aren’t allowed 
to park on Campus) 

- In 2019, 61% of faculty/staff drove to 
campus; 5% rode the bus75 

- In 2019, 44% of students biked to campus, 
26% walked, and 15% rode the bus76 

- Most students live in Goleta and Isla 
Vista,77 and housing pressures continue to 
be felt there 

City of Goleta 
Nov. 10, 2021 

City staff, including: 
- Public works 

- Increasing population and increasing 
pressure for development and growth 

                                                      
 
75 https://sustainability.ucsb.edu/sites/default/files/2019-modesplit.pdf  
76 Ibid. 
77 https://bap.ucsb.edu/institutional-research/campus-profiles  

https://sustainability.ucsb.edu/sites/default/files/2019-modesplit.pdf
https://bap.ucsb.edu/institutional-research/campus-profiles


DRAFT 

152 
 

 

Stakeholder/Meeting Regional Role Key Takeaways 
 - Engineering 

- Housing/planning/development 
Controls certain ROW of MTD bus 
lines 
Controls zoning and development in 
Goleta 

- Looking to direct development along 
corridors, namely Calle Real and Hollister 

- Currently implementing bike plan 
- Train station under development – 

important for first-last mile connectivity 
- City is contemplating bike sharing program 
- Old Town Goleta is designated as a 

disadvantaged community in 
CalEnviroScreen 4.0 – can result in 
potential project funding 

- Complete streets project along Hollister 
between Kellogg and Fairview (including 
road diet) – could be leveraged for transit 
facilities (as a ‘complete street’) 

County of Santa 
Barbara 
Nov. 17, 2021 

County staff, including: 
- Public Works, Transportation 
- Community Services, 

Development 
Controls certain ROW of MTD bus 
lines 
Develops housing targets and master 
plans 

- County is updating housing element of 
comprehensive plan. However, current 
zoning wouldn’t address needed housing 

- Parks master plan is nearly finalized 
- Developers intend that VMT be offset by 

transit use—but developments have to be 
transit-friendly 

- Environmental assessment for 
State/Hollister design study is wrapping up 
– MTD should coordinate for bus stop 
placement and other amenities or facility 
upgrades 

- County acknowledges disconnect between 
housing needs, goals for increased non-
auto mode share, but stipulated parking 
requirements for developments 

- County’s Climate Action Plan is coming 
soon – could look to transit policies to 
implement 

City of Santa Barbara 
Dec 6, 2021 

City staff, including: 
- Transportation 
- Engineering 
Controls certain ROW of MTD bus 
lines 
Develops master plans and controls 
zoning and development 

- SB 9 is going to Council soon—could shift 
the character of single family lots by 
allowing ADUs 

o If located within 0.5 mile of 
transit, parking requirements 
are waived 

- The City needs to replace signal control 
systems—good opportunity for integrating 
TSP 

- Some opportunities for queue jump too 
- Heaviest lift will be for bus only lanes 
- La Cumbre Plaza—area specific plan is in 

the work; could be a location for transit 
facilities 

- Downtown parking budget is in deficit—
would be challenging as a funding source 
for the shuttle 

- City looking at options for the MTD My 
Ride cards—employee transit pass 
program could be simpler and better 
advertised 

Easy Lift 
Dec 8, 2021 

- Executive Director 
- Operations manager 
- Eligibility manager 

- Like other paratransit programs, demand 
is largely driven by day centers 



Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 153 
 

Stakeholder/Meeting Regional Role Key Takeaways 
Provides ADA/Paratransit service for 
MTD 

(Friendship Center), dialysis, and medical 
trips 

- COVID-19 reduced demand—rebound of 
on-demand trips, but still down on 
subscription trips 

- Medicare services and other health related 
transportation providers have been 
‘dumping’ on Easy Lift 

- Peak hour trip requests exceed supply, 
result in denials (pre-COVID) 

- Denials now are due to restrictions on 
capacity 

- Demand will likely rebound when day 
programs resume in-person activities fully 

- Some travel training is done by Easy Lift, 
some by MTD 

- Could find incentives and education 
programs to entice more riders to use 
MTD rather than Easy Lift, if and when 
possible 

- Easy Lift is also facing operator shortages 
City of Carpinteria 
Dec 10, 2021 

City staff, including: 
- Public Works 
- Planning 
Controls certain ROW of MTD bus 
lines 
Develops master plans and controls 
zoning and development 

- Town is growing 
- More hotels on the edge of town 
- Train service will likely continue to grow to 

serve visitors 
- LOSSAN has a plan to double capacity of 

train platform—siding as well 
- Housing pressure increases spill over to 

Carpinteria and further away 
- More traffic on the 101 
- Maybe more commuter demand 
- Highway causes fragmentation in 

connectivity in Carpinteria 
- At this time, unlikely to have 

interconnected traffic signal, but open to 
TSP (Caltrans also controls some signals 
in Carpinteria) 



DRAFT 

154 
 

 

APPENDIX C – MTD MOVES AHEAD COMMUNITY SURVEY ON DRAFT 
NETWORK CONCEPTS 

This appendix provides summary statistics of the survey to gather feedback on proposed service changes 
during phase 2 of the engagement process in May and June 2022. This is the second survey that was 
administered during phase 2 of the engagement process to obtain feedback on proposed service changes.  

Survey Demographics 

Demographic questions were asked at the end of the survey but presented first to provide an overview of 
who responded to the second MTD Moves Ahead Survey. 
 
Question: Have you been an MTD bus rider at some point over the last 3 years? 
Figure 113: Rider or non-rider 

 
 
Question: How old are you? 
Figure 114: Age 

 
 
 
 

Rider
84%

Non-rider
16%

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Under 18 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+Prefer not to say

Rider

Non-rider



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 155 
 

Question: How do you identify? 
 
Figure 115: Gender identity 

 
 
Question: Which race/ethnicity best describes you? (Check all that apply.) 
Figure 116: Race/ethnicity 

 
 
Question: What’s the ZIP Code where you live? 
Table 24:Most frequent ZIP codes 

 ZIP Code 
Total 
Responses Riders  % Riders 

93013 19 14 74% 

93101 81 71 88% 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Male Female Non-binary Prefer not to
say

Prefer to self-
describe:

Rider

Non-rider

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Rider

Non-rider



DRAFT 

156 
 

 

 ZIP Code 
Total 
Responses Riders  % Riders 

93103 23 21 91% 

93105 33 25 76% 

93110 21 19 90% 

93111 21 18 86% 

93117 115 95 83% 

No response 32 26 81% 

other 56 47 84% 
 
Question: What is your approximate total annual household income? 
Figure 117: Income distribution 

 
 

Line Adjustments 

To gauge the impact and support of proposed service changes, respondents were asked to indicate how 
likely a proposed change would impact their likelihood to take transit. The affected lines included: Line 1, 
2, 4, 17, 6, 11, 20, 23, 25, and 19X as well as microtransit service in Goleta/Isla Vista and Carpinteria and 
a new Waterfront-Downtown Shuttle service. Finally respondents were asked questions about renaming 
lines 6 and 11, service transitions, and transit priority measures were asked. 
 

1. Weekday service on Line 1 (West SB) and Line 2 (East SB) would be more frequent with 30-
minute service from 6-10 pm. Service would also run later--every 60 minutes between 10pm and 
midnight. 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Rider

Non-rider



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 157 
 

Figure 118: Responses for Line 1 and Line 2 

 
 
Table 25: Responses for Line 1 and Line 2 from affected ZIP codes 

ZIP 
Code 

Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely Total 

93101 28 17 34 1 0 80 

93102 0 0 0 0 1 1 

93103 12 5 6 0 0 23 

Total 40 22 40 1 1 104 
 

2. Weekday service on Line 4 (SBCC/Mesa) and Line 17 (Lower Westside/SBCC) would be more 
frequent (every 30 minutes) from 9 am to 6 pm. Service would also run later--every 35 minutes 
from 6 pm to 10 pm. 

Figure 119: Responses for Line 4 and Line 17 

 
 
Table 26: Responses for Line 4 and Line 17 from affected ZIP codes 

ZIP 
Code 

Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely Total 

93109 12 5 1 0 0 18 
 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider



DRAFT 

158 
 

 

3. Weekday service on Line 6 (Goleta) and Line 11 (UCSB) would have more consistent 10- to 15-
minute combined headways throughout the day. Line 11 would have more frequent service (30 
minutes) from 9 pm-midnight. 

Figure 120: Responses for Line 6 and Line 11 

 
 
Table 27: Responses for Line 6 and Line 11 from affected ZIP codes 

ZIP 
Code 

Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely Total 

93105 20 8 4 1 0 33 

93106 9 7 0 0 0 16 

93110 14 6 0 0 1 21 

93111 15 3 2 0 1 21 

93117 76 24 14 1 0 115 
Total 134 48 20 2 2 206 

 
4. Weekday service on Line 20 (Carpinteria) would be increased with 15-minute service from 6-8 am 

and from 4-6 pm, and 30-minute service from 9 am–3 pm.  
Figure 121: Responses for Line 20 

 
 
Table 28: Responses for Line 20 from affected ZIP codes 

ZIP 
Codes 

Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely Total 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180
200

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-Rider



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 159 
 

93013 15 4 0 0 0 19 

93108 1 0 4 0 0 5 
Total 16 4 4 0 0 24 

 
5. Line 23 (El Encanto Heights) and 25 (Ellwood/Winchester Canyon) would become linked at Calle 

Real and Winchester Canyon Rd. Riders in Western Goleta will have a reliable one-seat ride 
through the area and further into Goleta, Isla Vista, or Santa Barbara, minimizing potentially 
confusing transfers between the routes. Map showing the routes of Lines 23 and 25 changed to 
link up at Calle Real and Winchester Canyon Road. There is a red x over a dashed line on 
Bradford Drive and Cathedral Oaks Rd showing portions of the old routes that would be 
eliminated. 

 
Figure 122: Responses for Line 23 and Line 25 

 
 

Table 29: Responses for Line 23 and Line 25 from affected ZIP codes 

 
Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely Total 

93117 39 23 47 2 3 114 
 

6. New Line 19X express service between Carpinteria, East Santa Barbara, and SBCC on 
weekdays. Map of Line 19x, an express service connecting Carpinteria, East Santa Barbara, and 
SBCC. 

Figure 123: Responses for Line 19X 

 
 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider



DRAFT 

160 
 

 

 
Table 30: Responses for Line 19X from affected ZIP codes 

ZIP 
Codes 

Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely 

Total 
 

93013 17 2 0 0 0 19 

93108 1 1 3 0 0 5 
Total 18 3 3 0 0 24 

 
7. New on-demand, all-electric microtransit service called The Wave to serve a portion of Goleta 

and Isla Vista. Microtransit is a flexible, on-demand, curb-to-curb service providing trips between 
any two points in a specified zone for a flat fare ($3 standard fare, or $1.50 for seniors & people 
with disabilities). Riders will order a ride on an app, or by calling the Transit Center. Much like a 
rideshare app, the rider will put in their starting point and ending point, and they’ll be told how 
many minutes before the van arrives. This service would operate Tuesday through Sunday, from 
10am to 9pm. Map of Goleta and Isla Vista showing microtransit zones and points of interest. 
Points of interest are Goleta Train Station, SB Airport, UCSB Elings Hall, Isla Vista Community 
Center, and El Colegio and Embarcadero del Mar bus stop. One zone area is bounded by 
Cortona Drive on the West, Hollister Avenue on the South, Aero Camino on the East, and 
Highway 101 on the North. The other larger zone is bounded by Los Carneros to the west, 
Highway 101 to the south, Patterson Avenue to the east, and Cathedral Oaks to the north. 

Figure 124: Responses for The Wave in Goleta and Isla Vista 

 
 
Table 31: Responses for The Wave in Goleta and Isla Vista from affected ZIP codes 

 
Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely Total 

93111 10 5 5 0 1 21 

93117 65 26 23 0 1 115 
Total 75 31 28 0 2 136 

 
8. New on-demand, all-electric microtransit service called The Wave to serve the entire City of 

Carpinteria and some adjacent incorporated areas such as Santa Claus Lane. Microtransit is a 
flexible, on-demand, curb-to-curb service providing trips between any two points in a specified 
zone for a flat fare ($3 standard fare, or $1.50 for seniors & people with disabilities). Riders will 
order a ride on an app, or by calling the Transit Center. Much like a rideshare app, the rider will 
put in their starting point and ending point, and they’ll be told how many minutes before the van 
arrives. This service would operate Tuesday through Sunday, from 10am to 9pm. 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 161 
 

Figure 125: Responses for The Wave in Carpinteria 

 
Table 32: Responses for The Wave in Carpinteria from affected ZIP codes 

 
Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely Total 

93013 13 5 0 0 1 19 
 

9. A new and modified Downtown-Waterfront Circulator for consideration. There is not currently 
funding identified for this service, and the City of Santa Barbara is currently contemplating the 
future of circulation on State Street and in Downtown Santa Barbara. This new route takes into 
account the blocks of State Street that have become a pedestrian promenade, no longer allowing 
motor vehicles. Map of the Downtown and Waterfront of Santa Barbara with a circulator route that 
goes up Chapala, right on Sola, right on Anacapa, right on Gutierrez, left on State, right on 
Cabrillo, to the harbor, then back down Cabrillo to the Zoo, then up Cabrillo and right on State 
Street, left on Gutierrez and right on Chapala. 

Figure 126: Responses for the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator 

 
 
Table 33: Responses for the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator from affected ZIP codes 

 
Much more 
likely 

Somewhat 
more likely 

Wouldn't 
change 

Somewhat 
less likely 

Much less 
likely Total 

93101 50 15 15 0 1 81 

93102 1 0 0 0 0 1 

93103 13 6 3 0 0 22 
Total 64 21 18 0 1 104 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider



DRAFT 

162 
 

 

 
10. Lines 12X and 24X would be renamed Lines 6X and 11X, respectively, for easier understanding 

of routes since Lines 12X and 24X are essentially express versions of Lines 6 and 11. Nothing 
about the schedules or routes of the lines would change, just the numbers. What do you think of 
this possible change? Text that reads "Lines 12x and 24x would be renamed Lines 6x and 11x, 
respectively, for easier understanding of routes. 

Figure 127: Responses to route name changes 

 
 

11. Service Transitions: To provide more productive and tailored service with the new services 
above, MTD is proposing the following service terminations. The lines mentioned below have 
been suspended since early in the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Terminating Line 10 (Cathedral Oaks) and providing The Wave Goleta microtransit 
service instead. 

Terminating Line 36 (Seaside Shuttle) and providing The Wave Carpinteria microtransit 
service instead. 

Terminating Line 37 (Crosstown Shuttle). Riders can use Lines 1 and 2, and the 
Downtown-Waterfront Circulator. 

Figure 128: Responses to service transitions 

 

Transit Priority Measures 

The final section of the MTD Moves Ahead Survey included questions related to different transit priority 
measures. The last question asked respondents to indicate their support for different aspects of the MTD 
Moves Ahead Project. 

12. Bus signal priority is a cloud-based system that tracks the location of buses and helps get them 
through intersections by making green lights longer for buses. We propose to use bus signal 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Makes sense Don’t care Don't like

Rider

Non-rider

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160

Agree Disagree Don’t care Other

Rider

Non-rider



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 163 
 

priority on key corridors and intersections to move more people more efficiently. Image of an 
intersection with a bus using a queue jump lane and a bus getting a green light. 

Figure 129: Responses to signal priority measures 

 
 

13. There are several ways to configure roadways and intersections that give buses priority since 
they carry more people than a car. Some examples treatments include queue jumps and bus only 
lanes. We propose using priority road treatments to give buses an easier time traveling through 
corridors and intersections. Cross section of a street showing bus only lanes, bike lanes, general 
travel lanes, and sidewalks. 

Figure 130: Responses to bus priority measures 

 
 

14. Please check the box next to the following statements if you agree with them. (Select all that 
apply.) 

a. The MTD Moves Ahead plan considers my input. 
b. The MTD Moves Ahead plan improves my travel. 
c. The MTD Moves Ahead encourages me to ride the bus more often. 
d. The MTD Moves Ahead makes good use of MTD’s limited resources. 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180
200

Much more
likely

Smewhat
more likely

Wouldn't
change

Somewhat
less likely

Much less
likely

Rider

Non-rider



DRAFT 

164 
 

 

Figure 131: Responses to statements about the MTD Moves Ahead Survey 

 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Considers my
input

Improves travel Increases
ridership

Good use of
resources

Rider

Non-rider



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 165 
 

15. Any other comments or suggestions? 
 
Table 34: Comments received  

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English 1,2,4,17 
I love the service changes for lines 1,2,4, and 17. Particularly the availability during the late hours. As someone who has had to walk 
late at night from work. This would give me a safe way home without worrying about late shifts. 

English 12x, 24x 

I used to take 12x or 24 x from Goleta to work in downtown SB, but now I cannot arrive early enough to get to my workplace on time. 
It would be great to be able to have more express options in the morning (increased frequency during commute times). I am now less 
likely to ride since that change.  

English 24x Please bring back 24x (11x) before 8 am. I need it for work. 

English 24x 

The frequency of 24x buses is too low. This is a crucial corridor for commuters between SB downtown and the campus. Please 
consider increasing the frequency to 20 or 25 minutes, and making the gaps as regular as possible. Even before the recent temporary 
schedule change, there were some odd gaps. Since this is a campus commuter bus, it would make sense to ask UCSB's 
Transportation and Parking Services to co-fund this increase in frequency, along the model of the existing Line 28. You could ask 
UCSB to survey faculty and staff regarding their interest in such a change. NOTE ABOUT CURRENT SCHEDULE: the 24x inbound 
schedule for weekday early evenings is absurd. A 70-minute gap between the 4.07pm and 5.17pm buses during a crucial time for 
commuters is not adequate service. Please consider regularize this aspect of the schedule.  

English 24x 24x should run much later and earlier than currently. There should be a bus that links isla vista with fairview avenue 

English 24x It would be great to have a 24x bus before 8 am.  

English 5 

As a frequent user of the line 5 Bus I would really appreciate the line going to La Cumbre Plaza after 4:30 instead of not (I believe this 
change was made during covid, idk.) I do understand though if there are not many people taking it after that hour. Have a fantastic 
day :) 



DRAFT 

166 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English 11 

Having the 11 run later is great. Are you able to conduct a survey that asks users when they get on and get off and how often they 
make that trip? My primary concern with the bus is cleanliness. This improved dramatically during COVID, but seems to be 
decreasing again. 

English 24x 24x at earlier hours 

Spanish 5 That line 5 put up at night because I need it to go to my work I grab the bas almost all week 

English 24x Please get the early routes back on the 24X ASAP! Not all of us are students. some of us work there. 

English  

Thank you for involving the public in your decision! Anything that MTD/SB County can do to improve the bus system will be much 
appreciated. The majority of those working entry level and service industry positions (restaurants, hotels, etc) in Santa Barbara do not 
have their own cars and lack of an effective bus infrastructure makes it very difficult for those individuals to get to work. Earlier and 
later hours, less time between stops.. all will assist. 

English  electric buses on line 1 and 2. these lines don't need to run till midnight - not necessary  

Spanish  midnight is very late. The bus will wake me up so late 

English  Run a little later than 10pm 

English  Each neighborhood should have a morning bus and end of day bus to city college and UCSB 

English  I think it is important for the buses to run late so people will be more likely to take them for leisure as well as necessity!!! 

English  It would be better if there would be bussed running from midnight to 2 am for fridays and saturdays 

Spanish  
That the departures be earlier for the simple reason that we are more workers and students who use public transport, for example 
starting the routes from 5:00 a.m. or 5:30 a.m. 



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 167 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English 3 

I would love to see the waterfront shuttle return! It was a great way to avoid traffic/parking as a downtown resident, and made beach 
trips manageable with and for out of town guests. This will show my ignorance around bus driving - if the 3 bus to Cottage in the 
morning could safely and consistently travel a few mph faster, I would seriously consider using again. It's a great service, but I have 
been behind it traveling 15-18 mph. Maybe there are great reasons for that, I just don't feel that I can reliably arrive at work on time. 
Thanks for keeping public transportation for our city. :) 

English 11 

I think creating more faster means of getting from UCSB to the Camino Real shopping area would be key from 11 - 1 or 2 would be 
great for staff who want to go to that area without taking their cars. Also getting to the beach in Carpinteria can be a hassle. If there 
was a system that would allow for a pick up and drop off anywhere in Carp and drop off at the end of Linden, I could see that being 
used. I like the suggested plans as my condo is outside of the area that the old shuttle would go to so I could never use that shuttle. 
The new plan expands the service area which is nice.  

English 7 
The route 7 bus goes too may places, takes too long, and doesn't take me where I need to go. This does not encourage me to take 
MTD. 

English 6,11,24x It would be great to have a 24x express from La Cumbra/State. The 6/11 takes too long to get to UCSB.  

English 7, 11 
I would still like to see an easier and quicker route from North Fairview to UCSB. The current system of transferring from Line 7 to 
Line 11 turns a 10-minute car drive into what can be almost an hour-long bus trip. 

English  

The length of a bus ride and the difficulty of accessing a bus near where I want to go are major factors that impact whether or not I 
take the bus. I care a lot about public transit, but working class people need quick, reliable transit to feel like they're making efficient 
use of their time.  

English  To be competitive with cars, the bus services need to become faster. 

English  thanks for thinking of ways to get me to ride the bus. If the bus could speed up the time to my destination I would use it 

Spanish  They take so long 



DRAFT 

168 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

Spanish 14 Line14 return to the previous schedule 

English 28, 27 
Make times coincide better with long distances busses like clean air express. Line 28 would be better arriving at 730ish. Same goes 
for 27 

English 11 The last out bounds 11s need to be shorter trips nobody gets on after state and lacumbre 45mins instead of hour trips would be nice.  

English 12, 24x 

If we could have more frequent running’s of the 12 & 24x buses for the workforce that would be great. The buses are full of college 
students and it makes it hard to have reliable work transportation if the bus is full and you have to wait 2 hours until the next one. 
Taking away the 5:55pm time really impacted my work week and I don’t get home until my son’s bedtime. 

English  I had to stop taking the bus because the changes and shortages would have me getting to work late.  

English  Did sb buses ever run on xmas or thanksgiving 

English 6, 11 Better frequency on 6/11 is great. I really hope the new shuttle gets funded, it would be perfect. More bus lanes as well please! 

English 24x 

Something MTD really needs to fix is the reliability of the online "Estimated Arrival Times". Sometimes buses just don't show up which 
can be extremly inconvenient if service is every 40 or 50 minutes. I take the bus daily and this has happened several times in line 24X 
in the last year. It says online the bus will come in X minutes and then it just doesn't. A couple of times it has happened with two 
consecutive services making me wait for over an hour and half at the bus stop. 

English 12x 

increase the frequency and extend the time of the 12x (6x) bus. Connect to other regional transit hubs. (amtrak to SBA or rides 
between amtraks and airport shuttles) More express busses. (downtown to upper state/la cumbre or downtown to butterly beach, el 
capitan, or padaro) Bus to Lake Cachuma on the weekends 

English 12x possible more 12x times, accessibility from Dos Pueblos High School 

English 27 Give students a more consistent Line 27 



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 169 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  

Appreciate later service along State/Hollister and to the Mesa. It would make expensive taxi trips unnecessary for me. Please 
consider weekend service improvements. Would prefer to have clockface schedules (same departure times every hour e.g. every 30 
minutes consistently instead of every 24 or 35) to simplify connections between lines and make the schedule easier to remember. 
This is especially important on weekends and off-peak periods when some lines run only hourly. Excited to see what bus priority can 
do to make the ride faster and more reliable. Perhaps some of the savings can be reinvested into better service. I can see the logic 
behind 6X and 11X though I am concerned that one number can mean two different routes if the X is omitted. 12X and 24X are 
unambiguous even without an X. Line 7 also acts as an express version of the 6 and 11 between downtown and Upper State areas. 
Likewise, when the 21X returns to service would it also be renamed to 20X? Carpinteria microtransit makes sense to me given how 
difficult it is to service that entire area with fixed-route buses. Never had the opportunity to use the previous shuttle. Can see Goleta 
microtransit becoming really popular. Personally do not have an issue with paying an extra fare though this might be a concern with 
lower income riders. Not mentioned on the Wave page is how transfers *from* MTD bus/Amtrak to microtransit work. Do I pay only 
the difference in cash or a full $3 fare? Would like to see contactless payments expanded to more routes and on the Wave as well as 
more rider categories (senior/disabled). 

English  I think frequency should be increased in existing lines as well, at least for peak hours. 

English  Clearer #s, more frequency of buses, bus stops inclusive of more bus lines 

English  more frequent service 

English  
Please would you add the the Waterfront bus to travel through Montecito? More bus services and bus every 20 minutes from the 
waterfront, Milpas street to Montecito? Thank you  

English  
Can MTD please do no more reductions? I’m now constantly late fire school because of the reductions. And people are being 
rejected for taking the bus because the bus is full all the time. 



DRAFT 

170 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  More drivers pleaseeee! More frequent times to get people from UCSB to downtown on express 

English  
My top priority is frequency of buses along known routes. Even if the bus doesn't reach every location I need to go, it is much better 
to not have to plan carefully with a bus schedule, rather to show up at a bus stop and know I'll get a ride within 10 mins or so 

English  I travel from Oxnard to SB on a carpool, so I don't use the bus service. 

English  
I like to see if its possible to connect The Botanic Gardens and the Old Mission of Santa Barbara. Using the proposed State 
St/Waterfront Shuttle. Getting a one seat ride from the Botanic Gardens and the Old Mission to Santa Barbara Amtrak Station. 

English  
If the downtown-waterfront circulator does not pan out, please consider other options to connect Greyhound & Amtrak to the MTD 
transit center.  

English  

Clean up the existing bus stops and benches!! Get the chronic people that hang out there to a different location so I can feel safe 
taking the bus. The stop at the 154 and Hollister is a disaster and I won't go near it anymore. Too unsafe! Clean up the stop at Old 
Mill and Calle Real- it's a mess too. They all need cleaning and find a way to make the bus stop benches available to seniors like me 
who need to sit. There is still a bus stop that do not have a posted schedule on upper State St near Hitchcock. Clean up what exists 
before moving forward on anything else. 

English  Add a permanent schedule to each bus stop so people can know when the bus is arriving  

English  No smoking signs at stops 

English  Better bus shelters would be nice (trash can, seating, and shade) 

English 12x Bus 638 route 12X Erika let's Hispanic population use expired old passes daily 7:25am  

English  I'm so thankful to be able to ride for free as a UCSB student! 

English  Can't beat the price 

English  

An app-based fare payment system! That way people who don’t often ride the bus can decide to use the bus if for example they 
drank too much downtown - requiring preparation like buying a bus pass in advance or having to bring cash makes people more likely 
to hail a rideshare.  



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 171 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  I would like to see the on-demand service cost a little bit less in order to encourage more riders. 

English  

for tickets and passes, like the Santa Barbara city college and ucsb stickers on student ' s id' s, I'd ride the bus much more if the 
id's/sticker program were in place. I use a power wheelchair and I have uncontrolled movements of my arms,making it unpredictable 
to hand over the bus pass. but I am perfectly qualified to take buses. I would love if mtd would welcome this system to the general 
public.  

English  I would like to see a bus pass for UCSB faculty and staff 

English  Be able to buy passes after hours or have pass vendors through out sb and Goleta etc 

English  Make the bus free  

English  Lowering the cost of bus passes would help 

English  Make it easy for older folk to buy tickets who are not used to using machines. We are a large demographic who uses the bus. 

English  
Please make riding the bus free for middle school students. It is free for college students. Middle school students to La Colina, La 
Cumbre and SB Junior High could greatly benefit. 

English  Make all busses free all the time. 



DRAFT 

172 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  

Mobility As A Service (MaaS) is a new system being tried by various cities throughout Europe and Asia to try and reduce the use of 
private cars on city streets. Most MaaS systems work like this: The user is given an App which includes suggestions for them to use 
to plan where they have to go that day. The App lets users book a van to pick them up and take them a convenient 'travel hub'. 
There, they can connect with their next mode of transportation. The App will provide the user with exact times and locations of all 
available transportation. The user than avails themselves to both public and private transport services to finish what they have to do 
that day. Finally, another van picks them up at their last 'transport hub' and delivers them back to where they started. In addition, each 
time a user uses the App they are shown how much money they saved by not using their car that day, and they are also shown how 
much they reduced their carbon footprint by not driving their own car. This idea has already considerably reduced private car traffic in 
a number of cities and I think it would be something that both the Department of Transportation and others would generously fund to 
help get it started. Good Luck David Obst 805 453 0024 



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 173 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  

The MTD should consider lowering prices or offering long term single payment unlimited rides as they do for SBCC/UCSB students. 
Why? More people are opting for electric bicycles from ages 16 to any (even younger). If it's more cost effective to invest in an 
electric bike most would choose to do so. How can this consideration be mitigated? extend transfer card times it avoids frustration 
from missing the time window. If possible and still profitable have a commuter perhaps with proof of employer area that provides 
additional discounts. provide an option like the SBCC/UCSB School I.D. program to Jr. High and high school children, especially the 
low income demographic. MTD management should have unknown inspections of drivers monitoring how they interact with the 
public. Riding the MTD I have witnessed some bad situations involving drivers and the public. They have a high stress job and some 
can be less than professional at times when not being observed. With options like bikes/ebikes/uber/taxies/independant drivers any 
bad experience will make the Santa Barbara community less likely to want to ride the MTD. I hope my suggestions and observations 
can help improve the MTD, a public service that is appreciated. Thank you for taking the time to read this.  

English  I would like to get a monthly bus pass online and it’s very convenience I can just show the pass on my iPhone when I get on a bus  

Spanish  We should pay the cost of the trip not only in cash, but also with a card, and some applications such as PayPal, vemo, sell etc. 

English 36, 37 I agree for wave instead of 10. But I think the 36 & 37 should come back 

English 37 

An express bus-only lane on the 101 would be ideal during rush hour. It’s important to give public transit priority over private vehicles 
to get people out of their cars. I strongly oppose the elimination of line 37. People who don’t like the large buses happily ride the 
shuttles, so these should be used more often on more routes (for example, from Westside to the Mesa and to the beaches), not 
eliminated 

English 10 Line 10 can reduce a lot of traffic on Glen Annie rd during DP drop off. Please reinstate that line. 

English 10 I will miss my 24 and 12 , also catedral route will not have any bus?  



DRAFT 

174 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English 21x 

We need to have the line 21x back that takes the freeway to carpintería and have it run on the weekends also it would be more easier 
for the people that goes to carpintería and it would be much easier if the busses went back to the regular hours like it was before the 
schedule changed 

English 28, 27 
Can the old bus stop be restored for 28 and 27 at Pacific Oaks? That helps people living in Ellwood Beach Dr area walk less and also 
avoid taking the connection to 25. Thanks! 

English 22 Bring back Line 22, serving the Upper East Side-Mission-El Encanto-Riviera Theater-Natural History Museum and Botanic Garden. 

English 10 Keep line 10 

English 20x Consider bringing back the direct 101 Carp Express; I believe it was 20X 

English 24x, 11x 

Yes! Stop having the 24x and 12x leave the transit center at the same time! Does not help! Need them to leave at different times so 
the wait time is less! Also when one of those buses is cancelled get out of the office and tell the bus driver sitting there and the people 
waiting at those down the street benches that their bus is canceled and to get on the other bus, and tell the driver to notify the people 
waiting at the bus stops before the freeway! Thank you! 

English 3 
As a blind rider, I appreciate help from supervisors at the Transit center. I would like to see better announcement of stops, either by 
drivers or an automated system, particularly on Line 3 (which goes to the Braille Institute). 

English 15x 
I know there are many reasons for it, but some lines such as the 15x have not been reliably coming at their scheduled times, ( even 
while using the text update system) I know it would help students using that route to have more reliability  

English  

These changes look good. I think the interactive map is great - although I'd recommend replacing the Runtime Column with 
headways or at least one-way runtime. As is, it appears that each rise would take 60+ minutes, although nobody actually rides round-
trip at once, right? So it's not a useful data point, and is somewhat offputting. That's a minor quibble - I think it is a great tool! 



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 175 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  

Would love to see more bike racks near bus stations (especially in Old Town Goleta) in case the bus bike rack is full (generally the 
OTG area severely lacks bike racks so perhaps this is a city problem...). Also would be great to see more bike space on buses. The 
bus tracking app is very unreliable compared to other transit systems I have used in other cities, the timing is frequently very wrong 
even just ten minutes ahead of bus arrival, which significantly changes my plans since my walk to the stop is 10 minutes exactly. 
Otherwise, thank you for doing you best in triaging resources! I cannot say enough how enthusiastic I would be about the Downtown 
waterfront route, it would be a highly utilized route on the weekends. I also love to see these changes for bus infrastructure, I think a 
lot of bicyclists would benefit if they could also utilize some of the lane structure changes. 

English  
More public input because the people that use the buses will know more about it, it means the world to be considered in the decision 
making! 

English  More communication when certain buses are cancelled last minute  

English  
Please make the bus tracker (text to 41411) faster and more accurate. Lately there is often a long delay between when I text 41411 
and when I get a response, and also the arrival times that I get from it are often erratic and sometimes very inaccurate. 

English  
The interior bus electronic signs alerting riders to stops doesn't work anymore. I depend on this, especially at night when bus stops 
are not visible in the dark. When will they be fixed? 

English  
I have a very difficult time using the MTD website to figure out where the buses will go and what time the buses will leave. I thought 
the old website that showed the route maps was much clearer and I could plan ahead better. 

English  

Fire all current employees who are disrespectful, including management and customer service agent at the transit center. I had to ride 
the bus recently and had a bad experience with the bus driver, the customer service agent and manager - they each seemed 
unhappy with their job and lacked customer service skills. It was like stepping back in time when customer management didn’t matter.  



DRAFT 

176 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  

Having the 'real time's information be accurate. I've waited at a stop for over 2 hours and the updates said multiple busses were on 
route, arrived, and departed when they did not. This and/or having the Google maps information as updated as possible because this 
has happened there as well. Also in the demographic question below it says check all that apply but won't let more than one 
selection. 

English  Improve friendliness training for drivers 

English  
For the proposed Microtransit service to be effective, I think it would be great to somehow advertise it on the side of the busses! (Like 
the current McDonalds/SBA ads on the side of some of the MTD busses) 

English  

More bike racks pretty please! Why can you only fit two bikes on a bus instead of four? Extraordinarily inconvenient to not be able to 
ride the bus because two bikes are already on. Also a better way to live track buses because the mobile app is pretty bad and not 
user friendly. 

English 19X When is the new route of 19X ? 

English 24X 
It is nice to see an 'uber' service that takes into account accessibility needs and in electric vehicles. I would rather give my money to 
the city than to Uber. I never realized the 24x was just the 11x with less stops. The name change makes it much more clear.  

English  
looking forward to improved transit options!!! UCSB should help pay for microtransit service because it will really improve the ability 
for lower carbon commuting to campus 

English  
The new downtown-waterfront circulator is great! Also, I would hope that the micro-transit options will include a way for someone to 
bring their bike aboard. 

English  

Not sure about the traffic light idea. It’s hard enough to stand at a corner light waiting for the lights to turn so you can get ahead of the 
bus that’s coming. Sometimes I can be more than 5 min early but by the time the lights change then the bus is coming & leaves 
again. Also would the microtransit pic up in the area of foothill & La cumbre? There is No bus on the wknds along foothill to cathedral 
oaks.  



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 177 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  

1) Regarding your response options. I take the bus because I have to. I have the same need to go on my same usual lines regardless 
of what you do to times and names. You're not creating a new rider out of me by making these adjustments, just increasing 
convenience and maybe shortening the time I have to take off of work to go to appointments. But I do want to say thank you for 
keeping waterfront and the zoo in the conversation. 2) Would the transit center stay open later to take phone call requests for night 
microtransit? 3) I haven't been to Carpinteria in years, don't need to visit, however, the accessible places and times around the city 
would affect my decision to try to go. 4) I watched some video on your website earlier in this process and what stood out was the 
woman pronouncing "Monte-CHEAT-oh." 

English  

Offer an on-demand micro transit option for folx to travel between Westside/mesa, Downtown and Eastside/upper East areas. Fill in 
the gaps where Bcycle options are limited or unavailable so folx can commute and travel across town, not just between Goleta and 
SB. For example, take the bus from SB Bowl to downtown for dinner and then head up the hill to The Mesa. OR catch a performance 
at SBCC and then head downtown for dinner and then back to Eastside/or Upper East.  

English  
It would be great to have smaller vans all over with the ability to hail them with my hand instead of an app. SB should have tons of 
mini-buses so people can rely on them. 

English  

Do not constrain the microtransit to these small neighborhoods in Goleta. The level of service proposed exceeds actual demand in 
these anticipated service areas. Expand to Goleta North and to UCSB/IV and Ellwood. Microtransit is successful if people can get 
OUTSIDE of their neighborhoods. Not simply from the end of one culdesac to the nearest bus stop. There is not demand to support it 
as is planned. Think 4-5 mi radius from major transit trip generators. E.g. all of Carp is a good idea. Also dispense with the slow carp 
buses through Montecito and Summerland and have pax transfer to microtransits there too. Make the carp buses express from Dt 
SB/SBCC to Carp with one stop off 101 in Summerland and 1 stop by the zoo for west montecito transfers.  



DRAFT 

178 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  

One reason that I don't take the bus often is that it takes about 15 minutes to walk to the nearest stop. I can get where I want to go by 
bike faster than that. But not everyone can bike, or walk 15 minutes to a stop - particularly the elderly. I like the proposed microtransit 
that you are considering for Goleta and Carp. Are you also thinking about that for SB? 

English 
20, 19x, 6, 11, 
12x, 24x Commuter buses from Goleta and Carpinteria are so important, but also, bring back the waterfront shuttle!  

English  
Tourists and seniors need regular, dependable service to the waterfront - our biggest tourist destination... We must reinstitute 
waterfront shuttle services ASAP!!! Ebikes are great for younger folks, but not if you are unsteady or have bad eyesight.  

English  

Adding an express bus from the La Cumbre plaza area to UCSB would impact the likelihood of my regularly commuting via the MTD 
more than any other suggestion on this survey. A large number of university staff (many without cars) live in this area of town due to 
the number of relatively affordable apartment complexes.  

English  Please bring back the shuttles 

English  Loss of the downtown waterfront shuttle has resulted in using my car more often, ie a larger carbon footprint. 

English  The Downtown-Waterfront Circulator should be a regular bus line rather than a separate shuttle with its own fare system. 

English 24x, 12x 

Bring back the crosstown shuttle 37. Do not change the 24x to 11x—they are *not* essentially the same—11 riders may be going 
from Mission to Hitchcock, for example, which are not even on the radar of 24x riders going from downtown to UCSB. The downtown 
circulator is not very useful if it can’t run on State. 

English Crosstown Bring back crosstown  

Spanish  Yes, I would like to see more carilles [lanes] for buses 

English  
As a motorist/bicyclist, I would find changes in bus traffic priorities or physical changes in the streets to be confusing. Parklets were 
bad enough. 

English  Don't take away lanes for the bus. Dumb idea. Ridership is declining and traffic is as bad as ever. 



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 179 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  Having bus changing lanes can confuse pedestrian,bike riders.Also very unsafe for motorcyclist. 

English  

As a bicycle commuter I'd like to request that any priority signaling or roadway configuration takes into account the safety of cyclists. I 
assume MTD drivers are usually careful to avoid us, but the more often busses have to cross bike lanes, the more chances there will 
be for accidents (where the cyclist will undoubtedly suffer more than the bus). 

English  

- Thanks for showing up in the community (Downtown Farmers Market) requesting feedback, offering info, and answering questions. I 
didn’t check the other planned pop-ups; hope there are plenty in areas where current and former riders are (honestly the Farmers 
Markets are likely potential future riders, and voters) - Where I answered survey questions neutrally, it is because I don’t live, work, or 
do much business in the subject areas - Transit/bus priority projects: I had to search, read Board Minutes, and follow links to 
understand these—those links should be on the MTD Moves page. Please carefully select a few intersections/routes and priority 
‘modes’ that will demonstrate effectiveness balancing impacts on other vehicle traffic, without worsening pedestrian safety, and 
promote/pilot those. Right now the referenced ‘manual’ looks highly academic, like it values bus traffic above all (with small nods to 
bicyclists), and a catalog of ideas that can easily be poorly applied. Doing so would not only waste energy & resources, it would set 
the goals back by years - MTD has a tough job. Great public transit in various forms is fundamental to every ‘livable’ community. 
Appreciate your willingness to recognize SB has opportunities there; to accept feedback and keep working toward that better future! 

English  
3 bicycles on the front and 4 bicycles on the rear as done in SLO. Allow electric scooters inside the bus as done by many other transit 
authorities around California and the rest of the USA. 

English  

I care less about ALL of this than I do the last mile. BIKE RACKS ON BUSES deal with the last mile, that's what defines if I take the 
bus. We need MORE RACKS so that those of us that want to bring bikes never have to wait for the next bus because the racks are 
full.  

English  To make sure you can bring bike on board or in a rack for all options.  



DRAFT 

180 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English 24x, 11x Changing the 24X to the 11X could lead to riders accidentally getting on an express bus when they wanted the 11. 

English 7 

I noticed there is a UCSB shuttle route on the map. I would like a stop at Ocean Walk Lane/Cannon Green and Phelps road. The 
current closest stop would be Phelps and Pacific Oaks. That is exactly a .5 mile walk from my house. I would be more likely to take 
this shuttle if it stopped closer to the Ocean Walk development. 

English 25 Connection of Ellwood beach area to UCSB as a one line is ideal.  

English 11 
An express bus from Santa Barbara to the airport- maybe via upper state but once on the freeway, no stops at Hollister. Or maybe it 
goes to Hollister after the airport. I would take a bus to the airport if it would take 20 mins or less! 

English 24x, 12x 
I had an idea that’s a spin off of one of your questions. I do not agree with changing 12x and 24x to 6x and 11x BUT what if we had a 
6x and 11x that only stopped at the main bus stops along those routes. 

Spanish 12x 
MANY PEOPLE HAVE HAD PROBLEMS WITH THE 12X SCHEDULE AND WE DON'T GET TO OUR WORK ON TIME. WE DON'T 
KNOW HOW LONG WE ARE GOING TO LAST IN WORK LIKE THIS. 

English  
Please continue the efforts towards electrifying the fleet, not just for GHG emissions but more so for noise. There has been noticeable 
improvement and please keep up the great work! 

English  
If possible, more busses in the UCSB area during key school hours would be helpful. There are times when the bus is full, and 
although a bus may be following, it is not always the same line number. I appreciate all the improvements being proposed 

English  Allow electric scooter on board. ! 

English  It would be convenient if there are direct busses from Mesa to UCSB 

English  

I would like to see a route added that would provide service to the various trailheads (Tunnel Trail, Cold Springs, etc) from 
somewhere common in downtown. Also, I’d like to see frequent service 7 days a week to/from the airport from/to somewhere 
convenient downtown. 



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 181 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  

Consistent scheduling is important, and I like the real time information available on for e.g. Google Maps. It would be wonderful to 
have a bus that could go from hollister to fairview shopping center. Right now to get to for e.g. Trader Joes in Goleta from IV you have 
to get off across the freeway and walk 20 minutes across the freeway.  

English  

We still need better bus service to and from the new UCSB faculty housing (Ocean Walk). The current and proposed bus stops are 
quite far from the housing, particularly when you consider those who have trouble walking. Providing a reliable bus service would 
reduce car traffic to the Isla Vista schools, as well as to the UCSB campus.  

English  
 It seems that there should be service along foothill, at Las Positas and Mission. It seems like there are often people walking long 
distances to work in these neighborhoods. 

English  
Consider partnering with UCSB and/or SBCC to train rising sophomores as bus drivers who would then continue to drive for SBMTD 
for the next several years. Such a program exists at the University of Virginia and works very well. 

English  

I dearly wish there was a direct bus line from the Mesa to SB High School that doesn't require transfers. It only needs to be available 
in the morning and at the end of the school day. This should also be done for all high schools from central points in the HS district to 
discourage student from driving to school 

English  Keep windows open as long as pandemic lasts and keep mandatory mask rule  

English  Please extend booster service to La Colina so it starts at Kellogg and Hollister. 

English  Your race/ethnicity question says select all that apply but will not let me select multiple options 

English  Masks should be required - that would increase my ridership 

English  
Please continue mandating masks on the buses. I will NEVER take a step into the buses EVER AGAIN if you make masking optional 
on the buses. 

English  BRING BACK MASKS ON THE BUSSES.  

English 6,11,7 
The bus I rely on besides the 6 and 11 is Bus 7. Please keep Bus 7 going. It makes a lot of sense linking to the other buses. Thank 
you. 

English 19x I love the idea of a Carpinteria to SBCC route— this would be extremely convenient for me, and several of my students.  



DRAFT 

182 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

Spanish 6, 11 Okay I agree with the changes to 6 and 11 

English 7 

Re-route line 7 buses between Turnpike Rd and Patterson Ave. (N. San Marcos Rd. and University Dr.) Create a superior alternate 
route going up Turnpike, across Cathedral Oaks, and down Patterson Ave to reconnect with existing route 7. Next to no passengers 
use the bus in this section of route 7. The 10-ton, 40 passenger buses are totally incongruous, and overpowering on this section of 
route 7. They traverse these small single family roads, virtually empty, 63 times a day from 6:30 AM to 10 PM. They are not essential, 
wanted or needed by the local family's residents on North San Marcos and University Dr,.  

English 27 

Please improve Line 27. It should go deeper into IV, perhaps down Camino Corto further and then down a central road like Trigo or 
Pasado. From 6800 block, its a .8 mile walk to a bus stop and a 1 mile walk to campus....makes no sense to walk .8 for a bus rather 
than just to campus. Make the Line 27 smarter...we don't need so many buses going down Colegio (11/24X/28/27/12). IV is one of 
the most densely populated neighborhoods in the U.S. Lets service the IV community better please! :)  

English 25, 23, 12x, 24x 

Create a bus route called 6X/25 or 6X/23. It’s extremely inconvenient to take the current 6/25 and have to sit on the bus for an hour or 
more just to go to Elwood from downtown SB. If there was a bus that can take passengers from downtown to Elwood in less time, that 
would be wonderful and time saving.  

English 11x Hello I would like to know if the new 11x, will stop in the closed stop on Arrellaga? 

English 2,3 sorry for the lack of comment on so many lines, I really only ride 2 or 3 lines consistently 

English WAVE 

The Wave is a good idea, but the area covered in Goleta is far too small. If done properly, this type of system could replace much of 
the fixed route service. But it needs to cover a wider area or it probably won't attract much ridership. That would be very bad PR. If it 
does cover a wider area, it could attract a completely new crowd that never would have ridden the bus. Wouldn't that be the best 
possible outcome of a new service, even if it is more expensive and riskier at the start? 

English  I've been a passenger for 35 years & I think MTD drivers are awesome & I appreciate them  



Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 183 
 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  I like what you’re trying to do here. I’m a frequent rider and have been for 30 years. More people should ride the bus! 

English  Bravo.  

English  
I plan to start taking the bus to understand the system personally. I would like to see more students from carpinteria taking the bus to 
SB for school 

English  I sold my car and now rely on the bus and my bike. I love taking the bus!! 

English  Love seeing the smart tech! Very cool.  

English  You guys do a good job Driving buses 

English  this feels like REAL innovation and problem solving. I am thrilled. Already considering selling my car. Thanks.  

English  Very well done. I'm please to be part of a community with such a thoughtful approach to public transit. Thank you! 

English  I love the bus!  

English  I like MTD !! 

English  Keep up the work 

English  Grateful for you guys. Thanks. 

English  
Thank you MTD and all workers for the service you bring to the community. As a frequent bus rider these new changes sound 
exciting. Thank you for giving us input.  

English  Thanks for considering suggestions  

English  The bus drivers are geniuses of love 

English  Good 

Spanish  
I travel to my job every day, therefore I am very satisfied with the change since right now I am being affected and I have to pay for a 
very expensive ride. 

Spanish  Thanks for your job 

English  Why are you messing with the system if you don't have a clear idea of what you're doing. 

English  
you might want to change the wording on some questions. I only ride 3 bus lines so asking questions about lines I do not ride would 
tilt the results of your questionnaire in a bad way 

English  More campus to downtown lines! 



DRAFT 

184 
 

 

Language Lines 
Referenced Original Comment 

English  We need better transportation from Cathedral Oaks to UCSB from Winchester Canyon to Turnpike. 

English  I wish it did consider my input!! 

Spanish  Buses arrive on time 

English  Line 7 👌👌 



Appendix D – Title VI Service Equity Analysis 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 185 
 

APPENDIX D – TITLE VI SERVICE EQUITY ANALYSIS 

The Title VI Requirements and Guidelines for FTA Recipients (Circular 4702.1B) provides guidance and 
procedures to ensure transit service is provided in a nondiscriminatory manner. This means evaluating 
whether a service change or fare change has adverse effects on the service population, and whether those 
adverse effects are borne disproportionately by low-income and minority populations.  

According to the Circular if a transit provider operates 50 or more fixed route vehicles in peak service and 
is located in an Urbanized Area (UZA) of 200,000 or more in population, all elements described in the 
Circular must be included in that transit agency’s Title VI Program78. If a transit provider does not meet this 
threshold, the transit provider is only required to set systemwide standards and policies, and is not required 
by the FTA to complete Service Equity Analyses in response to major service changes. 

As the MTD currently provides service to a UZA with a population slightly below 200,000, it is not mandated 
by the FTA to complete service equity analyses. However, with a focus on equity, it is still important that 
MTD assesses and identifies the impact that the proposed changes in MTD Moves Ahead will have on low-
income and minority populations. MTD defines a major service change as a change of 10% or more in the 
revenue hours of any line. 

This service equity analysis was conducted using the Title VI analysis tool in Remix, a transit planning 
platform that was used throughout planning process of MTD Moves Ahead. This interactive platform allows 
transit agencies to alter routes and see the changes in real time such as revenue hours, costs, schedules, 
and population served. Included in this platform are many data layers that provide details about the service 
area population and travel patterns, pulling from a variety of sources. The data source used for the Title VI 
analysis is from the US Census Bureau, 2016-2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 5-Year 
Estimates79. 

The existing and proposed transit maps and schedules were entered into Remix. Remix then evaluated the 
change in quantity of transit service between the two networks and provided data on the service populations 
impacted. People-trips are used as the unit of measurement, which is calculated by multiplying the 
population surrounding the route (within ¼ mile) by the number of trips operated. Therefore, this analysis 
does not represent the actual number of trips taken by transit riders, but rather the potential transit trips that 
could be taken. People-trips were calculated for the total population as well as for the low-income and 
minority populations living within ¼ mile of transit. These results will show how much transit service 
increased or decreased for each population.  

Table 35 shows the lines with changes that constitute a major service change according to MTD definitions. 
This table shows that all lines with the exception of the Downtown-Waterfront Circulator and the lines that 
will be removed will see an increase in service hours to help improve mobility and accessibility throughout 
the South Coast80,81.  

 

                                                      
 
78 https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/FTA_Title_VI_FINAL.pdf  
79 https://help.remix.com/en/articles/1439215-remix-101-using-the-remix-title-vi-engine 
80 However, the lines that will be removed will largely be replaced with the Wave on-demand microtransit service. 
Impacts of the introduction of these services are also discussed later in this section. 
81 Throughout this section, the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle baseline comparisons comprise both Lines 30 and 34. 

https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/FTA_Title_VI_FINAL.pdf
https://help.remix.com/en/articles/1439215-remix-101-using-the-remix-title-vi-engine


DRAFT 

186 
 

 

 

Table 35: MTD Moves Ahead major service changes 

Line Baseline service 
hours 

Proposed service 
hours Difference 

4 4,531 5,771 27% 
6 20,285 23,282 15% 

10 1,728 0 -100% 
11 30,652 35,919 17% 
17 3,387 4,348 28% 
20 18,362 23,003 25% 
19x 0 742 100% 

Downtown-Waterfront 
Shuttle 12,484 6,040 -52% 

36 4,222 0 -100% 
37 6,158 0 -100% 

The lines that will see major services changes in the proposed network were then evaluated to understand 
the impacts on the service area population and specifically on low-income and minority populations. Table 
36 illustrates the existing and proposed people-trips for each route with a major service change. With the 
exception of Lines 10, 36, 37, and the Downtown Waterfront Shuttle, all service changes result in an 
increase in people-trips (i.e., all values are positive).  

Table 36: Change borne by low-income and minority populations for major service changes 

 Baseline Population Proposed Population Change 

Line People-
trips 

Low 
income 
within ¼ 
mile (%) 

Minority 
within ¼ 
mile (%) 

People-trips 
Low 

income 
within ¼ 
mile (%) 

Minority 
within ¼ 
mile (%) 

Change in 
people-

trips 

Change 
borne 

by low-
income 

Change 
borne by 

minorities 

4 187,779,385 20.40% 48.43% 242,986,660 20.40% 48.43% 55,207,275 20.35% 48.48% 

6 413,156,140 13.39% 44.14% 578,390,920 13.39% 44.14% 165,234,780 13.42% 44.35% 

10 2,058,105 6.27% 29.75% 0 N/A N/A -2,058,105 6.27% 29.75% 

11 847,474,710 23.04% 49.72% 1,089,048,200 23.04% 49.72% 241,573,490 22.86% 49.88% 

17 167,951,905 19.26% 63.08% 188,033,175 19.26% 63.08% 20,081,270 19.26% 63.12% 

20 329,126,265 10.90% 57.18% 390,049,500 10.90% 57.18% 60,923,235 10.90% 57.17% 

19x N/A N/A N/A 7,290,450 15.84% 64.87% 7,290,450 15.84% 64.87% 

Downtown-
Waterfront 

Shuttle 
322,920,740 18.99% 51.16% 73,985,110 18.10% 51.92% -248,935,630 18.10% 51.92% 

36 67,350,900 6.74% 55.36% 0 N/A N/A -67,350,900 6.74% 55.36% 

37 255,795,855 13.50% 58.41% 0 N/A N/A -255,795,855 13.50% 58.33% 

Disproportionate impacts consider low-income populations. As shown in the table above, all lines that result 
in an increase in person-trips have a “change borne by low income” that is very close to the low-income 
population for that route, indicating that these changes have no significant impacts on minorities or low-
income groups. For the introduction of Line 19x, the “change borne by low income” is compared to the area 



Appendix D – Title VI Service Equity Analysis 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 187 
 

low-income average of 14.4%. because the “change borne by low income” for Line 19x is higher than the 
area average, the introduction of this line will positively impact low-income communities.  

The change borne by low-income communities for the proposed removal of Lines 10, 36, and 37 are all 
lower than the area low-income average, indicating that the impact of the removal of these lines on low-
income communities will be minimal. The impacts for Lines 10 and 36 are further mitigated by the 
introduction of the Wave microtransit service in these areas82, which is discussed in more detail later in this 
section. The change borne by low-income communities in relation to the modified Downtown-Waterfront 
Shuttle impacts 18.1% of low-income communities, only slightly lower than the 18.99% low-income 
population for the existing line. While this impact is minimal, it could be further mitigated by eventually 
increasing frequencies on this service to what they were pre-COVID. Despite this, no disproportionate 
impacts are observed in relation to these changes. 

The disparate impact analysis considers minority populations, and the findings are very similar to the 
disproportionate impact analysis. For all lines that experience an increase in person-trips, the “change 
borne by minorities” is virtually equivalent to the minority population for that line, showing that these service 
increases will benefit minority population equal to the rest of the population. The introduction of Line 19x 
has a “change borne by minorities” of 64.87%. This is higher than the area average minority population of 
43.5%, showing that minority populations will benefit from the introduction of this line. Changes borne by 
minority populations from the removal of Lines 10, 36, and 37 are all also lower than the average service 
area minority population, showing that the change borne my minority communities will not disparately 
impact them. Again, the introduction of the Wave microtransit services will further mitigate the impacts seen 
on Lines 10 and 36. The change borne by minorities in response to the modifications to the alignment and 
service schedule of the Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle is slightly higher than the minority population of the 
existing route. While the impact is still minimal, increasing service levels in the future can help to mitigate 
these impacts further. No disparate impacts are observed in relation to these changes. 

To understand the impacts that the introduction of the Wave microtransit service, we looked at the 
percentages of low-income and minority populations within each microtransit zone (Table 37) and 
compared these to both the service area averages, and the low-income and minority populations of the 
lines they are replacing.  

Table 37: Low-income and minority populations in microtransit zones 
Zone Population within area Low income % Minority % 

Goleta 10,700 11% 50% 
Carpinteria 13,500 7% 56% 

Service area average 14.4% 43.5% 

Table 37 shows that the percentage of low-income households in the microtransit zones is lower than the 
service area as whole. However, this difference is less than a typical threshold of 10% meaning that there’s 
no impact to low-income groups. In the microtransit zones, minority populations are a larger proportion of 
the zone’s population compared to the service area as whole. Again, this difference is less than 20%, a 
typical threshold that transit agencies use to identify a negative impact. As such, the introduction of the 
microtransit zones does not introduce any Title VI violations. 

Overall, no significant impacts on low-income or minority populations are observed from implementing the 
changes laid out in MTD Moves Ahead, and in most cases, minority and low-income populations will benefit 
from implementing the proposed service plan.  

                                                      
 
82 This analysis looks at demographics within the Wave zones but not the demographics surrounding any specific pick-up/drop-off 
points outside of the zones. 



DRAFT 

188 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page left intentionally blank



Appendix D – Title VI Service Equity Analysis 
DRAFT 

 

Santa Barbara MTD Short-Range Transit Plan 189 
 

 

 



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 1, 2022 AGENDA ITEM: #9 

DEPARTMENT: PROCUREMENT 

TYPE: ACTION ITEM 

PREPARED BY: VALERIE WHITE ____________________ 
                     Signature            
 
REVIEWED BY: GENERAL MANAGER ____________________  
                          Signature            
 
SUBJECT: CONTRACT AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS TO IMPLEMENT CONTACTLESS 

PAYMENT SOLUTIONS 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests that the Board authorize the General Manager to leverage the following State of 
California Department of General Services Contracts to implement Contactless Payment 
Solutions: 
 

• 5-21-70-28-02 – with Kuba Inc., for on-bus Payment Acceptance Devices (PADs), for a 
Not to Exceed Agreement with MTD of $430,879 for a five-year term; and 

• 5-21-70-28-06 – with Littlepay Inc, for the Transit Processor Services, at firm fixed rates 
with MTD at 2.25% of the revenue of paid bus fares and $ 0.04 per free fare transaction. 

 
DISCUSSION 
After a successful contactless payment pilot program on 18 buses at MTD, led by the California 
Integrated Travel Project (Cal-ITP), a Caltrans initiative to simplify transit planning and payments, 
passenger usage dictates that MTD adopt this tap-to-pay technology system-wide. To make it 
easier and more affordable for local governmental transit agencies, such as MTD, to implement 
contactless payment technology, the California Department of General Services (DGS) 
conducted a Request for Proposal (RFP). The solicitation established Master Service Agreements 
(MSAs) for both Payment Acceptance Devices (PADs) and Transit Processor Services. MTD staff 
examined and determined that the RFP process performed by DGS complied with the full and 
open competition requirements of the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and conformed to the 
procurement policies and regulations of MTD’s Procurement Manual. Thus, the awarded MSAs 
are available to MTD. 
 
SOLICITATION PROCESS 
On July 27, 2022, MTD staff, utilizing the resources from Cal-ITP, sent requests for information 
to the DGS Contractor(s) that described MTD’s operating objectives, intended operating 
environment for a fleet of 112 buses, and desired value-added services (such as on-going 
customer support). MTD received proposals and subsequently interviewed and evaluated the 
following firms: 
 

• PAD vendors (on-bus hardware): SCSOFT Americas LLC and Kuba Inc. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

• Processor Service vendors (fare calculation software): Bytemark Inc. and Littlepay Inc. 
 

Ultimately, MTD’s Evaluation Committee selected Kuba and Littlepay as the firms that offer MTD 
the best “value.” Value determined by the following factors in descending order of importance: 
Solution, Proposal Price and Implementation Schedule. A quantitative representation of the 
evaluations are represented in the table below. 
 

Offeror 
Technical Proposal Evaluations-Ratings (points) Interview 

Advance Solution 
(out of 40 ) 

Price 
(out of 35) 

Implementation 
(out of 25) 

Total 
(out of 100) 

Mean Score 
(out of 10) 

PADS  
SCSOFT 29.33 20.65 17.50 67.48 7.0  
KUBA 36.00 29.17 23.33 88.50 7.4  

Transaction Processing  
Bytemark 32.00 17.50 20.83 70.33 5.5  
Littlepay 34.67 33.83 22.50 91.00 7.5  

 
• Kuba (PAD vendor) represents itself as user-friendly (geared for the general public customer); 

Kuba met all the Scope of Work requirements, presented an aggressive but reasonable 
implementation plan, and revealed its ability to include features and waive fees. 

• Littlepay (processor) presented a more fully developed product, offered insightful data with on-
boardings, and clearly demonstrated its ability to meet MTD’s project needs at a lower price. 

 
With the DGS Contract, Transit Agencies are not required to obtain multiple offers, but conducting 
a cost comparison between contractors is recommended. Each MSA provides pricing deemed 
fair and reasonable. The MSA pricing also serves as the maximum rate to be charged, as transit 
agencies are allowed, as MTD did, to enter into negotiations for the specifics of their operations 
and the products and services to be purchased. 
 

Five-Year Term KUBA - PADS  Littlepay –Transaction Processing 
DGS Contract Price—MSA  $799,897.88  2.80% revenue fares; $0.04 per free fare 
Proposed Price to MTD $410,361.09  2.25% revenue fares; $0.04 per free fare  
Provisions for MTD 49% less than MSA  20% less than MSA per revenue fare 
    
Recommended Contract:  $430,879 

includes 5% contingency for installation 
tech time, equipment + ongoing 

maintenance and support services 

 2.25% revenue fares; $0.04 per free fare 
with no added costs for integration and 
support services— which MSA allowed  

fees up to $165,000 
 
A more detailed cost analysis is attached. MTD’s Operating Budget shall fully fund the Contactless 
Payment Solution contracts through the five-year terms. 
 
CONTRACT EXECUTION 
If the Board authorizes the General Manager to enter into agreements with Kuba and Littlepay, 
then MTD shall execute "User Agreements" (vendor contracts with MTD when utilizing a 
leveraged procurement agreement controlled by an MSA) upon receipt of certificates of 
insurance. The PADS installation is anticipated to begin third quarter of the fiscal year and be fully 
operational and ready for deployment with transit processor services set up by end of fiscal year. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

• Cost Analysis – Comparison of Proposed Contract Values 
• Kuba Inc. Proposal to MTD, true copy of relevant parts to be attached to the User 

Agreement for PADs via DGS, MSA 5-21-70-28-02  
• Littlepay, Inc. Proposal to MTD, true copy of relevant parts to be attached to the User 

Agreement for Transit Processor Services via DGS, MSA 5-21-70-28-06 



 
 

Cost Analysis – Contactless Payment Solutions 

PADS 
Kuba 

Proposal  
to MTD 

Kuba-DGS  
MSA Transit Processing Services 

Littlepay 
Proposal to 

MTD 
Littlepay-DGS  

MSA 

Stand Alone Devices  (112 devices) $111,425.44 $111,425.44 Transit processing services (%) 2.25% 2.80% 

Spares (20 spares) $19,897.40 $19,897.40 Transit processing services (free) $0.04 $0.04 

Implementation Services (with training) $10,000.00 $10,000.00 Transit processor implementation $0.00 $5,000.00 

Integration with a Transit Processor $0.00 $9,440.00 EMV Level 3 certification $0.00 $20,000.00 

EMV Level 3 Certification $0.00 $3,146.00 Integration with PAD contractor $0.00 $20,000.00 

Integration with a 2D Bar Processor  $0.00 $9,440.00 Integration with processor $0.00 $100,000.00 

Installation of Devices $63,000.00 $63,000.00 Integration- eligibility verification $0.00 $20,000.00 

Applicable Taxes (8.75%) $17,878.25 $17,878.25    

Ongoing Maintenance/Support (Year 1) $37,632.00 $108,568.32 Contract Value Based on  
Pilot Program usage 
$80,559 in fare  revenue;  
1,643 qty.free fare taps per yr 

$1,878.30 
1 year 

$167,321.37 
1 year 

Ongoing Maintenance/Support (Year 2-5) $150,528.00 $434,273.28 $9,391.49 
5 year 

$176,606.86 
5 year 

      

Total - Year 1 $259,883.09 $365,624.60 Contract Value Based on  
2019 Ridership (100% participation) 
$1,624,280.70 in fare revenue;  
114,318 qty. free fare taps per yr 

$41,119.04 
1 year 

$215,052.58 
1 year 

Total - 5 Year Term $410,361.09 $799,897.88 $205,595.18 
5 year 

$415,262.90 
5 year 

      
Based on 2019 Ridership, if UCSB, SBCC 
students— 2,108,204 participate  
tap free fares at $0.04  

Additional 
$84,328.16  

per year  

Total - 5 Year Term (with 5% contingency) $430,879.14  Based on 2019 Ridership, if all pre-pay 
passes— convert to tap fare at 2.25%  

Additional 
$77,926.28 

per year 
 

 





Table of contents

Executive Summary 2

Littlepay in the USA 2

Littlepay is the world’s only payment processor built exclusively for transit 4

Littlepay is ready to onboard you immediately 4

Local experience 4

Littlepay’s service has been running at scale for over five years 5

We love working with transit agencies of all sizes 5

We are the most cost-effective option 5

Solution overview 6

Littlepay Contactless - core solution 6

Littlepay Control 7

Fare Structure 8

Littlepay Analytics 9

Littlepay Traveller 9

Littlepay Records 10

Littlepay Inspect 10

Multi-operator Ticketing 10

Concession Fares & Eligibility Verification 11

Account Management and Customer Support 11

Onboarding Process 12

Training 12

Pricing Proposal under DGS Framework 13

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



Executive Summary
Littlepay would like to thank the Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District (SBMTD) for the
opportunity to present our proposal for transit payments processing services under the DGS
framework.

Over the last five years, Littlepay has focussed on one thing only – building a modern, flexible
solution to allow transit operators of any size to accept bank cards in transit. It is the only thing we
do, and we believe we do it very well.  Since our first major rollout in June 2017, we now process
USD500m annually for over 250 individual transit agencies across 25,000 vehicles globally. We are an
Australian HQ company with operations in Europe and USA and with newly launched projects in
Australia, Finland, Portugal, Spain, France, Italy, the USA and Latin America.

We lead the market on innovation in transit payments and we are constantly rolling out new
functionality relevant to customers just like yourselves.

Littlepay in the USA

Littlepay worked with Cal-ITP from the outset, providing
input into the project. We were subsequently selected as
the sole payment processor for all of the initial Cal-ITP pilot
deployments in Santa Barbara, Monterey-Salinas and
Sacramento.

Based on the success of these pilots, in April 2022,
Littlepay was awarded a DGS contract to provide California
transit agencies with transit payments processing services
under pre-agreed contracts (Category B). Since then,
Littlepay has had seven transit agencies in California (and
one from outside the state) sign up to our processing services under these new agreements.

We are in a unique position to provide a low-cost, proven solution for SBMTD very quickly;

● SBMTD is currently using our solution for their CAL ITP pilot deployment.
● Two of the three devices listed in Category A are pre-integrated with the Littlepay platform.
● Importantly, the device that has already been installed at SBMTD (supplied by Kubapay) is

one of these two devices.
● We offer discounted interchange rates via our acquiring partnerships with Elavon (USA Bank)

and Cybersource (a Visa company.)
● Our solution is genuinely future-proof with exciting options available for subsequent phases:

○ Open API based data integration
○ Opportunities to integrate tap-and-ride activity into your mobile application
○ Allow reduced fare customers to automatically access  discounted fares using their

own bank card
○ Transfer fares and multi-agency capping solutions

Littlepay’s cloud-based, pure-SaaS solution ensures that SBMTD will never have to worry about
hosting its own software and will always benefit from a regular stream of new features and updates
at zero cost.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



We are confident that our solution will accommodate all the requirements described in your scope of
work, each of which is addressed in this response. We welcome the opportunity to retain SBMTD in
Littlepay’s active and growing community of USA transit agencies.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



Introduction
Littlepay is the world’s only payment processor built exclusively for transit

We specialize in providing payment processing services to transit agencies just like SBMTD. In fact,
that’s all we do! We manage the complexity, security and compliance - you collect revenue. Our
solution keeps your agency out of the PCI zone, so you can focus on what you do best - getting riders
from A to B.

Littlepay is ready to onboard you immediately

We’ve done the hard work already: our solution is already fully operational with both the
DGS-approved devices and the DGS-approved merchant acquirer, so we hit the ground running with
no integration costs or certification delays.

Integration status of DGS approved vendors (April 2022)

Local experience

We’re experienced in deploying Cal-ITP
solutions in California. Littlepay was
selected for all of the first four Cal-ITP
pilot programs in Santa Barbara,
Sacramento and Monterey-Salinas.

Littlepay’s onboarding process has been
fine-tuned over five years of feedback
from our customers. We deliver a
smooth, simple and fast route to
open-loop.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



Littlepay’s service has been running at scale for over five years

Accepting bank cards in transit sounds complicated, but don’t worry, we’ve been doing this for a
while. Littlepay currently processes tap and ride services for over 250 agencies, operators, metro
systems and city authorities worldwide. We’ve perfected this process and now, through Cal-ITP, we
can make this service available for agencies in the USA. Our solution may be ground-breaking, but it
isn’t experimental:  it is mature, proven and incredibly secure.

We love working with transit agencies of all sizes

Littlepay has clients with fleet sizes in the thousands, but many of our clients have less than 50
vehicles. Some of our clients have exactly one vehicle. Large fare collection technology providers
have traditionally ignored small and medium size agencies. Littlepay makes EMV payments
accessible: our solution enables any transit agency to give their customers a state-of-the-art payment
experience, with the features and functionality they have come to expect.

We are the most cost-effective option

Every cent in public transit counts, especially for smaller agencies. Littlepay’s solution requires the
least investment out of all the awarded DGS suppliers. Have confidence that you’re accessing the
best service at the lowest possible cost.

Four different vendors have been awarded
the ability to offer payment processing
services to transit agencies in California
under a Department of General Services
(DGS) contract. The submitted pricing
offered by these vendors in the selection
process differs significantly.

The chart to the right illustrates the relative
minimum setup and processing costs as
submitted by all four vendors.

Through our partnership with Elavon (US
Bank), we also offer significantly reduced
interchange rates from Visa and Mastercard.

These special rates are applicable only to
transit transactions processed in California.

The chart (left) shows the difference in
interchange and processing fees using Elavon’s
interchange rates vs. the current standard U.S.
market rates. These cost savings are
significant, and we pass them directly through
to SBMTD.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



Solution overview
Littlepay Contactless - core solution

As a starting point, the Littlepay solution will enable SBMTD to offer riders open loop transit
payments using the riders’ own payment cards including Apple Pay and Google Pay on mobile or
wearable. However, Littlepay is much more than just a transit payments processor. We work with
agencies and city authorities to extend the use of EMV technology to reduce the cost of fare
collection and improve ridership engagement in several other innovative areas. The Littlepay
platform will therefore serve as an excellent foundation to build future payments innovation and
further benefit SBMTD ridership long into the future.

An end-to-end illustration of all Littlepay available services is shown below.

The Littlepay service is hosted in the cloud on a pure SaaS basis, meaning the only hardware
installation required will be the validators onboard the vehicles.

Mastercard and Visa card acceptance is available immediately with American Express and Discover
planned for inclusion in late 2022, pending Category A (PAD vendor) support.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



The additional elements of the Littlepay toolbox that can be made available to SBMTD to deploy and
evolve open loop ticketing are shown below.

Littlepay Control

At the heart of our open loop solution is Littlepay Control. Littlepay Control is a PCI-DSS compliant,
responsive web portal accessible by SBMTD for customer support and operational management
purposes. It makes it easy to track payments, create fare caps and discounts, support passengers,
process refunds and analyze data.

Passenger taps can be viewed in near-real time with coloured labels clearly indicating the current
stage of processing e.g. capped, authorised, settled.

A range of filters are available for customer support agents to easily locate a customer's account
containing all relevant payment cards, mobile wallets, trip and payment history.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



Authorised SBMTD employees can also process refunds at the click of a button with the ability to
save relevant notes to log customer and operator comments.

Fare Structure

As SBMTD are aware, a standard feature of the Littlepay solution is the ability to offer fare capping to
all passengers that meet the capping rules or to closed groups of registered passengers, such as
concessions.

The additional capping products requested by SBMTD can be supported, at no charge of course. The
ability to offer reduced fares and discounted fares to seniors, students, persons with disabilities, and
others, will also be supported free of charge as soon as the functionality is available.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



Littlepay Analytics

Littlepay Analytics is accessed via Littlepay Control. It provides SBMTD with the ability to analyse
performance trends over any period within the last 3 months. Results are shown in graphical and
tabular format and all tables can be exported in .csv format.

A large number of reports can be run including transactions volumes and sales per product, route
and location; customer trends in terms of new customers seen and detailed breakdown of decline
and debt recovery.

Littlepay Traveller

Riders will not receive a ticket or receipt when boarding. Instead, they will be provided with access to
a rider portal - Littlepay Traveller. In seconds, your customers will be able to look up their payment
and travel history by securely entering their payment card details into the portal.

Littlepay Traveller allows your passenger to:

● View transaction and refund history
● View deny list status
● Print statement
● View up to 90 days history for all linked payment devices used e.g. mobile wallet

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



If SBMTD wishes to consider a future integration with other customer channels such as an SBMTD
mobile app, this can be supported via the Back Office APIs.

Littlepay Records

Littlepay Records is the data access service offered by Littlepay in addition to the configuration and
export capabilities offered through Littlepay Control. Services include:

● Daily Data Extract of all transaction, payment, refund data via S3 buckets
○ Suggested for more complex or historical data analysis
○ Fully documented data model
○ Littlepay support team on hand to aid data understanding

● Back Office APIs - for integration of analytics systems and tools
○ Fully documented REST APIs
○ Webhook event notifications

Littlepay Inspect

Inspection is an important part of most public transport operations. Littlepay offers an inspection
app which can be run on any android based NFC device such as a phone or tablet.

● No dependency on external parties for data
● Quick time to market
● Minimum PCI overhead
● Run on any NFC compatible Android device with OS V9+
● Merchant portal user login management
● Inspect by vehicle or by passenger history
● Live deployments in California, Helsinki and France:

Multi-operator Ticketing

The Littlepay Broker Service enables independent transit agencies with different fare structures to
provide a unified ‘daily’ or ‘weekly’ capping product for riders who use two or more services. Riders
don’t need to pre-purchase a Multi-Operator Cap (MOC) ticket, or consider which operator to use.
They use cooperating services as they go - automatically benefiting from multi-operator discounts.

It is important to note that participating operators do not have to change their mode of operation
and settlement. The multi-operator solution augments what they do already with single-operator
capping, including settlement of multi-operator capped trips via their existing acquirer relationship.

Configurable data-sharing parameters allow cross-operator data sharing to aid customer support,
while protecting operational data. A self-service customer portal allows passengers to manage
multi-operator travel as opposed to just single operator travel that SBMTD would be familiar with
through Littlepay Traveler.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



At the end of each reporting period, apportionment reports are provided to all Stakeholders
containing their own data supporting settlement and reconciliation across all participating operators.

The Broker Service has been live in the UK since 2019 with Go Ahead Group. Over 10 agencies in the
UK across five regions now use the Broker Service to benefit their riders with two more regions due
to launch later in 2022.

The broker service is available to all Littlepay agencies as a standard feature, inclusive of existing
transaction fees. Should SBMTD wish to collaborate with an agency who has  a different transit PSP
vendor it would still be possible to achieve multi-agency fare capping via the Littlepay Broker Service.
Typically an integration is required with the transit PSP system to feed taps received at the other
agency into the Broker Service system. This will allow the broker service to monitor multi-agency
travel and advise the non-Littlepay agency when a multi-agency adjustment should be made to the
passenger’s fare. The time and cost of integration would be dependent on the other transit
processor. There are several routes of integration which Littlepay have scoped out and would be
delighted to explore with agencies and their transit PSP vendors should the need arise.

Concession Fares & Eligibility Verification

Littlepay can offer reduced fares via contactless credit card, ApplePay, Google Pay, and wearable
devices.  During the SBMTD pilot, Littlepay demonstrated pre-paid employer benefits and student
discount fares using a ‘magic link’ portal to capture payment card details and Card As Authority to
Travel (CAATT) feature to associate the payment token with specific reduced fares. Both features will
be available to SBMTD as standard and can be included in a suitable end-to-end eligibility verification
and reduced fare solution.

Littlepay is working closely with key stakeholders across California including CalITP and Rebel in
relation to eligibility verification. We are aware of the California Department of Technology (CDT)
market sounding for digital identity for transit benefits access and have considered how our
tokenization service can complement the resulting solution. In addition, Littlepay are working to
define and develop a stand alone Eligibility Verification portal that will offer an alternative to the
DMV based CalITP pilot solution. It will leverage the ID functionality offered by CDT and/or
commercial entities such as Visa, and will manage the reduced fare product lifecycles and association
for SBMTD riders. Development is expected to commence in Q4 of 2022 with delivery expected mid
2023. Littlepay would seek to share details of the planned solution with SBMTD with the option to
contribute to and refine the final requirements and deliverables.

Account Management and Customer Support

SBMTD currently employs three components of the Littlepay solution to complement their customer
support service:

● Littlepay Control - as described above - is used by the SBMTD customer support team to view
all customer transactions and charges and issue refunds where required

● Littlepay Traveler - as described previously - is where SBMTD customers can quickly look up
their transaction and travel history, which reduces the number of incoming calls to the
SBMTD customer support team.

● Littlepay Service Desk is the entry and exit point for all system and service related
interactions with Littlepay. All service requests are managed through Zendesk, the
cloud-based service management support application. Littlepay Service Operations is the
gateway for SBMTD to get help to:

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



○ Resolve possible service failures
○ Address any other issues or concerns relating to the transit processor service
○ Raise requests for new features or enhancements

Onboarding Process
Since SBMTD is already operating a pilot deployment of the Littlepay solution, the typical onboarding
process and schedule do not apply. If SBMTD choose to retain their existing PAD vendor and Acquirer,
there should be no steps required to transition the solution from pilot to this contract. However, if a
new PAD vendor is selected that has previously integrated with Littlepay, steps 5-11 may be required
to test and launch the transit processing service on the new hardware.

Training

Even though SBMTD is already familiar with the Littlepay solution, we are happy to offer two hours of
remote training as a refresher for SBMTD staff, or to train new members of your team.  The training
can focus on any of the following topics: Configuration, reconciliation, incident management,
customer support, reporting, and refunds.  Littlepay will work with SBMTD to decide which topics
need to be covered, the training format, and the timeline.

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



Pricing Proposal under DGS Framework
Category B (PSP) pricing excludes acquirer fee (Elavon). The acquirer fee will include the gateway fee
(Cybersource). Card association and interchange fees will be passed through by the acquirer at cost.

The table below shows how Santa Barbara MTD can continue with its existing deployed solution with
ZERO capex investment and a low ongoing PSP fee of just 2.25%.

Requirement

Cal-ITP DGS

Standard Pricing

SBMTD

Proposed Pricing

A.1 Transit processing services

Transit processor services fee as % of total revenue

processed
Mandatory 2.80% 2.25%

A.2 Transit processing services: free fare

transactions

Transit processor services fee as fixed fee ($ per

transaction processed)
Mandatory $ 0.04 $ 0.04

B. Transit processor implementation services

Implementation services Mandatory $ 5,000.00

Not required if

configuration

remains the same as

the pilot

C. Value added implementation services

Supporting EMV Level 3 certification Mandatory $ 20,000.00
Not required with SC

Soft or Kuba devices

Custom development work Optional
Category B Hourly

Rate Card

None envisaged in

this proposal

D. Transit processor interface and integration

services

Integration with PAD contractor Mandatory $ 20,000.00
Not required with SC

Soft or Kuba devices

Integration with a payment processor Mandatory $ 100,000.00

Not required

withCybersource &

Elavon

Integration with eligibility verification system Mandatory $ 20,000.00

Provided at ZERO

cost when available

in line with the

Littlepay community

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



Requirement

Cal-ITP DGS

Standard Pricing

SBMTD

Proposed Pricing

of agencies.

E. Value added operations services

Premium final charge management services

[fare calculation provided by littlepay]
Optional 1.50% Not requested

Premium customer support Optional 0.25% Not requested

Littlepay Proposal for SBMTD - Transit Processor



DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Ms Hillary Blackerby
Planning & Marketing Manager
Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District
550 Olive Street
Santa Barbara
CA 93101

September 5th, 2022

Dear Ms. Blackerby,

AGREEMENT NO 5-21-70-28-02
PROPOSAL FOR CONTACTLESS PAYMENT SOLUTIONS

Kuba, Inc. (Kuba) is delighted to provide our proposal and pricing to the Santa Barbara
Metropolitan Transit District (SBMTD) for the Category A: Payment Acceptance Devices (PADs)
Scope of Work. We are excited at the prospect of continuing our business relationship with
SBMTD.

Kuba is committed to assisting SBMTD achieve its goals of expanding the capability of contactless
fare payment to its entire fleet. Kuba’s simple, contactless, integrated ticketing solution removes
barriers and aids ridership confidence, cuts down on journey times and provides for the best rider
experience.

Kuba developed an understanding of SBMTD’s business operations during the pilot project of 18
buses that started in July 2021. We are excited by the opportunity to enter the next stage of our
journey with SBMTD to support the transfer of the validators into a production environment for all
your existing buses.

Please reach out to me if you have any questions. My contact details are provided below.

Sincerely

Brian Frank
Head of Kuba North America Transit

Mobile no : +1 (702) 812-5230
Office no : +1 (702) 747-2958
Email address : brian.frank@kubapay.com

Kuba, Inc. 85-4057999
PO Box 31804, Las Vegas, NV 89173-31804

Tel: +1 (702) 747-2958 www.kubapay.com 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7

mailto:brian.frank@kubapay.com
http://www.kubapay.com


Table of Contents

Executive Summary 6
Introduction 6
About Kuba 6
The Kuba-Difference 7
Why Choose Kuba 7
Benefits to SBMTD 8
Our Understanding of the Requirements 8
Successful Cal-ITP Pilots 9
Successful Implementations 9
Our Solution 11
Back-end service 12
Program Timeline Overview 13
Value-Added Services 14
Conclusion 15

Team Kuba 17
The Kuba family 17
Our Mission - is to banish the burden of ticketing. 17
About QMI - Our Installation Partner 17

Solution 20
Solution Overview 20
System Architecture 22
Device Management and Middleware 23

Device and Transaction Dashboards 23
Reporting 23
Monitoring 23

Connectivity Options and Certifications 24
Supporting SBMTD Base Fare Structure 24

Supporting Exceptions to the Base Fares 25
GTFS Feeds 25
Current PAD (Validator) Deployed at SBMTD 26
Pass-Back Protection 26

Deliverables 28
Considerations for Implementation and Integration 28

Hardware 28
Validators 28

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 3

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Installation by SBMTD 28
Setup 29

Validators 29

Value-added services 29
Installation by Kuba 29
Validator Hardware 30
Training 30

Optional Value-Add: Kuba Mobile Ticketing Solution 30
Kuba Mobile Solution Overview 30
Mobile Experience 32

Changes to Default Service Level Agreement (SLAs) in the User Agreement 32

Project Implementation Plan 33
Program Timeline Overview 33
Initial Project Implementation Plan 34
Project Dependencies 34
Our Project Management Methodology 34
Initial Acceptance Testing Plan 35
Initial Training Plan 35

Pricing 37
Pricing Assumptions 37
Other Assumptions 38

Sign-Off 40
Terms and Conditions 40
Point of Contact 40

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 4

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Executive Summary
Introduction

Kuba is thrilled to respond to the Scope of Work (SoW) that was sent to us via email on July
27th, 2022 from Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District.

We are excited by the opportunity to continue our business relationship with Santa Barbara
Metropolitan District (SBMTD) and support the contactless payment solution, from having
launched EMV based contactless fare payment on a subset of 18 buses in July 2021 to
expanding this capability to your entire bus fleet.

This proposal reflects our commitment to our ongoing relationship, offers compelling value
for money through a $322,000 discount off the standard MSA pricing for the course of the
5-year contract and additional value added features to deliver a comprehensive retail
platform.

Kuba will support SBMTD’s objectives by assisting with implementing updates to the
contactless payments of the existing validators, as well as implementing this capability to
the rest of SBMTD’s fleet. Rebel Group has confirmed that ownership of the current
Payment Acceptance Devices (PADs) will be transferred to SBMTD as part of this SoW.

About Kuba

The Kuba Group was founded in 2019 with the vision of removing the burden of ticketing and
set about transforming transit ticketing.

We believe in Clever public transit. From cutting emissions and boosting the local economy
to removing barriers to education, employment, and human services, efficient public
transportation is key to delivering long-term change.

Headquartered in the UK, the Kuba Group was launched to market on July 1, 2020, as a
member of the ICM Mobility Group. Today, the Kuba team has over 250 direct employees,
based in five regional offices across three continents, with annual revenue of $25.6M.

Kuba is a member of the ICM Mobility Group of companies (refer to Figure 1: ICM Mobility
Group Overview below). The ICM Mobility Group is focused on the mobility sector for
private and public transit.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 6

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Figure 1: ICM Mobility Group Overview

The Kuba-Difference

Our industry experience sets Kuba apart from other Vendors. In order to successfully
utilize our technology, throughout the past 30 years, we have first understood our clients'
core needs. We apply our extensive transit experience to deliver ‘clever-as-a-service,’
ensuring that the right technology is applied in the right way to get the right results. As part
of our ongoing efforts to upgrade and prepare our platform for the future, we also use our
Clever Technology to predict the difficulties the transit sector will encounter in the coming
years.

Littlepay, a sister company in the ICM Mobility Group, was awarded an MSA for the
Cal-ITP project in Category B: Transit Processor services. Kuba and Littlepay work hand in
glove to deliver an EMV solution within the CAL-ITP framework. Littlepay and our
validators are integrated, and taps accepted by the validators are processed using Littlepay
or any other MSA Transit Processor. Kuba is collaborating with Quality Mobile Installation
(QMI), a reputable service and installation business, and is our installation and field
support partner in the US. QMI are specialists in the installation and mounting of hardware
specifically for the transit sector, with a track record going back 16 years.

The ABT3000 validator is manufactured and serviced in the USA.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 7

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Why Choose Kuba

Kuba uses Clever to empower change, improve lives and create opportunities.

Our solutions support the delivery of seamless journeys in over 500 cities and regions
worldwide. Combining our leading-edge contactless ticketing platform with over 30 years of
transit know-how, our Clever approach minimizes costs, speeds up boarding, and boosts
passenger numbers.

Benefits to SBMTD

At Kuba, we know that technology alone doesn’t create a great transit system. That’s
why we combine 30+ years of transit experience with cutting-edge ticketing technology
to deliver Clever-as-a-Service.

Our ticketing platform provides you with the benefits as shown in Figure 2 below, as a
member of our constantly expanding global family of clients that depend on and trust
us.

Figure 2: Ticketing platform benefits

Lowers overheads Improves efficiency,
Minimizes ticketing machines and frees up resources and

ticketing agent and kiosk costs. streamlines operations.

Speeds up boarding Increases ridership
Cut passenger dwell times Boosts satisfaction and grows

when boarding and passenger numbers with

transferring seamless journeys.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 8

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Our Understanding of the Requirements

Throughout the open payments pilot phase, we have gained a deeper understanding of
SBMTD’s business and the local operating environment and recognize that SBMTD wants to
expand this capability to the entire bus fleet.

Kuba and SBMTD have been on a journey together for the past 14 months.  Pilots are
designed to show proof of concept and adapt.  Our journey takes a new turn and a
significant way to adapt is concentrating on providing and enhancing reporting capabilities;
especially making your job easier to identify non reporting devices and what you need to do
to get them up and running.  We are fine-tuning a training program that will be ready
during rollout.

Successful Cal-ITP Pilots

Kuba is delivering a contactless fare payment system for CAL-ITP, Santa Barbara County
Association of Governments (SBCAG), and public transport operator Clean Air Express. The
solution is based on Kuba being the payment systems integrator and providing the Payment
Acceptance Devices (PAD)/validators. Kuba is supporting the transfer of the validators for
Clean Air Express from pilot to a production environment. The Clean Air Express pilot service
has been in operation since December 2020.

For Caltrans’ California Integrated Travel Project (Cal-ITP), Kuba is the payment systems
integrator and provides the validators. Kuba is delighted to have contributed to the Cal-ITP
pilot projects and to the simplification of transit riders' payments in the State of California.

Kuba is proud to have been awarded the Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority (CCJPA)
Open Loop Payments Project the project inception of April 29, 2022, until the end date of April
28, 2025, for the following products and services:

● 308 payment devices (ABT3000 validators)
● Device Management Platform
● Support and maintenance
● Special API’s

Kuba was recently awarded a contract with Coast RTA which was initiated on July 1,
2022, and runs through June 2027, where we are providing the following products and
services:

● 44 payment devices (ABT3000 validators)
● Device Management Platform
● Support and maintenance

We strongly encourage you to contact any of our ongoing projects or pilots in California to
discuss the Kuba experience. Reference details are available on request.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 9

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Successful Implementations

Our installation partner, QMI, has successfully implemented the following projects in
proximity to Santa Barbara. Quality, speed, and efficiency are critical for a smooth
installation. We provided an extract below of successful transit installations done by QMI.

● OmniTrans in San Bernardino, CA, where TSI-video initiatives have been successfully
implemented over several phases for the past 12 years.

● San Joaquin RTD (SJRTD) in San Joaquin / Stockton, CA, where they successfully
implemented:
○ voice and Data Radio and
○ validators

● Long Beach Transit (LBT) in Long Beach, CA, where they successfully implemented Sierra
Wireless AirLink® MG90 advanced cellular routers with passenger WiFi.

● Foothills Transit in San Gabriel and Pomona Valleys, where TSI-video installation initiatives
were successfully carried out throughout several phases over the course of the last 12
years.

Customer Obsession

Customers are everything. They are the
cornerstone of success, and the trust they place

in us is hard-won but easily lost. At Kuba, we
don’t consider projects as lists of requirements

but rather opportunities to deliver a product and
service that delights our clients. With great

customers who trust and rely on us, we have the
foundations of a booming business.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 10

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Our Solution

In this section of the Executive Summary, we have provided a summarized version of our
solution.  More detailed information on this option is provided in our Solution section in our
Proposal below.

Proposed Device - Validator

Figure 3 below shows the onboard validator, the ABT3000 device, which is already installed in
18 of your buses.

The ABT3000 is certified for the major card brands such as Mastercard, Visa, American Express
and Discover, and is compliant with PCI-PTS 5.1.

Our current integration is with Littlepay as the Transit Processor, with payments processed via
Littlepay through the payment processor and settled into Operator’s bank account.

Figure 3: ABT3000

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 11

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Back-end service

Validators installed on SBMTD vehicles maintain a connection to the Kuba cloud-hosted
platform via a mobile data connection. This is either through your onboard router or can be
via a dedicated SIM installed within each validator.  Utilizing an onboard router is what we
recommend because it can offer SBMTD more advantages. There is only one SIM to handle
because this is the hub of communication.

Communication is used to provide both management of devices but also used to manage data
required for validation, generation of reports and management of interfaces such as GTFS and
any connections required for third-party ticketing systems.

SBMTD is provided with access to our web-based platform which is accessible from any
PC/mobile browser and is used for device management, as well as access to live dashboards
and reports.

Figure 4: Solution Architecture

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 12

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Program Timeline Overview

Our project delivery methodology is based on a fusion of PRINCE II and PMBOK, which gives
it the flexibility to match any deployment size.

A proposed program summary is reflected below in Figure 5.

Figure 5: Program Timeline Overview

To move on to the next stage, the project manager and team will undertake gate reviews
for the project deliverables. To guarantee proper approval and continuous quality, the
programmed activities are inspected and monitored.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 13

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Value-Added Services

Included Value-Added Services include

Barcode Reader:

● Kuba has elected to supply the barcode reader at no cost because doing so, after the
devices are installed, requires a complete device replacement.  We know first hand the
value of having the integrated barcode reader, benefits you will realize now and in the
future.

● As one of SBMTD’s objectives is the ability to integrate existing and future institutional pass
programs, the integrated barcode readers will provide SBMTD with flexibility for future
changes by allowing the reading of QR coded tickets on any media such as a mobile app
or other medium.

● The barcode reader provides the capability which can be exploited through a future
scope of work to implement validation of QR coded tickets through software changes
only.

● This will give SBMTD greater flexibility when developing new fare programs; for
example, marketing and promotional campaigns can be rolled out easily with a
future-proof validator.

Optional Value-Added Services include

● Kuba is offering the option of a SBMTD branded mobile ticketing app. The solution
enables end-users to purchase and activate tickets from their mobile phones and
validate them via QR codes on Kuba validators or visual validation. More information
can be found in the Solution section of our Commercial Proposal.

● Installation Services - advise planning and carrying out the installation on board SBMTD
buses with the help of our team and installation partner QMI. By doing this, the
installation process will go faster, and any installation-related concerns will be handled
by Kuba and our partners.  This also allows Kuba to properly test, accept and
commission the devices on sight in a working environment.

Please refer to the Solution part/section of our proposal below for detailed information on
our Value-Added Services.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 14

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Conclusion

Kuba is excited by the opportunity to continue our partnership with SBMTD and to support
the transfer of the validators for SBMTD from pilot to a production environment.

We are committed to the Cal-ITP framework and helping each partner agency meet its
goals. We have included over $322,000 in discounts from our approved MSA pricing that
could be poured back into enhancing your overall operation and fulfilling other goals
SBMTD has set.

The Kuba solution is proven to improve rider experience, operational efficiency and increase
revenue and will enable all your core objectives to be met.

This proposal reflects our commitment to the partnership, it offers compelling value coupled
with a low risk seamless migration to an upgraded production solution.

We hope that Kuba is selected and that over the next five years we can continue to develop
and further strengthen the relationship together.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 15

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Team Kuba

The Kuba family

Kuba is a part of the ICM Mobility Group of companies, a global ensemble of innovative
technology companies focused on Clever mobility worldwide. ICM manages over US$3.0 billion in
funds.

From the beginning, we have been passionate about improving riders' daily commute. We have
spearheaded the evolution of transport ticketing and as the industry embraces open-loop
payment and account-based mobility, we continue to innovate and lead the design,
implementation, and operation of these advanced solutions.

Our Mission - is to banish the burden of ticketing.

At Kuba, we believe ticketing should be safe, simple, and secure.

For too long, ticketing systems have been complex, inefficient, and expensive. Transport
Operators have spent years and millions installing, upgrading, and maintaining ineffective systems
that riders didn’t understand. Well, no longer.

Kuba’s lean, efficient and scalable platform provides a modern solution to a traditional problem.
Our range of plug-in-and-play systems are deployed in a matter of weeks and seamlessly grow with
Operators' changing needs.

With clients worldwide and offices in London, Johannesburg, Rome, Besançon, and Las Vegas, we
are a global company with a truly global vision: to banish the burden of ticketing.

About QMI - Our Installation Partner

QMI is an industry professional installation and field support service company, highly respected in
the Public Transit industry. For more than 16 years, QMI has been installing highly complex
electrical components and systems on a wide range of transit, rail, and servicing transit authorities.

QMI's commitment to quality is demonstrated by its strategy of employing only highly
experienced, full-time professional technicians and supervisors - a difference that distinguishes
them from many competitors.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 17

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7

https://www.icmmobility.com/
https://www.icm.limited/


When implementing AFC systems, QMI’s quality, speed, and efficiency are crucial differentiators
because they know that most fleets cannot resume full service until every vehicle is outfitted to
accept payment. From the 1930s street cars to the latest smart buses and rail carriages, QMI’s
installation teams have installed both traditional and "tap-to-pay" systems on every make,
model, and design vehicle.

QMI has mastered the process of wiring, programming, and connecting complex AFC systems in a
wide range of transit vehicles. With QMI as part of our team, SBMTD can ensure a clean, correct,
and trouble-free installation that meets Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) specifications
every time.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 18

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Solution

Solution Overview

After a successful pilot, the transition to a full system roll out will bring with it additional
support and tools that will enable the SBMTD to better understand how to manage the devices
and backend system.  Kuba will engage SBMTD with enhanced user training and maintenance
support. Kuba is ready to support the transfer of the Payment Acceptance Devices (PADs) to full
production operation with minimal disruption.

Our proposed solution will enable SBMTD to expand the acceptance of contactless payment fare
collection across the whole fleet.

Hardware kits containing PADs, Cradles and Dallas Chips will be supplied to SBMTD along with the
support and assistance required for your technicians to install onto the SBMTD fleet. If you choose
Kuba to manage the installation, we will be responsible for the completion of installation of the
equipment on SBMTD vehicles.

Once installed, the PADs will register with the device manager and obtain SBMTD specific
operating data as configured in the back end system. This will allow the PADs to begin accepting
contactless payments from your customers.

When boarding, your customers will use their Visa or MasterCard branded cards to travel on
SBMTD buses; in the future, this will be expanded to include American Express and Discover
branded cards.

Using a physical card, or a wallet such as Apple Pay or Google Pay, the customer taps on the
validator when boarding.  The validator is compatible with cards as well as smartphones and
wearables.

Speed of boarding is maintained as all validations occur offline, using a deny list to prevent usage
of cards which have previously been declined. The result of the tap is provided both visually and
audibly so that the customer and the driver are informed of the result.

Taps accepted by the validators are securely sent via the mobile data connection to Littlepay as the
Transit Processor, or if required to another MSA Transit Processor, where the management of the
payment processes is completed, along with the application of any caps, discounts or transfers.

Once the tap has been sent to the Transit Processor, a unique ID is stored with a summary of the
tap and sent to the device manager, meaning that there is traceability between the tap and the
payment transactions.

As part of planned, ongoing maintenance, the platform will continue to be updated. Part of this is
improving the monitoring and alerting to ensure any issues are promptly identified and that assets
can be tracked whether they are installed on vehicles, in the shop or on the shelf as spares.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 20

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Alerts will be configurable to allow SBMTD operational staff to be informed automatically via
email when a validator has not communicated with the device manager for a configurable
period of time.

If required by SBMTD, integration with an existing dashboard / alerting system would be
possible through use of APIs that will be delivered by the back end system. This would allow
SBMTD to hook into the data provided by the validators to the device manager.

Access to the device manager is provided to the Agency’s operators for access to device
information, monitoring and reporting. Training / familiarization will be provided with ongoing
support provided through the same process as support is requested for the validators, should any
issues occur or queries need to be addressed.

If the option is taken for Kuba to install the PADs onto the SBMTD fleet, which we highly
recommend. We will also perform an on-vehicle audit of the current installations to ensure that
any connection, wiring harnesses and mounting issues are addressed so that all installations are of
a common standard.

Kuba provides SBMTD with the ongoing support and warranty for the devices, along with the
device management and middleware platform that is used for the management of validators.

Alongside Open Payments, the validator application, hardware and device management solution
provides a pathway for additional fare media to be read and validated in the future on SBMTD
services. With the enablement of the barcode reader and integration with a mobile application,
existing paper or card based tickets or passes could be presented as digital fare media should this
become a requirement in the future. We have included details of this in the value added options.

Acceptance of Amex and Discover depends on the completion of implementation activities and
certification by the Transit, as the validators are certified for both already.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 21

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



System Architecture

Figure 6 below reflects an overall system architecture showing the Kuba platform built on
proven technology, open architecture, and operational models.

The solution is in addition to any existing ticketing channels or validation devices which will be
retained by SBMTD, however these are not shown or depicted.

Figure 6: Kuba Open Payment Solution

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 22

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Device Management and Middleware

The Kuba cloud-hosted platform fulfills a number of roles in the management of the contactless
fare collection implementation. It provides services which are running continuously to maintain
the health of the validators and provide them with configuration data updates, acceptance of
incoming status reports, software updates and topology changes. It also provides a
management portal for access by users from SBMTD and Kuba. Each user is assigned a role,
allowing them access to only the functions required by their job role.

Device Management

Validators installed on SBMTD vehicles report on a regular basis into the device manager, providing
a heartbeat message every two minutes to allow the status of the validators to be logged. Any
updates to be applied by the validator, such as configuration changes, topology updates or
software updates, are downloaded from the device manager to be applied locally by the validator.

Validator Support and Operations

The functions that are accessed by SBMTD can be briefly summarized as shown below:

Device and Transaction Dashboards

● Active validators and their installed locations, last communicated date and time, software
versions and status

● Last validations performed, which have been reported to the device management platform

Reporting

● Provides a number of prepared reports which can be accessed only by SBMTD
● Any additional reports can be added (as required) should there be specific requirements

Monitoring

● Allows specific conditions to be monitored and alerted to within the dashboards
● From version 5, the addition of enhanced alerting capabilities to include alerts via email; this

will allow operational support staff to be notified when validators have lost communication
for a period of time.

● Kuba’s happy to support other business requirements that will facilitate a successful project.
Upon award, representatives from Kuba and SBMTD will discuss any additional business needs
that SBMTD requires to monitor the health of the onboard equipment.  This can be
accomplished via API’s and other enhancements to backend systems.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 23

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Connectivity Options and Certifications

We are engaged on a program to achieve the PCS Type Certification Review Board (PTCRB)
certification before moving on to the individual network certifications, such as AT&T, Firstnet,
T-Mobile, and Verizon. Due to supply chain challenges with the modem manufacturer and chip
shortages, this program has been delayed; however, we have now found a suitable modem and are
prepared to begin the certification. All next devices will have this modem, making the certifications
useful.

Utilizing an onboard router is what we recommend because it can offer SBMTD more advantages.
There is only one SIM to handle because this is the hub of communication. It should offer a
dependable connection point and enable other validators or devices to share the same data
connection with its specialized mobile router.

Supporting SBMTD Base Fare Structure

“Standard base fares are $1.75, so each tap should charge $1.75, unless a transfer is active or a
fare cap has been met.”
The configured flat fare is passed in each tap to the Transit Processor who charges the fare, or
applies a transfer or cap.

“Flat fare is system-wide, though some routes may have a different fare in the future.
For instance, the fixed route basic fare is $1.75, however in the past, SBMTD offered some trips
for about 50 cents. “
Fares can be set on specific routes or on specific vehicles or devices as required. This allows for
different fares to be passed to the transit processor based on the context of the tap.

“Additionally, the system must be able to distinguish between regular adult passengers and
those who are eligible for the half-price discount, such as elderly and individuals with disabilities
who pay 85 cents per journey."
This is currently applied by the Transit Processor based on registration by the passenger and
inclusion on a list used to apply discounted fares. This provides the passenger with the least
amount of friction when boarding, and ensures that faster boarding can be maintained.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 24

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Supporting Exceptions to the Base Fares

The following exceptions to the base fares are managed as indicated below:
● UC Santa Barbara and Santa Barbara City College students ride free due to institutional

agreements where payment is made outside of point of boarding transaction; eligibility
verification required.
○ As part of the demo project, a pilot was conceived using registration of the students

contactless card into the Littlepay ‘students discount’ list to be able to apply the 100%
discount rule. As an alternative, please see details of Kuba’s Mobile Solution and how
students can be handled.

● Other employer or institution-based pass programs where payment or partial payment is
made outside of point of boarding transaction; eligibility verification required.
○ The applicable business rule is managed by Littlepay. As an alternative, the Kuba Mobile

Ticketing Solution, detailed in the Optional Value-Add section, provides a mobile app based
solution for the issuance and management of institutional passes.

● Free-fare or other promotional days
○ Kuba modifies/updates the flat fare configuration in the device management platform so

that the validator can calculate the correct fare and the Transit Processor (Littlepay) may
deduct funds from riders' bank accounts.

● Fare caps: A day pass caps fares at $6 for one calendar day. Adult 30 day pass caps at $52 in a
30-day period.
○ Capping rules are managed by the Transit Processor.

● Discounted fare caps: Senior and disabled passengers pay $20 for a 30-day pass. Youth 18
and under pay $42 for a 30-day pass.
○ Capping rules are managed by the Transit Processor in combination with any lists of

registered concession holders.

● Transfers: Transfers are free. The first transfer lasts 60 minutes from first boarding, and
second transfer in a trip last 30 minutes.
○ Transfers are managed by the Transit Processor.

GTFS Feeds

Kuba consumes the GTFS Static and Realtime Feeds to maintain the operating data required by the
validators and to be included in the tap data that is passed to the transit processor.

Our standard implementation uses your GTFS Static Feed, published at https://sbmtd.gov/gtfs to
configure the payment devices / validators with the SBMTD stops and their GPS coordinates. As
buses move along the route, each stop is identified using the GPS module embedded in the
payment devices / validators.

Our solution also consumes your GTFS Realtime Feed, which is used to provide the validators with
the current route/service information for each bus. The data is included in the tap transmitted to
the Transit Processor and can be used for reporting purposes.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 25

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7

https://sbmtd.gov/gtfs


Current PAD (Validator) Deployed at SBMTD

Figure 7 below shows the onboard validator, the ABT3000 device, which SBMTD has installed in
18 of your buses.

The ABT3000 device is easy to install and equipped with an EMV3000 contactless card reader.
The card reader is EMV L1 certified, EMV L2 certified for Mastercard, Visa, American Express and
Discover, and PCI-PTS 5.1 certified, and supports remote key injection.

Figure 7: ABT3000

Pass-Back Protection

An anti-passback mechanism is enabled and functions as described below:

● When a card / device is tapped on the validator, it checks if it has been tapped in the previous
five minutes.

● If the tap is within the five-minute window, the transaction is not accepted and a "Card Already
Presented" message is presented on the screen.

● The time period for the check is held as a configurable parameter and is set to five minutes,
and this serves most purposes. The time can be adjusted up or down should SBMTD have any
concerns.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 26

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Deliverables
Considerations for Implementation and Integration

Hardware

● Kuba assumes that receipt of the Purchase Order (PO) or the Transit Agency User
Agreement will be provided by no later than by October 17th, 2022.

● Delivery of the hardware and wire harness kits, consisting of a validator, cradle and Dallas
Chip, takes place within approximately 60 days from the date specified in the bullet above.

Validators

Configuration of the validators is assumed to be consistent with the existing 18 validators as
deployed for the demo project.

● Delivery of 112 ABT3000 payment devices/validators. The validators consist of 112 devices to
be installed onboard the buses and 20 spare units.
○ Any changes to the existing configuration should be agreed between SBMTD and Kuba

once the PO is issued to allow sufficient time for implementation and testing of the
configuration, prior to dispatch.

Installation by SBMTD

SBMTD will be responsible for the installation of the cradles with Dallas Chips and validators onto
the SBMTD vehicles. We will provide an acceptance checklist to be completed and signed off by a
representative from SBMTD and Kuba upon installation of the device on each bus to ensure that all
communication channels are tested from the validator to the back end system and to the Transit
Processor.

SBMTD should provide the details of the bus numbers and installed Dallas Chip IDs to Kuba for the
correct description to be applied in the device manager.

Installation by Kuba

If this option (Installation by Kuba) is selected by SBMTD, Kuba will perform the installation
following a site survey. This will include the 18 current buses to standardize the installation across
the fleet.

The option includes building of the wiring harnesses needed for each vehicle along with the
required mounting hardware. As requested, PADs will be installed on existing stanchions next to
the front boarding entrance.

Kuba will install the equipment, and perform an acceptance test for each bus.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 28

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Setup

● The validator is configured once it registers with the device manager to obtain the latest
SBMTD settings.

● Kuba manages this configuration through coordination with the SBMTD team.
● Setup / integration with Littlepay is completed before the validators are shipped.

Validators

Information exchange and configuration have to be approved before the shipment of the
devices. This process can commence immediately after the PO is received.

● Delivery of 132 ABT3000 payment devices/validators. The validators consist of 112 devices
that will be installed onboard the buses and 20 spare units.
○ Workshops between Kuba and SBMTD will need to commence once PO is issued to allow

for proper configuration.
○ Implementation of software changes (where required) after delivery of all interface

specifications/requirements.

Value-added services
Kuba’s value-added services for this project include:

Installation by Kuba

We have provided the optional pricing for Kuba to manage and complete the installation onboard
the SBMTD buses and includes the following activities:

● Before installation, QMI will execute a vehicle discovery survey phase, onsite in Santa Barbara.
The aim of this phase is to complete surveys on all in-scope vehicle types and produce a survey
report which can then be signed off by SBMTD.

● This will address factors in relation to the installation, such as siting of the validators,
construction of the wiring harnesses and required mounting hardware.

● SBMTD will support the vehicle discovery survey by providing access to vehicles and to the
stakeholders with responsibility for sign-off of any onboard installations. In addition, a
maintenance technician will be required to participate in the survey.

● On commencement of installation, QMI completes a pre-installation inspection to ensure that
any issues or defects are highlighted prior to installation taking place.

● On completion, a Vehicle Acceptance Test (VAT) process is followed with the results being
filed electronically for future reference and this is signed off by both the installation engineer
and SBMTD.

● This option includes the project management, installation hardware, wiring harness,
connectors and labor to complete the installation.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 29

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Validator Hardware

● Validators that are fitted with an integrated barcode reader for future use in the
acceptance of digital fare media.

Training

Core training will be conducted on a “Train-the-Trainer” basis, as follows:

● Onboard Proxima validator training (for instance open loop payment solution)
● Driver training / familiarization (training will be conducted remotely)
● Technician training / familiarization

○ Device Troubleshoot 101
● Operator training for the Device Manager
● Proxima Back Office training

○ Device Monitoring 101
● Onboard Proxima Validator installation training

Optional Value-Add: Kuba Mobile Ticketing Solution

We have proposed the Kuba Mobile Ticketing solution powered by Unwire as a value add option.

Kuba Mobile Solution Overview

The Kuba Mobile Ticketing Solution, offers agencies an easy and cost-efficient way to sell, issue
and validate tickets via mobile. Kuba Mobile is a multi agency app solution, that can be SBMTD
branded, where agencies are individually configured with their fare structure and products,
empowering end-users to purchase and activate tickets from their mobile phones and enabling
agencies to validate the tickets either via QR codes on Kuba validators or via visual validation.

The setup, continuing operations and maintenance, support, and training of agency workers are all
handled by Kuba and Unwire as part of the fully managed end-to-end Kuba Mobile Ticketing
solution.

The Kuba Mobile Ticketing solution includes SBMTD branded mobile apps for iOS and Android.  A
companion end-user web portal and a Back Office admin portal, gives Agency staff and the
end-users the ability to manage the solution. Reporting and analytical tools are included in our
Back Office. Kuba also provides end-user support and marketing assistance for the Mobile
Ticketing solution. The marketing assistance is provided at no cost and consists of posters for the
Agencies to use.

The mobile apps and the end-user-facing web portal are fully ADA and WCAG2.0 compliant and are
also part of a wider PCI-compliant environment.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 30

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



The solution offers a wide range of standard features such as:

● Mobile Account Based Ticketing for iOS and Android
● Electronic Validation via QR codes fully integrated with Kuba validators
● Visual Validation of the Tickets
● Wide range of payment methods (Payment cards/Apple Pay/Google Pay)
● Sign up/Onboarding Flow
● Anonymous purchase
● Time-/Zone-/Point-to-Point-based and special products
● Affiliate Passes (e.g., student and employee passes)
● Purchase Flow with Rider Types
● Tickets with instant activation, delayed activation, and offline activation
● Favorites Tickets
● Fare Capping
● Promotion codes
● Ability to gift passes
● Purchase History and Receipts
● Multi-language support
● User account settings
● Ticketing API that can be used to integrate our solution with third party apps such as Transit

App
● Agency configurable section for links to external services/apps
● End-user web portal
● Rich featured Back Office for end-user support (e.g., ticket refund, block/unblock user) and

administration of solution (e.g., manage fare structure)
● Extensive reporting capabilities and API access to reporting data

Figure 8: UI Examples

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 31

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Mobile Experience

Kuba Group has developed and operated mobile mobility and payments solutions for more than
two decades. With deep expertise and up-to-date knowledge of the latest technological
developments, we are at the leading edge in our industry, providing new and innovative mobile
mobility solutions to transit agencies, operators and cities worldwide. We were some of the first
to introduce mobile fare collection when we introduced our first mobile ticketing solution in
Stockholm, Sweden in 2008, and when we introduced one of the first mobile ticketing solutions in
the United States in 2013. Today we serve multiple transit agencies in the United States and
Europe with our mobile mobility solutions including:

● Dallas Area Rapid Transit, Texas
● City of Charlotte, North Carolina
● City of Phoenix, Arizona
● Trinity Metro, Texas
● Denton County Transit Authority, Texas
● Citybus, Texas
● Corpus Christi Regional Transportation Authority, Texas
● Tulsa Transit, Oklahoma
● Minnesota Valley Transit Authority in Minnesota, Minnesota

Changes to Default Service Level Agreement (SLAs) in the
User Agreement
SBMTD is reviewing the default SLAs in the Master Service Agreement and reserves the right to
request changes prior to signing contracts. SBMTD recognizes that any changes may result in
revised cost proposals from vendors.

Kuba acknowledges the aforementioned and understands that SBMTD might wish to propose
modifications before signing contracts.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 32

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Project Implementation Plan
Program Timeline Overview

Figure 9 below shows our program timeline overview. All days that are referred to are business
days.

Figure 9: Program Timeline Overview

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 33

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Initial Project Implementation Plan

Our initial project implementation plan is included as part of this proposal as Exhibit D. The
high-level preliminary project timeline overview is provided in Figure 9 above.

● Kuba assumes that SBMTD will provide the Contract Award by no later than October 17th,
2022.

● During Gate 1 - Concept, the contract signature takes place, the project management
administration is reviewed and processed, and the payment deposit is processed.

● During Gate 2 - Plan and Design, the validators are ordered from the OEM.
● Gate 3 - Build and Test makes provision for internal end-to-end systems testing and sign-off.
● Gate 4 - UAT makes provision for the audit and rectify of issues on the validators, cradle

installation, testing, accepting and commissioning. The necessary training is also provided. This
gate is dependent on Gate 2, ordering of the validators from the OEM.

● Gate 5 - Implementation by SBMTD makes provision for five SBMTD technicians to install
the validators onboard the buses in parallel. Kuba signs-off the validator installations, and
changes to the cabling and mounting are checked by SBMTD and to make sure that everything
works as it is intended to.

● Gate 6 - Project close out and Go-Live!

Project Dependencies
● Timeous signature of the contract is required in line with the approximate date we provided

above. The validators are on the critical path of the Initial Project Implementation Plan and are
dependent on the signature of the contract.

● Kuba signs-off each bus installation during Gate 5, irrespective of who does the installation
(SBMTD or QMI).

● Kuba assumed that five SBMTD technicians will work in parallel to install the 112 validators
onboard the buses, and made provision for 16 working days' installation time during Gate 5.

● In order to avoid disrupting SBMTD's regular services, Kuba, and SBMTD must determine how
soon the buses will be available for installation of the validators after the project has been
given the all-clear.

Our Project Management Methodology

Kuba project management is a fusion of PRINCE II and PMBOK which gives it the flexibility to
match any size of deployment.

The emphasis is on delivering a quality product on time and to budget. We start by ensuring the
requirements are fully understood and documented to ensure alignment between all
stakeholders.  This is followed by accurate programming and ensuring the team has the requisite
skills to undertake the installation. The deliverable is then tested, initially by us and then in
conjunction with the customer’s representative. The result is a seamless solution that aligns with
expectations.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 34

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Our project deliverables undergo acceptance testing (as described in the section above) before
being released to SBMTD. The testing is done sequentially and undergoes quality gate reviews
for high-quality product delivery.

Choosing Kuba will cause the least amount of disturbance to your business and provide SBMTD
with a dynamic approach that is customer focussed, when transitioning into a production
environment.

Initial Acceptance Testing Plan

The initial acceptance testing plan is executed as part of the installation by SBMTD or by Kuba. This
will ensure that all communication and primary functions are in place and that all systems can be
reached, transactions passed to Littlepay and the validator is registered on the device manager.
The Initial Acceptance Testing Plan can be found in Exhibit A.

Initial Training Plan

We provided our initial training and skills transfer plan in Exhibit C that is attached to this Proposal.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 35

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Pricing

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Pricing

Kuba is delighted to support SBMTD on this project.  We are open to discussing the reduction of
the cost of the project to promote the solution to Transit Agencies across the State of
California.

Therefore, set out in Exhibit B1 (attached to this proposal) are the elements of the program
to aid future discussion. Our pricing and other assumptions also form part of Exhibit B1.

Pricing Assumptions

● Travel expenses will be incurred by the team and are not included in our pricing, however all
costs must be approved by SBMTD as this may incur additional costs.

Kuba assumes that:
● SBMTD will provide the Contract Award by no later than October 17th, 2022.
● The payment terms for the hardware purchase are:

○ 40% on order

○ 40% on delivery, and

○ 20% upon acceptance

● Kuba assumes that payment terms for support services are monthly in arrears
● Pricing includes taxes and freight to Santa Barbara, CA.
● The pricing excludes government charges, which will be added to each invoice
● Kuba assumes that no third-party mobile communication will be needed
● We further assumed that SBMTD will appoint a SBMTD program manager/coordinator to

interface with the Kuba delivery team.
● Pricing excludes transaction and other fees which may be levied by the Transit Processor

(Littlepay) and the Acquirer.
● Prices and terms are in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Master Service

Agreement (MSA 5-21-70-28-02).
● Errors and omissions excepted.
● Changing the existing transit processor would incur additional costs.
● Additional devices can be purchased as per our pricing sheet.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 37

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Bus assumptions

● Installation - Pricing does not include T-Clamps or Plates for purposes of installation and will
be determined at the time of the discovery visit/survey.  The need for Plates and T-Clamps
will be determined by vehicle types, and the mounting location of the validators in the bus.

● Kuba highly recommends the vehicle discovery survey. The pricing thereof is excluded from
the pricing.  Please refer to the section titled Considerations for Implementation and
Integration - Hardware for the relevant information about the installation discovery survey.
Kuba can provide the applicable pricing provided at the time of request thereof.

● Travel and related expenses for purposes of the discovery survey trip by the installation team
are not included in pricing.

● Installation of equipment/devices onboard the bus is based on the agreed upon vehicle
availability. Sign-off of the installation of the equipment is required by Kuba.

Other Assumptions

● Kuba assumes that the specified number of vehicles will be available, within reason,
outside their normal operational hours to install the devices onboard the buses as and
when required.

● Delivery of the ABT3000 payment devices/validators and pole mounted cradles takes place
after SBMTD signed off the vehicle discovery survey. The timeline is subject to change should
any specialized hardware be required that has to be manufactured, or produced in specific
colors.

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 38

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Sign-Off

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7



Sign-Off

Terms and Conditions

The Terms and Conditions of MSA number 5-21-70-28-02 apply to our Proposal.

Point of Contact

Brian Frank is the main point of contact for this Proposal. My email address is
brian.frank@kubapay.com and mobile number is (702) 812-5230.

Brian Frank
Head of Kuba North America Transit

SBMTD Contactless Payment Solution | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 40

DocuSign Envelope ID: C8640DC7-223F-47E1-8B67-E0C39D6A58D7

mailto:brian.frank@kubapay.com


 Exhibit A 
 Initial Acceptance Testing Plan 



 Table of Content 

 1. Purpose  2 

 2.  Scope  3 
 FAT  3 

 SAT  3 

 UAT  3 

 2.  FAT  5 
 Prerequisites  5 

 Objective  5 

 Scope  5 

 Approach  5 

 3.  SAT  8 
 Prerequisites  8 

 Test Equipment and Environment  8 

 Test Tools  8 

 Test Procedures  8 

 AFC system functional tests  9 

 Bank-issued cards testing  10 

 Snag List (example)  10 

 4. UAT  12 
 Prerequisites  12 

 Purpose of the UAT  12 

 Results and Measurements  12 

 Process Flows  12 

 Scenarios and Test Cases  12 

 Exhibit A - Initial Acceptance Testing Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  2 



 1.  Purpose 
 The purpose of this document is to provide an initial Acceptance Testing plan that consists 
 of a draft: 

 ●  Factory Acceptance Testing (FAT) plan to evaluate the equipment’s operation against the 
 approved Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) manufactured and operational data. 

 ●  Site Acceptance Testing (SAT) plan that is a repeat of the FAT after the system is installed 
 onboard the bus. 

 ●  User Acceptance Testing (UAT) plan for the customer experience validation of the equipment. 

 2.  Scope 

 FAT 

 The FAT is used to ensure that the equipment performs according to the OEM specifications, 
 before the equipment is dispatched to the site. There should be no manufacturing, quality, or 
 performance issues with the equipment based upon the approved OEM documentation, for 
 instance: 

 ●  Manufacturers drawings 
 ●  Data Sheets 
 ●  Specifications 
 ●  Test Method Statement 

 SAT 

 The scope of the SAT is to describe the tests to be done on each logical component in order to 
 test if all the components on the buses for the AFC system are correctly installed and 
 operational. The tests assume that the FAT on the individual components has been completed 
 and that the SIT has been performed.  We did not include  the Systems Integration Testing (SIT) 
 plan for purposes of this SBMTD Proposal submission  .  This SAT will therefore not attempt to 
 describe the steps to be followed for the operation of the individual components. The outcome 
 of the SAT is the acceptance of the bus's components to go into full service. 

 UAT 

 The scope of the UAT is to provide an agreed upon set of scenarios and test cases, that, once 
 executed, will complete the UAT for the system. The approach is to test the entire 
 implementation end-to-end by means of predefined scenarios and test cases in accordance with 
 the required specification. 

 For ease of interpretation, this document will be divided into the three separate high-level 
 testing plans  . 

 Each plan is customized according to the needs of the testing phase of the project and signed 
 off by the Kuba and SBMTD. 

 Exhibit A - Initial Acceptance Testing Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  3 



 Exhibit C - 
 Initial Training and Skills 
 Transfer Plan 



 Table of Content 

 1. Purpose of This Document  3 

 2. Scope  3 

 3. References  3 

 4. Introductory Training  4 

 5. Follow-Up Training: Training Methodology  4 
 Method of Delivery  4 

 Method of Technical Training  4 

 Method of Operational Training  5 

 Requirements  5 

 Role of the Instructors  5 

 Trainees  6 

 Training Coordinator  6 

 Training Materials and Documentation  7 

 Training Resources  8 

 Venue(s)/Facilities  9 

 Training Schedule  9 

 6.  Training Modules  10 
 Timetable  10 

 Course Outlines (example)  11 

 7.  Developing the Training Schedule  11 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  2 



 1.  Purpose of This Document 
 This purpose of this document is to  provide an initial training plan and transfer of skills to 
 the SBMTD and validator installation personnel. This plan identifies the activities and 
 resources that need to be organized in order to carry out training for SBMTD to expand 
 the acceptance of contactless payment fare collection across its whole fleet. 

 The plan defines the training to be provided: 

 ●  As Introductory Training to appropriate SBMTD training personnel and validator installation 
 personnel 

 ●  A Follow-Up Training, which will include: 
 ○  SBMTD training personnel to enable them to carry out continuous training to other 

 SBMTD personnel (Train-the-Trainer). 
 ○  All SBMTD and validator installation personnel who will operate and maintain the system 

 after its delivery. 

 2.  Scope 
 The scope of this document is limited to training the SBMTD Trainer and validator 
 installation personnel who are responsible for installation, operation and maintenance. 
 The training approach is based on a Train-the-Trainer basis. 

 This training plan does not cover the training of 3rd-party hardware and associated 
 firmware and 3rd party software. 

 There may also be items in this training plan that cover optional equipment not included 
 in the initial contract. 

 3.  References 
 We provided examples of documents that may be developed as part of the deliverables after 
 contract award by SBMTD. The timeline for the development of these deliverables will be 
 agreed upon with SBMTD at the time of project kick-off. 

 ●  Maintenance Procedure 
 ●  Maintenance Manual 
 ●  Onboard validator training (for instance open loop payment solution) 
 ●  Driver training/familiarization (training will be conducted remotely) 
 ●  Technician training/familiarization 

 ○  Device Troubleshoot 101 
 ●  Operator training for the Device Manager 
 ●  Proxima Back Office training 

 ○  Device Monitoring 101 
 ●  Onboard Validator installation training 

 Kuba will make the documentation available to SBMTD in electronic format. 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  3 



 4.  Introductory Training 
 A Kuba representative provides the Introductory Training (30 minutes session that is held in 
 a virtual environment) consisting of a brief overview of the Automated Fare Collection (AFC) 
 system. 

 5.  Follow-Up Training: Training Methodology 
 This section describes the methodology adopted to address the initial training needs for the 
 SBMTD contactless payment system. 

 Method of Delivery 

 A Kuba Subject-Matter Expert (SME)  will provide the training at a SBMTD Training Center (the 
 location needs to be determined), using the training equipment specifically set up for this 
 purpose and connected to a Test Bed system. 

 We will train the SBMTD, and it’s designated validator installation personnel, how to operate 
 and maintain the system. The recommended training strategy is for instructor-led training, 
 utilizing appropriate visual aids, supported by simulation equipment and software to 
 demonstrate the features of the SBMTD system. 
 Qualified SMEs will provide the operational training to the SBMTD Trainers, and it’s designated 
 validator installation personnel. SBMTD may make a video recording of this training available 
 should they wish for their ongoing internal training going forward. 

 Maintenance training will be given to appropriate SBMTD employees as and when required. 
 Unless otherwise stated, training will be in the form of a theoretical lecture, combined with 
 hands-on exercises using a test system/application.  The training covers both normal operation 
 and troubleshooting scenarios and provided in English. 

 Recommended class sizes vary according to the course, with some administrative and technical 
 courses restricted to a few trainees due to the nature of the material to be covered and the 
 availability of test units connected to the Test Bed. In these cases, it is preferred to run multiple 
 courses covering the same subject with fewer trainees to maximize the “hands-on” experience 
 for each trainee. The class sizes will be finalized during the development of the final training 
 schedule in section  Developing Training Schedule  . 

 The contractual obligations for training are met after Kuba provided the initial training to the 
 SBMTD Trainer. Kuba can provide SBMTD with a quotation for additional training if required. 

 Method of Technical Training 

 The methodology to be used when training all parties involved will be a combination of 
 workshops, both practical and theory. Each candidate will be expected to write a test at the end 
 of the training. 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  4 



 The training workshops will give an overview of the topics being presented in the form of 
 presentations and tutorials. These will be conducted over different periods in manageable 
 group sizes to ensure attention and efficient transfer of skills. 

 Kuba encourages small group activities for providing hands-on skill building and 
 problem-solving. Participants will be divided into small, manageable groups and assigned 
 timed tasks to complete as a team. 

 Visual aids such as flip charts, pictures and the actual devices will be frequently used to assist the 
 participants in acquiring more knowledge of the AFC System. 

 Method of Operational Training 

 In order to Train-the-Trainers on operational training, study tours may take place to various 
 places such as stations and buses to give practical exercises to the trainers. The Device 
 Management Platform is available in the cloud. 

 Requirements 

 The requirements of the test system will be agreed upon at the time of project kick-off. The test 
 system closely simulates the functions of the delivered system. 

 Kuba requires training assistance/support from SBMTD in the form of a Training Coordinator, 
 who can assist in the setting up of the training environment where required. The Training 
 Coordinator should also be available for support during training, as necessary, with liaison and 
 coordination issues (as described in the Section  Training Coordinator  ). 

 Kuba did not include standard software such as Microsoft Windows and -Office in this training 
 program.  Any re-training may incur additional charges. 

 Role of the Instructors 

 Instructors deliver the courses and are responsible for: 
 ●  Communicating the requirements of the training courses to the Training Coordinator for 

 distribution to trainees and their management. 
 ●  Delivering the training courses described in this plan. 
 ●  Issuing and collecting course evaluation feedback forms. 
 ●  Supplying Training Certificates to trainees who are deemed competent in the relevant tasks. 

 Through activities and questions, instructors will formally evaluate students' grasp of the subject 
 matter over the duration of the course. 

 The Instructor will inform the Training Coordinator of any trainee(s) that may require further 
 training to use the system. Further/additional training needs to be discussed between SBMTD 
 and Kuba. Kuba can provide additional training at a price (to be agreed to). 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  5 



 Trainees 

 The Trainees for which training will be conducted for, consist of: 

 ●  SBMTD and Kuba Trainers, who will be responsible for the ongoing training of SBMTD 
 personnel. 

 ●  SBMTD and designated validator installation personnel, and who will be responsible for the 
 maintenance of the SBMTD system. 

 Each Trainee needs to have sufficient experience and qualifications to attend the training 
 courses, for example, computer literacy in Microsoft Windows applications. It is the 
 responsibility of SBMTD and designated validator installation personnel, to nominate only 
 qualified persons to attend as Trainees and ensure that the Trainees have read all manuals 
 before attending the sessions. Please refer to the prerequisites in each of the training modules 
 in section  Training Modules  . 

 Detailed qualifications are beyond the scope of this plan, but the following is a high-level list of 
 precondition requirements of attendance: 

 ●  Where system modification is part of the Trainee’s job description, the Trainee must have 
 attained certification in information technology and be familiar with Graphical User Interfaces 
 (GUI) to integrate changes. 

 ●  Basic qualifications in information technology in order to operate and maintain computer 
 equipment safely. 

 Training Coordinator 

 SBMTD should provide the Training Coordinator. If the Instructor needs assistance with any 
 administrative tasks, such as setting up data projectors, computers, network connections, 
 photocopying, stationery, etc., the training coordinator should be present to assist.. SBMTD and 
 Kuba are jointly responsible for providing a training environment with all the required 
 equipment and facilities. 
 In addition, the Training Coordinator should assist in providing Trainers and Trainees with details 
 associated with the delivery of the training, including: 

 ●  Maintaining and distributing a list of Trainees. 
 ●  Communicating the training schedules, course outlines and prerequisites for training courses 

 to trainees and their management. 
 ●  Ensuring onsite facilities are fit for purpose and available when scheduled. 
 ●  Following approval, assist with the coordination of any additional training for Trainees who 

 were unable to attend, or who require additional training to gain competence in the use of 
 the system. 

 ●  We recommend that the Training Coordinator participate in the training. 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  6 



 Training Materials and Documentation 

 This section describes the types of training material required to perform the training. As far 
 as is practicable, the training will focus on “hands-on” demonstrations and guided practical 
 exercises that allow trainees to develop competency in the operation and maintenance of 
 the contactless payment system. Training materials include visual presentations, and user 
 manuals. 

 Visual Presentations 

 As explained above, training will focus mainly on “hands-on” use of computer-based software 
 applications rather than lecture-style as much as is practicable. Kuba provides and projects 
 Microsoft PowerPoint presentations, where applicable. 

 These are used for courses which are predominantly informational and to explain theory and 
 concepts that are difficult to demonstrate practically, for example, the flow of data in the 
 system. They are also used to introduce and summarize topics and display guided exercises. 

 User Manuals 

 An electronic copy of the applicable user manuals will be provided to each Trainee for use as 
 directed during the course, and to use for reference at a later stage.  The user manual includes: 

 ●  Context and process descriptions 
 ●  General/generic process steps 
 ●  Screen examples and concept diagrams 

 Manuals for Training 

 Operations Manuals and Training Materials consist of: 

 ●  Onboard validator manual (for instance open loop payment solution) 
 ●  Driver training / familiarization manual 
 ●  Technician training / familiarization 

 ○  Device Troubleshoot 101 guide 
 ●  Operator training for the Device Manager manual 
 ●  Proxima Back Office training 

 ○  Device Monitoring 101 guide 
 ●  Onboard Validator installation manual 
 ●  Maintenance Procedure guide 
 ●  Maintenance Manual 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  7 



 Training Resources 

 The following table describes the resources required to perform the training. 

 Resource  Number 
 required 

 To be provided by 

 Test bed environment  1  Responsibilities to be 
 agreed to between 
 SBMTD and Kuba 

 User IDs and Passwords for 
 trainees 

 As defined 
 by trainee 
 numbers 

 SBMTD 

 Whiteboard  1 per 
 training 
 venue 

 SBMTD 

 Data Projector  1 per 
 training 
 venue 

 SBMTD 

 Personal Computers  As available 
 at the site 

 SBMTD 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  8 



 Venue(s)/Facilities 

 Training will be conducted at the SBMTD Training Center, subject to the logistics related to 
 the requirements of the trainees and after Kuba's permission.  The table below lists the 
 facilities that needs to be available for each type of training. 

 Where training includes both theoretical and hands-on elements, hands-on requirements apply. 

 Type of training  Room type  Facilities Available 

 Theoretical  Training Center  ●  Capacity of up to 12 people 
 ●  Suitable desks and chairs 
 ●  Data projector 
 ●  Whiteboard and/or flip chart with 

 suitable markers 

 Hands-on  Test Bed Room, 
 Training Center 

 ●  Capacity of up to 10 people 
 ●  Suitable desks and chairs 
 ●  Demo/test setup, including at least 1 

 computer per student, connected to the 
 Test Bed network 

 ●  Data projector 
 ●  Whiteboard or flip chart with suitable 

 markers 

 On the Job  Test Bed Room, 
 Training Center 

 ●  Capacity of up to 10 people 
 ●  Suitable desks and chairs 
 ●  At least 1 computer per student 
 ●  Data projector 
 ●  Whiteboard or flip chart with suitable 

 markers 

 Training Schedule 

 Kuba provided timetables for courses in section  6. Training Modules below  , this however, is 
 based on instructor availability. The dates will be mutually agreed upon between SBMTD and 
 Kuba. 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  9 



 6.  Training Modules 
 This section lists an example of the course overview. 

 Timetable 

 The table below reflects the System Administrator and Operations Training Schedule and 
 should be scheduled with the SBMTD Training Coordinator. 

 #  Day  Course Name  Attendees 

 1  The date needs to be agreed 
 to by Kuba and SBMTD 

 Troubleshooting and Business 
 Rules 

 All Trainees 

 2  The date needs to be agreed 
 to by Kuba and SBMTD 

 Onboard Validator Installation, 
 Maintenance, and 
 Troubleshooting 

 Maintenance and 
 Technical Staff 

 3  The date needs to be agreed 
 to by Kuba and SBMTD 

 Onboard Validator Operations  All Trainees 

 4  The date needs to be agreed 
 to by Kuba and SBMTD 

 Maintenance 1  st  and 2  nd  Level  Maintenance and 
 Technical Staff 

 5  The date needs to be agreed 
 to by Kuba and SBMTD 

 Proxima Back Office training  Operational and 
 Technical Staff as 
 determined by 
 SBMTD 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  10 



 Course Outlines (example) 

 Kuba provided an example of course outlines as shown below. Kuba will develop the 
 Training and Skills Transfer document as part of its deliverables after contract award by 
 SBMTD. 

 Troubleshooting and Business Rules 

 Troubleshooting and Business Rules 

 Aim  Provide an introduction to the Business rules and error codes 
 from devices. 

 Learning Outcomes  On completion of this course, the trainees should understand 
 the basics of the business rules, and understand the different 
 fare types (if applicable) and the different ways that fares are 
 calculated (if applicable) 

 Content/Sequence  Single Course Module 

 Delivery Method  Theoretical lecture 

 Resource Requirements  Reports Presentation 

 Duration  Allow 6 hours 

 Recommended Class 
 Size 

 Less than 10 

 Course Evaluation  Brief written evaluation of the course by trainees on 
 completion 

 7.  Developing the Training Schedule 
 Kuba recommends the above training skills transfer information as a start to customize the 
 training schedule with SBMTD. 

 It will be necessary for SBMTD and Kuba to meet to discuss the details of the schedule and to 
 expand this document as the schedule develops. 

 END 

 Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan  |  Confidential  |  Kuba, Inc.  |  11 



 Exhibit D - 
 Initial Project Implementation Plan 



ID <Unavailable><Unavailable>Task Name Duration Start Finish

0 SBMTD 49 days Mon 22/10/17 Thu 22/12/22
1 Start 49 days Mon 22/10/17 Thu 22/12/22

2 Gate 1 - Concept 7 days Mon 22/10/17 Tue 22/10/25

3 Legal& Contract 5 days Mon 22/10/17 Fri 22/10/21

4 Contract signed 5 days Mon 22/10/17 Fri 22/10/21

5 PO Payment MS 2 days Mon 22/10/24 Tue 22/10/25

6 Gate 1 Sign off to move to Next Gate 0 days Tue 22/10/25 Tue 22/10/25

7 Gate 2 - Plan and Design 32 days Mon 22/10/17 Tue 22/11/29

8 Hardware Procurement 32 days Mon 22/10/17 Tue 22/11/29

9 Order hardware 25 days Wed 22/10/26 Tue 22/11/29

10 Confirm payment and delivery schedule 0 days Mon 22/10/17 Mon 22/10/17

11 Gate 2 Sign off to move to Next Gate 0 days Tue 22/11/29 Tue 22/11/29

12 Gate 3 Build & Test 0 days Mon 22/10/17 Mon 22/10/17

13 Internal End to End Testing and Sign Off 0 days Tue 22/11/29 Tue 22/11/29

14 Gate 3 Sign off to move to Next Gate 0 days Tue 22/11/29 Tue 22/11/29

15 Gate 4 UAT 39 days Mon 22/10/17 Thu 22/12/08

16 Test Plan Implemented 7 days Wed 22/11/30 Thu 22/12/08

17 Test Summary Report Management 0 days Mon 22/10/17 Mon 22/10/17

18 Gate 4 Sign off to move to Next Gate 0 days Thu 22/12/08 Thu 22/12/08

19 Gate 5 Implement 48 days Mon 22/10/17 Wed 22/12/21

20 Bus Installation and SAT 16 days Wed 22/11/30 Wed 22/12/21

21 Go Live 1 day Mon 22/10/17 Mon 22/10/17

22 Gate 5 sign off to move to Next Gate 0 days Wed 22/12/21 Wed 22/12/21

23 Gate 6 Close 49 days Mon 22/10/17 Thu 22/12/22

40% deposit

10/25

40% payment

10/17

11/29

10/17

11/29

11/29

10/17

12/08

20% payment

12/21

S S M T W T F S S M T W T
'22 Oct 03 '22 Oct 24 '22 Nov 14 '22 Dec 05 '22 Dec 26

B E M

Page 1



DocuSign Envelope ID: 4E6D149F-94D3-48DB-9646-10FC611DB723



Ms. Hillary Blackerby
Planning & Marketing Manager
Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District
550 Olive Street
Santa Barbara
CA 93101

September 26th, 2022

Dear Ms. Blackerby,

AGREEMENT NO 5-21-70-28-02
PROPOSAL FOR CONTACTLESS PAYMENT SOLUTIONS - PRICING CLARIFICATION

Kuba Inc. (Kuba) refers to your email dated September 14th, 2022, seeking clarification of our
pricing that was submitted with our Proposal. Kindly find your questions in Blue Font with our
answer to the question in Black Font in the Pricing Clarification document below.

Exhibit B1 (hereto attached) consists of the updated Pricing Summary and replaces the pricing
submitted with our Proposal dated September 5th, 2022.

Please reach out to me if you have any questions. My contact details are provided below.

Sincerely

Brian Frank
Head of Kuba North America Transit

Mobile no : +1 (702) 812-5230
Office no : +1 (702) 747-2958
Email address : brian.frank@kubapay.com

Kuba, Inc. 85-4057999
PO Box 31804, Las Vegas, NV 89173-31804

Tel: +1 (702) 747-2958 www.kubapay.com 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 4E6D149F-94D3-48DB-9646-10FC611DB723

mailto:brian.frank@kubapay.com
http://www.kubapay.com


Pricing Clarification

DocuSign Envelope ID: 4E6D149F-94D3-48DB-9646-10FC611DB723



We amended the layout of our Exhibit B1 to simplify the interpretation of the costs. The
answers below refers to the cells in the updated Price Summary Spreadsheet Tab (hereto
attached).

Pricing Clarification

Q.1 The number of devices proposed to be installed
The Price Summary Spreadsheet tab (Cell G19) indicates the installation of 94 devices; the
Approved Price SBMTD Spreadsheet tab indicates pricing for 112 devices (Cell E36). Please
update to reflect 112 devices.

The Price Summary Spreadsheet Tab (Cell F17 and K17) now reflects 112 devices as per
your request in the SoW.

Q.2 Hourly Charges
Confirm if the rates provided is a per hour fee schedule or per PAD.

The fees we have quoted hourly rates for are for the following:
● Transit Agency Project Management
● Custom Solution Development Work
● Extensive Training
(See Cells J29, J30 & J31)

The rates for PADs is quoted per device, refer to Cell C17.

Q.3 Staff Training at Start-Up
Please identify if there is a separate start-up cost for training MTD staff, or if that is included
in the Agency Setup & Configuration or another category.

The fees quoted for training is basic training that is included in the implementation
services. Please refer to Cell J13, represented as a Once Off Cost.
● This pricing is applicable to the 112 devices that will be installed, and not the 20 spare

units.
Extensive training is available at an additional cost. Please refer to Cell J31 for the hourly
rate applicable to extensive training, which Kuba does not think is necessary for this project.

SBMTD - Pricing Clarification | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 4

DocuSign Envelope ID: 4E6D149F-94D3-48DB-9646-10FC611DB723



Our pricing and other assumptions also form part of Exhibit B1.

Pricing Assumptions

● Travel expenses will be incurred by the team and are not included in our pricing, however all
costs must be approved by SBMTD as this may incur additional costs.

Kuba assumes that:
● SBMTD will provide the Contract Award by no later than October 17th, 2022.
● The payment terms for the hardware purchase are:

○ 40% on order

○ 40% on delivery, and

○ 20% upon acceptance

● Kuba assumes that payment terms for support services are monthly in arrears
● Pricing includes taxes and freight to Santa Barbara, CA.
● The pricing excludes government charges, which will be added to each invoice
● Kuba assumes that no third-party mobile communication will be needed
● We further assumed that SBMTD will appoint a SBMTD program manager/coordinator to

interface with the Kuba delivery team.
● Pricing excludes transaction and other fees which may be levied by the Transit Processor

(Littlepay) and the Acquirer.
● Prices and terms are in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Master Service

Agreement (MSA 5-21-70-28-02).
● Errors and omissions excepted.
● Changing the existing transit processor would incur additional costs.
● Additional devices can be purchased as per our pricing sheet.

Bus assumptions

● Installation - Pricing does not include T-Clamps or Plates for purposes of installation and will be
determined at the time of the discovery visit/survey.  The need for Plates and T-Clamps will be
determined by vehicle types, and the mounting location of the validators in the bus.

● Kuba highly recommends the vehicle discovery survey. The pricing thereof is excluded from
the pricing.  Please refer to the section titled Considerations for Implementation and
Integration - Hardware for the relevant information about the installation discovery survey.
Kuba can provide the applicable pricing provided at the time of request thereof.

● Travel and related expenses for purposes of the discovery survey trip by the installation team
are not included in pricing.

● Installation of equipment/devices onboard the bus is based on the agreed upon vehicle
availability. Sign-off of the installation of the equipment is required by Kuba.

SBMTD - Pricing Clarification | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 5

DocuSign Envelope ID: 4E6D149F-94D3-48DB-9646-10FC611DB723



Other Assumptions

● Kuba assumes that the specified number of vehicles will be available, within reason,
outside their normal operational hours to install the devices onboard the buses as and
when required.

● Delivery of the ABT3000 payment devices/validators and pole mounted cradles takes place
after SBMTD signed off the vehicle discovery survey. The timeline is subject to change
should any specialized hardware be required that has to be manufactured, or produced in
specific colors.

SBMTD - Pricing Clarification | Confidential | Kuba, Inc. | 6

DocuSign Envelope ID: 4E6D149F-94D3-48DB-9646-10FC611DB723



SBMTD Price $423,190.28
TOTAL CAPEX $216,119.80
Sales and Usage Tax (8.75%) $18,910.48
TOTAL OPEX $188,160.00

ItemDescription Unit of measure Rate Qty Months Total
CAPEX $216,119.80
A.1 Stand Alone Devices - ABT 3000 per device $994.87 112 n/a $111,425.44
A.1 Spares per device $994.87 20 n/a $19,897.40
B.1 Mounting Poles per device $105.33 112 n/a $11,796.96
E.1 Implementation Services (basic training included) once off $10,000.00 1 n/a $10,000.00
G.1 Intergration with a Transit Processor once off $9,440.00 n/a included
G.2 EMV Level 3 Certification once off $3,146.67 n/a included
G.3 Intergration with a 2D Bar Processor once off $9,440.00 n/a included

H.1 Installation of Payment Acceptance Device (per PAD) per device $562.50 112 n/a $63,000.00
was marked as optional 
item

OPEX $188,160.00
F.1 Ongoing Maintenance and Support services fee - ABT 3000 per device / month $28.00 112 60 $188,160.00

 - Device Management
 - Software (Proxima Hosting)

Value Added Services $0.00

I.1 Extended Hardware Warranty per device / month $7.38 0 0 $0.00

I.2 Premium Customer Support per device / month $10.49 0 0 $0.00

Hourly Rate Card $0.00
J.1 Transit Agency Project Management per hour $137.50 0 0 $0.00
J.2 Custom Solution Development Work per hour $137.50 0 0 $0.00
J.3 Extensive Training per hour $137.50 0 0 $0.00

Price Summary Spreadsheet

Additional costs that are 
not necessary for this 
project

Additional costs that are 
not necessary for this 
project



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 1, 2022 AGENDA ITEM: 10 

DEPARTMENT: CAPITAL PROJECTS 

TYPE: INFORMATIONAL ITEM 

PREPARED BY: RYAN GRIPP & DAVE RZEPINSKI ____________________ 
             Signature            
 
REVIEWED BY: GENERAL MANAGER ____________________  
                  Signature            
 
SUBJECT: CAPITAL PROJECTS UPDATE 
 

DISCUSSION: 
Staff will provide a presentation to update the Board on MTD capital projects.  The presentation 
will provide details about the scope and status of active capital projects.  The projects to be 
discussed are as follows: 
 

• Facilities 
o Terminal 2 Recommissioning (Phase 1) 
o Terminal 1 Charge Ready Bridge 
o Haley Street Electric Bus Charging Canopy Upgrade 

• Equipment 
o New Flyer 40’ Battery-Electric Buses (9 buses) 
o Fleet Renewal Campaign 

• Planning 
o Zero-Emission Bus Rollout Plan 
o California Energy Commission Blueprint Grant 

 



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 1, 2022 AGENDA ITEM: #11 

DEPARTMENT: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

TYPE: ACTION ITEM 

PREPARED BY: JERRY ESTRADA ____________________ 
                     Signature            
 
REVIEWED BY: GENERAL MANAGER ____________________  
                          Signature            
 
SUBJECT: ANNUAL ELECTION OF BOARD OFFICERS 

 
DISCUSSION: 
The Board will hold elections for the following Board assignments: 
 

• Chair 
• Vice Chair  
• Secretary  

 

 

 



1  

To:   MTD Board of Directors  
From:  Jerry Estrada, General Manager  
Date:   November 1, 2022 
Subject:  General Manager’s Report 
 
MTD’s newest Operators in Training are scheduled for their DMV testing these next two weeks:  
Nicholas Roman, Nathaniel Hansen, Jeffrey Pinckney and Kristine Proksch.  Manager of 
Operations, Manny Castanon, is DMV certified to conduct these tests in house. This week, 
another one of our Operators in Training, Gregory Lamont, will be out with senior Operators, as 
he comes to us fully licensed.  Last week, Operations commenced the bidding process for our 
next service change, effective November 28.  All work schedules are bid, in seniority, for this next 
block of time.  Vacations for 2023 will also be bid, in seniority order.   
 
MTD’s contractor, Edwards Construction Group (ECG), is continuing to install conduit and pull 
wires between the SCE-provided disconnect switches and the chargers.  After the wiring is 
complete, ECG will be installing the flood shield channels around each charger.  The flood shields 
were a design requirement because of the low elevation of the canopy area where the chargers 
are located.  When the removable shields are placed into the channels, they create a dam around 
the chargers to protect them in the event of a major flood at Terminal 1.   
 
Now that all of the bus specifications have been selected and buses are entering the production 
line, MTD’s maintenance team is determining what, if any, spare parts and specialty tools to 
acquire from New Flyer.  Many of the specialty tools will be provided to MTD at no additional cost 
in accordance with the California Department of General Services (DGS) contract MTD used for 
the procurement.          
 
The Stantec team developing MTD’s Zero-Emission Bus (ZEB) Rollout Plan have recently 
provided drafts of two major deliverables, the Existing Conditions and Technology Analysis 
reports.  The former provides an overview of MTD’s existing facilities and service, including fleet 
electrification efforts carried out to date.  It serves as the foundation from which the ZEB Rollout 
Plan is developed.  The latter provides a review of zero-emission bus technologies, fueling 
infrastructure, and resiliency.  It will be the basis for the electric vehicle charging and resiliency 
infrastructure design at Terminals 1 and 2.      
 
MTD staff had a table at the Boo at the Zoo event at the Santa Barbara Zoo on Friday, October 
21st. MTD reflective slap bands were a big hit with kids and their families, sometimes even more 
desired than the candy. 
 
General Manager Estrada submitted MTD’s initial FY 2022 National Transit Database (NTD) 
Annual Report to the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). The NTD Annual Report includes 
extensive MTD financial, operational, maintenance, and employee data. Typically, the NTD 
analyst will return the report once or twice with questions for staff prior to accepting the report by 
March of the following year. 
 



2  

Staff prepared and submitted to FTA federal fiscal year (FFY) 2022 fourth quarter Federal 
Financial Reports and Milestone Progress Reports covering the period from July 1 through 
September 30 for each of MTD’s nine current FTA awards. These reports are due by October 30. 
Staff submitted the annual reports to Caltrans for the Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 
(LCTOP) for MTD’s four open LCTOP awards. These reports inform Caltrans of MTD’s progress 
in competing the projects. 
 
Staff listened in on an FTA webinar describing impacts of the 2020 Census on FTA programs. 
FTA reported that the new population numbers will be utilized for apportionment purposes 
beginning in FFY 2024. The Census anticipates the release of urban area populations in 
December 2020. These data will determine if the Santa Barbara urban area exceeded 200,000 
in population. If so, staff expects a substantial negative impact on Section 5307 apportionments 
beginning in FFY 2024. 
 
 
 


	20221101 Item #4 - Staff Report-Covid State of Emergency.pdf
	20221101 Item #4 - Staff Report-Covid State of Emergency (1).pdf
	SBCAG STAFF REPORT


	20221101 Item #6 - Cash Report.pdf
	Cash Report Cover Sheet
	apsbmtd 20221101.pdf
	apsbmtd

	ARsbmtd 20221101.pdf
	Accounts Receivable Report


	20221101 Item #8 - Staff Report and Attachment - Final Short Range Transit Plan.pdf
	Table of Contents
	List of Figures
	List of Tables
	Abbreviations
	Executive Summary
	1 Introduction & Background
	2 Summary of Existing Conditions1F
	2.1 More Recent Service Changes

	3 Summary of Public and Stakeholder Engagement
	3.1 Phase 1 – Data Gathering and Listening
	3.1.1 Virtual Listening Session
	3.1.2 Initial Community Survey
	3.1.3 Engagement with Regional Partners and Stakeholders

	3.2 Phase 2 – Draft Plan Presentation and Feedback
	3.2.1 Community Pop-Ups
	3.2.2 Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts


	4 MTD Moves Ahead Goals
	5 Recommended Service Priorities
	5.1 Immediate to Short-Term (1-2 years) Service Priorities
	5.1.1 Line 19x
	5.1.2 The Wave Goleta/Isla Vista
	5.1.3 Lines 23 and 25 Operational and Routing Changes
	5.1.4 Rename Bus Lines

	5.2 Mid-Term Service Priorities
	5.2.1 Lines 1 and 2 Improvements
	5.2.2 Lines 4 and 17 Improvements
	5.2.3 The Wave Carpinteria

	5.3 Long-Term Service Priorities
	5.3.1 Lines 6 and 11 Improvements
	5.3.2 Line 20 Improvements
	5.3.3 Downtown-Waterfront Shuttle

	5.4 Service Transitions
	5.5 Service Priorities Summary

	6 Access Impacts
	6.1 Transit Center
	6.2 State and La Cumbre
	6.3 UCSB
	6.4 SBCC
	6.5 Storke and Hollister
	6.6 Carpinteria and Holly

	7 Financial Forecast
	7.1 Constrained Financial and Service Plan

	8 Service Equity Impact Considerations
	9 Fleet Impacts
	10 Recommendations for Future Investments in Service
	10.1 Building a Frequent Transit Network
	10.2 Capturing Different Markets

	11 Transit Priority Measures – Speeding Up Buses
	11.1 Why Transit Priority Measures?
	11.2 Transit Priority Potentials
	11.2.1 Transit Signal Priority
	11.2.2 Bus Queue Jumps
	11.2.3 Bus Only Lanes

	11.3 Pilot
	11.4 Community and Stakeholder Engagement
	11.5 Safety Considerations

	12 Supporting Recommendations
	12.1 Future-Focused
	12.1.1 Open Payment System
	12.1.2 Community Partnerships
	12.1.3 Enhance Operations and Network Connectivity
	12.1.4 Continue the Transition to 100% ZE Fleet

	12.2 High-Quality Transit
	12.2.1 Bus Bike Racks
	12.2.2 Bus Stop Improvement Program
	12.2.3 Data-Driven Decisions

	12.3 For All South Coast Residents and Visitors
	12.3.1 Customer Communications


	13 Considerations for Regional Services and Connections
	14 Considerations for On-Demand / Easy Lift
	15 Potential Funding Sources
	15.1 Additional Funding Avenues

	16 Closing
	Appendix A – MTD Moves Ahead Engagement Summary
	Appendix B – MTD Moves Ahead Initial Survey, October 2021
	Appendix C – MTD Moves Ahead Community Survey on Draft Network Concepts
	Appendix D – Title VI Service Equity Analysis

	20221101 Item #9- Staff Report - Contactless Payment Solutions.pdf
	20221101 Attachment - User Agreement- Exhibit D (Kuba Proposal).pdf
	User Agreement- Exhibit D (Kuba Proposal)
	SBMTD Commercial Proposal -Signed
	Exhibits A, C and D
	Exhibit A - Initial Acceptance Testing Plan - Google Docs.pdf
	Exhibit C - Initial Training and Skills Transfer Plan (final).pdf
	Exhibit D - Initial Project Implementation Plan (final).pdf
	Exhibit D - initial project implementation plan.pdf
	SBMTD Project Schedule - PDF (1).pdf


	Clarification SBMTD Pricing Proposal -September 2022
	SBMTD Pricing Updated
	SBMTD Pricing Summary


	Book 4 - Proposal Pricing Updated Worksheet
	Sheet1



	20221101 Item #11 - Staff Report - Annual Election of Officers.pdf
	DISCUSSION:




